
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
TUESDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2017

A MEETING of the EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL 

HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS, TD6 0SA on TUESDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2017 at 

10.00 am

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,

31 October 2017

BUSINESS

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Order of Business 

3. Declarations of Interest 

EDUCATION BUSINESS

4. Early Years and Primary School Pupil Performance Measures - School 
Session 2016-2017 (Pages 5 - 22)

20 mins

Consider report by Service Director Children and Young People.  (Copy 
attached.)

5. Insight Local Benchmarking Measures to 2017 (Pages 23 - 40) 20 mins

Consider report by Service Director Children and Young People.  (Copy 
attached.)

6. Early Years and Childcare: Expansion to 1140 Hours (Pages 41 - 104) 20 mins

Consider report by Service Director, Children and Young People.  (Copy 
attached.) 

7. School Estate Review - Next Steps 2017/18 (Pages 105 - 144) 20 mins

Consider report by Service Director, Children and Young people. (Copy 
attached.) 

8. Jedburgh Intergenerational Learning Campus Consultation Outcome 
Report (Pages 145 - 278)

10 mins

Consider report by Service Director, Children and Young People.  (Copy 
attached.) 

9. Proposal for Statutory Consultation to Close At Margaret’s R C Primary 
School, Hawick 

20 mins

Public Document Pack



 10. Any Other Items Previously Circulated
11. Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent 

Education Theme Additional Membership of Committee:- Mr I. Topping, 
Ms C. Thorburn, Mr G. Jarvie, Jeanette Aitchison (Parent 
Representative), Alison Ferahi (Parent Representative), Pupil 
Representatives. 

OTHER BUSINESS

12. Minute (Pages 309 - 312) 2 mins

Consider Minute of Meeting held on 17 October 2017 (Copy attached.)
13. Car Parking Issues 10 mins

Consider establishment of Working Group.
14. Any Other Items Previously Circulated 

15. Any Other Items which the Chairman decides are Urgent. 

16. PRIVATE BUSINESS 

Before proceeding with the private business, the following motion should be 
approved:- 
“That under Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the 
aforementioned Act.”

17. Minute (Pages 313 - 314) 2 mins

Consider Private Minute of 17 October 2017.  (Copy attached.)

NOTES
1. Timings given above are only indicative and not intended to inhibit Members’ 

discussions.

2. Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any 
item of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the 
Minute of the meeting.

Membership of Committee:- Councillors S. Haslam (Chairman), S. Aitchison (Vice-Chairman), 
G. Edgar, C. Hamilton, E. Jardine, W. McAteer, T. Miers, S. Mountford, M. Rowley, G. Turnbull and 
T. Weatherston

Please direct any enquiries to Fiona Henderson   Tel: 01835 826502
Email:-  fhenderson@scotborders.gov.uk



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 1 

Early Years and Primary School Pupil Performance Measures 
School Session 2016-2017

Report by Service Director, Children and Young People

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

7 November 2017

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 Raising the attainment and achievement of our children and young 
people in literacy, numeracy and health and well-being is a local 
and national priority.  This Report provides an update on 
performance in these areas for school session 2016 /2017 and 
information on how key measures are continuing to develop.

1.2 The Report also outlines the next steps that are being taken at regional, 
Local Authority and school level to continue to improve pupil performance.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee consider and note the 
contents of the Report. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 2 

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 In September 2009 the Scottish Government set out its strategic vision 
for assessment in “Assessment for Curriculum for Excellence: Strategic 
Vision and Key Principles”.

3.2 Further supplementary guidance was provided within “Curriculum for 
Excellence Building the Curriculum 5: A Framework for Assessment”, 
recognising achievement, profiling and reporting, published February 
2011.  This publication set out guidance on reporting on children and 
young people’s progress, including the following statement:

“Schools, education authorities and other establishments will have 
flexibility within clear national expectations to determine the ways in 
which reporting shares children’s and young people’s progress, 
achievements and needs.”

3.3 In line with the Scottish Government’s approach to the implementation of 
Curriculum for Excellence, high level assessment guidance for the Broad 
General Education (BGE the children’s learning experience and curriculum 
from Early Years to the end of Secondary Year 3), was developed 
nationally and implemented locally with no national requirement to 
undertake set assessment tasks or to produce assessment data in specific 
formats.  Scottish Borders Council implemented this guidance at a local 
level, giving schools autonomy to develop arrangements for reporting on 
children’s and young people’s progress and achievements in partnership 
with their parents.

3.4 The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 
published its independent review of Curriculum for Excellence, Improving 
Schools in Scotland: An OECD Perspective, in December 2015.  The 
review report set out twelve recommendations to improve the quality of 
Scottish education and ensure equity of opportunity, experiences and 
outcomes for all learners.  This includes a recommendation to develop an 
integrating framework for assessment and evaluation that encompasses 
all system levels.

3.5 The National Improvement Framework, published by the Scottish 
Government January 2016, updated December 2016, addressed this 
recommendation as set out within the Assessment of Children’s Progress 
driver for improvement.  The National Improvement Framework includes 
the reporting of Curriculum for Excellence attainment levels in literacy and 
in numeracy for children and young people at Primary 1, Primary 4, 
Primary 7 and Secondary 3 on a school-by-school basis and at a Local 
Authority level from December 2016.

3.6 The 2017 National Improvement Framework sets out the introduction of 
National Standardised Assessments (SNSA) from August 2017.  The 
expectation is that the SNSA will lead to more consistent assessment 
approaches within the broad general education.  Results using SNSA will 
be used to complement teacher based assessment.

3.7 The Education (Scotland) Bill 2016 placed the National Improvement  
Framework and reporting arrangements on a statutory footing, also 

Page 4



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 3 

placing a legal requirement on local government to share information such 
as children’s and young people’s achievement in literacy and in numeracy 
to drive improvement.

3.8 From August 2016, the Scottish Government has collected teacher 
professional judgement on Curriculum for Excellence achievement of a 
level in literacy and in numeracy at Primary 1, Primary 4, Primary 7 and 
Secondary 3. 

3.9 The National Improvement Framework Report, due to be published 
December 2017, will publish the teacher professional judgement on 
Curriculum for Excellence achievement of a level in reading, writing, 
listening and talking and in numeracy at Primary 1, Primary 4, Primary 7 
and Secondary 3 at national, Local Authority and individual school level 
for Session 2016-17.  These official statistics will continue to be classified 
as experimental statistics in recognition of the evolving approach to 
assessment across the Broad General Education. Therefore, this data 
cannot be used for benchmarking performance or as a baseline to track 
improvements in performance over time.

3.10 Given the experimental statistics classification, care needs to be taken in 
relation to any interpretation or analysis of the attainment data. It is 
important that parents receive this information about their schools in the 
context of the wider National Improvement Framework for Scottish 
Education.  The experimental school level data may be suppressed to 
ensure any information published does not identify individual pupils.  This 
is particularly the case for small rural schools.  The Primary 1, Primary 4, 
Primary 7 and Secondary 3 roll includes children and young people with 
additional support needs who are making progress towards individual 
learning targets.

3.11 In the Scottish Borders the Early Years have become even more important 
with the preparation for the expansion of Early Learning and Childcare 
from a 600 hours to an 1140 hours entitlement from 2020.  In response 
to this expansion, Scottish Borders Council are progressing an extensive 
delivery plan. This includes a consideration of how the Council will 
measure the children’s progress through the Early Years; a key measure 
is yet to be developed and it has been agreed that key measures and 
performance data will be a key focus of the newly established South East 
Regional Improvement Collaborative.  However, Philiphaugh Nursery was 
one of the first Early Learning and Childcare settings to pilot the 1140 
hours expansion in the country and recent Primary 1 entry assessments, 
ie of children who experienced the full 1140 hours in the nursery, are very 
positive in evidencing higher levels of attainment in literacy (refer to 
Appendix 1).  The Headteacher has reported overall that the children’s 
attainment has benefitted from the extended hours; the Council will, as 
part of the expansion, have a set of measures to track children’s progress 
and attainment in literacy and numeracy.  These measures will be ready 
for implementation in Summer 2018.

3.12 Children and Young People’s health and well-being is key to their progress 
in learning.  It is a key pillar within Curriculum for Excellence (alongside 
Literacy and Numeracy) and should be an equal focus for assessment and 
tracking of pupil progress.  The Children and Young People’s Leadership 
Group have developed a new staged intervention approach to improving 

Page 5



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 4 

mental and emotional health.  Within the approach, the Council have 
invested in ‘Growing Confidence’, a universal approach to improving 
emotional and mental health wellbeing.  This has involved significant 
training of staff and includes learning programmes at primary and 
secondary stages of learning.  In order to track the positive impact of this 
programme and to be able to track pupils’ mental and emotional 
wellbeing, assessment tools have been developed for implementation in 
school session 2016/2017 (refer to Appendix 2).  At this stage the Council 
are unable to report strategically on health and wellbeing progress, 
although a number of schools have developed assessments in this area.  
By the end of school session 2017/2018, the Council will have 
implemented the range of health and well-being surveys at Primary 3 to 
Primary 7 and Secondary 2, providing a baseline for the Council to track 
in future years.  It is important to note that the response from staff to the 
‘Growing Confidence’ training programme has been excellent: the Council 
is confident that the universal programme will impact positively upon the 
mental and emotional wellbeing of our children and young people, 
although there is still a great deal to be done with regards to the full 
implementation of the Mental and Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (refer to Appendix 3).  Progress on implementation will be 
reported through the Community Planning Partnership.

4 PUPIL PERFORMANCE IN THE BROAD GENERAL EDUCATION

4.1 Every child and young person in Scotland is entitled to experience a 
broad general education (BGE).  The BGE takes place from the 
early years in Early Learning and Childcare settings through to 
Secondary 3 in secondary provision.  The Curriculum for Excellence 
is set out in terms of ‘experiences and outcomes’.  An outcome 
represents what has to be achieved.  The experiences and 
outcomes describe national expectations of learning and 
progression and are set out in lines of development, which describe 
progress in learning.  The national expectation for progress through 
the curriculum levels is as follows:

(i) Early Level – achieved by the end of Primary 1 or later for 
some;

(ii) First Level – achieved by the end of Primary 4, but earlier or 
later for some;

(iii) Second Level – achieved by the end of Primary 7, but earlier 
or later for some;

(iv) Third and Fourth Level – Secondary 1 to Secondary 3, but 
earlier for some.

4.2 Benchmarks, developed in August 2016 and updated in June 2017, 
are designed to provide clarity on the national standards expected 
within each curriculum area at each level.  Their purpose is to make 
clear what learners needs to know and be able to do to progress 
through the levels, and to support consistency of teachers’ 
professional judgements.

Page 6



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 5 

4.3 Teachers use a variety of sources to evidence pupils’ progress, 
including observing day-to-day learning, coursework, conversations 
with pupils and planned periodic assessments.  Teachers also use 
standardised assessment to complement their evidence that a pupil 
is making good progress.

4.4 To achieve a level, it is not necessary for a pupil to demonstrate 
mastery of every individual aspect of learning at a particular level, 
but it is important that there are no major gaps.  The dependability 
of teacher judgements is enhanced through effective moderation of 
planning, learning and teaching, and assessment.  All schools in the 
Scottish Borders are expected to plan moderation practices within 
and across schools, ensuring adequate time is set aside within the 
year plan.  This is an improving picture across all clusters. 

4.5 Reported Performance Levels

The figure below represents the judgements made by teachers in 
Scottish Borders Council in June 2016 compared to the average 
National attainment judgements.

Figure 1: Curriculum for Excellence 2015/16 national comparison:

4.6 Comment on Figure 1:

The attainment in Scottish Borders Council across all stages and 
all subjects is consistently above the National Average.

Page 7



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 6 

4.7 Table 1: Curriculum for Excellence 2015/16 National comparison:

Listening Reading

P1 
Early 
Level

P4 
First 
Level

P7 
Second 
Level

S3 
Third 
Level

S3 
Forth 
Level

P1 
Early 
Level

P4 
First 
Level

P7 
Second 
Level

S3 
Third 
Level

S3 
Forth 
Level

SB 
2015/16 86.9 85.3 82.6 96.0 70.4 85.8 80.6 78.1 96.0 68.3

National 
2015/16 85.0 81.0 77.0 87.0 41.0 81.0 75.0 72.0 86.0 39.0

+/- on 
National 1.9 4.3 5.6 9.0 29.4 4.8 5.6 6.1 10.0 29.3

Writing Numeracy

P1 
Early 
Level

P4 
First 
Level

P7 
Second 
Level

S3 
Third 
Level

S3 
Forth 
Level

P1 
Early 
Level

P4 
First 
Level

P7 
Second 
Level

S3 
Third 
Level

S3 
Forth 
Level

SB 
2015/16 81.8 75.0 73.0 95.2 62.2 86.1 76.9 73.9 93.3 67.9

National 
2015/16 78.0 69.0 65.0 84.0 37.0 84.0 73.0 68.0 86.0 49.0

+/- on 
National 3.8 6.0 8.0 11.2 25.2 2.1 3.9 5.9 7.3 18.9

4.8 Comment on Table 1:

In comparison to 2015/16 national data, Scottish Borders Council 
is higher in all areas.

4.9 The information below reports Scottish Borders Council attainment 
for the National Improvement Framework, using teachers’ 
professional judgments for literacy and numeracy at Primary 1, 
Primary 4, Primary 7 and Secondary 3, comparing attainment for 
session 2015/16 with session 2016/17.

4.10 Table 2: Comparisons of 2015/16 and 2016/17 National 
Improvement Framework data for Scottish Borders Council:

P1 Achieved Early Level
School Listening Reading Writing Numeracy
 2015/16 86.9% 85.8% 81.8% 86.1%
2016/17 85.1% 81.1% 76.0% 81.1%
Difference -1.9% -4.7% -5.8% -5.0%

Page 8



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 7 

P4 Achieved First Level
School Listening Reading Writing Numeracy
2015/16 85.3% 80.6% 75.0% 76.9%
2016/17 86.7% 81.0% 77.2% 78.5%
Difference 1.4% 0.3% 2.2% 1.6%

P7 Achieved Second Level
School Listening Reading Writing Numeracy
2015/16 82.6% 78.1% 73.0% 73.9%
2016/17 84.5% 79.2% 73.6% 70.2%
Difference 1.9% 1.1% 0.6% -3.7%

S3 Achieved Third Level
Listening Reading Writing Numeracy

2015/16 96.0% 96.0% 95.2% 93.3%
2016/17 95.8% 95.0% 94.5% 88.7%

Difference -0.2% -1.0% -0.7% -4.6%

S3 Achieved Fourth Level
Listening Reading Writing Numeracy

2015/16 70.4% 68.3% 62.2% 67.9%
2016/17 71.7% 68.1% 63.9% 64.6%

Difference 1.3% -0.2% 1.7% -3.3%

4.11 Comments on Table 2:

Learners in Primary 4 and Primary 7 continue to make good 
progress in all three aspects of Literacy.  Achievement of 3rd Level 
in the three aspects of Literacy at Secondary 3 remains high and 
relatively stable, with notable progress in achievement of 4th Level 
for Listening and Writing.

4.12 The following key areas are noted for Session 2017/18:

(a) In 2016/17 Literacy attainment was higher than Numeracy 
attainment – this reflects the national picture at all levels;

(b) Writing moderation is improving and the Council must now 
develop a Scottish Borders Council validated Writing criteria 
for early level;

(c) The results are categorised as experimental statistics – it is 
an evolving picture but the levels of attainment within 
Scottish Borders Council are strong compared to national 
data (which will be released later in 2017) and evidence 
improving levels of moderation and teacher judgement.

4.13 A number of areas will be specifically targeted during this session 
through a series of activities  in the Scottish Borders Council 

Page 9



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 8 

Quality Improvement Programme, including Raising Attainment 
meetings, Quality Improvement Officer (QIO) support and 
challenge visits; professional learning provision linked to raising 
attainment; supported assessment and moderation training for all 
school and Local Authority staff on using the Benchmarks; 
supported cluster working to enhance primary/secondary working 
within the BGE;  involvement of Closing the Gap officer (seconded 
staff).  In addition, schools will have the Scottish National 
Standardised Assessments as an additional tool, which can be 
used for diagnostic purposes, and the South East Improvement 
Regional Collaborative will be sharing information, including data 
and best practice relating to raising standards and attainment. 

4.14 The aim for our children and young people in the Scottish Borders 
is that all learners have the best possible opportunity of achieving 
the expected level of attainment in Literacy and Numeracy at the 
appropriate stage.  In session 2016/17 most pupils in Scottish 
Borders at Primary 1 and Primary 4 achieved the level for the 
appropriate stage.  At Primary 7 most pupils achieved 2nd Level for 
Listening/Talking and Reading.  However, only the majority 
achieved 2nd Level in Writing and Numeracy.  Almost all Secondary 
3 students achieved 3rd Level for Literacy and most achieved the 
3rd Level for Numeracy.  The Council’s ambition is to see all 
achievement in the ‘Most’ or ‘Almost all’ categories.  The Council’s 
Quality Improvement activity detailed in 4.13 is aligned to 
securing improvement in the assessment data for our learners in 
the BGE.  School improvement partnerships will be set up across 
the South East Regional Improvement Collaborative to further 
challenge school performance.

4.15 To conclude, Scottish Borders Council is in the upper band of the 
highest attaining Local Authorities, and attaining higher than the 
national average across the board.  However, it is important to 
bear in mind the relative robustness of the data across the 
country; the classification as experimental statistics is in 
recognition of the evolving approach to assessment across the 
Broad General Education.  Therefore, going forward, Scottish 
Borders Council will be undertaking a number of approaches to 
ensure our schools continue to strive to meet the local and 
national priorities of raising attainment for all, including:

(a) Improved moderation practice; locally and within the 
Regional Collaborative

(b) Raising attainment meetings in every school; and target 
setting focused on achieving very good levels of 
performance in literacy and numeracy at all stages of the 
BGE

(c) An assurance of raising attainment at the heart of all quality 
improvement activity

(d) Development of a ‘Raising Attainment’ strategy for Scottish 
Borders Council schools.

Page 10



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 9 

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Policy 

The Education (Scotland) Act 2016 places the National Improvement 
Framework and reporting arrangements on a statutory footing.  The Act 
will require the Education Service to fulfil its existing duties to secure 
improvement in school education in a way which achieves the key priorities 
set out in the National Improvement Framework.  Policy and guidance will 
be developed on the use and reporting of standardised assessments in 
Literacy and Numeracy and shared with staff, pupils and parent/carers.  
Further policy and guidance will also be developed regarding the statutory 
functions of the Local Authority to secure improvement and links with 
National Policy developments, such as the Headteachers’ Charter and the 
Regional Improvement Collaboratives.  Papers will be forthcoming on these 
matters as they develop.

5.2 Integrated Impact Assessment

The subject of this Report does not affect the well-being of the community 
of have a significant impact on equality, the environment or economy.

5.3 Financial

There are no costs attached to any of the recommendations contained in 
this report.  Standardised assessments are to be funded by the Scottish 
Government.

5.4 Risk and Mitigations 

The report fully describes all the elements of risk that have been identified 
in relation to this project and no specific additional concerns need to be 
addressed.

5.5 Equalities 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out on this proposal and 
it is anticipated that there are no adverse equality implications.

5.6 Acting Sustainably

There are no economic, social or environmental impacts arising as a result 
of this report. 

5.7 Carbon Management

There are no anticipated impacts on carbon emissions as a result of this 
report.

5.8 Rural Proofing 

There are no anticipated impacts on carbon emissions as a result of this 
report

Page 11



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 10 

5.9 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

There are no changes required to either the Scheme of Administration or 
the Scheme of Delegation arising as a result of this report.  

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Service Director HR and the Clerk to 
the Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

Approved by

Donna Manson
Service Director, Children and Young People Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Liz Wharton Quality Improvement Manager, Children and Young People 

Service

Appendices:
Appendix 1: Literacy Assessments at Philiphaugh Nursery
Appendix 2: Health and Well-being Assessments
Appendix 3: Health and Well-being Strategic Diagram

Background Papers:  

7.1 Assessment for Curriculum for Excellence: strategic vision and key 
principles.http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/Images/AssessmentforCfEt cm4-
565505.pdf

7.2 Curriculum for Excellence Building the Curriculum 5: A Framework for 
Assessment: recognising achievement, profiling and 
reporting.(http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/Images/BtC5Framework tc m4-
653230.pdf.

7.3 Improving Schools in Scotland: An OECD Perspective

http://www.oecd.org/education/school/Improving-Schools-in-Scotland-An-
OECD-Perspective.pdf.

7.4 2016 National Improvement Framework 
http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2016/01/8314

7.5 2017 National Improvement Framework for Scottish Education 2015 Interim 
Framework Report 
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Education/Schools/NationalImprovementFrame 
work/2017/

Page 12

http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/Images/AssessmentforCfEt
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/Images/BtC5Framework
http://www.oecd.org/education/school/Improving-Schools-in-Scotland-An-OECD-Perspective.pdf
http://www.oecd.org/education/school/Improving-Schools-in-Scotland-An-OECD-Perspective.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2016/01/8314
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Education/Schools/NationalImprovementFrame


Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 11 

7.6 Office of National Statistics A Guide to Experimental Statistics 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/methodologytopicsandstatisticalconce 
pts/guidetoexperimentalstatistics 

Previous Minute Reference:  

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Liz Wharton can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA.

Page 13

https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/methodologytopicsandstatisticalconce


This page is intentionally left blank



PIPs ENTRY INTO P1 ATTAINMENT TRACKING                             

Appendix 1

PIPs Baseline (On-Entry into P1)
Maths Reading PhonicsYear

% below 
average

% on 
track

% above 
average

% below 
average

% on 
track

% above 
average

% below 
average

% on 
track

% above 
average

Overall Results

Sept
2014

53 14 33 47 27 27 34 53 13
Maths = 47% expected or above
Reading = 54% expected or above
Phonics = 66% expected or above

Sept 
2015

37 26 37 42 37 21 26 48 26
Maths = 63% expected or above
Reading = 58% expected or above
Phonics = 74% expected or above

Sept 
2016

55 36 9 73 12 9 55 45 0
Maths = 45% expected or above
Reading = 21% expected or above
Phonics = 45% expected or above

Sept
2017

31 14 55 14 55 31 14 41 46
Maths = 69% expected or above
Reading = 86% expected or above
Phonics = 87% expected or above

Less than 45 = below average
45 to 55 = within expected range

More than 45 = above average

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Young People’s Survey

Secondary pupils were asked to rate the following questions as: Strongly Agree, Agree, 
Don’t Know, Disagree or Strongly Disagree.

1. This school thinks it is important to develop the wellbeing of staff, young people and 
families

2. Staff and young people have positive relationships with each other
3. I feel safe and secure in school
4. Most young people in this school are kind and respectful of each other
5. I have some good friends at school
6. I have good relationships with most adults in this school 
7. I feel I belong in this school 
8. The views of young people in this school are listened to and acted upon
9. I feel I have contributed to improving the life and work of this school
10. This school teaches young people how to develop their emotional wellbeing and 

resilience 
11. Young people in this school use their emotional wellbeing and resilience skills 

positively 
12. I know that everyone experiences ups and downs in life
13. I can usually work out a way to deal with problems or setbacks 
14. I am often reluctant to try new things 
15. I have been given opportunities to identify, develop and build on my strengths
16. Older pupils in this school act as positive role models to younger pupils
17. This school encourages young people to get involved and contribute to the local 

community
18. Adults in this school encourage me to have high expectations for myself
19. Adults in this school consistently show the behaviours they expect from young people
20. Adults in this school rarely shout at young people 
21. There are adults in this school that make a positive difference to my life
22. I have an adult in school that I trust and would talk to if I was upset or worried about 

something
23. Adults in the school are good at listening and responding to my concerns
24. I take part in school clubs and after school activities
25. I regularly feel stressed and overwhelmed at school 
26. When I have difficulties at school, I am able to ask for help 
27. I have an adult out of school that I trust and would talk to if I was upset or worried 

about something 
28. I think that this school carers about their young people 
29. Adults in the school treat each other with care and respect
30. All young people in this school are kind and respectful of each other
31. The school Is a welcoming place for parents and carers
32. What is one thing that the school could do that would help improve pupil wellbeing?

Wellbeing and Feelings

1. Please comment on your feelings about school/local community

Page 17



Primary pupils were asked to rate the following questions as: Strongly Agree, Agree, Don’t 
Know, Disagree or Strongly Disagree.

1. I am happy with who I am
2. I like playtimes
3. I think I have good ideas
4. I feel I have lots to be proud of
5. I think the way I behave affects what happens to me
6. I keep my feelings to myself
7. I am easily hurt by what others say about me
8. I can choose how I behave
9. I can calm myself down quickly after getting angry
10. I would talk to an adult if I was very upset
11. I can usually work out the way to deal with problems
12. Even if I find something hard, I keep trying
13. I try to learn from my mistakes
14. I can ask for help when I need it
15. Children in this school are kind to each other
16. I try to help others when things are hard for them
17. I laugh at other people when they get into trouble or get hurt
18. I have some good friends at school 
19. I find it easy to makeup with people after falling out
20. Adults in our school listen to my views
21. I treat others the way I like to be treated
22. I think my teacher cares about me
23. Adults in out school treat everyone fairly
24. Adults in our school set a good example
25. I feel safe at school
26. Teachers notice when I do things well
27. I enjoy being in school
28. I find it easy to complete work by myself
29. My teacher talks with me about how I can make my work better
30. I am encouraged to take part in after school activies

Page 18



Appendix 3

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 1 

INSIGHT LOCAL BENCHMARKING MEASURES TO 2017

Report by Service Director, Children and Young People
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

7 November 2017

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report informs the Executive Committee Members of trends in 
attainment and the achievement of Secondary 5 and Secondary 6 
pupils in the Senior Phase in Scottish Borders using the “Local 
Benchmarking Measures” from 2013 to 2017 from Insight the 
National Exam Comparator Data tool.  

1.2 The Local Benchmarking measures provide data on pupils' achievements 
during the Senior Phase while they are still at school.  Leavers’ data will be 
available in the National dashboards on Insight in February.  The 
attainment figures are based on the ‘Latest and Best’ achievement of 
young people in the Senior Phase and some early presentations in 
Secondary 3.  In Scottish Borders, the Council operates inclusive schools 
and there are some pupils who pass examinations at SCQF Levels 1 and 2, 
which are not included in the analysis as key benchmark measures, but are 
available in whole school subjects summary reports.  The attainment of our 
most vulnerable pupils will be reported as a separate report to the 
Executive Committee in January 2018.

1.3 The information and commentary in this report detail the progress made by 
Scottish Borders pupils against the Virtual Comparator and the National 
Establishment (i.e. national average) by stage over the last five years for 
each Local Benchmarking measures.  Figures are provided for both the 
National Establishment and the Virtual Comparator, but the Virtual 
Comparator is seen as the key benchmark for helping schools and 
Education Authorities understand their strengths and areas for 
improvement.  The Virtual Comparator is made up of ten pupils from other 
Local Authorities around Scotland who have similar matching 
characteristics.  This is matched by stage, gender, Additional Support 
Needs (ASN) and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD).  It is not 
an actual school, but a helpful statistical comparator.  Local benchmarking 
measures are influenced by a school’s curricular model/presentations 
policy.  The local benchmarking data is detailed in the appendix to this 
report. 

1.4 There are real strengths in the positive trends of performance of Scottish 
Borders pupils in national examinations; in every key measure significant 
progress is evidenced in the last five years and the performance in all key 
measures improved between 2016 and 2017.

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 2 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee:

(a) Notes the trends in attainment and achievement of 
Secondary 5 and Secondary 6 pupils 

(b) Agrees to recognise the significant improvement in the 
fifteen key measures of pupils’ performance in national 
exams in 2017 compared to 2016, acknowledging the work 
of school staff, young people and the support of 
parents/carers in this achievement.

Page 22



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 3 

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 Each year young people in secondary schools in the Scottish Borders 
achieve a range of awards and qualifications available on the Scottish 
Credit and Qualifications Framework (SCQF) at different stages 
throughout the Senior Phase of secondary school (Secondary 4 to 
Secondary 6).

3.2 The Scottish Government developed a new statistical benchmarking tool, 
‘Insight’, to assist schools and Local Authorities in the analysis of 
attainment of young people in the Senior Phase through nationally agreed 
benchmarking measures and course breadth and depth data.  General 
information on the “Insight” tool is available online at: 
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Education/Schools/curriculum/seniorphasebe  
nchmarking. 

3.3 This report focuses on the four “Local Benchmarking Measures” based on 
the cumulative achievements of all young people at the end of Secondary 
5 and Secondary 6 in the five years to 2017, and will explore how Scottish 
Borders Council has performed over this five year period in relation to the 
national average and its Virtual Comparator.

3.4 The four nationally agreed “Local Benchmarking Measures”, published 
through "Insight" in September 2017, are:

(a) Improving attainment in Literacy and Numeracy: this shows 
the percentage of young people who achieve a qualification in 
Literacy and Numeracy across Secondary 4 to Secondary 6;

(b) Improving attainment for all: this is based on a calculation of 
points awarded by grade and by level for each subject, including 
wider achievement awards;

(c) Attainment versus Deprivation: this is the above attainment 
information matched to Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 
(SIMD) information which allows us to track performance by 
deprivation;

(d) Increasing Post School Destinations: this dashboard shows the 
destination of our school leavers up to 2015/2016.

3.5 The Senior Phase is a three year learner journey from Secondary 4 – 
Secondary 6, where learners build up a portfolio of qualifications over this 
time which best suits the needs of that individual’s path.  In general, 
Scottish Borders Council has a high stay-on rate from Secondary 4 into 
Secondary 5, thus measuring performance at Secondary 5 is a key 
indicator for the Local Authority.  Some learners in Secondary 4 will be on 
a two year National 5 learner journey in order to meet their needs and so 
comparison at Secondary 4 does not take into account these differences.

3.6 The reports in Insight are based on SQA attainment, schools academy 
college courses and SCQF level accredited awards.

3.7 The main highlights for Scottish Borders are provided in paragraphs 3.8.  
A detailed breakdown of each of the measures is provided in Appendix 1. 
It is advisable to study Appendix 1,”Scottish Borders Local Benchmarking“ 
paper whilst following the commentary.

Page 23

http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Education/Schools/curriculum/seniorphasebe


Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 4 

4 Scottish Borders Performance 2012 to 2017

4.1 Overall, the three Local Benchmarking Measures (LBMs) reported by the 
Scottish Government Insight tool in the September 2017 update indicate 
that attainment in Scottish Borders has improved overall over the five 
year period to 2016/2017.  There are a number of key points detailed in 
the paragraphs below:

4.2 Literacy and Numeracy Achievement – see Figures/Tables 3 to5 on Pages 
4 to 8, Appendix 1:

(a) Literacy Achievement: Scottish Borders Literacy performance shows 
an improving trend over the five years across SCQF Levels 3 to 6 at 
both Secondary 5 and Secondary 6.  Scottish Borders’ performance 
has typically been slightly ahead of the Virtual Comparator;

(b) Numeracy Achievement: Scottish Borders’ Numeracy performance 
shows an improving trend over the five years across SCQF Levels 3 
to 6.

4.3 Improving Attainment for All – see Figure 1/Table 1 on pages 2 to3, 
Appendix 1:

(a) Over the last five years Scottish Borders shows an improving trend in 
the average complementary tariff scores across the three attaining 
groups of the lowest 20%, middle 60% and top 20% by the end of 
Secondary 5 and Secondary 6.  Tariff points are calculated in Insight 
using the SCQF scale by level and by band.  With the introduction of 
Curriculum for Excellence, it was agreed that it would be essential to 
implement a new tariff scale to ensure that it is capable of 
addressing the full range of possible journeys of learners in the 
Senior Phase, whilst striving to avoid perverse incentives (eg 
quantity over quality).  This calculation also mitigates the difference 
in curriculum models where young people sitting six compared with 
eight qualifications, are not disadvantaged;

(b) Performance by the end of Secondary 5 and Secondary 6 has 
typically been in line with the Virtual Comparator across the five 
years for the middle 60%, with positive trends for the top 20%.  The 
pupils’ performances are in line with the national average for the 
lowest 20% of attainers and are moving towards closing the gap 
against the Virtual Comparator in this measure;

(c) Scottish Borders Council pupils in Secondary 6, based on the roll in 
Secondary 4, are in line with the Virtual Comparator for achieving 3+ 
Higher, 5+ Highers and 1+ Advanced Higher.

4.4 Attainment versus Deprivation – see Tables 6 to 7 on Pages 8 and 9, 
Appendix 1:

(a) Scottish Borders data across the ten SIMD deciles at each stage over 
the five year period, show that they are roughly in line with the 
National average, though there is room for improvement in deciles 1 
to 3.  These lower deciles tend to be where our Secondary 4 leavers 
exit school and evidence shows that the longer these young people 
stay in school, the better their attainment.  This year schools are 
making progress with strategies on how to close the poverty related 
attainment gap.

Page 24



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 5 

(b) There is a whole programme of work, involving every school across 
the Local Authority, with very clear improvement targets, which will 
be the subject of a separate progress report to the January 2018 
Executive Committee.

4.5 Increasing Post School Destinations -

(a) In 2015/2016 Scottish Borders Council has shown a positive trend in 
leaver destinations and remains in line with the Virtual Comparator.  
The Council is working closely with schools and Skills Development 
Scotland to improve the quality of data and to use more ‘live’ data 
on a regular basis.  The Council have improved the number of 
’unknown’ destinations this year, which should impact on the 
2016/2017 information which comes out in the February Insight 
release.

5 CONCLUSION

5.1 Attainment for All – Exam Performance and Tariff Scores

(a) The performance of Secondary 5 pupils in examinations evidences 
improving trends across all groups of learners in the last five years; 
performance in 2017 was above the national average and above the 
virtual comparator for the highest 20% learner group.  The middle 
60% and lowest 20% learner groups were above the national 
average but below the virtual comparators.

(b) The performance of Secondary 6 pupils in examinations evidences 
improving trends across all groups of learners in the last five years; 
performance in 2017 was above the national average and above the 
virtual comparator for the highest 20% learner group.  The middle 
60% learner group was above the national average, but below the 
virtual comparators; the lowest 20% learner group were behind 
national and behind the virtual comparator.

Page 25



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 6 

5.2 Literacy and Numeracy

(a) The performance of Secondary 5 pupils at National 3 and 4 or 
better shows an improving trend, with both levels showing an 
increase in 2017 on the previous year.  The performance tracks in 
line with the national average and for the first time in 2017 
performance was above the virtual comparator.

(b) The performance of Secondary 5 pupils at National 5 and Higher 
shows an improving trend over the five year period, with the 
performance in 2017 increasing on the previous year with National 
5 performance being above the national average and the gap 
closing on the Virtual Comparator.  The performance of Secondary 5 
pupils at Higher is improving, but work is required with Higher Maths 
performance to get above national and the Virtual Comparator 
performance level. 

(c) The performance of Secondary 6 pupils at National 3 and 4 or better 
shows an improving trend with both showing an increase in 2017 on 
the previous year.  The performance is typically in line with the 
Virtual Comparator and the national average.

(d) The performance of Secondary 6 pupils at National 5 or better shows 
an improving trend over the five year period, with the 2017 
performance 10% higher than the previous year.  The performance at 
Higher or better shows an increasing trend, but is lower than the 
Virtual Comparator and national average.

5.3 Attainment versus Deprivation

(a) In 2017 the performance of Secondary 5 pupils in Decile 1 and 3 is 
below our Virtual Comparator.  The performance of Secondary 5 
pupils in Deciles 4 to 9 is in line nationally, but below at Decile 10.

(b) In 2017 the performance of Secondary 6 pupils in Decile 1 to 3 is 
below the national average.  In SIMD Decile 10, Scottish Borders 
Council performance is much greater than the National 
Establishment.  In SIMD Decile 7, Scottish Borders Council 
performance is greater than the National Establishment, though 
there is room for improvement in Deciles 6 and 8.

(c) Overall the 5 year trends in the exam performance of Scottish 
Borders pupils are improving.  A range of key measures have made 
significant gain and are above national and Virtual Comparators; for 
the measures not yet above national and Virtual, there is a very 
robust focus on raising attainment.

(d) Each secondary school will have a contextualised attainment review 
in November; an action plan will follow and be subject to ongoing 
scrutiny and support.  Schools will have an opportunity to 
participate in a school improvement partnership with another 
secondary school within the South East Regional Collaborative.  A 
range of professional learning activities and quality improvement 
processes will support schools to continue to raise attainment in all 
key measures, with a particular focus on the attainment in Deciles 
1 to 3 and closing the poverty related attainment gap.  The Council 
is confident that the strength in school and central officer 
leadership, the developing culture of ambition and the improving 

Page 26



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 7 

classroom practice, will continue to improve levels of attainment 
across all key measures and progress the Council’s ambition for all 
key measures to be above national and above Virtual Comparators.

(e) There were many strong performances in pupils’ exam performance 
in the Scottish Borders in 2017.

6 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy 

There are no direct policy implications associated with this report.

6.2 Integrated Impact Assessment 

The subject of this Report does not affect the well-being of the community 
of have a significant impact on equality, the environment or economy.

6.3 Financial

There are no costs attached to any of the recommendations contained in 
this report.

6.4 Risk and Mitigations

The report fully describes all the elements of risk that have been identified 
in relation to this project and no specific additional concerns need to be 
addressed.

6.5 Equalities 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out on this proposal 
and it is anticipated that there are no adverse equality implications.

6.6 Acting Sustainably

There are no economic, social or environmental impacts arising as a result 
of this report. 

6.7 Carbon Management

There are no anticipated impacts on carbon emissions as a result of this 
report.

6.8 Rural Proofing 

There are no anticipated impacts on carbon emissions as a result of this 
report.

6.9 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

There are no changes required to either the Scheme of Administration or 
the Scheme of Delegation arising as a result of this report.

7 Consultation

7.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Service Director HR and the Clerk to 
the Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

7.2 The corporate management team have been consulted and any comments 
received have been incorporated into the final report.

Page 27



Executive Committee, 7 November 2017 8 

Approved by

Donna Manson

Service Director, Children and Young People Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Michelle Strong Chief Officer - Education, Children and Young People Service

Background Papers:  

Previous Minute Reference: 

Appendix: Appendix 1 – Scottish Borders Local Benchmarking and Graded Course 
Measures Performance to 2017 

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Michelle Strong can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA, 01835 
826817

Page 28



1

Appendix 1
Scottish Borders Council - Education Service

Scottish Borders Local Benchmarking (S5 & S6)

 1. Background Notes

This report compares the performance of Scottish Borders S5 and S6 pupils against local 
benchmarks over time.

 The data in this report is taken from the September 2017 release of Insight national 
exam performance data and reflects the most up to date position on attainment.

 The Local Benchmarking measures provide data on pupils' achievements during the 
senior phase while they are still at school. Leavers data will be available in the National 
dashboards on Insight in February.

 The attainment figures are based on the ‘Latest and Best’ achievement of young 
people in the Senior Phase and some early presentations in S3.The figures only include 
attainment in SCQF credit-rated qualifications that have been matched to an individual 
pupil via their Scottish Candidate Number (SCN).

 In Scottish Borders the Council operate inclusive schools and there are some pupils 
who pass examinations at SCQF levels 1 and 2, which are not included in the analysis as 
key benchmark measures but are available in whole school subjects summary reports. 
The attainment of our most vulnerable pupils will be reported as a separate report to 
the Executive in January 2018.

 The following information and commentary detail the progress made by Scottish 
Borders pupils against the Virtual Comparator and the National Establishment (i.e. 
national average) by stage over the last 5 years for each Local Benchmarking measure. 
Figures are provided for both the National Establishment and the Virtual Comparator 
but the Virtual Comparator is seen as the key benchmark for helping schools and 
Education Authorities understand their strengths and areas for improvement The 
Virtual Comparator is made up of 10 pupils from other local authorities around 
Scotland who have similar matching characteristics. This is matched by stage, gender, 
Additional Support Needs (ASN) and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD). It is 
not an actual school but a helpful statistical comparator. SBC schools are ensuring that 
all ASN data held within Seemis is accurate as this determines the matching criteria for 
the virtual comparator. Local benchmarking measures are influenced by a school’s 
curricular model/presentations policy. It is worth noting that the Virtual Comparator 
does not currently take into account the curriculum model/presentations policy of the 
schools that they come from. Therefore, caution must be exercised when making 
comparisons at stage level especially in S4 as other schools could be doing a two year 
Higher.

 When the cohort being compared relates to a small number of pupils (less than 20 
as a rule of thumb provided by the Scottish Government), the trends are more likely to 
fluctuate over time and, therefore, are less likely to be significant. This is a key issue in 
our smaller secondary schools where presentation is likely to be less than 20 pupils 
and collectively does have an impact upon the Scottish Borders overall statistics.

Page 29



2

2. Local Benchmarking Measure (LBM): Improving Attainment for All

The LBM groups candidates according to their whole-school attainment as measured by 
their average complimentary tariff points into three attainment groups. The three groups 
are the lowest-scoring 20 per cent of pupils, the highest-scoring 20 per cent and the middle 
60 per cent. For each pupil the tariff score is the total of the tariff points associated with 
each of the eligible latest and best awards they have achieved by the end of each stage. 
Awards that have been superseded by the pupil progressing to a higher-level award in the 
same subject are excluded, as are awards achieved when the pupil was in S1–S3. For 
example, if a pupil has National 5 English and Higher English then only the points for the 
Higher are included. These tariff scores are then averaged over all the pupils in the particular 
attainment group. 

Figures 1 and 2 that follow show the average complimentary tariff score by S5 and S6 of the 
full S4 year group across Scottish Borders. It includes those pupils who left before those 
stages over the five-year period thus an S4 leaver who does not have the opportunity to gain 
more qualifications will reach a ceiling with regards to tariff points.

Figure 1: The average total complimentary tariff score of the full S4 year group within each attainment 
group by the end of S5 since 2012/13.

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Lowest 20% 118 130 116 120 135 112 119 126 129 132 135 139 147 155 156
Middle 60% 448 502 513 543 548 437 460 502 518 526 479 509 537 570 563
Highest 20% 916 941 959 963 970 917 932 944 949 951 927 945 952 962 958

Improving Attainment for All
S5 Pupil Performance 2013 to 2017

Comments:

 Improving trends across all groups of learners
 Highest 20% above National and above Virtual
 Middle 60% above National and below Virtual
 Lowest 20% above National and below Virtual

Page 30



3

Figure 2: The average total tariff score of the full S4 year group within each attainment group by the end 
of S6 since 2012/13.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Lowest 20% 112 122 133 120 125 106 115 122 130 133 124 137 143 150 158
Middle 60% 540 575 629 630 649 522 549 572 608 618 566 603 637 649 682
Highest 20% 1262 1250 1301 1322 1315 1218 1227 1243 1257 1261 1229 1244 1267 1271 1285

Improving Attainment for All
S6 Pupil Performance 2013 to 2017

Comments:

 Improving trends across all groups of learners
 Highest 20% above National and above Virtual
 Middle 60% above National and below Virtual
 Lowest 20% behind National and behind Virtual

Tariff Points

Table 1 shows how tariff scores are calculated by level and by grade

SCQF LEVEL 7 = Advanced Higher
SCQF LEVEL 6 = Higher
SCQF LEVEL 5 = National 5
SCQF LEVEL 4 = National 4

SCQF 
Level 

Grade Tariff 
Score 

SCQF 
Level

Grade Tariff 
Score

7 A 480 6 A 204 
B 440 B 182 
C 400 C 160 
D 380 D 149 

5 A 84 4 pass 33
B 74 AV 15
C 64 
D 59 

Page 31



4

3. Local Benchmarking Measure: Literacy and Numeracy

Figures 3 to 5 that follow detail the percentage of the full S4 year group that achieved 
Literacy and/or Numeracy from 2012/13 to 2016/17 to at least SCQF Levels 3 to 6 by 
the end of S5 or S6.

Tables 6 and 7 further break this information down separately for Literacy & 
Numeracy by the end of each stage.

Figure 2: Literacy and Numeracy achievement for the full S4 year group at SCQF Level 3 (National 3) and 4 
(National 4) by the end of S5 in each year from 2012/13 to 2016/17

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

SB SCQF 3
VC SCQF 3
National SCQF 3
SB SCQF 4
VC SCQF 4
National SCQF 4

% S5 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at SCQF Levels 3 & 4 or better

SB = Scottish Borders SCQF 3 = National 3
VC = Virtual Comparator SCQF 4 = National 4
National = Scotland

Table 2 - % S5 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at National 3 & 4 or better

S5 Pupils 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 3 yr Ave

2017 
% 

point 
change 

(+/-) 
on 

2016 5yr Trend
Scottish Borders SCQF 3 89.29 92.2 92.37 92.44 95.66 93.49 3.22 0.05
Virtual Comparator SCQF 3 92.27 92.15 93.18 94.88 95.07 94.38 0.19 0.24
National SCQF 3 90.38 90.78 92.22 93.44 93.58 93.08 0.14 -0.12
Scottish Borders SCQF 4 73.7 81.7 83.96 86.96 91.16 87.36 4.2 -0.76
Virtual Comparator SCQF 4 80.23 81.78 87.02 90.2 90.17 89.13 -0.03 -0.91
National SCQF 4 75.52 77.81 84.24 87.02 87.5 86.25 0.48 -1.37

Page 32



5

Comments on Figure 2 and Table 2:

 Scottish Borders’ S5 performance at National 3 and 4 or better shows an 
improving trend with both levels showing a % increase in 2017 on the 
previous year.

 Scottish Borders’s S5 % at National 3 and 4 has been tracking in line with both 
the national average and the Virtual Comparator, with small yearly 
fluctuations.

 Insight Testing found that the following comparisons were significant for 
this measure:

 SBC S5 performance at National 4 is lower than the Virtual 
Comparator in years 2013 and 2016.

Figure 3: Literacy and Numeracy achievement at SCQF Levels 5 and 6 for the full S4 year group by 
the end of S5 in each year from 2012/13 to 2016/17

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

SB SCQF 5
VC SCQF 5
National SCQF 5
SB SCQF 6
VC SCQF 6
National SCQF 6

% S5 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at SCQF Levels 5 & 6 or better

SB = Scottish Borders SCQF 5 = National 5

VC = Virtual Comparator SCQF 6 = Higher

National = Scotland

Table 3 - % S5 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at SCQF Levels 5 & 6 or better

S5 Pupils 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 3 yr Ave

2017 
% 

point 
change 

(+/-) 
on 

2016 5yr Trend
Scottish Borders SCQF 5 45.04 48.49 54.29 61.71 66.47 60.82 4.76 0.73
Virtual Comparator SCQF 5 52.31 55.06 62.28 66.64 67.34 65.42 0.7 -1.23
National SCQF 5 47.45 49.91 57.8 60.9 63.3 60.67 2.4 -1.21
Scottish Borders SCQF 6 13.94 17.3 17.75 19.27 22.27 19.76 3 0.18
Virtual Comparator SCQF 6 20.27 22.51 22.97 23.97 25.4 24.11 1.43 -0.07
National SCQF 6 18.17 19.81 21.01 21.16 22.87 21.68 1.71 -0.25

Page 33



6

Comments on Figure 3 and Table 3:

 Scottish Borders S5 performance at SCQF Level 5 and 6 shows an improving trend 
over the five-year period with the performance at SCQF Level 5 and 6 in 2017 
increasing on the previous year.

 Scottish Borders S5 % at both SCQF Levels is typically lower than the Virtual Comparator 
and national average, but SCQF Level 5 is higher in 2017 than previous 5 years.  

 Our young people are gaining core Literacy and Numeracy qualifications 
within the senior phase

 Insight Testing found that the following comparisons were significant for 
this measure:
 SB S5 performance at SCQF Level 5 is lower than the Virtual 

Comparator in years 2013 to 2016.

Figure 4: Literacy and Numeracy achievement at SCQF Levels 3 and 4 for the full S4 year group by the 
end of S6 in each year from 2012/13 to 2016/17

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

SB SCQF 3
VC SCQF 3
National SCQF 3
SB SCQF 4
VC SCQF 4
National SCQF 4

% S6 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at SCQF Levels 3 & 4 or better

Table 4 - % S6 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at SCQF Levels 3 & 4 or better

S6 Pupils 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 3 yr Ave

2017 
% 

point 
change 

(+/-) 
on 

2016 5yr Trend
SBC  Nat 3 91.1 89.45 92.11 92.73 93.12 92.65 0.39 -0.01
VC Nat  3 90.9 92.55 92.54 93.44 94.98 93.65 1.54 0.20
National Nat 3 89.3 90.74 91.14 92.51 93.6 92.42 1.09 0.14
SB Nat 4 72.6 74.53 81.92 84.69 87.74 84.78 3.05 -0.87
VC Nat 4 78.9 80.95 82.65 87.51 90.37 86.84 2.86 0.98
National Nat 4 74.6 76.41 78.58 84.77 87.38 83.58 2.61 1.21

Page 34



7

Comments on Figure 4 and Table 4:

 Scottish Borders S6 performance at National 3 and 4 or better shows an improving 
trend with both showing a % increase in 2017 on the previous year

 Scottish Borders S6 performance at National 3 and 4 is typically in line with the 
virtual comparator and the national average.

 Insight Testing found that the following comparisons were 
significant for this measure:

 SB S6 performance at National 4 is lower than the Virtual 
Comparator in years 2014 to 2017 but is in line with the 
national trend with a positive five year progression

Figure 5: Literacy and Numeracy achievement at National 5 and Higher for the full S4 year group by the 
end of S6 in each year from 2012/13 to 2016/17

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

SB SCQF 5
VC SCQF 5
National SCQF 5
SB SCQF 6
VC SCQF 6
National SCQF 6

% S6 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at SCQF Levels 5 & 6 or better

Table 5 - % S6 Pupils attaining Literacy & Numeracy at National 5 & Higher or better

S6 Pupils 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 3 yr Ave

2017 
% 

point 
change 

(+/-) 
on 

2016 5yr Trend
SBC Nat  5 47.1 48.75 52.26 57.57 64.54 58.12 6.97 1.79
VC Nat 5 53.5 56.36 58.64 65.35 69.37 64.45 4.02 1.39
National Nat 5 49.5 51.33 53.57 61.22 63.77 59.52 2.55 1.52
SBC Higher 18.6 21.33 23.91 21.47 24.03 23.14 2.56 -1.31
VC Higher 25.4 27.63 29.26 27.9 28.33 28.50 0.43 -1.19
National Higher 23.6 24.93 25.86 25.82 25.33 25.67 -0.49 -0.70

Page 35



8

Comments on Figure 5 and Table 5:

 Scottish Borders S6 performance at National 5 or better shows an improving trend 
over the five-year period with the 2017 performance 10% higher than the previous 
year. The performance at Higher or better shows an increasing trend.

 Scottish Borders S6 % at both SCQF Levels is typically lower than the Virtual 
Comparator and national average.

  Insight Testing found that the following comparisons were significant for this 
measure:

 SB S6 performance at SCQF National 5 is lower than the Virtual 
Comparator in years 2014, 2015 and 2017.

 Achievement in 2017 is showing a positive five year trend in 
improvement and remains in line and above with the national trend

Local Benchmarking Measure: Attainment versus Deprivation

Table 6 – S5 average complimentary tariff points by SIMD decile, based on S4 roll

Comments on Table 6:

 Our performance in Decile 1 and 3 is below our virtual comparator. This equates to 31 young 
people  from 1199  in decile 1 and 40 at decile 3

 SBC tariff points are in line nationally for Deciles 4 to 9 and below at Decile 10

Page 36



9

 Table 7 – S6 average complimentary tariff points by SIMD decile, based on S4 roll

Comments on Table 7:

 Our performance in Decile 1 to 3 is below the national average
 In decile 1 this represent 32 pupils out of 1207 ; in decile 2 this represents 30 young people
 In SIMD decile 10, SBC performance is much greater than the National Establishment
 In SIMD decile 7, SBC performance is greater than the National Establishment though there 

is room for improvement in Deciles 6 and 8

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

EARLY YEARS AND CHILDCARE: EXPANSION TO 1140 HOURS

Report by Service Director, Children and Young People
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

7 November 2017

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report seeks to gain approval from the Executive Committee of 
the Service Delivery and Implementation Plan (SDP) relating to the 
proposed expansion of funded Early Learning and Childcare (ELC) 
for all three and four years and eligible two year olds from 600 
hours to 1140 hours per year to communities across the Scottish 
Borders by the end of the parliamentary session 2020 (financial 
year 2020/21).

1.2 Following Scottish Government guidance, the Council’s approach is Provider 
Neutral and will be in support of a Funding Follows the Child rationale, 
prioritising settings that are best placed to deliver quality outcomes for 
children and supporting the Council’s ambition to close the poverty related 
attainment gap and support parents into employment, training or study.  
Parents will be able choose locally from a range of ELC settings and 
providers where they wish their child to access their funded hours from 
within the context of a best value approach.

1.3 Specifically this report provides information on the rationale of the SDP and 
its contents; taking account of the key principles as outlined in ‘A Blueprint 
for 2020: The Expansion of Early Learning and Childcare in Scotland’ and is 
underpinned by clear guiding principles of Quality, Flexibility, Affordability 
and Accessibility.

1.4 The SDP builds upon the recommendations in a previous report submitted 
and approved by Council on 21 March 2017, relating to earlier phases of 
the ELC expansion of hours, the strategic approach to delivery and the 
identified communities now offering an 1140 ELC entitlement.  Learning 
from the initial phases of the ELC expansion of hours is invaluable.

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee:

(a) Approves the Early Learning and Childcare (ELC) Service 
Delivery and Implementation Plan, associated project work 
and financial  commitments at this stage;

(b) Notes the complexities and associated risks of planning for 
the expansion of Early Learning and Childcare; 

(c) Notes that the draft Early Learning and Childcare Service 
Delivery and Implementation Plan  has been submitted to the 
Scottish Government, subject to Council approval, a one-to-
one officer session with the Scottish Government Delivery 
Team will be held with the Local Authority in November 2017, 
to which any specific points can be raised.

(d) Agrees that an update on the progress of the SDP is brought 
back to the Executive in January 2018, including specific 
detail of what the ELC expansion will look like in communities 
in school session 2018/2019, including detail of capital 
projects.

Page 40



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

3 LEGISLATION AND THE SERVICE DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION 
PLAN (SDP)

3.1 ‘A Blueprint for 2020: The Expansion of Early Learning and Childcare (ELC) 
in Scotland ELC Expansion Planning Guidance for Local Authorities’ issued 
in March 2017, set out the requirement for Local Authority responsibility for 
the implementation and delivery of the expanded entitlement of 1140 
hours ELC in their local communities.  The vision for expansion is 
underpinned by the principles of Quality, Flexibility, Accessibility and 
Affordability.

3.2 There are a number of relevant pieces of guidance (Appendix 1) which are 
essential to this expansion of hours still outstanding from the Scottish 
Government, which will further support and influence the SDP and it is 
accepted that planning around the delivery of the full 1140 hours 
entitlement for all families will continue to evolve and be presented to the 
Executive Committee. 

3.3 A Service Development and Implementation Plan (SDP) (Appendix 2) was 
submitted in draft form, subject to Council approval, to the Scottish 
Government’s ELC Expansion Programme Board on 11 October 2017.  The 
SDP was completed following the attendance of officers at many varied and 
wide ranging national ELC planning meetings with partners, including 
specific workshops with the Scottish Government’s Programme Board.  The 
results of the Council’s consultation with parent/carers, partner providers 
and childminders (Appendix 3a,b,c) has also been invaluable in the 
completion of the SDP.

3.4 The contents of the SDP covers key sets of information relevant to the 
planning and implementation of the expanded ELC hours:

(a) Principles of expansion: the strategic approach is set out and the 
importance of the principles of the expansion are outlined, i.e. that 
the Council will uphold the guiding principles of quality, flexibility, 
accessibility and affordability as  plans for the expansion from 600 to 
1140 hours for all 3 and 4 year olds and eligible 2 year olds by 2020 
are progressed and delivered;

(b) Current Provision: the delivery context of the Scottish Borders and 
the details relating to what existing ELC provision looks like is set out 
so that there is a clear understanding of existing delivery and how 
the Council and its partners can possibly expand from current 
delivery arrangements;

(c) Community Engagement and Consultation: a summary report 
and feedback from the stakeholder consultation carried out in August 
2017; the level of response from each group of stakeholders 
(parents/carers, funded partner providers and childminders) and 
feedback on key aspects of ELC expansion, including the sharing of 
ideas and concerns.  The Council also notes a response to the 
stakeholders on key issues, e.g. the Council clearly states a 
commitment to blended ELC provision based upon parental choice 
and agreement of a provider neutral approach, ie that parents/carers 
will be able to select their ELC service from local nurseries, partner 
providers and childminders with their local area;

(d) Future Provision: delivery models and patterns of funded hours are 
set out; 

Page 41



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

(e) Approach to phasing: Phase 1 and 2 ( already implemented) are 
set out and Phases 3 to 5 are outlined; this will be subject to Council 
approval, discussions with the Scottish Government’s ELC 
Programme Board and be affected by the phasing of funding;

(f) Workforce Planning and Development: this area is highlighted 
and associated tasks set out in the implementation timeline;

(g) Capital and Revenue Funding: a Financial Plan has been 
submitted for Capital costs of £8.753m and an additional £18.278m 
of predicted revenue funding to fully implement the ELC 1140 hours 
entitlement by 2020 (Appendix 4 provides a financial summary and 
breakdown of cost areas). The Capital costs are in close alignment 
with the Council’s share of the announced investment detailed in a 
letter from the Scottish Government (Appendix5a) and the predicted 
revenue costs indicate a gap of approximately £1.5m when 
compared to the Council’s share of the revenue funding detailed in a 
letter from the Scottish Government (Appendix 5b).  A number of 
costs are accurate at this moment in time, but there are also a 
number of costs that are estimates.  The Council will now work in 
partnership with the Scottish Government to arrive at more accurate 
and agreed costs.  The Council will also engage further with all 
stakeholders to support progress in finalising the funds required, as 
details such as parental preference re hours, i.e. 1140 hours over 38 
weeks or 50 weeks,  and level of uptake of the additional ELC hours, 
are key factors in determining the funds required; the analysis 
submitted to the ELC Programme Board is subject to change and 
could result in greater costs, e.g. if more HUBs (an ELC centre where 
partners and a range of family services work together) are required 
because more parents/carers choose 50 week provision or reduced 
costs if, e.g. entitlement uptake is very low.

(h) Implementation plan – an outline of key tasks has been set out 
and will be pulled into a project plan, to ensure the Council meets 
key milestones and delivers the full entitlement in a successfully 
managed approach involving stakeholders.  The progress of 
implementation will be reported back to the Executive Committee at 
regular intervals.  It is important to note that this plan will have to 
be agile and responsive to parent/carer choice and the application of 
the principles of delivery: affordability, accessibility, quality and 
flexibility.

4 NEXT STEPS

4.1 (a) The Service Development Implementation Plan provides a basis 
for moving forward in planning Phase 3 of the implementation of 
1140 hours.  Parents in the school catchment communities in Phase 
2: Eyemouth, Burnfoot, Coldstream, Greenlaw, Langlee, Kirkhope 
and Philiphaugh, will be offered term time fixed, term time flexible, 
all year flexible plus extra hours within settings in their local area, 
i.e. school nurseries, partner provider nurseries or childminder 
settings within these localities will collectively offer this range of 
provision.  This will include the opportunity for split or blended 
placements across providers.  Planning will begin following the 
Executive with an expected delivery of August 2018; this will 
involve scoping of the provision that will be available and direct 

Page 42



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

engagement with parents in these communities to seek their 
preferences regarding how they would like their hours and where 
they would like their hours for their child in August 2018.  The final 
offers of provision will need to meet the key principle of affordability 
and best value and will be subject to the scrutiny of the Scottish 
Government’s Programme Board and the approval of the Executive 
Committee in 2018.

(b) Phase 4 will also be planned for August 2018 implementation and 
discussed with the Scottish Government’s Programme Delivery Board 
as it will be funding dependent.  The next set of catchment 
communities to receive the 1140 hours entitlement, including the 
opportunity of the full range of delivery models and providers, will be 
taken from the priority list (Appendix 6).  This list represents an 
analysis of Scottish Borders Communities by inequality indicators.  
Once the Council receives an indication of the funding allocation from 
the Scottish Government for 2018/2019 financial year, then the 
extent of how communities can benefit from Phase 4 will be brought 
back to Executive for approval and full engagement and planning 
with parents and providers in these communities will begin.

4.2 Engagement with the Scottish Government’s ELC Programme 
Delivery Board will continue and be ongoing. The Board has received the 
SDP, subject to Council approval, and has indicated that extensive 
discussions of the SDP will take place in the month of November so that 
planning for August 2018 delivery can commence as soon as possible and 
be reported back to the Executive Committee in January.

4.3 The Strategic Delivery Board will be established following approval of 
the SDP and chaired by the Service Director Children and Young People.  
The Board will oversee the work of Council Officers and the work of the 
Service Delivery Group.  The Board, comprising key Officers from Estates, 
Early Learning and Childcare Education Officers, Finance, HR, a 
Communications Officer, the Project Team Officer and, at times, the Link 
Officer from the Scottish Government’s Programme Board, will be involved 
in the Board through conference call arrangements.

4.4 The Strategic Delivery Group will be established to ensure 
representation of all partners in the planning and delivery of the SDP.  This 
will be chaired by the Senior Education Manager from the Children and 
Young People’s Directorate.  The Group will compromise the ELC Education 
Quality Improvement Officer, the Project Lead Officer, Finance and HR 
representatives, the School Estates Lead Officer, an Officer from Estates, 
two representatives from the private partner provider and voluntary 
provider sectors, two representatives from childminders and two 
parent/carer representatives.   

4.5 The Service Director will lead on a communication plan to all 
stakeholders through the Strategic Delivery Board.

Page 43



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

5 CONCLUSION

5.1 The Council, following an extensive consultation with a range of 
stakeholders, has completed the Service Development and Implementation 
Plan (SDP) outlining how the expanded Early Learning and Childcare hours 
will be delivered across providers in the Scottish Borders, meeting the 
needs of families whilst delivering a high quality early learning and 
childcare experience to children.  This includes an initial assessment of 
revenue and capital costs.

5.2 The Council, in partnership with all relevant stakeholders and with the 
approval of the Executive Committee, now wishes to move forward with 
Phase 3 and Phase 4 of the Plan, leading to many more children accessing 
the 1140 hours entitlement from August 2018 through a provider neutral 
model.

6 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial

The financial implications contained within the report are set out in Section 
5 of the SDP (Appendix 2) and in the financial summary set out in 
Appendix 4.  These costs are subject to ongoing engagement with 
stakeholders and ongoing assessment with the Scottish Government’s ELC 
Programme Delivery Board.  The Council has provided the Scottish 
Government with further, more detailed, cost analysis and information 
sets.  Financial planning, monitoring and reporting is subject to the 
scrutiny of the Chief Financial Officer and the Corporate Management Team 
at regular intervals.  The costs are indicative at the moment and will 
continue to evolve as the expansion programme develops.  It is expected 
that the full costs of the expansion (both revenue and capital) will be met 
by additional Scottish Government funding announced in Appendix 5.

6.2 Risk and Mitigations

(a) A strategic approach to delivery of the 1140 hours is required to 
ensure there is a long term approach to provision, which offers 
improved outcomes for children and ensures quality, flexibility, 
accessibility and affordability. 

(b) This is a major service transition, which will require significant capital 
and revenue expenditure.  Failure to begin work on this at an early 
stage will result in the Council being unable to provide the required 
additional hours by 2020, to which parents/carers are entitled.  The 
Strategic Delivery Board has been set up to provide governance to 
the SDP and robust engagement has developed and strong links are 
now established with the Scottish Government’s ELC Programme 
Board.  This includes regular meetings involving the Programme 
Board lead, the Strategic Delivery Board lead and the Chief 
Executive.  Progress will be reported at regular intervals to Corporate 
Management Team and the Education Executive.

(c) From experience, we know that there is a requirement to adopt a 
Council wide and partnership approach, as the implications go 
beyond Children and Young People’s Directorate.  A range of Council 
Officers and partners are involved in either the Strategic Delivery 
Board or the Strategic Delivery Group.

Page 44



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

6.3 Equalities

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out as part of the ELC 
1140 hours Implementation Plan, to mitigate against any adverse equality 
implications.

6.4 Acting Sustainably

There are no significant impacts on the economy, community or 
environment arising from the proposed engagement with families and 
communities as proposed within this Report.  However, any capital 
development will be in line with the School Estate Strategy to ensure 
sustainability, which will be considered as proposals come forward.

6.5 Carbon Management

There are no significant effects on carbon emissions arising from the 
proposals contained in this Report.  However, any capital development will 
be in line with the School Estate Strategy, will seek to promote 
environmental responsibility and effective carbon management as part of 
any proposals that come forward within this review of the School Estate.

6.6 Rural Proofing

Particular regard will be paid to the issue of rurality and rural ELC 
provision, as it is a key component of ELC development in Scottish Borders 
Council.  Accessibility is a key design principle within the expansion 
project.

6.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

There are no changes to be made to either the Scheme of Administration 
or the Scheme of Delegation as a result of the proposals contained in this 
report.

7 Consultation

7.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Service Director HR and the Clerk to 
the Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

7.2 The corporate management team have been consulted and any comments 
received will be incorporated into the final report.

Approved by

Donna Manson
Service Director, Children & Young People Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Donna Manson Service Director, Children and Young People

Background Papers: Blueprint document link  
Previous Minute Reference:  

Appendices:
 

Page 45



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017

1. Appendix 1 : List of outstanding Scottish Government 
Guidance

2. Appendix 2 : The Service Development and 
Implementation Plan

3. Appendix 3 :
3a – ELC Consultation : Parent Survey Feedback 
Summary
3b – ELC Consultation: Partner Provider Survey 
Feedback Summary 
3c- ELC Consultation : Childminder Survey Feedback

4. Appendix 4 :
4a- Summary of capital costs
4b-Summary of revenue costs

5. Appendix 5:
5a –Letter from Scottish Government outlining capital 
investment funds 
5b- Letter from Scottish Government outlining 
revenue investment funds

6. Appendix 6 – List of communities by reducing 
inequality indicators 

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Donna Manson can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA, 01835 
825069

Page 46



Future Guidance to be published by SG                                                                         Appendix 1

Document When Purpose 
Potential Qualification 
requirement- for childminders 

tbc Potential requirement to be qualified to the same level as 
an ELC practitioner

Establish and provide delivery 
support to local authorities

tbc To provide access to additional service innovation and 
redesign capacity and to professional and technical 
expertise on common and complex issues.

Quality Action Plan End October 2017 To set out what more needs to be done to strengthen 
quality in ELC, and will use this as a driver for improving 
children’s outcomes 
To define the quality dimensions of the National Funded 
Provider Standard

Skills Investment Plan Autumn 2017 To ensure that there are high quality and flexible 
learning opportunities available to the EL&C 
workforce at all levels

Delivering the Daily Mile in ELC 
guidance

Autumn 2017 Guidance on delivering the daily mile or equivalent

Evaluation Reports 
- First in a series 

End 2017 and beyond This will include an evaluation of the current expansion to 
600 hours per annum as well as baseline indicators for 
monitoring progress towards the expansion to 1140 
hours

Delivering Flexibility Guidance Early 2018 To help local authorities design their provision for 2020.
Service Models Working Group 
Report 

March 18 To provide operational detail of the new Funding Follows 
the Child model.
The national standard for becoming a partner provider 
(National Funded Provider Standard)
Guidance on implementing the Scottish Living Wage 
across all providers

Programme of pilot 
approaches -
trialling deposit guarantee 
schemes

2017-18 To explore how additional support can be tailored to help 
reduce the burden of upfront childcare costs. The pilots 
will focus on. We will set out more details in summer 
2017.

ELC Infrastructure Progress 
Report 

tbc To ensure we can learn and share lessons to inform the 
capital investment between now and 2020, and highlight 
the opportunities that this investment programme 
presents to support wider economic growth.

Recent guidance delivered:
Document When Purpose 
Good Practice Design Guide
‘Space to Grow’

June 2017 To promote good, innovative design for both indoor and 
outdoor space.

Analysis of the extent of on-site 
childcare provision in Scotland's 
Higher and Further Education 
estates

Summer 2017 In recognition of the importance of ELC provision in 
places of work and study

Learning and Development 
Pathway -for childminders

September 2017 To set out a new standard of best practice for 
childminders

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

1

Appendix 2

SERVICE DEVELOPMENT

AND

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 2016 – 2020

1140 HOURS EXPANSION 

OF 

EARLY LEARNING AND CHILDCARE

Page 49



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

2

CONTENTS

1. CONTEXT
1.1. Executive Summary
1.2. Introduction

1.2.1.  Principles of Expansion
1.3. Strategic Approach
1.4. Ensuring delivery of the Plan
1.5. Background

2. CURRENT POSITION
2.1. Summary of Current Service Delivery – Key Data
2.2. Supply
2.3. Demand
2.4. Projected Demand
2.5. Parent and Community Consultation
2.6. Quality

3. FUTURE POSITION
3.1. Principles Guiding Future Provision
3.2. Approach to Phasing

4. WORKFORCE  PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

5. CAPITAL

6. IMPLEMENTATION  PLAN – Outline considerations
6.1.  Quality
6.2. Phasing and Prioritisation
6.3. Community Engagement
6.4. Workforce Plan
6.5. Funded Providers
6.6. Infrastructure Requirements – Physical Estate Plan
6.7. Planning Assumptions
6.8. Finance
6.9. Project Management

Page 50



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

3

1. Context
1.1. Executive Summary 

The Scottish Government has committed to expanding the provision of funded early learning 
and childcare (ELC) from 600 hours to 1140 hours by 2020.  Any expansion is to prioritise a 
high quality experience for the child, recognising the significant contribution that universally 
accessible ELC can make to a child's development ,to closing the attainment gap and to 
supporting families with childcare, employment ,training and learning opportunities.

The Council’s vision locally is underpinned by providing a transformational forward-thinking 
ELC service model with a clear focus on quality and offering parental choice, flexibility and 
affordability with the local authority as the primary guarantor of quality and the key enabler to 
ensuring this.

Following Scottish Government guidance, our approach is Provider Neutral with Funding 
Following the Child prioritising settings that are best placed to deliver quality outcomes for 
children and supporting the Council’s ambition to close the attainment gap, regardless of 
whether the ELC  services are provided by the public, private, or third sectors.  Parents will 
be able to choose the setting they wish their child to access their funded hours from those 
who have Funded Provider Status and who can deliver the type of extended hours pattern 
the parent is seeking.

The Service Development Plan (SDP) builds upon the recommendations in a previous report 
submitted and approved by Council on 21 March 2017 setting a strategic approach, 
associated development and option appraisal to better inform future recommendations for 
delivery and implementation planning.

1.2 Introduction

Scottish Borders Council, in conjunction with a range of partners, is fully involved in the 
planning of 1140 hours expansion.  The focus will be the strategic development of local 
authority, private and voluntary and childminder ELC provision taking into account the 
geography and rural nature of the Borders and the local demographics and provision. 

From the community consultation and engagement (completed in August 2017) it is evident 
that a mixed model of provision offering flexible options to suit the needs of both working and 
non-working parents is required. This approach will offer sufficient choice, accessibility and 
affordability enabling parents to take up as many or as few of the funded hours as they wish.  

For funded group providers in the private and voluntary sector there is a willingness to 
engage and deliver the 1140 expansion of hours provided this is both practical and 
sustainable. A significant number of Childminders have expressed an interest in being part 
of delivery models to deliver funded hours for three and four year olds. Scottish Borders 
Council is committed to the principle of provider neutral but this will need to be delivered 
within a best value approach .

In addition to the increased hours entitlement Scottish Government will also increase the 
entitlement to free school meals for all ELC children. This was part of the Phase 1 trial and is 
being continued within Phase 2 schools.

As a local authority we need to ensure approximately 2500 ELC places for eligible 2, 3 and 4 
year old children in any one year; it is apparent that parents are seeking a mix of local 
authority, private and voluntary provision and childminders offering single and blended 
models of quality flexible ELC.  This means that strong partnership working and planning 

Page 51



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

4

with private and voluntary providers and childminders to procure funded places will be key to 
the success of fulfilling parental choice.
1.21 Principles of Expansion

Quality – remains at the heart of ELC provision. The expansion will ensure a high quality 
experience for all children, which complements other early years and educational activity to 
close the attainment gap, and recognises the value of those we entrust to give our children 
the best start in life.

Flexibility - the expansion will support more parents and carers in work, training or study, 
through greater choice of provider and patterns of provision that are better aligned with 
working patterns whilst delivering this in a way that ensures a high quality experience for the 
child.

Accessibility - capacity is sufficient and is as conveniently geographically located as 
possible – particularly in areas of higher deprivation and in rural communities – to support 
families and enable parents and carers to work, train and study.

Affordability - the expansion will increase access to affordable ELC which will help to 
reduce barriers to participating in the labour market which parents and carers face.

1.3 Strategic Approach
This is underpinned by both national and local principles and priorities to ensure we deliver:

(a) Improved outcomes for all children, especially those who will benefit most.
(b) Support the wider programme of work to close the attainment gap as set out in 

Delivering Excellence and Equity in Scottish Education: A Delivery Plan for Scotland.
(c) Increased flexibility of provision to support parents to work, train or study, especially 

those who need routes into sustainable employment.
(d) High quality ELC learning environments which contribute to closing the attainment 

gap.
(e) A key contribution to the Council’s ambition to reduce child poverty.
(f) An ELC estate best placed to deliver across Scottish Borders Council’s statutory 

duties.
(g) A future-proofed ELC estate which is both sustainable and flexible in meeting current 

and future needs.
(h) Affordable and accessible services within the capacity of the estate.
(i) A scaling up of the ELC workforce with a focus on creating Modern Apprenticeships 

and through supporting people transitioning into the ELC workforce across all 
providers .

The Council’s Vision: As a council we seek the best quality of life for all the people in the 
Scottish Borders, prosperity for our businesses and good health and resilience for all our 
communities

The Council’s standards

 Putting our customers and staff at the heart of what we do
 Being fair, equal and open
 Continually improving our services
 Working with partners and stakeholders
 Delivering value for money in the use of our resources

Page 52



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

5

The priorities driving the Council’s business are set out in ‘ Connected Borders 2017-2022’ :

CONNECTED COMMUNITIES: Improved physical and digital connectivity; Full 
support for Borders Transport corridors study; Digital connectivity; Roads
ENTERPRISING COMMUNITIES: Maximised investment; new and supported 
businesses; Maximise benefits of Borderlands, City Deal and SoS Enterprise 
Agency; New LDP to support enterprise & business
Encourage Living wage
COMMUNITIES OF BEAUTY: High quality development; high quality environment; 
Town centre diversification; Innovative development, affordable housing; Waste 
management strategy; Localities/biodiversity
COMMUNITIES OF WELLBEING : Education for everyone; focus on mental & 
physical health “Whole community” approach to education, Substance abuse , Town 
centre regen/culture, Multi-use paths
Mental health support for vulnerable young people
COMMUNITIES OF CARING:  Patient pathways; Support for families and carers, 
Clear patient pathways, Family support services- early intervention, mentoring, early 
years
COMMUNITIES THAT ARE EMPOWERED: Strong community partnerships taking 
decisions at local level, Area partnerships, Participatory budgeting (Localities Bid 
Fund)

Integrated Children and Young People’s Plan - Our Five Key Priorities:

1. Keeping children and young people safe
2. Promoting the health and well-being of all children and young people and reducing  
    health inequalities
3. Improving the well-being and life chances for our most vulnerable children and  
   young people
4. Raising attainment and achievement for all learners Increasing with a focus on    

closing the poverty related attainment gap
   
5. Increasing participation and engagement

Our approach to the ELC expansion is fundamentally Provider Neutral (prioritising settings 
that are best placed to deliver quality outcomes for children and supporting our ambition to 
close the attainment gap, regardless of whether they are provided by the public, private, or 
third sectors) where funding follows the child  determined by parental choice. 

As a local authority we are the primary guarantor of quality and the key enabler of flexibility 
and choice. Planning for the expansion will by necessity evolve over the coming years as 
local authorities respond to changes in local circumstances and changes in the way parents 
use services. 

This is a five year (based on academic years) phased approach which started with the 
Scottish Government Trial as Phase 1 (2016-17) and now the current Phase 2 (2017-18). 
This is in our areas of highest deprivation identified with consideration of the Scottish Index 

Page 53



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

6

of Multiple Deprivation to ensure that communities where there are families who stand to 
benefit most from the expansion benefit first.

Phases 3-5 will be based upon results and outcomes from ongoing and regular consultation 
and stakeholder engagement activities which will

 explore what parents want  - delivery will be led by parental choice  and  best value 
 explore fully what the local authority , partner providers and future providers can 

deliver (ensure we are using all our assets) linked to parent choice and best value
 identify any specific challenges that will need national support and guidance
 engage with HR colleagues, the local authority workforce and their representative 

bodies to identify any changes, challenges and opportunities which may be required 
to deliver the expansion of hours 

1.4 Ensuring Delivery of the Plan

The Council is responsible for the delivery of the expansion plan and will take actions to 
increase awareness and understanding of the benefit high quality ELC offers in early 
childhood as well as raising the profile of ELC services.  Alongside this all providers must 
collaborate and plan effectively ensuring recognition by all providers of the needs of parents/  
carers and the fundamental importance of ensuring this is central to all aspects of service 
planning.

Through the formation of a Service Delivery Board the Council will ensure key partners and 
stakeholders work together to enable the delivery of the 1140 hours expansion. The priorities 
of this Service Delivery Plan and those of the associated Implementation Plan will be subject 
to the board’s scrutiny to ensure the focus of improved outcomes for children and families 
are realised through high quality ELC provision.

The Service Delivery Group will provide a forum for partners to be represented in the 
preparation and planning of the expansion; the group’s work will be directed by the Service 
Delivery Board.

The effective use of relevant data and analysis, take up trends and stakeholder input are key 
elements which will support and drive the expansion and any development; this to support 
current and future supply and demand alongside the identification of any service gaps.

To ensure that services are of high and consistent quality and achieve positive outcomes for 
children, service quality will be focused on performance and improvement; and will be 
underpinned with a robust, evidence-based approach towards self-evaluation embedded 
across ELC services 

1.5 Background

The summary information below extracted from the Know Borders: Strategic Assessment 
2016 is profile information relating to the quality of life for Borders people. 

Income Deprivation - Scottish Government’s classification of income deprivation evidences 
Scottish Borders as having a lower proportion of population classified as income deprived 
compared to Scotland. Within the Scottish Borders, Teviot and Liddesdale locality has the 
highest proportion of people classified as income deprived.

Page 54



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

7

Employment Deprivation - Within the Scottish Borders, Teviot and Liddesdale has the 
highest proportion of working age population who are employment deprived, followed by 
Berwickshire. Compared to Scotland the Scottish Borders consistently has a lower 
proportion of working age population claiming ‘Out of Work Benefits’. Within the Scottish 
Borders, Teviot and Liddesdale have the highest proportion of working age population 
claiming ‘Out of Work Benefits’.

The Scottish Borders consistently has a lower proportion of adults claiming incapacity benefit 
/ severe disability allowance / employment and support allowance compared to Scotland.  
Within the Scottish Borders, the localities with the highest level of adults claiming incapacity 
benefit / severe disability allowance / employment and support allowance are Teviot and 
Berwickshire. 

Employment and Income - Overall, there is a well-educated and skilled workforce in the 
Scottish Borders with a lower proportion of people of working age with low or no 
qualifications compared to Scotland.  Workplace-based wages in the Scottish Borders 
remain low compared to Scotland.

Child Poverty - Child poverty is defined by HMRC as dependent children under the age of 
20 in families in receipt of Child Tax Credits (<60% median income) or Income 
Support/Jobseeker's Allowance. In the Scottish Borders, the child poverty rate has 
increased from 11% in 2011 to 21 % in 2016 according to the research reported by the 
Child Poverty Action Group In Scotland (statistics are available by wards- see below ). The 
Scottish Borders was 15th out of 32 Councils in Scotland with a higher child poverty rate 
than other Councils. These figures when considered within contexts such as fuel poverty , 
rural accessibility costs ,low wages and high private renting housing costs highlights that 
there are many children and their families experiencing significant barriers every day in 
getting children to school and ensuring the children and young people can experience all 
the learning opportunities on offer in the Scottish Borders.

Source: Poverty in Your Area, “End Child Poverty” copyright Child Poverty 
Action Group 2015

% of children in poverty October – December 2015

Ward / Local Area Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs
Tweeddale West 9.12% 14.78%
Tweeddale East 6.02% 10.01%
Galashiels and District 14.64% 23.61%
Selkirkshire 13.83% 27.17%
Leaderdale and Melrose 8.95% 14.53%
Mid Berwickshire 11.18% 17.93%
East Berwickshire 16.32% 25.64%
Kelso and District 14.54% 23.20%
Jedburgh and District 18.21% 28.04%
Hawick and Denholm 17.92% 28.73%
Hawick and Hermitage 13.66% 21.76%
Scottish Borders 13.11% 21.54%

Economic Findings - The re-introduction of the Borders Railway led to several changes to 
Galashiels including the development of an inner relief road and change to traffic 
management and the Transport Interchange. The Transport Interchange operates as the rail 

Page 55



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

8

and bus station. Further town centre regeneration in Galashiels is currently underway.  The 
usage of the Borders Railway for the first six months has been 22% above forecast, nearly 
700,000 people travelling

Social Findings - Overall people in the Scottish Borders experience a good quality of life. 
However, evidence shows that there are areas that experience health, income, employment 
and / or access deprivation.  The Scottish Borders Household Survey asked if people 
reported accessibility issues. The most common accessibility issue was public transport with 
over 16% reporting this problem. Over 20% of those in Berwickshire had public transport 
issues. People in Berwickshire also reported the highest level of people with accessibility 
issues for social and recreational activities and health.

Environmental Findings - The rural nature of the Scottish Borders makes access to 
services and amenities difficult for many. Specifically it can limit the range of activities that 
children and young people can engage in. This can have a negative impact on both physical 
and mental health.  

Family learning – To support our vulnerable families (parent/ carers and children) in 
achieving one or more of the Curriculum for Excellence (CfE) capacities: successful 
learners, confident individuals, responsible citizens, and effective contributors. In 2013/14 
there were 746 family learning opportunities delivered to parents/ carers of which 60% were 
‘successfully completed’. In 2014/15, the proportion of ‘successfully completed’ increased to 
64% although the number of opportunities dropped to 632

Child Obesity- within the Scottish Borders, the proportion of child obesity in Primary 1 by 
Intermediate Zone ranges from 0% to 21.4%. The locality with the highest proportion of child 
obesity in P1 is Berwickshire. 

It is useful to consider how the expansion of ELC hours may impact upon these wider 
aspects of the community and improve the quality of life of our children and their families.

2 Current Provision

2.1 Summary of Current Service Delivery

Currently all 3 and 4 year olds and eligible 2 year olds are entitled to 600 hours Early 
Learning and Childcare (ELC) per annum. This was set out in The Children and Young 
People (Scotland) Act 2014 which extended these hours from 475 hours per annum. 

 Over 38 weeks per year this is  equivalent to 15 hours 50 mins per week
 Over 50 weeks per year this is equivalent to 12 hours per week 

Scottish Borders currently deliver 600 hours through:
 46 local authority settings, 28 private and voluntary settings (for 3&4 year olds) 
 8 local authority settings, 10-12 private and voluntary settings, 39 childminders (for 2 

year olds).  
Across providers there is a range of flexibility for parents. 

2.2 Supply 

There are two elements to our Early Years and Childcare Service. Local Authority and 
Funded Providers:

Page 56



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

9

Local Authority Funded Providers  
High School 
Cluster

School 
Nurseries

Private and Voluntary Sector 
Group provision          (Day 
Nursery, Pre-School)

Childminder             
(Eligible 2 year olds)

Berwickshire 4 3 5
Earlston 7 7 7
Eyemouth 4 2 6
Galashiels 9 2 4
Hawick 6 3 1
Jedburgh 2 1 1
Kelso 5 1 1
Peebles 5 8 13
Selkirk 4 1 1
Total 46 28 39 

These are the other group providers and childminders who are not currently funded 
providers.

A SUMMARY OF NON-FUNDED PROVISION BY HIGH SCHOOL AREA

NON-
FUNDED 
PROVISION 

Local Authority 
Schools without 
nursery provision

Private& Voluntary 
Sector Group 
provision 
(Playgroup & OOSC)

Childminder  

Berwickshire 1 3 10
Earlston 1 5 15
Eyemouth 1 0 2
Galashiels 1 3 10
Hawick 1 2 9
Jedburgh 1 1 4
Kelso 1 0 10
Peebles 4 6 24
Selkirk 2 0 12
Total 13 20 96 

Child population estimates in areas of deprivation and data zones by High School 
area1

Page 57



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

10

HS Catchment  
(best fit)

Data 
zone 
count 

Average 
of 
Children 
in Low 
Income 
Family 
2014

22015
All 
Children 
Ages 0-
15

< 1 
year

1 
year 
old

2 
year 
old

3 
year 
old

4 
year 
old

AGE 
0 to 
4

 
Total 
3& 4 
year 
old

Berwickshire 
High School 16 13.0% 2221 116 115 106 99 107 543 206
Earlston High 
School 18 7.9% 2241 117 125 153 132 153 680 285
Eyemouth 
High School 11 15.4% 1111 71 76 93 115 72 427 187
Galashiels 
Academy 21 17.2% 2982 191 206 196 229 223 1045 452
Hawick High 
School 20 18.5% 2824 167 187 181 188 167 890 355
Jedburgh 
Grammar 9 16.2% 1047 62 71 74 68 72 347 140
Kelso High 
School 14 16.1% 1568 96 100 98 108 100 502 208
Peebles High 
School 24 8.2% 3691 160 207 220 208 216 1011 424
Selkirk High 
School 10 15.0% 1290 44 78 77 50 84 333 134
Grand Total 143 13.8% 18985 1024 1165 1198 1197 1194 5778 2391

2.3 Demand

Trends over the past six years with snapshot of take up based on take up and 
requests  for places / applications as at 1st September 2017.

TREND 

Placement type ELC 2, 
3&4 year olds

2016/17

Take up

2017/18

Take up As per registrations 
as at Sept 2017

Average Take 
up

Private and voluntary sector 685 685 767

Local authority 1683 1544 1644

Total take up 2368 2229 2411

LA % 72 69.3%

P&V  % 28 30.7%

100.0% 100.0%

Demand

Take up places for 3 and 4 year olds                                                                                                       
2016/17 ; and requests for places 2017/18 by High School 

2 National Records of Scotland (NRS) Small Area Population Estimates for 2015

Page 58



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

11

Local Authority 
School Nurseries

Private & Voluntary Totals by Locality /HS   
High School 
Cluster

ELC 
places 
based 
on 
Total
2 x 
year 
group

Actual 
Take 
up 
ELC16
/17

ELC 
requests 
17/18

Actual 
Take up 
ELC16/17

ELC 
requests 
17/18

Actual 
Take 
up 
ELC16
/17

% take up 
at LA 
Provision
2016/17

Total 
Take up/ 
requests 
17/18 
(Sep 17)

Berwickshire 216 166 160 63 49 229 72% 209
Earlston 322 205 166 138 137 343 59.8% 303
Eyemouth 154 100 78 49 51 149 67% 129
Galashiels 394 337 262 40 56 337 89% 318
Hawick 358 306 302 122 98 428 71% 400
Jedburgh 104 83 84 30 31 113 73% 115
Kelso 206 132 139 35 60 167 79% 199
Peebles 470 229 239 226 196 455 50% 435
Selkirk 142 125 114 13 7 138 91% 121
Total    2366 1683 1544 716 685 2399 Ave 72% 2229

 Total 3 & 4 year old take up for 2016/17 = 2399  
 Total requests for 2017/18 = 2229 ( this is snapshot as at Sept 2017 from Nursery 

enrolment process November 2016 plus ongoing applications since then. Trend analysis 
indicates that in some of our SIMD areas that parents continue to enrol throughout the 
year and into the start of term).

 Total year group intake 2016/17 for Scottish Borders = 2366
 An average of 72% of year group comes from ELC places taken up in LA provision. 

2.4 Projected Demand

The data uses the estimated eligible population as a percentage of the total population for 
2016, and forecasts the same percentage eligibility into the future. 2-year old and deferred 
entry projections are based on the percentage of the population currently registered for early 
learning and childcare

Projected Demand for Early Learning and Childcare Registrations3

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
% Change 
2016 - 2020

2-year olds 64 61 60 60 60 -6%
3-year olds 1169 1157 1109 1098 1089 -7%
4-year olds 1215 1233 1223 1173 1162 -4%
Deferred 72 73 72 69 69 -4%
Total 2520 2524 2464 2400 2380 -6%

The Council predicts that demand for LA Nursery provision will increase as the results of the 
Family Survey 2017 found that 45.4% of respondents prefer the use of LA Nursery provision. 
In addition, where there is a preference for using multiple providers a significant 90% 
identified a blended option with LA Nursery Provision and other providers.

The August 2017 consultation indicates that parents/carers prefer to use ELC service either 
close to where they live or where their other children go to school. The consultation feedback 

3 ELC Expansion Profile Tool supplied by Improvement Service August 2017

Page 59



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

12

has been taken into consideration as part of the option appraisal assessment to identify 
development of phasing in addition to provision which has on-site out of school care 
provision along with the proximity of any off-site out of school care provision as a way of 
joining up local service provision in meeting full day care needs.

Future delivery plans will also take cognisance of housing and Borders railway 
development.eg City Deal developments

2.5 Parent/Carer and Community Consultation

The views of parents and carers are central to helping inform the design and implementation 
of expanded provision through previous and recent engagement and consultation activity 
with families, providers and childminder during April – August 2017 as well as planned future 
engagement for phase development.

It is evident that all provision types have a role to play in supporting the needs of parents and 
carers for funded ELC and specifically the expansion of hours. This includes childminders 
either as a single provider or for blended models with either local authority nursery, private 
and voluntary group provision or a combination of both.

2.51 Feedback from Parent/Carers and Families

Analysis of 2015 consultation with parents, carers and families identified key themes for 
Early Learning and Childcare for 0-5 year olds as well as Out of School Provision for Primary 
school aged children in High School areas. Some of which helped inform and shape the 
initial development for Phase 1 trial as well as being a useful comparison with the 2017 
results. 

The key themes relating to ELC provision prevalent in all nine High School areas were:-

 More availability of Full Day Care
 More choice of provision type
 Extended ELC over 46- 50 weeks; In Service Days, Friday afternoon provision
 Provision (other than full day care) for 2 year olds
 Flexibility to split provision
 Extended hours: earlier start/ later finish
 Increase of Childminders/ Availability of Childminders to pick up from some areas 
 More Rural Nursery provision 
 ELC with Childminders 
 Weekend/ early evening care 

The Council sent out 2000 individual surveys (with return envelopes) to every parent who 
had enrolled their child for the current year. In addition to this surveys  were distributed to 
parents of children 0-4 years and parents invited to attend consultation events, through allied 
health professionals, partner providers, childminders and staff. An online version was on the 
Council website and promoted widely. In addition to this, face-to-face public meetings in 
each of the High School areas were also undertaken in August 2017. 586 responses were 
received in total.  352 responses were from parents of 3-5 year olds.  This is a response rate 
of 18% from the current parent body.  234 responses were from parents/carers  of 2 year 
olds and under. 

The Council’s assumption is that parents who desired the biggest change are those who 
responded.  Of those who responded findings show that: 55% intend to use full year 
provision. Assumptions of the provision being used 70-75% from local authority and 25-30% 
from funded providers was confirmed as accurate.   Phase 3 will allow the Council to test out 
uptake levels in the range of provision available and continue to evolve planning.

Page 60



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

13

Parents/carers highlighted availability of provision (session times, affordability, accessibility, 
flexibility, choice of provider) as an issue they expect the expansion to resolve. 

In response, the proposed model will offer parents/carers provision which more meets their 
needs:

 Term time and all year round provision with varying times available
 Greater number of funded hours available will reduce costs to parents as well as 

help reduce the reliance on family and friends
 Provide varied types of provision within schools or other locally based provision, 

to offer extended hours or work in a blended way to meet local needs.
.

2.5.2 Feedback from Funded Partner Providers 

The Council values the contribution made by Funded Partner Providers.  There is a 
willingness from partner providers to engage and deliver the 1140 expansion of hours, 
provided this is both practical and sustainable.  Providers are considering how the extended 
hours can be offered within their business model by way of flexible hours as they do 
currently, asymmetric models as well as ‘stretching’ the hours across 50 weeks.  

Of the 28 funded providers, 23 completed surveys giving an 89% return rate.

Partner providers highlighted the following challenges they expect the Council or Scottish 
Government to resolve:

 For some existing providers, expanding the hours they can provide may not be 
possible (e.g. where they operate in shared premises) and they can therefore be part 
of a split placement or blended model. 

 Generating enough income which enables sustainability. The hourly funding rate 
received from the Local Authority is not considered to be meeting costs.  For many 
the funded hours will replace some chargeable hours which will result in a reduction 
of income.

 Concern that expansion of hours may deter people from being on voluntary 
management committees needed to keep voluntary sector provision viable. Currently 
there are 15 voluntary sector funded providers in Scottish Borders

 Other associated issues(increases in rent, adaptations to premises, lunches, staffing 
recruitment, retention and pay) 

In response to Partner Provider Concerns :
 The Council recognises that an increase to the funded hourly rate is required to 

ensure sustainability of provision.  

 Parents who require additional childcare (wraparound) beyond the 1140 hours will be 
able to pay for this in settings where there is additional capacity available. 

 The national workforce recruitment campaign and the additional funding that will be 
available nationally for funding qualifications will benefit all sectors

 The Council will continue to support qualification and continuing professional 
development for all sectors within the resources available  

 As phasing takes place, providers will receive funding for the provision of lunches for 
all children taking up their funded hours over a lunch time period.  

Page 61



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

14

 A new day nursery relief will be introduced from 1 April 2018 to remove the burden of 
rates from day nurseries to support an inclusive workforce, benefitting the economy 
as a whole. 

 Discussions are on-going with Catering Services to find solutions for providing meals 
where no kitchen facilities exist on the premises.

 Where funded providers approach the Council with particular issues and challenges 
regarding their premises, the Council within the capital plan additional ELC funding 
will work in partnership to try to resolve issues as much as possible within the 
resource available. 

 There will be a national recruitment marketing campaign to meet the workforce needs 
of the expansion.  The campaign is scheduled to go live in late October 2017.  Phase 
1 of the campaign will focus on school leavers, raising awareness of a career in ELC 
and encouraging them to apply to appropriate training opportunities.  A second burst 
of Phase 1 marketing activity is planned for January 2018.  The Council will work with 
Scottish Government to ensure the campaign has a maximum impact at a local level.  
Alongside this, the Council will continue to work in partnership with Borders College 
to deliver Foundation Apprenticeships for S4 and S5 pupils and the MA Programme.

2.53 Feedback from Childminders and Scottish Childminding Association (SCMA).  

There are 138 childminders in the Scottish Borders, 112 of which are members of the 
SCMA.
The Council values the contribution made by childminders and has, for many years, had a 
contract with SCMA to employ a local development officer to support registered childminders 
in the Scottish Borders. 

In line with the Scottish Government vision, Scottish Borders Council has recognised the key 
role childminders have in delivering the expanded entitlement, especially for younger 
children.  The Council has taken account of this, identifying a number of childminders to 
deliver ELC 2 with parents being provided with the details for these childminders when they 
apply for an ELC 2 place.  In addition to this, Scottish Borders Council has, for the last 11 
years, operated a “Supported Childminding Scheme” using childminders to provide short 
term childcare to help families experiencing difficulties in their lives.  

The Scottish Childminding Association (SCMA) has been very active in promoting the role 
childminders could play in delivering funded ELC.  They have been campaigning at national 
and local levels.

Every Registered childminder in the Scottish Borders was individually posted/e-mailed  a 
survey to complete, followed up with reminders - 46 completed and returned a survey giving 
a 33% return rate.  The majority who responded expressed an interest in being part of the 
expansion delivery models and have indicated they can offer the expansion of hours within 
their current business model. In addition, there is openness to both single and blended 
models.

Childminders highlighted the following challenges to be resolved:

 Fear that expansion of funded places in local authority provision will put them out of 
business

 Rate currently paid to funded providers is less than some of them charge

Page 62



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

15

 Concerned that if they are not included in the phasing period, they will not be in 
business by 2020

 Information relating to the funding process and what this involves including training, 
paperwork requirements, CI registration, qualifications, meeting funded provider 
status

In response to Childminder concerns:

 Phase 3 -5 of the expansion process will include the option for parents to choose 
from a range of different providers (who meet the required standard) ie provider 
neutral and includes childminders as an option.

 The Council recognises that they will need to increase the funded hourly rate to 
ensure sustainability of provision.  

 Providers enabling flexibility to take up the 1140 funded hours over more than 38 
weeks will still be able to charge for any additional hours

 Work is taking place to look at how the process of providing funding for lunches for 
children accessing their funded hours over lunch time

 Learning from trial and sharing of best practice across providers to support service 
development 

 Specific work with childminders to develop policy, process and training. Guidance 
issued from Scottish Government will also assist in addressing this also

 Information regarding the required level of qualification for childminders, the Funded 
Provider Status and Quality Action Plan will be shared with childminders as soon as it 
is available

2.6 Quality
Quality is at the heart of the expansion.Under the Standards in Scotland’s Schools Act 2000 
the local authority has a statutory duty to ensure the quality of provision in its schools and 
establishments.  This ‘guarantor of quality’ remains with the expansion of ELC. The Council’s 
Improvement Framework details the quality assurance processes the Council follows 
bringing together the necessary information which allows the evaluation of educational 
provision and informs the key actions to be taken to drive continuous improvement.  It 
ensures the Council are supporting all schools/settings to improve year on year. In particular, 
it ensures the Council are committed to breaking the link between deprivation and 
underachievement by narrowing the attainment gaps between groups of children and young 
people and schools.
This Improvement Framework:

 Is founded on the principle of self-evaluation against nationally agreed indicators 
contained within How Good is our Early Learning and Childcare.  Schools/settings 
are expected to evaluate performance using all relevant quantitative and qualitative 
data and involving all stakeholders.

 Recognises the importance of having setting-to-setting collaboration and involving 
an integrated approach with wider involvement of all staff as central to individual 
school/setting improvement.

 Utilises a proportionate, validated self-evaluation approach to school/setting reviews, 
including peer reviews, cyclical reviews, thematic reviews and pre/post Education 
Scotland inspection reviews, Care Inspectorate inspections.

Page 63



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

16

 Requires all school/setting to hold dependable information, collect reliable data and 
evidence improvement on learning, teaching and the attainment and achievement of  
all learners.

 Delivers a proportionate approach to supporting and challenging school/setting 
based on rigorous and accurate self-evaluation using an intelligent use of data, 
including regular monitoring visits from the Early Years Teacher Team (EYTT) 
and/or Officers.

 Requires all staff in school/setting to recognise the shared responsibility in delivering 
high quality learning provision for all children 

 Promotes continuous engagement with professional learning opportunities and 
literature for developing the knowledge and skills required for effective learning and 
teaching and for asking critical questions about practice.

Currently the Early Years Teacher Team (EYTT) supports 46 local authority school nurseries 
and 28 funded partners in the private and voluntary sector. The inclusion of childminders in a 
blended provision model will increase the number of ELC funded providers. 

It is also unknown at present how the introduction of the National Funded Provider Standard 
will influence current ways of working but the Council must ensure that with the expansion 
any form of support is both manageable and proportionate and fits with quality assurance 
procedures.

Some participants in the consultation events felt that the scoring of quality in inspections can 
be subjective, with often too many benchmarks for providers to meet in slightly different 
ways. “Quality” was regarded by everyone as a priority – although there are different 
interpretations of what “good quality” looks like and why parents chose particular settings 
including happy children, good inspection reports, personal recommendations and lots of 
activities.  

Feedback from the consultation events in relation to quality was as follows:-

• Challenges will be to ensure quality partnerships and communicating progress 

• Requests that a provider can work with other ELC providers and ensure a quality service 
for that child, especially children with  additional support needs     

• Acknowledgement that partnerships are crucial and the effectiveness of these will help to 
build quality 

• There needs to be  a full understanding of what being a funded provider involves 

• From parents , “As a parent I want to know that the person looking after my child is able 
to give the best possible care and meets the needs of my child. What if they are not 
meeting standards but still looking after my child? I need to know there is no risk to my 
child.”

• Care Inspectorate and Education Scotland is ‘business as usual’ for schools and partner 
providers but not for childminders  - needs to be the same for all funded providers

 Some parents and childminders felt that inspections should be more regular whilst others 
are of the view that the obligations are too wide and varied for providers e.g. Care 
Inspectorate, Parents, SBC, Early Years Team, HMIe (should only have to answer to few 
not all) ie the development of a single quality assurance inspection framework

Page 64



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

17

 Whilst the Council’s quality monitoring seems thorough there may be too much support 
offered to some settings who already operate at a high standard. 

 How will the inspectorate inspect learning in a home environment? This is a concern for 
childminders and more information is needed. As a local authority the Council will be 
guided by the Scottish Government Quality Action Plan (due end of October).

3.0 Future Provision

3.1 Guiding Principles moving to 1140 HOURS 

The increased hours will offer parents further choice and flexibility, matching the needs of 
their families and meeting the current context of each local community /cluster area. The 
delivery model will offer a blend of provision: local authority settings, private and voluntary 
settings and childminders.

The policy direction is fundamentally provider neutral where funding will follow the child (led 
by parental choice). A new national standard will be set for partner provider status. Those 
who reach partner provider status will be able to deliver 1140 hours. The service model will 
prioritise quality of provision whilst offering parents a genuine choice of settings in local 
authority, private or third sector whilst delivering a best value approach within the funding 
envelope provided by the Scottish Government. 

The new model of delivery for Early Learning and Childcare in the Scottish Borders is being 
developed around a cluster approach. Within each of the nine high school cluster areas 
there will be a range of options for parents. From this parents will be able to choose the type 
of provision that best suits their needs. Parents who require additional childcare 
(wraparound) beyond the 1140 hours will be able to pay for this in settings where there is 
additional capacity available. 

Local Authority delivery 
In the local authority provision the Council plans to have one hub ( 50 week full service) in 
each cluster area. The majority of settings will operate as term time fixed (asymmetric 
pattern) and some settings as term time flexible (asymmetric plus some extension of hours).  

Local Authority How funded hours can be 
accessed

Pattern 

Term time fixed 38 weeks - Asymmetric  
Matched to school asymmetric 
timings over 4 ½ days

Matched to School asymmetric timings 
e.g.  08:45 - 15:15 (M-Th) 8.45- 12 (F)

Term time flexible 38 weeks -Asymmetric plus 
Asymmetric timings over 4 ½  days 
with further extension of hours 

Matched to School asymmetric timings 
with some extension  e.g. start time 
between 8:30 - 8:45 and pick up 
between 15:15 – 16:45

All year flexible
plus extra hours 

Hub  - 50 weeks,  Full day care  
Hubs will also offer term time fixed/ 
flexible/ extra hours 

Provision open from 08:00 - 18:00
 

Funded Provider delivery

Page 65



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

18

A range of provision will then be provided in equal partnership ie determined by parental 
choice and offering single and blended models of delivery. 

Funded Providers How funded hours can be accessed Pattern  as available
Private & 
Voluntary Group 
provision 

38 weeks - Term time fixed/ flexible / 
extra hours
50 weeks -All year flexible/ extra hours/ 
full day care

Varied and flexible options for 
parents to access the 1140 hours 

Split provision Child attends more than one provider 
(Funded providers/ funded provider 
Local authority/ Funded provider)

Pattern and number of hours with 
each provider decided by parent 

Blended models Children spending time in both an ELC 
nursery setting and a childminder. 
Setting and childminder work together 
in a supportive and integrated way.

Pattern and number of hours with 
each provider decided by parent

Childminders 38 weeks - Term time fixed/ flexible / 
extra hours
50 weeks - All year flexible/ extra 
hours/ full day care

Varied and flexible options for 
parents to access the 1140 hours 

3.2  Approach to phasing of 1140 hours
Entitlement to 1140 hours started being phased in from August 2017 onwards to ensure full 
roll-out by 2020. Local authorities have the flexibility to determine the most appropriate way 
to phase, however guidance is clear that this should reflect the Scottish Index of Multiple 
Deprivation to ensure that the families and communities who stand to benefit most from the 
expansion also benefit first.  In Scottish Borders this guidance has been followed.
Phase 1: (pilot):  January – September 2017. Full year provision in Philiphaugh in Selkirk.   

Phase 2:  August 2017 – Term time fixed provision in 7 local authority settings (Coldstream, 
Greenlaw, Eyemouth, Langlee, Burnfoot, Kirkhope, Philiphaugh) ; highest levels of 
deprivation and rural deprivation.

Phase 3:  August 2018 
Extend provision in the catchment areas of the 7 local authority settings, listed above, to 
include funded providers for children who live in those school catchment communities. 2 of 
the local authority settings will become hubs (Eyemouth and Burnfoot) and 5 will continue to 
be term time fixed (Coldstream, Greenlaw, Langlee, Kirkhope, Philiphaugh).  Parents can 
choose to have their child in the school setting within the community or any funded provider 
of their choice.  This includes all hours or split/blended placements. 

The Council do not yet know the funding levels that will be available .It it may be possible to 
expand in other community/catchment areas if funding allows in August 2018.   Funded 
providers include those who are currently on the framework.  In addition to this the Council 
will be working with procurement to develop a tender process for the purpose of this phase 
to enable potential funded providers, including childminders, who meet the criteria to deliver 
ELC. It is the Council’s intention to support interested childminders through this process and 
begin the process after initial feedback regarding the SDP with the Scottish Government ie 
November 2017.   

Phase 4-5:  funding dependent - from August 2018 to August 20

Page 66



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

19

As funding from Scottish Government allows, the Council will expand in school catchment 
communities.  Parents/carers  will be able to choose to have their child in the school setting 
within the community (if this school provides ELC) or any funded provider of their choice This 
includes all hours or split/blended placements.

The order of phasing for school catchment communities will be determined using inequality 
indicators from ‘Reducing Inequalities in Scottish Borders’ 2015.  The categories being used 
are:

 Employment and Income:  Income deprived; Employment deprived; Working age 
population claiming Out of Work benefits; Children living in Poverty

 Rurality and Accessibility: People living in the most ‘access deprived’ areas; 
Percentage of households with no car or van(2011)

Phasing will reflect funding levels as they are released from Scottish Government. It will also 
be dependent on timescales associated with any new build extensions, modifications or 
refurbishments.

The Council is confident that our approach will provide and facilitate a varied and versatile 
model of provision in response to identified need. This coupled with effective asset 
management planning and robust prioritisation criterion for capital and revenue investment 
to ensure resources are targeted to the highest priority areas supporting families into training 
,into employment or with existing employment challenges  

The Council will incorporate funded partners and develop new provision or delivery models 
where there is an identified need, which is both viable and sustainable. 

As well as parental demand, this will also rely upon providers meeting procurement and 
quality arrangements aligned to any future arrangements developed from guidance for 
Funded Providers and the Quality Improvement Plan.

It is envisaged that this work will be governed  and monitored by the Delivery Board, which 
will be formed after feedback from Scottish Government on the submitted Delivery and 
Implementation Plan. The Board chaired by the Service Director will oversee  a Strategic 
Delivery Group who will drive the implementation  of the SDP .It will be made up of 
stakeholders, Council officers and community representatives.  This will include members of 
the ELC community who can objectively represent and communicate the views of the ELC 
private and voluntary sector and childminding sector.  Some people identified an interest 
during the local information sessions and these will be followed up at the appropriate time.

The Expansion Planning Guidance recognises that any expansion will change and evolve 
during the process in response to local area need, changing circumstances and 
demographics.  

4.0 Workforce Planning and Development

All providers will need to ensure children are supported by a skilled qualified workforce. This 
will require a significant investment in upskilling staff and likely increasing the workforce for 
both the Council and funded providers.

A review of the current ELC resource against anticipated growth to meet expansion and 
identify the workforce gap will be completed and a plan to address this gap will be ongoing 
through People Planning and links with trade union representatives. In phase 2 this included 
the creation of nine Modern Apprenticeships and a process whereby any vacancies were 
first advertised internally to support people transitioning into the ELC workforce within 

Page 67



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

20

Scottish Borders Council.  Further work is planned to undertake a workforce survey to gain 
the views of the current workforce, as well as identify any impact and future considerations.  
Extensive support and guidance will be led by HR to ensure any work undertaken is within 
Council organisational policy and procedures. 

Scottish Government have allocated funding for three Additional Graduate/Teacher posts in 
Scottish Borders as part of their commitment that “by 2018, nurseries in our most deprived 
areas will benefit from an additional qualified teacher or childcare graduate”.  The Council is 
required to submit an action plan and job description to the Scottish Government detailing 
how they will deploy these additional posts.
  

5.0  Capital and Revenue

5.1 Capital 
Early scoping work has been undertaken indicating our current provision will require an 
increase in capacity and is likely to include new build extensions, modifications and 
refurbishments.  Costs are appended in the Scottish Government Finance template at an 
estimated cost of £8.753 M.

5.2 Revenue
Costs are appended in the Scottish Government template. Some of these costs are accurate 
: increase in staffing due to staff ratio change from 1:10 to 1:8 staff pupil ratios , staffing 
costs associated with increase in hours , costs of meals for pupils and some are predicted 
costs which will become more accurate as more parents engage and parental choice is 
known : number of HUBs required for all year round provision , negotiated increase in 
payments to partner providers , cost of quality assuring additional providers and costs of 
training. The Council is committed to continually engaging with the Scottish Government’s 
ELC Programme Delivery team. The revenue costs based upon information from the initial 
consultation carried out in August with all stakeholders is £18.278 M. The current revenue 
costs are £6.126 M ; additional funding of £12.152 M is estimated at this stage. The Council 
will engage further with parents/carers and all stakeholders with the aim of reducing these 
initial predicted revenue costs ensuring best value and affordability. The Council welcomes 
and is committed to working with the ELC Programme Delivery Team to scrutinise the initial 
assessment of both revenue and capital costs with the aim of arriving at a joint assessment 
of required funds.

Donna Manson
Service Director Children and Young People 
Scottish Borders Council 

 

Page 68



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

21

6.0 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN – outline considerations
6.1 Quality
6.1.1 Continue process for Monitoring and Assessment of  Improvement plans for current provision to maintain standard and develop 

appropriate criteria for childminders
6.1.2 Review of support  system delivered through our  EYTT to  evaluate impact of any expansion and identify what is  manageable and 

proportionate; new ways of working
6.1.3 Your Childminder Journey: a learning and development resource (previously referred to as Learning & Development Pathway for 

Childminder)and identify implications for current and future providers and produce associated plan
6.1.4 Review Use Self-evaluation in funded provision to identify best practice models
6.1.5 Review current commissioning  & procurement contract terms & conditions ( Funded Providers)  against National Funded Provider 

Standard (March 2018)
6.1.6 Dissemination of Quality Action Plan ( October 2017) and review implications/impact what more needs to be done to strengthen 

quality in ELC, and its’s use as a driver for improving children’s outcomes
6.1.7 Identification of training needs across sectors relating to expansion of hours. Exploring potential to  benefit joint/multi provider 

engagement opportunities
6.1.8 Regular feedback /satisfaction survey from users & workforce  in trial phasing provision for expansion of hours
6.2 Phasing and Prioritisation 
6.2.1 Ongoing monitoring and review of Phase 2 which was operational August 2018 to incorporate learning into future phasing

Review of further development and roll out for  Phase 3 community model in Phase 2 areas – August 2018
6.2.2 Development of Poverty and Employability matrix for use in determining phase 4 & 5 
6.2.3 Ongoing review and update of capital development programme Some may move between phases (earlier/later) as further details 

relating to larger capital development dependencies (e.g. school new build) feasibility, demand and value for money. 
Where the creation of new LA provision is identified this may /may not be progressed depending on outcome of  further details 
relating to feasibility, demand and value for money.

6.2.4 Review and agreement of criteria for prioritisation for Phases 4-5   
6.2.5 Prepare outline schedule for Phases 3-5 
6.3 Community Engagement 
6.3.1 Creation of Communication Plan identifying key stakeholder, engagement strategy and actions for communicating feedback from 

engagement events and surveys and process for regular updates. Work with corporate communications team to ensure that 
stakeholders and workforce members will receive all the information they need in a timely manner.  

6.3.2 Preparation and undertaking of Local Authority Workforce survey/audit working with HR colleagues and TU reps-  October/ November 
2017 

6.3.3 Preparation of  Systems plan: Undertaking discussion and impact /planning with
 Catering Services
 Business Systems Support (PayPal; NAMS)

P
age 69



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

22

 Facilities Management
6.3.4 Meet with interested stakeholders as to formation of Expansion of ELC  Delivery Board; Outline objectives, agree Terms of 

Reference, roles and responsibilities and protocols  and future scheduled meetings
6.3.5 Meet with interested stakeholders as to formation of Expansion of ELC  Delivery Board; Outline objectives, agree Terms of 

Reference, roles and responsibilities and protocols  and future scheduled meetings
6.3.6 Preparation of schedule of key stakeholder dates for reporting e.g. Executive, Corporate Management, Trade Unions, wider 

stakeholders as identified
6.3.7 Work proactively with Community Planning Partners to maximise income and resources for households with children and to promote 

access to employment opportunities prioritising the uptake of ELC provision for eligible 2’s and providing targeted support to families
6.3.8 Strengthen integrated planning within localities through Early Year’s Partnerships and develop hub and spoke model in each through 

capacity building and self evaluation
6.3.9 Completion of Equality Impact Assessment process
6.4 Workforce Plan
6.4.1 Workforce audit to identify future need alongside ongoing review of workforce to meet current admissions requirements 
4.4.2 Development of People Plan including ongoing feedback from  Phase 2. Progression planning for further Modern Apprentices and 

review of use of current workforce re-skilling opportunities
6.4.3 Review and use of analysis from Workforce consultation survey to identify any gaps, impact or issues for recruitment requirements 
6.4.4 Identify and plan for recruitment activity which is supportive of any national initiatives and guidance, local procedures  
6.4.5 Prepare outline training needs/analysis/opportunities for own workforce requirements
6.5 Funded Providers
6.5.1  Analysis of consultation results to determine available capacity and potential for 1140 hours expansion 
6.5.2 Where school has no ELC nursery but hosts a funded provider on-site. Evaluation of provision and need to determine feasibility and 

sustainability of provision offering 1140 hours expansion
6.5.3 Prepare interim process for phasing in respect of procurement. The Council currently has commissioning arrangements with partner 

providers and childminders for eligible 2 year olds need to enable process to cater for blended models as part of phasing  National 
Funded Provider Standard(March 2018)

6.5.4 As part of the assessment and planning process for 2020 delivery of the 1140 ELC hours entitlement, work will be carried out with 
these partners to consider future partnership and commissioning arrangements which fulfil the delivery aims for 1140 hours within 
SBC and

6.5.5 Work with  ELC providers on service development as identified in communication plan
6.5.6 Prepare outline training needs/analysis/opportunities for  funded providers including information Your Childminder Journey: a learning 

and development resource (previously referred to as Learning & Development Pathway for Childminder)
6.5.7 Identify flexible  option potential along with  guidance Delivering Flexibility ( early 2018)
6.5.8 Identify method of support providers to review current business model and identify how best to offer 1140 hours to enable sufficiency 

and access to places to meet needs of provider, families and local authority

P
age 70



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

23

6.5.9 Explore increase in current rate for ELC 3 & 4 and for eligible 2 year olds.
6.6 Infrastructure Requirement – Physical Estate Plan
6.6.1 Audit / site visits of current school stock provision re capacity, use, premises, outdoor/indoor environment, layout to identify 

reconfiguration opportunities and use of outdoor areas
6.6.2 Options appraisal of premises to identify minor and major capital works and refurbishments;

 Consider projects underway or in planning and taking account of 1140 requirements

6.6.3 Explore and identify potential to create new ELC provision which may serve a range of families and communities  e.g. possibility of 
making links to the use of the railway and create a standalone facility at Tweedbank and Stow

6.6.4 Work with Catering Services to review learning from phased trials for the provision of lunches and plan for future phasing and 
implications for funded provision.

6.6.5 Preparation of  Systems plan: Undertaking discussion and impact /planning with Catering Services, Business Systems 
Support (PayPal; NAMS), Facilities Management, Schools Admin

Review systems and processes relating to Admissions, NAMS and ParentPay and impact of expansion of hours.
6.7 Planning Assumptions including financial assumptions to support projections
6.7.1 Additional funding is made available from Scottish Government

6.7.2 Positive engagement of LA schools and ELC community ( funded providers/ Childminders etc.)

6.7.3 Formulation and ratification of strategic approach to delivery and definition of flexibility

6.8 Finance
6.8.1 Capital and Revenue information is detailed within the Financial Template

6.9 Project Management   
6.9.1 A  project manager will work with the Early Years team and other internal colleagues on the delivery and implementation of the plan. 

This team are responsible for applying project management methodology to ensure the project as a whole and individual phases are 
managed effectively, one time and within budget and meets all identified milestones, deliverables and outcomes. 

6.9.2 In addition a Delivery board will be formed with ELC community representation as well as other stakeholders to ensure representation 
of views and scrutiny of the implementation as well as supporting the communication plan

6.9.3 Review and quality assurance will also be undertaken through Corporate Management and Council reporting processes
6.9.4 Progress and update reports will be prepared by the Project Team for CMT, TU and council as part a strategic reporting process.

P
age 71



Scottish Borders Council - Draft 1140 hours Expansion Service Delivery & Implementation Plan 

24

 

P
age 72



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

Introduction

To be able to provide ELC models which will meet fully the needs and preferences of all working and 
non-working parents along with the  individual needs of the child offer a range of complex and 
diverse set of requirements. 

Consider  a basic full time employment week of 35-40 hours per week between core hours of 9 a.m. 
– 5 p.m. and add into this any travel time to a childcare provision to drop off/pick up children and 
then travel to place of employment it is apparent that it is already beyond the 1140 hours.  This is 
only one example of how family circumstances may present itself, in reality, we know there are 
some many more versions taking into account part-time, shift patterns, education and training and 
family make up and circumstance, to name but a few.

Any models will have some type of parameters and that meeting the expectations and needs of 
everyone is not going to be achievable, this is a realistic fact. However, this said, it is envisaged that 
options for the 1140hours which will ultimately be introduced will meet the needs of majority and 
substantially contribute and support the needs of those we know  require a more individually 
tailored solution to fully meet their requirements.

We sent out 2000 individual surveys (with return envelopes) to every parent who had enrolled their 
child for the current year. In addition to this we handed out surveys to parents of children 0-4 years  
and parents to be at consultation events,  through allied health professionals, partner providers, 
childminders and staff. An online version was on our website and promoted widely.

Our assumption is that parents who required the biggest change are those who responded.  Of those 
who responded findings show that:  55% intend to use full year provision; our assumptions of 
provision being 75% from local authority and 25% from funded providers is accurate.    Phase 3 will 
allow us to test out uptake levels in the range of provision available and continue to evolve our 
planning.

We had 586 responses in total.  352 responses were from parents of 3-5 year olds.  This is a response 
rate of 18% from our current parent body.  234 were from parents of 2 year olds and under. 

Our assumption is that parents who required the biggest change are those who responded.  Of those 
who responded findings show that:  55% intend to use full year provision; our assumptions of 
provision being 75% from local authority and 25% from funded providers is accurate.    Phase 3 will 
allow us to test out uptake levels in the range of provision available and continue to evolve our 
planning.

Family Engagement – Provider choice

From the responses received,  127 respondents stated they will be extending their family during 
2017. Whilst the majority of the respondents were parents/carers  there were 12  responses under 
the ‘other’ category, from which some identified themselves as Grandparents, ELC workforce or a 
local resident.

 Of the 586 respondents  375 (64%) identified their preference for a single provider. The highest 
percentage preference for a single provision type is for Local Authority Nursery (70.9%) followed by 
23% opting for group provision in the Private and Voluntary Sector (Playgroup or Day Nursery) and 

Page 73



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

6% stating a childminder as their choice of single provider with the remaining parents unsure as to 
their choice.

6%( 21)

70.9% (266)

3%(11)

20%(76)

1(<1%)

Childminder

LA School Nursery

Playgroup

Private nursery

unsure

Single Provider Choice - split by type

Where ELC is only available within the local authority school/nursery hours and there is limited or no 
childminders willing to take pick-up and/or drop-off at another ELC setting respondents state this to 
be problematic for the working parent or those looking at potential employment.  There are 211 
survey respondents stating a preference for the blended option involving two or multiple providers. 
The highest number of parents preferring a blended approach with the LA Nursery provision and 
either another group provision (day nursery or playgroup) or childminder; less than 50% of this 
number opting for a blended approach with group provision in the private and voluntary sector and 
childminders.

 

45.4%
(266)

32.4%
(190)

14.8%
(87)

3.6%(21)

3.6%
(21)

0.2%
(1)

LA Nursery (Single)
LA split/blended with P&V
or CM
P&V(Single)
P&V split/blended with P&V
or CM
CM (Single)
Unsure

Preference for Single / Split / Blended
Provision

It is evident that all current provision type has a role to play in supporting the needs of parents and 
carers, with an equal number of respondents favouring Childminders as their single provider as well 

Page 74



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

as in a blended approach with group provision in the private and voluntary sector.  However, it is 
recognised that here is a substantial preference for using group provision either in the P&V sector or 
within Local Authority nurseries. The latter featuring significantly in these choices whether as a 
single provider or within a blended approach.

LA Nursery + CM, 40%

LA Nursery +
Playgroup, 3%LA Nursery  +

Playgroup, +
Childminder, 3%

LA Nursery + Private
Nursery

35%

LA Nursery + Private
Nursery + CM, 9%

LA Nursery +  Private
nursery + Playgroup +

CM, 2%

Playgroup + CM, 3%

Private nursery +  CM,
4%

Private nursery +
Playgroup, 2%

Private nursery +
Playgroup +  CM

<1%

Provider Choice for Blended provision

Page 75



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

Not meeting needs: There are currently 42 parents/carers who stated that their current provider 
does not meet their needs for a variety of reasons.

Supportive information given in responses where provision isn’t meeting family need: 

11%

6%

6%

3%

9%

2%

36%

5%

2%

20% Want to use childminder
No holiday provision
Not enough  available provision
No provision for under 3s
No Wraparound
No  available provision for under
school age children
Provision not open at times
needed
Flexible hours not available
Require Weekend Care
Childcare too expensive

Reasons for current provision not meeting need

“Husband works 50 hours a week and I work 25. We don't have any family nearby to help 
with childcare so our only option is to pay for both nursery and a childminder for after 
nursery.  The extra hours would make a huge financial difference to our lives as it is 
expensive to pay for childcare.”

“I can't work extra hours because the private childcare cost would be too high”

“Both parents work shifts - we basically need childcare that is flexible according to our 
variable rotas but also covers 24/7 if required (nights/evenings/weekends) so grandparents 
are our only option”

 “There is only one choice of childcare in my catchment area and although my youngest has 
now just started school there is no flexibility in the childcare here. There is no before school 
care, after school care or holiday care.”

“A lack of flexibility in the provision of funded ELC by our local authority nursery means that 
we currently need to use 3 different child care settings (local authority nursery/ private 
nursery and wrap around care from registered childminder) to access our funded allocation, 

Page 76



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

whilst also covering our hours at work. This is logistically difficult and introduces an added 
element of stress for my child on days that they are required to move from one child care 
setting to another, part way through the day.”

“This is not going to help me in any way because my kids will be in school in 2020! I wish this 
had been started earlier so it would have benefited our family”

Parents of some children feel that their child’s individual needs mean that attending a smaller 
setting/home setting is best, and by having the choice to use this type of provision either as a single 
provider or as part of a blended model is preferred. They felt this often enables the child extend 
their attendance hours gradually, which is an additional benefit/consideration for them.

Being able to replace wraparound costs with funded hours is seen as a benefit as it will contribute to 
affordability.  Additionally, it enables, for some, to have more disposable income as less salary costs 
are apportioned to ELC costs.  

It would also appear that respondents feel that a wider choice of provision and flexibility on the use 
of funded hours will more ably support work commitments and employment opportunities. One 
example being that by enabling wider daytime employment choices as opposed to evening work 
which negate childcare costs with the support from partner/spouse/family or friends.

There is also the recognition from respondents that options must equally support working and non-
working parents.  As one person stated “being a working mother, I need to organise my work and 
additional childcare around school nursery times. This has had a massive financial impact on our 
household. Personally, I feel childcare provisions are only aimed at unemployed parents or parents 
who are in a place financially not to work. Childcare is penalizing those who do want to work.”

This may be reflected through the higher demand for being able to access the funded hours in all 
year round. In some day nurseries this is available by stretching the hours throughout the year, 
although the majority of models currently are geared towards 38 weeks/Term Time only. The 
expansion of hours with flexibility is a way of helping to address this and offer a wider choice to 
better suit the varied employment patterns and working arrangements of the majority of people.

Preference of location to access to ELC services

For the majority their preference was split quite evenly between ECL which is close to home  or 
sibling school,  followed by being close to work although there were some who didn’t have a 
preference or didn’t mind.  Where ‘other’ was chosen the reasons given was because they wanted 
something ‘close to transport hub (Tweedbank or Stow) as they commute or stated they just wanted 
‘ the best care and experience my child can get locally /in the best environment for my child.’  One 
person did state that they were ‘currently using the best of a bad lot’. The remainder preferred 
somewhere which suite both home & work and one specified a provision type (childminder) as 
opposed to a location.

Preferences taking the 1140 hours

Page 77



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

Although generally  services are required five days per week, Monday to Friday  there were others 
citing use of various days for parents who worked  between  one or four days per week,  and for a 
few their working week does extend over seven days to include Saturday and Sunday. The latter 
tending to relying on informal family arrangements, although a minority of childminders do state 
they  offer their service during these days, by arrangement, it was not apparent that  these were 
used by these respondents or a consideration.

51%
(302)

42%
(245)

4%
(23)

3%
(16)

All year round
Term time only
None of the options
Don't know

Preference of  hours

19%
(111)

32%
(191)

4%
(23)

3%
(16)

22%
(127)

12%
(71)

8%
(47)

All year flexible
All year flexible plus extra hours
All Year round: None of the
options
All Year Round: Don't Know
Term Time Fixed
Term Time Flexible
Term Time Flexi Plus

Preference of hours breakdown

Whilst some people know that they will require all year round care they are unsure as to how they 
will use the increased hours.  Where ‘other’ was chosen as a response it was due to wishing to use a 
childminder for funded hours or  because it won't apply to them as their children will no longer be in 
ELC but in school.  

Page 78



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

For one working parent they welcomed any/all of the options whilst another felt that although they 
will use the year round flexible with extra hours option ‘ 0800 is too late to enable a drop off and a 
commute to Edinburgh for work. It needs to be 0730 at the latest. 1800 is also a little early probably 
needs to be a fraction later say 1815.’

Preference for use of hours

47% of respondents stated they would use all 1140 hours with 15% stating they would buy 
additional hours .  18% felt they would only use some of the hours whilst 20% didn’t know how they 
would use the expansion of hours.

0.3%
(1)

2.8%
(9) 0.3% (1)

26.2%
(83)

37.5%
(119)

24%
(76)

7.3%
(23)

0.6%
(2)

0.9%
(3)

6.30 am
7.00am
7.15am
7.30am
8.00 am
8.30am
9.00am
9.30am
other/all times

All Year round - start time preference

Note: total  = 317 includes people who want all year round  ELC but not how they will take the 1140 hours.

Page 79



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

9%
(48)

5%
(27)

4%
(22)

16%
(86)

21%
(112)

31%
(165)

12%
(65)

3%
(9)

3.30pm
4.00pm
4.30pm
5.00pm
5.30pm
6.00pm
6.30pm
other

All Year Round - finish time preference

Note: total  = 317 includes people who kwant all year round cELC but not how they will take the 1140 hours.

14%
(35)

20%
(49)

42.45%
(104)

0.4% (1)

21.2%
(52)

0.8%
(2)

0.4%
(1)

7.30am
8.00 am
8.30am
8.50 am
9.00am
9.30am
Other

Term Time only - start  time
preference

Page 80



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

30%
(74)

12%
(30)

8%
(19)

14%
(35)

12%
(30)

15%
(36)

6%
(14) 3% (7)

3.30pm

4.00pm

4.30pm

5.00pm

5.30pm

6.00pm

6.30pm

other

Term Time only - finish time preference

Comparing start times across those who wish Term Time only and those opting for All year round 
ELC would appear to indicate the peak core start times between 07:30 a.m. and 08:30 a.m. and the 
peak core finish times between   5.00 p.m. and 6.00 p.m.  - 6.30 p.m. being used more in for the all 
year round requirement.

Start times 7.00am 7.15am 7.30am 8.00 am 8.30am 9.00am 9.30am other Totals 
Term time only 35 52 104 1 49 3 1 0 245
All Year round 9 1 83 119 76 23 2 4 317

End times 3.30pm 4.00pm 4.30pm 5.00pm 5.30pm 6.00pm 6.30pm other Totals
Term time only 74 30 19 35 30 36 14 7 245
All  Year round 27 16 18 44 70 96 37 9 317

Note: total of 317 includes people who know they want all year round ELC but do not know how they will take the 
1140 hours

General additional comments from respondents

“Find it quite frustrating that you cannot use funded hours in a childminder setting. Why not?”

“think the increase in hours for all families is absurd without some kind of means 
testing/qualification by combined salary of parents as we do not all need free childcare. This is 
especially true at a time where cuts are being made from our education/schools “

“This money/funding could be better spent in my opinion & only provided for the families who 
cannot afford childcare. The same could be said for the ridiculous Scot Gov spend on baby boxes.”

“I would prefer to send my child to a childminder as I do now and to have the option to use the extra 
funded time with the childminder”.

Page 81



Appendix 3(a) - 1140 hours ELC Family Survey  Responses  Commentary

“ To use only a childminder for ELC 3 and use a childminder and school nursery for ELC 4”

“Personally we feel 600 hours is more than enough for such young children to be in childcare and 
would not use more “

“The current hours available are more than sufficient/ Nursery hours as they are at present. “

 “As a stay at home mum who has given up work in order to raise my children, I am happy with the 
funded hours as they presently are. I feel that the needs of my children are more important than 
free childcare.”

Page 82



Appendix 3(b)   - Summary of Partner Provider Survey responses  April -  August 2017

1 | P a g e

Across the Scottish Borders there are a total of 48 Private and Voluntary sector organisations 
registered with the Care Inspectorate as Nurseries, Playgroups, Out of School Club(OOSC) delivering 
early learning and childcare. 28 are currently commissioned as funded partners to deliver the funded 
entitled hours for eligible two, three and four year olds. The remaining 20 groups are made up of 18 
OOSC’s and two nursery /playgroup groups..  

11

7

4
2 3 1

20-26
places

30-40
places

41-60
places

63-75
places

81-89
places

106
places

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

No of Providers

Registered Capacity across Funded Provision (28)

3 (V)

6  (V)

1 (V)
14 (2=V)

(2 - V)
1

Church Hall

Community Centre

Community Hall

Own Premises

Primary School Premises

Private School

Premises Type across Funded
Provision (28)
(Private Unless stated V = Voluntary)

Surveys were sent out to all 28 commissioned providers and a total of 25 returned during April – 
August giving a return rate of 89%. The following information relates to the responses given in the 25 
returned surveys.         

Page 83



Appendix 3(b)   - Summary of Partner Provider Survey responses  April -  August 2017

2 | P a g e

Operational times for funded provision and access to 600hours ELC

14 of the 25 providers offer a Term Time Only service and all but two groups operate Monday through 
to Friday. Premises availability and lack of demand on a Friday are cited for the two who operate 
Monday – Thursday. 

Four groups operating on a ’morning only’ have start times between 08:45 – 09:15 a.m. and end times 
of 11:55 and 12: 45 a.m.  The remaining providers operating an extended day service, one of whom 
recently trialled a summer school which they feel was successful. Start and finish times varied from as 
early as 07:30 to 09:00 a.m. to between 3.00 and 6.00 p.m. expect on a Friday when six providers 
follow an asymmetric pattern similar to local schools.

Parents using Term Time only provision generally accessed the funded 600hours as 5 x 3hrs 10mins 
sessions. Where premises restricted the service to four days funded hours were accessed as 4 x 
4hours sessions.

The 11 Year round providers operate between 47 and 50 weeks a year with all closing during the 
festive period (Christmas & New Year) with any additional weeks being taken during the summer. 
Hours of operation varied for a duration of between 9 ½ and 12 hours per day.

7 a.m. - 7
p.m.

7 a.m. - 6
p.m.

7.30 a.m. - 6
p.m.

8 a.m. - 5.30
p.m.

8 a.m. - 6
p.m.

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

All year round provision Operating times

Parents using all the settings offering all year round provision are offered a range of flexible options in 
which to access the funded 600 hours enabling 21/2 / 3 or 5 hour blocks of time to the more 
‘traditional’ 3hrs 10 mins. .

Planning for 1140 hours

From the surveys all providers are considering how the extended hours can be offered within their 
business model by way of flexible hours as they do currently, asymmetric models as well as 
‘stretching’ the hours across 50 weeks.  

Considerations, Concerns and Issues

Page 84



Appendix 3(b)   - Summary of Partner Provider Survey responses  April -  August 2017

3 | P a g e

For many of the providers the issues are similar to that for LA Nursery Provision e.g. staffing and 
capacity of provision. However the added concern for the P&V sector is around generating enough 
income which must cover expenditure. Whilst this is directed towards the hourly funding rate received 
from the local authority it also needs to be considered alongside all the other elements which 
contribute to both income and expenditure and ultimately ongoing sustainability.  For example, staff 
costs such as wages( Minimum & Living Wage),  Pensions are areas of prominent expenditure for all 
service providers. In addition for some, premises arrangements may also carry a high cost whether 
this is owned or rented.  

Where there is a change from a single session to an extended day to children have access to their full 
entitlement this will mean a loss of wraparound care paid by parents which will inevitably have 
financial consequences for some. 

The hourly rate paid by SBC is considered by the majority if not all to be of major concern. Settings 
managed by volunteers feel there may be a negative impact on them if the volunteer committees 
consider their roles too onerous with the responsibility for the1140hours to continue. 

Unsuitable premises or inadequate facilities or space for rest/sleep may present additional barriers for 
those in rented community/church premises.  Outdoor areas and lunch areas are also a concern for 
some.

Having to employ additional staff or extending existing staff hours may also be problematic, with some 
feeling that finding staff who are willing to work for a lower wage than is offered in LA school nurseries 
is a challenge. This was raised at one of the consultation events and it was highlighted then that not 
all staff are necessarily attracted by the salary alone and that work location /environment, leadership, 
staff benefits, peers/colleagues and organisation ethos are often equally attractive.   

Some are unsure as to what the take up will be and whether there will be demand but considering 
how they can offer full day sessions giving consideration to staffing and room layout. Identifying that 
they need to negotiate with their landlords and staff regarding future potential changes to times of 
operations as well as numbers of registered places. A couple of providers are considering whether or 
not they will need to seek different premises in order to offer the 1140 hours.

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3(c)  - Childminder Survey Results 

Across the Scottish Borders there are a total of 138 Childminders who are on the public list and 13 
Childminders how are active but not on the public list. With approximately 28% (39) currently 
registered as a Partner Provider to delivery Early Learning & Childcare for eligible 2 year olds. At the 
time of consultation only one childminder is actively caring for a funded 2 year old, this reflecting 
parental choice in choosing where their child takes up their funded place.

72%
(99)

28%
(39)

Registered
CM's
Registed
CM's
delivering
ELC2

Childminding Community

    

56.4%
(22)

43.6%
(17)

Total of CM's
Reg for 2yo's

Total of CM's
Reg for 2yo's
who completed
a survey

Childminders Funded for Eligible 2 year olds

     

A total of 46 (33%) completed surveys were from childminders, 19 of whom completed a survey as 
well as attending an information session with 6 childminders choosing to attend the session only and 
not submit a survey.  Overall this gave us a total engagement rate of 37.7%

HS Area No of 
CM’s

CM’s 
as PP 
for 
2yo’s

Total 
Surveys 
received

*Number of 
CM’s 
Completed 
Survey   
only

*Number of 
CM’s Both 
completing 
Survey &  
attending 
Information 
Session

*Number of 
CM’s 
Attended 
Roadshow 
only

% 
Engagement 
by HS area   
( = total of *)

Berwickshire 14 5 7 2 5 2 64%  (9)
Earlston 22 7 6 1 5 1 32%  (7)
Eyemouth 10 6 5 1 4 0 50%   (5)
Galashiels 14 4 9 8 1 0 64%   (9)
Hawick 10 1 1 1 0 0 10%   (1)
Jedburgh 5 1 1 1 0 0 20%   (1)
Kelso 11 1 1 1 0 0 9%    (1)
Peebles 38 13 15 10 5 3 47%  (18)
Selkirk 14 1 1 1 0 0 7%    (1)
Totals 138 39 46 26 20 6 37.7%   (52)
Note: not all surveys were fully completed as some childminders chose not to respond to all questions 

What childminders told us about their Business

From the 46 completed surveys 76% of childminders saw themselves being a childminder for the 
‘foreseeable future’ or  as long as there is a market for their services,  a few were more  specific  ‘the 
next 5-10 years’ or when their youngest child is in secondary education. Childminding is the sole 
occupation for all but a few childminders. 32% have been in business less than 2 years, 33% between 
3-10years and 35% between 10 and 22 years.

The number of children cared for varied according to individual circumstances, across the age range 
of 0-16 years of age. Of those who responded 57% were registered for six children (of whom no more 
than three not yet attending school, including one aged under a year.) with 33% catering for between 
7-11 children. Of the remaining 10%, 2% were registered for four and 8% did not supply the 
information.

Page 87



Appendix 3(c)  - Childminder Survey Results 

Generally, childminders offered their services between 7.30 a.m. and 6.00 p.m. Monday to Friday with 
some offering an earlier start (from 6.00 a.m.) or later finish ( 8.00 p.m.). Most were open to offering a 
responsive service, being flexible to parental need where/when possible. This included consideration 
of weekends and where parent’s employment involved shift patterns. Equally, some operate a shorter 
day between 4-5 p.m., short week (4 days) or part-time/asymmetric style week. 

Holiday periods varied between the Christmas period only or during school holiday periods, across 
two to six weeks.

Cost: Varies between £3.50 and £5 per hour. Some operate a higher hourly rate for drop off prior to 
8.00 a.m. and pick up after 6 pm or an ’all in rate’ for before school, breakfast and drop off at school, 
with 20% offering a sibling discount.

Meals: 22% of childminders choose to include all meals and snacks within their hourly rate, in some 
instances parents provided food.  Where meal charges are separate, the costs ranged between £1-£2 
for Breakfast, 50p - £2.50 for Lunch and  £1-£2.50 for Tea some also paid between .50p and £1 for 
snacks. 

Nappies/Wipes: Whilst some parents may be asked to provide both of these or nappies only, some 
childminders opt to provide both or wipes only.

50% of Childminders don’t ask parents to pay in advance whilst others operate a mixed process of 
weekly or monthly in advance. 96% confirmed they accept Childcare Vouchers and 70% are 
registered under the Government’s Tax Free Childcare Scheme

Deposits & Retainers: 17% of the 46 childminders operate some type of deposit schemes with 
approximately 7% stating it was non-refundable. Registration or administration fees are not something 
which childminders attribute a cost to. 

Of the 46 respondents 48% charge some retainers for places over holidays on a varied level of 25% 
or 50% of usual fees.  In some instances full fees or half fees were incurred dependent on 
circumstances or an increased rate for a term time only contract utilised. 

Inspections: 76% of respondents have been inspected by the Care Inspectorate during the last four 
years 60% of achieving 5 & 6 across Support, Environment and Management.  

Qualifications:  Of the 46 Childminders who responded to the survey questions on qualifications 
57% qualified between SVQ Level 2 and Degree level (one of whom has a BA Childhood Practice).  
With 57% qualified to SVQ Level 3 (including 9% with SNNEB/NNEB). A further 16% are working 
towards SVQ 3 Social Services (Children & Young People). 15% stated they had no qualifications

CPD:  When asked how they ensure they complete relevant ongoing CPD  the majority of 
childminders felt this was achieved by going to regular training sessions provided by SCMA/SBC. As 
well as attending mandatory training /refresher courses many choose courses they feel will improve 
their skills or if it is a new course. Some have a personal development plan, identify the areas where 
they could improve and find a CPD course which meets their need on a regular basis.

Quality: 72% stated that they evaluated and measured the quality of their setting by being registered 
with the Care Inspectorate and maintaining registration, annual Self-Assessment, Care Inspectorate 
grades, parent/children questionnaires and feedback.

Whilst a further few specified the use of 'Building the Ambition', weekly/monthly monitoring of changes 
in their business (e.g. policy updates), CPD courses and mandatory training needs, use of HGIOELC, 
monthly  reflective practice and evaluation also contributed with developing the quality of their service.

Page 88



Appendix 3(c)  - Childminder Survey Results 

When it comes to contingency planning childminders feel they have policies and procedures in place 
to support arrangements with their parents or other childminders / assistants or options to offer hours 
at a later date.

Planning for 1140 hours

From the surveys 87% of childminders feel that they would be able to offer the expansion of hours 
within their current business model with 16% stating they would not (others did not respond). 72% 
stated they had conversations with parents regarding the expansion of hours; discussing their 
needs/wishes/preferences and encouraging them to write to SBC to ensure their desire for a blend of 
Nursery and Childminding hours is possible.

67% of childminders identified various models as follows:

- Based on the asymmetric week to be the same as the LA Nursery and offering wraparound care, 
before and after to provide a full day service

- Offer a blended service for those using the local nursery
- Offering part funded /part fee based contracted hours full day or part day as required
- 1140 hours over 4 days.
- As parents and children need
- Full/part-time/wraparound
- a.m. or p.m. & pick up from nursery
- In line with their current service
- Already offer 50hrs a week - be a matter of adjusting to new monitoring
- Hours and days: 7.30am to 6.00pm Monday to Friday over 46 weeks of the year – “this is much 

broader than the school nurseries.” Note: also matches what a day nursery can offer
- Use any of the days and times that my service is open, depending on space.

There is a perception (real or perceived) that the expansion means too many hours in a busy, loud 
setting for a child and that a childminding setting offers quieter periods of time where they can still 
learn as much as at school nursery but in a less busy place, time where they can reflect on their day. 

However there is also the recognition that some may prefer a part blended approach and some may 
prefer a complete use of childminder - the key is choice of what is the best for a child and parent’s 
work needs/commitments. In one instance a CM is busy with 0-3 and feels this will still be the case 
when 1140 hours are in place.

Adjustments: 44% felt that no adjustments would be required and they would continue as they are, 
with a small percentage (13%) requiring more information or couldn’t answer without knowing how 
things work

Cost Implications: 38% cited the difference in hourly rate versus funded rate as a potential issue. 
Snack and meal payment or resources would also have to be considered. Information about the 
funding process and what this involved was needed; 35% felt there would be none or are unknown

Other considerations were around 

- Training on new/different paperwork
-  getting the right balance between nursery and childminding setting for each child at each stage in 

consultation with the parent
- may think about applying for variation to take on extra 3 and 4 years olds as  have the space and 

staff to do this
- Extra time allocated for paperwork, planning and evaluating 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4(a)

Projected Capital Costs summary of Early Years Expansion 

The analysis of accommodation has identified a series of potential solutions:

Refurbishment projects have been identified in around 6 existing schools.  In these settings, 
there is spare capacity within the footprint of the school which with some remodelling can 
provide the additional accommodation required and give provision for around 250 
additional spaces.  Based on the Scottish Government return, this work would be awarded 
in the region of £1.3 million.

Extension to the existing building at one school would be required and appropriate, 
providing an additional 100 spaces and being eligible for around £1.2 million

A very small number of new build provisions (3/4) have been identified as being required in 
the Galashiels, Hawick and Peebles areas.  These provisions would provide for the surplus 
spaces which cannot be achieved in the locality through utilising existing spaces.  In total 
these would provide over 300 spaces and indicatively would attract £5.5 million 
approximately.

Additional capital for the provision of furniture and equipment to meet the demands of the 
extended hours has been identified as around £500k.  This would be for items such as dining 
and sleep furniture and additional resources.

The total capital cost recorded on the return to Scottish Government is £8,753,007

It should be noted that the indicative capital costs included in this report are based on 
generic SFT pupil number / floor area metrics (£/m2) which generate the output costs and 
do not relate to specific individual capital projects. In developing future specific capital 
projects and desired outcomes, the actual capital costs will require to be developed by the 
Capital Projects team in conjunction with Education and Finance colleagues and which will 
include all appropriate contingency and risk allowances proportionate to the design 
development process and geographical location of each facility.

As schemes may comprise a combination of refurbishment, extension or new build 
elements, each of which will have different cost parameters and have as yet unknown 
potential impacts on established facilities, which could include a requirement for 
construction works in live operational facilities within the school or the provision of 
temporary decant accommodation for example, there is the potential that the Council may 
be required to supplement the indicative capital costs in order to achieve the desired final 
outcomes or solutions. 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4(b)

Projected Revenue Cost of Early Years Expansion 2020/21

Projected cost
Early Years Staffing costs £10.129m
Early Years Central team staffing costs £1.464m
Payment to partner providers £3.647m
Provision of lunches to all children £1.491m
Training Travel costs £0.081m
Grants and allowances £0.512m
Resources & Supplies £0.503m
Facilities Management £0.518m
Net income (wrap-around etc.) -£0.067m
Total projected revenue cost £18.278m

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh  EH6 6QQ 

www.gov.scot   
 

Children and Families Directorate 

Creating Positive Futures Division 

 

 

T: 0131-244 1030   
E: joe.griffin@gov.scot 

 

 

 

Local Authority Chief Executives 
Local Authority Directors of Finance 
Local Authority Directors of Education 
 
Copy to: 
Jane O’Donnell, COSLA 
Vicki Bibby, COSLA 
Lesley Gibb, ADES Early Years Network 
Craig Clement, ADES Resources Network 
 

 

___ 
 
19 May 2017 
 
 
Dear Colleagues 
 
EARLY LEARNING AND CHILDCARE (ELC) – 1140 HOURS EXPANSION 
CAPITAL ALLOCATIONS 2017-18 AND MULTI-YEAR ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Further to my letter of 20 March, I am writing to confirm final capital allocations for 2017-18 
to support the expansion of entitlement of funded ELC to 1140 hours from August 2020.  
This letter also provides further information on capital funding assumptions which should 
underpin the preparation of ELC Expansion Plans for September and the establishment of 
an ELC Finance Working Group.   
 
2017-18 capital allocations 
 
Thank you for sending confirmation of your full or partial acceptance of your authority’s 
indicative formula share of the £30 million allocation of capital funding to invest in 
infrastructure developments which will expand capacity in the provision of ELC.  30 
authorities have accepted their indicative allocations in full, with two authorities drawing 
down the indicative allocation in part. 
 
Total funding of £1.482 million is available for redistribution to the 11 authorities which 
indicated that they could draw down additional funding in-year.  This funding has been 
reallocated in proportion to the additional sums sought, in accordance with the methodology 
agreed by COSLA Leaders on the recommendation of the Settlement and Distribution 
Group.  As previously agreed, capital funding provided for 2018-19 onwards will be adjusted 
to take account of the redistribution of funding in 2017-18, in order to ensure equity over the 
life of the programme.    
 
Final allocations for 2017-18 are detailed in the Annex to this letter and will be paid to 
authorities in a single instalment in June. 
 
 

Page 95



 

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh  EH6 6QQ 

www.gov.scot   
 

Multi-year capital funding assumptions 
 
We recognise the concerns raised by local authorities that the absence of multi-year funding 
assumptions creates additional risks and challenges in planning for and implementing the 
increase in capacity required to expand entitlement to 1140 hours.  While final allocations 
can only be agreed as part of the Spending Review and Scottish Budget processes, 
including – crucially – Parliamentary scrutiny and approval, we are now providing a global 
multi-year capital planning assumption to allow authorities to firm up the infrastructure 
component of local ELC Expansion Plans and to commit to progressing the necessary 
capital developments. 
 
Expansion plans should be prepared on the assumption that £400 million of capital funding 
will be available at national level across the next three financial years (2018-19 to 2020-21 
inclusive).  This is an indicative figure to help initiate the necessary iterative process needed 
to generate a robust final figure.  Final allocations can only be confirmed as part of the 
Spending Review and Scottish Budget processes which in turn will be informed by 
consultation with local government undertaken through COSLA.   
 
The methodology for distributing these allocations to authorities is yet to be determined, 
including whether this will be formula-based and / or involve a bidding process.  The ELC 
Finance Working Group referenced below will make recommendations to COSLA Leaders 
and Scottish Ministers, via the Settlement and Distribution Group, on the preferred method of 
distributing final allocations between authorities.    
 
We will take account of authorities’ capital funding and profiling assumptions in preparing for 
the 2018-19 Draft Scottish Budget – this information will help ensure that the final allocations 
and profiling best reflect the requirements of the expansion programme.   
 
Revenue funding will be confirmed as part of the Spending Review and Scottish Budget 
processes – again informed by consultation with local government undertaken through 
COSLA and informed by the work of the ELC Finance Working Group.   
 
Authorities should continue to bear down on costs associated with the expansion to ensure 
Best Value in the use of public funds.  Expansion plans should be prepared with reference to 
the planning assumptions on page 6 of the Guidance issued in March 2017, which include: 

 Making best use of assets – effective expansion plans will take account of a 
sequential decision-making process as follows: 

a) Use what we have: Making full use of existing assets within the local authority 
(including workforce, potential of the natural environment, buildings and 
infrastructure); 

b) Use what we purchase: Enhancing the use of partner assets – developing and 
extending existing partnership models against a default assumption of a 
continued mixed economy – strengthening both local authority and other 
provision (including, for example, childminders and blended models);  

c) Create what we need: where full use of existing local authority services and 
assets, plus enhanced commissioning, still leaves a gap, plan to create or build 
new capacity, including outdoor nurseries. 

 
Authorities can access delivery support on the infrastructure elements of ELC Expansion 
Planning from the Scottish Futures Trust (SFT).  SFT has established an e-mail box for any 
queries relating to infrastructure matters - earlyyears@scottishfuturestrust.org.uk.   
 

Page 96

mailto:earlyyears@scottishfuturestrust.org.uk


 

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh  EH6 6QQ 

www.gov.scot   
 

We will provide a further update on delivery support for ELC in the coming weeks and 
undertake to contact each local authority within the next four weeks to arrange an initial face-
to-face engagement with the delivery support team.  In the meantime, please direct any 
queries on delivery support to ELCdeliverysupport@gov.scot.   
 
ELC Finance Working Group 
 
We are working with COSLA to establish a dedicated ELC Finance Working Group, which 
will be chaired by Alison Cumming, ELC Programme Director in the Scottish Government.  
This group will include senior representation from local authority Directors of Finance and the 
ADES Resources Network, and will meet for the first time in June 2017. 
 
We consider the Finance Working Group to be an important addition to the financial 
governance of the programme – it will ensure that expansion planning is underpinned by 
robust financial assumptions and that the programme is informed by expertise on local 
government financial management.   
 
We also anticipate that the Finance Working Group will develop and issue a financial 
information template to be submitted with ELC Expansion Plans.  This will seek to ensure 
consistent presentation of costs and support analysis of the plans.        
 
The Finance Working Group will work closely with our new Service Models Working Group 
and report into our ELC Project Steering Group.  Further details on the refreshed 
governance structure are available on request from ELCProgrammeOffice@gov.scot.   
 
 
I look forward to conintuing to work together to deliver the expansion in funded entitlement of 
ELC. 
 

 
 
JOE GRIFFIN 
 

Page 97

mailto:ELCdeliverysupport@gov.scot
mailto:ELCProgrammeOffice@gov.scot


 

ANNEX 
 
Final 2017-18 ELC capital allocations 
 

Local Authority Indicative 
capital 

allocation 
 

£m 

Accepted 
capital 

allocation 
 

£m 

Reallocated 
capital 
funding 

 
£m 

Final 2017-
18 capital 
allocation 

 
£m 

Aberdeen City 1.035 1.035  1.035 

Aberdeenshire 1.774 1.774  1.774 

Angus 0.643 0.643  0.643 

Argyll & Bute 0.494 0.494  0.494 

Clackmannanshire 0.277 0.277  0.277 

Dumfries & Galloway 0.912 0.912  0.912 

Dundee City 0.809 0.809  0.809 

East Ayrshire 0.688 0.688 0.221 0.909 

East Dunbartonshire 0.558 0.558  0.558 

East Lothian 0.618 0.618  0.618 

East Renfrewshire 0.538 0.538 0.033 0.571 

Edinburgh (City of) 2.504 2.504 0.080 2.584 

Eilean Siar 0.186 0.186 0.050 0.236 

Falkirk 0.933 0.933 0.319 1.252 

Fife 2.126 2.126 0.150 2.276 

Glasgow City 3.006 3.006 0.319 3.325 

Highland 1.535 1.535 0.159 1.694 

Inverclyde 0.384 0.384  0.384 

Midlothian 0.528 0.528  0.528 

Moray 0.579 0.579 0.064 0.643 

North Ayrshire 0.741 0.741  0.741 

North Lanarkshire 1.852 0.650  0.650 

Orkney Islands 0.142 0.142  0.142 

Perth & Kinross 0.887 0.887  0.887 

Renfrewshire 0.913 0.913  0.913 

Scottish Borders 0.689 0.689  0.689 

Shetland Islands 0.188 0.188  0.188 

South Ayrshire 0.555 0.555  0.555 

South Lanarkshire 1.743 1.743  1.743 

Stirling 0.580 0.300  0.300 

West Dunbartonshire 0.528 0.528 0.048 0.576 

West Lothian 1.055 1.055 0.039 1.094 

TOTAL 30.000 28.518 1.482 30.000 

 
 

Page 98



 

 

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh  EH6 6QQ 

www.gov.scot   
 

Children and Families Directorate 

Creating Positive Futures Division 

 

 

T: 0131-244 1030   
E: joe.griffin@gov.scot 

 

 

 

Local Authority Chief Executives 
 
Copy to: 
Local Authority Directors of Education 
Local Authority Directors of Finance 
Jane O’Donnell, COSLA 
Vicki Bibby, COSLA 
 

 

___ 
 
10 October 2017 
 
 
Dear Colleagues 
 
EARLY LEARNING AND CHILDCARE: MULTI-YEAR FUNDING PACKAGE 
 
In the Programme for Government, published in September, the Scottish Government 
committed to “take the next steps towards the near doubling of funded early learning and 
childcare, including setting out minimum levels of multi-year funding to deliver the expansion 
and provide certainty to our councils and providers”.  We undertook to publish details of the 
multi-year package this autumn.  This was in response to feedback from local government 
colleagues that such a package, agreed timeously, was essential to realising our shared 
ambitions.   
 
The multi-year package will comprise both capital and revenue funding.  For revenue 
funding, it will cover the next four financial years (2018-19 to 2021-22 inclusive).  Capital 
funding for the expansion will be made available for three further financial years (2018-19 to 
2020-21 inclusive).   
 
We are now starting the process of agreeing the quantum of the funding package with 
authorities, informed by the cost estimates reflected in ELC Expansion Plans and our own 
modelling.  We will engage with the ELC Finance Working Group, which is co-chaired by 
Scottish Government and COSLA, to develop a shared understanding of the overall costs of 
delivering Scottish Ministers’ vision for the expansion of ELC, with a view to agreeing and 
confirming multi-year figures by the end of November.  This will coincide with the provision of 
individual feedback to authorities on Expansion Plans.   
 
The total public sector investment in delivery of early learning and childcare is expected to 
reach £840 million by the end of this Parliament.  The Scottish Government estimates that 
the additional annual revenue allocation to local authorities to deliver the expanded 
entitlement will be c. £410 million by 2021-22, including funding to deliver the Living Wage 
commitment, relative to estimated baseline spend in 2017-18.  We expect capital funding for 
the three year period to be £400 million, in line with the indicative planning assumption 
issued to authorities in May 2017.  Our estimates, which will be discussed with the Finance 

Page 99



 

 

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh  EH6 6QQ 

www.gov.scot   
 

Working Group later this month, will be considered alongside the estimates presented in 
local authority expansion plans.      
 
Going forward we will continue to work jointly with local government to keep the revenue and 
capital cost estimates under regular review to ensure that they remain accurate and 
affordable.  As previously highlighted in the Blueprint for 2020 consultation document 
published in October 2016, the Scottish Government is committed to meeting the additional 
costs of the expansion, but it must be delivered efficiently whilst ensuring that a high quality 
service is provided. 
 
The ELC Delivery Support team is due to meet with each authority as part of the review of 
expansion plans over the coming weeks, which will provide an opportunity for us to work 
together to identify opportunities to maximise the efficiency and effectiveness of this 
transformative investment in ELC.   
 
We will also work with authorities to agree the distribution of the multi-year funding package 
so that individual authorities have certainty over their capital and revenue allocations.  We 
will now initiate the relevant processes, working closely with the ELC Finance Working 
Group to agree distribution proposals to be submitted through the joint Settlement and 
Distribution Group for political approval by Scottish Ministers and COSLA Leaders.  

The forthcoming development and agreement of a multi-year funding package for the 
expansion in ELC entitlement is another significant milestone for the programme, building on 
the progress we’ve collectively made in the last year to develop the policy framework and 
associated service plans.  I’d like to take this opportunity to thank you and your teams for the 
efforts that have gone into producing ELC Expansion Plans over recent months.  We look 
forward to continuing to work in partnership with you to deliver high quality early learning and 
childcare for our children and help give them the best possible start in life.   

 Yours sincerely  
 
 
 
 
 

Joe Griffin  
Deputy Director for Creating Postitive Futures  
 

 
 
 

Page 100



Scottish Borders Child Poverty Index (SB CPI) 2017 by Primary School for ELC Expansion 

The table below ranks the non-denominational primary schools in the Scottish Borders by the ‘Average of SB CPI Score’ for the primary school based best fit data 
zones.  The components of the SB CPI 2017 are: 

 Percent of Children in Low Income Families (CiLIF) 2014 from HMRC1 

 Percent of Pupils in Receipt of Free School Meals (FSM) 2017 from SBC’s SEEMIS 

 Percent of Pupils in Receipt of Clothing Grant (CG) 2017 from SBC’s SEEMIS 

 Percent of Pupils Aged 16+ in Receipt of Education Maintenance Allowance (EMA) 2017 from SBC’s SEEMIS 

Each primary school is allocated into a SB CPI quintile based on the school’s score.  

 

                                                           
1
Most recent data from HMRC at data zone (Note: End Child Poverty data was reported at multi member ward for 2015) 

Scottish Borders 14.0% 10.0% 14.6% 11.0% 10.0 29 28 32 29 25 143

SB CPI  

Primary 

School 

Rank Secondary School Primary School

Average of 

Children in Low 

Income 

Families 2014 

(HMRC)

Average of 

% FSM - 

2017 (SBC)

Average of 

% Clothing 

Grant - 

2017 (SBC)

Average of % 

EMA - Yes of 

those aged 

16+ -2017 

(SBC)

Average of 

SB CPI 

Score (Max 

21)

Best 

Alloc-

ation 

SB CPI 

Quintil 1 2 3 4 5

Count 

of Data 

Zones

1 Hawick High School Burnfoot Primary 31.9% 28.3% 40.7% 29.9% 19.8 1 4 4

2 Kelso High School Yetholm Primary 24.6% 17.3% 28.8% 20.0% 16.5 1 1 1

3 Eyemouth High School Coldingham Primary 18.8% 20.0% 26.0% 25.0% 16.5 1 1 1

4 Selkirk High School Philiphaugh Primary 22.3% 22.5% 29.2% 12.5% 15.3 1 1 1 2

5 Berwickshire High School Greenlaw Primary 19.1% 20.7% 20.7% 8.3% 15.0 1 1 1

6 Peebles High School Walkerburn Primary 17.7% 15.2% 22.7% 14.3% 14.5 1 1 1

7 Berwickshire High School Chirnside Primary 17.4% 14.2% 19.1% 30.6% 14.2 2 1 2 3

8 Hawick High School Trinity Primary 19.9% 18.8% 24.7% 5.0% 13.8 2 1 1 2

9 Galashiels Academy Burgh Primary (St Margarets Gala) 24.9% 15.0% 21.1% 6.3% 13.3 2 1 2 3

10 Eyemouth High School Eyemouth Primary 19.7% 11.0% 20.0% 18.8% 13.3 2 2 2 1 5

11 Kelso High School Broomlands Primary 15.6% 12.3% 18.5% 20.6% 13.0 2 2 1 1 4

12 Eyemouth High School Reston Primary 14.0% 10.4% 15.1% 33.3% 13.0 2 1 1

13 Galashiels Academy Langlee Primary 26.4% 16.4% 28.1% 2.5% 12.9 2 2 1 1 4

14 Jedburgh Grammar Howdenburn Primary 19.0% 13.4% 18.5% 9.5% 12.5 2 2 1 3

15 Galashiels Academy Balmoral Primary 17.0% 11.0% 18.0% 22.9% 12.1 2 1 2 1 4

16 Hawick High School Wilton Primary 14.5% 11.6% 18.0% 20.0% 12.0 2 2 2

17 Galashiels Academy Tweedbank Primary 13.7% 10.6% 16.1% 21.2% 11.8 2 1 2 3

18 Berwickshire High School Coldstream Primary 13.2% 11.8% 15.5% 22.0% 11.6 2 1 1 1 1 4

19 Peebles High School Broughton Primary 12.4% 11.8% 15.5% 14.3% 11.5 2 1 1

SB CPI Quintile

P
age 101



 

SB CPI  

Primary 

School 

Rank Secondary School Primary School

Average of 

Children in Low 

Income 

Families 2014 

(HMRC)

Average of 

% FSM - 

2017 (SBC)

Average of 

% Clothing 

Grant - 

2017 (SBC)

Average of % 

EMA - Yes of 

those aged 

16+ -2017 

(SBC)

Average of 

SB CPI 

Score (Max 

21)

Best 

Alloc-

ation 

SB CPI 

Quintil 1 2 3 4 5

Count 

of Data 

Zones

20 Galashiels Academy St Peters Primary 13.6% 14.6% 22.9% 7.5% 11.3 3 2 1 3

21 Hawick High School Drumlanrig St Cuthberts Primary 14.9% 11.6% 16.0% 14.2% 11.3 3 2 2 3 2 9

22 Peebles High School Newlands Primary 11.2% 5.5% 11.0% 30.0% 11.0 3 1 1

23 Berwickshire High School Duns Primary 11.9% 9.2% 17.8% 13.9% 10.7 3 3 2 1 6

24 Kelso High School Edenside Primary 16.9% 9.4% 12.4% 11.0% 10.5 3 2 2 1 5

25 Kelso High School Ednam Primary 13.2% 5.2% 11.3% 18.2% 10.0 3 1 1

26 Jedburgh Grammar Parkside Primary 17.3% 10.5% 16.5% 2.4% 10.0 3 1 1 1 3

27 Selkirk High School Knowepark Primary 14.0% 12.0% 14.3% 3.2% 9.9 3 1 3 1 5

28 Kelso High School Morebattle Primary 16.1% 3.8% 7.6% 16.7% 9.0 3 1 1

29 Hawick High School Newcastleton Primary 18.1% 8.1% 11.6% 0.0% 9.0 3 1 1

30 Selkirk High School Lilliesleaf Primary 12.5% 9.2% 9.2% 14.3% 8.5 3 1 1

31 Galashiels Academy Glendinning Primary 11.4% 5.3% 9.2% 14.3% 8.5 3 1 1

32 Eyemouth High School Ayton Primary 8.8% 7.5% 10.2% 11.1% 8.3 3 2 2

33 Peebles High School St Ronans Primary 10.5% 7.5% 9.2% 8.4% 8.2 3 1 1 2 1 5

34 Earlston High School Lauder Primary 7.9% 7.1% 9.8% 13.2% 7.7 4 1 2 3

35 Peebles High School Kingsland Primary 9.0% 6.4% 11.2% 6.0% 7.6 4 1 4 1 6

36 Hawick High School Stirches Primary 11.1% 6.5% 8.2% 4.5% 7.5 4 1 1 2

37 Galashiels Academy Fountainhall and Heriot Primary 7.1% 6.6% 7.4% 12.0% 7.5 4 1 1

38 Earlston High School Earlston Primary 7.6% 6.5% 9.4% 13.0% 7.4 4 2 1 1 4

39 Earlston High School Newtown Primary 11.8% 6.3% 8.4% 8.3% 7.2 4 1 1 1 3

40 Kelso High School Sprouston Primary 12.2% 5.9% 6.9% 0.0% 7.0 4 1 1

41 Jedburgh Grammar Ancrum Primary 9.6% 3.5% 6.7% 11.9% 7.0 4 2 2

42 Earlston High School Gordon Primary 5.3% 5.7% 5.7% 8.7% 7.0 4 1 1

43 Earlston High School St Boswells Primary 8.1% 5.1% 8.2% 6.3% 6.8 4 2 2

44 Berwickshire High School Swinton Primary 8.4% 4.8% 10.6% 11.3% 6.8 4 1 1 2

45 Hawick High School Denholm Primary 14.9% 3.5% 5.6% 0.0% 6.5 4 2 2

46 Earlston High School Melrose Primary 6.6% 4.4% 7.8% 6.8% 6.5 4 1 2 1 4

47 Peebles High School Priorsford Primary 5.1% 5.0% 6.8% 9.9% 6.1 4 2 1 3 6

48 Selkirk High School Kirkhope Primary 4.0% 9.7% 12.9% 0.0% 6.0 4 1 1

49 Peebles High School Eddleston Primary 5.8% 5.6% 7.4% 0.0% 6.0 4 1 1

50 Eyemouth High School Cockburnspath Primary 9.3% 4.1% 10.2% 0.0% 6.0 4 1 1

51 Selkirk High School Yarrow Primary 19.4% 0.0% 2.0% 0.0% 5.0 5 1 1

52 Galashiels Academy Clovenfords Primary 3.3% 1.5% 1.5% 12.5% 4.5 5 1 1

53 Galashiels Academy Stow Primary 9.7% 1.1% 1.1% 0.0% 4.0 5 1 1

54 Earlston High School Westruther Primary 7.3% 3.3% 4.6% 0.0% 4.0 5 1 1

55 Peebles High School West Linton Primary 4.6% 0.6% 1.4% 0.0% 2.0 5 3 3

56 Earlston High School Channelkirk Primary 4.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0 5 1 1

SB CPI Quintile

P
age 102



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 1

SCHOOL ESTATE REVIEW NEXT STEPS 2017/2018

Report by Service Director, Children and Young People

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

7 NOVEMBER 2017

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides Elected Members with an update on the work 
that was carried out in the School Estates Review from October 
2016 to June 2017 and outlines the proposed next steps in the 
School Estates Review from October 2017 to June 2018.

1.2 During the programme of work, the Council was recognised for delivering 
best practice in the manner in which the pupil, parent and community voice 
in Jedburgh was used to guide a consultation on learning provision in the 
town.  The very successful outcome of Scottish Government partnership 
funding to deliver an Intergenerational Community Learning Campus with 
the Council has been instrumental in evolving our principles guiding the 
School Estate towards a holistic community approach, which is in line with 
the Council’s developing approach to community empowerment and a focus 
on change and improvement being centred in localities.  The success of this 
School Estates Review is very much linked within the level of engagement 
coming through from communities, who have become active in engaging 
with the Council on future proofing their estate and working jointly on 
specific challenges, as well as responding positively to opportunities.

1.3 The School Estate strategy is a key strategy within the Council which can 
contribute significantly to the vision and priorities set out in the Council’s 
“Connected Borders” Strategic Plan.  The School Estates strategy has the 
opportunity to contribute to: connected communities, eg improved digital 
connectivity and opportunities for learning; enterprising communities, eg 
improved business links and skills development re developing the young 
workforce; communities of well-being, eg opportunities for 
intergenerational learning; communities of caring, eg a place where 
communities can come together to support families through Early Learning 
and Childcare and family support. 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 2

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee:- 

(a) Agrees to the change in the strategic principles guiding the 
School Estate Review, which now focus on delivering 
intergenerational learning opportunities and outcomes for all 
ages within a community;

(b) Notes the positive response from the Scottish Government to 
the high quality consultation process carried out as part of 
the School Estate Review in Jedburgh;

(c) Notes that a separate paper recommending the closure of the 
nursery, primary , secondary and specialist provision and the 
establishment of Jedburgh Intergenerational Learning 
Community has been progressed within the School Estate 
Review in the period 2016/2017;

(d) Agrees that a detailed assessment is carried out of the four 
High Schools that have not been rebuilt (Galashiels Academy, 
Hawick High School, Peebles High School and Selkirk High 
School) re their condition, suitability and capacity to 
prioritise the order of investment in the Secondary School 
Estate in the next ten to fifteen years; and that the outcome 
of the assessment is brought back to the Executive 
Committee, along with a proposal for consultation with the 
local community that comes out first looking at community 
options for intergenerational learning;

(e) Notes from the assessment of the Primary School Estate that 
Earlston Primary School and Eyemouth Primary School are 
priorities for investment and agree that work should be 
developed and ongoing with the Scottish Government around 
partnership funding to deliver intergenerational learning 
opportunities for both communities;

(f) Agrees that the programme of closing mothballed schools 
(Eccles/Leitholm Primary School, Ettrick Bridge Primary 
School and Hobkirk Primary School) continues with pace so 
that all schools are closed within the 2017/2018 period;

(g) Notes the proposal to conduct a statutory consultation on the 
closure of St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School in 
Hawick as an outcome of the Roman Catholic Schools Review.  
A paper seeking approval to conduct the Statutory 
Consultation on the closure of the schools is subject to a 
separate report.

(h) Notes the progress made by the Rural Schools Action Plans 
and commend the work of the parents;

(i) Notes that, following engagement with parents/staff in 
Kirkhope Primary School, a proposal to extend the catchment 

Page 104



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 3

will be consulted upon in January 2018.

(j) Notes that a review of the transport policy will be 
forthcoming in 2018.

Page 105



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 4

3 BACKGROUND

3.1 On 6 September 2016 the Executive Committee agreed a number of 
recommendations set out in the paper “School Estate Pre-consultation and 
Review” (Appendix 1).  This Report provides an update of the progress that 
was made during school session 2016/2017 in taking forward these 
recommendations and outlines the programme of work for school session 
2017/2018.

3.2 A strategic approach is being taken to the School Estate Review by 
adhering to guiding principles which were agreed at the Executive 
Committee in January 2015:

(a) Increased educational opportunities;

(b) Improved outcomes for children and young people;

(c) Sustainability;

(d) A future-proofed School Estate;

(e) Affordability.

3.3 It is important to note that all investment models for the School Estate are 
delivered in partnership with the Scottish Government.  Scottish Borders 
Council has a very positive relationship with the Scottish Government on all 
School Estate matters and this is key to the progress that has been made, 
both in delivering the new school builds at Langlee Primary School and 
Duns Primary School in August 2017 and in the forthcoming delivery of 
Kelso High School, which will open on 14 November 2017, and the new 
Broomlands Primary School, which will open in January 2018.

3.4 The recent announcement of the Scottish Government and Scottish Borders 
Council working in partnership to fund a new intergenerational campus in 
Jedburgh has been a defining moment in changing the direction of travel 
towards a new vision for the School Estate; where learning is realised as a 
lifelong concept and buildings for learning are no longer viewed as school 
provision, but as intergenerational learning provision.  Based upon this, it is 
recommended that the principles above are changed as follows:

(a) Increased educational and learning opportunities for all generations 
within the community;

(b) Improved outcomes for the community;

(c) Sustainability;

(d) A future proofed community learning estate;

(e) Affordability.

3.5 Partnership with Education Scotland is critical to progressing all School 
Estate matters as changes to the estate are subject to the Schools 
(Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.  These changes involve quite extensive 
protocols in relation to consultation and engagement with local 

Page 106



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 5

communities and can result in Scottish Government scrutiny of Scottish 
Borders Council activity in any matters relating to the School Estate.

4 IMPLEMENTING THE RECOMMENDATIONS SET OUT IN SEPTEMBER 2016

Future of Mothballed Schools

4.1 Ettrick Primary School

(a) Ettrick Primary School was mothballed in June 2012 after the roll 
dropped to 3 pupils in 2011.  Formal consultation papers were 
drawn up and a statutory consultation meeting was held on 22 
February 2017.  Approximately 25 members of the community 
attended the evening.  There was no debate about the need to 
close the school: all community members were in agreement, 
except for one member, but there were quite a few issues raised 
about what would happen to the school building once the school 
was closed.

(b) The issues re the building were extensive and complex and, as a 
result, it was agreed that prior to papers being concluded, that 
investigations into future options for the building required to be 
explored, as the existing building for example currently houses the 
Ettrick Shepherd Museum which draws over 200 visitors to the 
Ettrick Valley each year.

(c) The challenge is that the school building requires extensive 
upgrading and maintenance work and the community are reliant 
upon the Council for the maintenance of the building.  The 
community did not have a Business Plan to sustain the building at 
the point of consultation.  However, there were connected 
developments relating to a Forest Community Engagement Plan 
that could support a sustainable Business Plan for the Ettrick 
Primary School building.

(d) The Council will now re-engage with the community to receive an 
update on the Forestry Community Engagement Plan and invite 
Education Scotland to participate in the Statutory Consultation 
process, with a focus on concluding the closing of Ettrick Primary 
School and establishing a sustainable plan for the school building.

4.2 Eccles/Leitholm Primary School

Eccles /Leitholm School was mothballed in August 2016, when the pupil 
roll dropped to 5 pupils.  Pupil roll information and parental choice do not 
provide a case for re-opening the school (see Appendix 2).  The period of 
mothballing from August 2016 until August 2017 has not changed the 
position, ie no parents have intimated any interest in their children 
attending Eccels/Leitholm Primary School.  It is recommended that 
Statutory Consultation papers will now be drawn up recommending the 
closure of Eccels/Leitholm Primary School and as part of the consultation, 
a decision will be made to allocate the existing catchment area to a 
designated school.  The Statutory Consultation period will commence in 
January 2018. 

Page 107



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 6

4.3 Hobkirk Primary School

(a) At the beginning of school session 2016, parents of Hobkirk Primary 
School approached the Council concerned about the impact of the 
pupil roll of 7 pupils upon the children’s learning experiences.  
Further engagement with parents led to the transfer of the children 
to Denholm Primary School in October 2016 and the school was 
mothballed at the Education Executive on 3 November 2016.

(b) A meeting was held at Hobkirk Community Council on 19 
September 2016 to share with community members the possible 
options for the school building, should it be permanently closed.  
There was very positive engagement with the community about 
possible options for the building and a general acceptance that the 
school would progress to permanent closure.

(c) The Council has allowed the school to remain mothballed for a 
period of time to monitor the catchment roll and parental choice.  
Matters have now settled and the new intake of children have 
overall chosen to attend Denholm Primary School.  Roll projections 
indicate that the re-opening of the school is not a viable option (see 
Appendix 2).  The Council has not received any requests for 
enrolment at the school or received any notes of interest about the 
future opening of the school.  The information indicates that the 
formal closure of Hobkirk Primary School would support parental 
choice and provide the community with an opportunity to liaise with 
the Council regarding a permanent solution for the future use of the 
building.  It is recommended that a statutory consultation on the 
closure of Hobkirk Primary School commences in January 2018.

Pre-consultation on Roman Catholic Schools Provision

4.4 The Council, in the Autumn of 2016, set up meetings with parents of the 
four Roman Catholic Schools: Halyrude Roman Catholic Primary School, St 
Joseph’s Roman Catholic Primary School, St Margaret’s Roman Catholic 
Primary School, Galashiels and St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary 
School, Hawick.  At that moment in time there was one Headteacher for 
the four schools and there were concerns about the progress being made 
in improving the quality of education in each school.  The Council engaged 
with all sets of parents and with school staff as part of a Review process.

4.5 Halyrude Roman Catholic Primary School

(a) At Halyrude over 30 parents attended a meeting with Council 
Officers and expressed that their school had gone from strength to 
strength; the school roll was increasing (from 80 to 90); there was 
now stability in staffing and a very positive ethos within the school 
teaching and support staff; all stakeholders intimated that they 
believed Halyrude should have its own Headteacher, owing to 
distance between Halyrude and St Margaret’s Roman Catholic, 
Galashiels.  The Council recognised that significant progress had 
been made in stabilising the school staffing and pupil roll and in 
implementing a range of quality improvements.  During 2016 a 
permanent Headteacher was appointed to lead Halyrude Roman 

Page 108



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 7

Catholic School.  The very good progress in the quality indicators and 
children’s learning experiences, the roll growth and parental 
positivity towards the school represents a strong picture of 
improvement: Halyrude is now experiencing, for the first time in a 
long period, a very positive outlook and required no further 
intervention or additional support from the Council.  It should be 
noted that the very strong leadership of the parent body in the last 
few years, and their support of the school, has been instrumental in 
the school’s progress and should be formally noted by the Executive 
Committee, with special thanks noted to the Chair of the Parent 
Council who played a vital leadership role in working with parents, 
the school staff and the Council Officers on this improvement journey 
in the last three years; it is recommended that the Council might 
consider formally thanking the Parent Council Chair for her individual 
contribution to the school’s improvement journey.

(b) Halyrude Roman Catholic Primary School is now an improving school 
with a growing roll, a stable staff and a highly competent 
management team.  Although 62% of the children who attend the 
school are Roman Catholic, it is now a school of parental choice in 
the town of Peebles, providing high quality education and can 
evidence the provision of strong educational benefits for the children 
who attend the school, including the children attending the Additional 
Support Needs base within the school.  Halyrude Roman Catholic 
Primary School is now in a strong sustainable position and it is 
recommended that recognition is given to its improvement journey 
and a public statement made to parents about the Council’s 
confidence and commitment to its long term sustainable future as a 
Roman Catholic provision within the Scottish Borders.

4.6 St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Primary School

At St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Primary School, two parents turned up to 
the meeting.  They expressed concerns about the school’s progress and 
staffing instability.  These matters have now been addressed; the school 
has benefited from a very positive inspection sign off and the stable 
leadership of a ‘Lead Learner Headteacher’.  The Roman Catholic Church 
approved the appointment of the Lead Learner Headteacher, ie a 
Headteacher who does not have Roman Catholic approval, but there are 
still staff within the school who can provide the Roman Catholic teachings 
to the children.  This appointment has been instrumental in taking forward 
improvements within the school and the individual member of staff’s 
contribution was formally recognised when the school was signed off in 
the inspection process in December 2016.  The parents expressed that 
they felt their school was sustainable long term.  However, the roll is 
interesting at St Joseph’s in that only 30% of the children are Roman 
Catholic, ie 7 out of 26.  The roll has increased from 20 to 26 in the last 
few years, resulting in the school stabilising at two classes.  The good 
progress made in the quality of education has had a stabilising impact 
upon the roll in attracting some families into the school; information 
indicates that parents are choosing St Joseph’s Roman Catholic Primary 
School as a small school choice within the town of Selkirk, rather than as 
an Roman Catholic choice.  It is recommended that, in light of the low 
levels of parental engagement in the Review, further discussions are held 

Page 109



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 8

with parents regarding the future of the school provision and that these 
discussions are also held with the Parent Councils of the schools affected 
by the current Parental Choice, ie Knowepark Primary School, Philiphaugh 
Primary School, Kirkhope Primary School and Yarrow Primary School, and 
that these discussions help inform next steps and future plans for St 
Joseph’s Primary School.

4.7 St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Galashiels

At St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary, Galashiels, eight parents 
attended the meeting.  They were all very positive about their school, but 
did have concerns about behaviour management in the school, expressing 
that a number of children from other schools in the Galashiels area choose 
St Margaret’s when their children are experiencing difficulty in other local 
schools.  There is evidence to support this parental view.  The roll of the 
school is 64 and the parents reported that there were many other Roman 
Catholic children who attend Our Lady and St Andrew’s Church and have 
declared that the school not having a nursery is a key factor in the 
parents not uptaking their Roman Catholic entitlement at St Margaret’s 
Galashiels, ie that the children make friends at nursery and then end up 
transitioning into the school where the nursery is located.  The parents 
believe that a nursery at the school would increase the school roll to 
previous levels of over 100 pupils.  The expansion of ELC hours from 600 
to 1140 hours by 2020 will create capacity issues within the primary 
schools in Galashiels, ie St Margaret’s will receive nursery provision.  This 
is expected to have an impact upon the school increasing the roll to a 
similar roll of Halyrude Roman Catholic Primary School, creating another 
Roman Catholic school in the Borders with a long term sustainability plan.  
Work is ongoing to improve the quality of the learning provision at St 
Margaret’s and this will continue to receive targeted support from the 
Council until the school reaches a self-improving level of capacity.

4.8 St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Hawick
A meeting was held with eight parents.  The parents indicated that they 
were very content with the learning provision at St Margaret’s Roman 
Catholic Primary, Hawick, but that they had concerns about their children 
being bullied when they get to Hawick High School.  The parents were 
very positive about the support the school received from the local Priest, 
who has recently left the community.  They also commended the Saturday 
Polish School, which is in receipt of some funding from the Council.  The 
Service Director, Children and Young People did share with the parents 
her concern regarding the children’s inclusion with other children in the 
town and expressed concern that the school roll consisted of  93% of 
pupils who spoke English as an additional language and roll figures of less 
than 1 class.  The Service Director also expressed that she was concerned 
that the entitlements of Curriculum for Excellence were limited for the 
children in terms of team skills and group work with children of a similar 
age and although this could be expressed re small rural schools, the 
context is different because of the inclusion issues for the children within 
their local community, which is not a factor with rural schools.  The 
parents did state that they would like to see their children have broader 
experiences, but they also stated apprehension about the children being 
outwith this small group at primary school age.  The school roll has 
declined this year to 14 pupils: 13 out of the 14 children speak English as 

Page 110



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 9

an additional language.  There are concerns that such a small peer group 
and school roll, set within the context of the town of Hawick, does not 
support an inclusive approach to the children’s education and does not 
prepare the children socially for the transition to Hawick High School.  
There are also concerns that this small amount of children being in such a 
large building, when there are many schools in their own catchment area 
with space, is not the best use of this space within the town and does not 
represent a best value approach.  It is recommended that a statutory 
consultation is carried out regarding a proposal to close St Margaret’s 
Roman Catholic Primary School in Hawick, with the key driver being to 
bring educational benefits for the children.  

4.9 In considering the closure of a Roman Catholic Primary school, the 
following background information must be taken into account:

In the 1920’s, following a change to the system of funding education in 
Scotland, all Catholic schools were transferred from the Church to Local 
Authority control, with an obligation to keep them open as long as they 
are “required”.  Once transferred, the schools were to be funded, 
maintained and managed on the same basis as non-denominational, but 
are subject to certain special provisions.  While the Education Authority 
has the sole power of regulating the curriculum and appointing teachers 
to denominational schools, any teacher appointed must be approved by 
representatives of the Church regarding religious belief and character.  
The Education Authority is required to facilitate denominational education 
and is obliged to appoint, with the approval of the Church, a supervisor of 
religious education in Catholic schools.

4.10 Any proposal to change or close a denominational school requires to not 
only go through a statutory consultation process under the School 
(Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 (the 2010 Act), but also requires the 
approval of the Secretary of State.  The Secretary of State’s consent will 
only be granted if he is satisfied that adequate arrangements have been 
made for the religious instruction of the pupils that attended the 
denominational school.  The Secretary of State can impose any conditions 
that he thinks fit regarding the religious instruction of the pupils.

4.11 In recent years, several Local Authorities have chosen to build shared 
campuses where a denominational and non-denominational school share 
grounds, a building, and facilities such as canteen, sport halls etc, but 
lessons are taught separately.  There have been few closures of 
denominational schools in recent years, however approval was given in 
2016 for the closure of St Peter’s Roman Catholic Primary School in 
Dalbeattie, where the school roll had dropped to 5.  Dumfries & Galloway 
Council proposed that if the school was closed, the children could either 
attend their catchment school (with arrangements being put in place with 
the Diocese for Catholic education) or the Catholic children would have 
the option to attend the nearest denominational school, with transport 
paid by the Council for those pupils and younger siblings.

4.12 It is proposed that St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School would be 
closed and the children would attend their catchment school.  The Council 
would put in place arrangements for Catholic instruction in partnership 
with the Roman Catholic Church.  Approval is sought to conduct a 

Page 111



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 10

statutory consultation regarding the closure of St Margaret’s Hawick 
Roman Catholic Primary School (see attached, separate report).

Pre-Consultations on the future of Education Provision in Jedburgh, 
Eyemouth, Hawick and Galashiels

4.13 Jedburgh Consultation

The intergenerational community of Jedburgh came out in force to engage 
in the School Estates Review.  The outcome of the whole process is now 
subject to a separate report which looks to close Jedburgh Grammar 
School, Parkside Primary School, Howdenburn Primary School, 
Howdenburn ASN Unit and establish a new intergenerational campus for 
learners from 2 years to 102 years.  The new campus has been subject to 
a very successful statutory consultation process, in which 98% of the 
respondents agree with the recommendations.  The new campus has 
received funding from the Scottish Government and the Council and will 
be delivered by March 2020.

4.14 Secondary School Estate Next Steps

The focus on Jedburgh means that the Council is yet to carry out further 
consultations in Eyemouth, Hawick and Galashiels.  However, learning 
from the Jedburgh process, ie the change in School Estate priorities, will 
affect how the Council re-engages with these communities.  There are 
four Secondary School communities which have not had a new build: 
Galashiels Academy, Hawick High School, Peebles High School and Selkirk 
High School.  All of these communities would like a new building and have 
been inspired by the success of the Jedburgh consultation and outcome.   
The only way to address this matter in a fair way is to carry out a deep 
assessment of each of the schools, with a specific focus on suitability, 
condition, capacity and links to the intergenerational and community 
benefits with reference  to the community priorities set out in the 
Council’s ‘Connected Borders’ vision statement.  This assessment will be 
carried out between November and December and the outcome brought 
back to the Education Executive in January, with a recommendation of the 
Secondary School learning community that comes out as the next priority 
for investment and consultation. The Council will continue to keep the 
Scottish Government informed of developments.  

4.15 Primary School Estate Next Steps

(a) A key driver in the review of the Primary School Estate has been 
the removal of poor condition schools, eg Parkside was rated a ‘D’ 
very poor condition.  This is very important when it comes to 
seeking partnership funding  from the Scottish Government, as it is 
a mission of the Government to remove all schools rated category 
‘D’ from the national School Estate.  In the Primary School Estate in 
the Borders the Council has two schools which stand out as an issue 
in relation to their condition and suitability: Earlston and Eyemouth 
Primaries, which were previously co-located within buildings shared 
with the High Schools.  In both schools, funding was allocated to 
make adaptations after the High Schools moved out.

Page 112



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 11

(b) In both schools, significant refurbishment was undertaken 
internally, with works such as relocation of the nursery from a 
portacabin into the main building, reception being relocated to a 
more central position and decorating works being undertaken in an 
attempt to bring cohesion to the accommodation.  At the time, this 
was a welcome and successful upgrade to the buildings.

(c) In Earlston, however, due to declining rolls, the building is proving 
more challenging to manage with a large number of unused spaces 
which are becoming derelict.  The building is very difficult to secure, 
with a number of exits presenting issues especially for children with 
additional support needs.  

(d) In Eyemouth, the increasing roll is now putting pressure on the 
building and this session the addition of another class created 
difficulty when no additional rooms were available.  The roll has 
already reached a level beyond the numbers which were predicted 
over a five year period.

(e) The partial demolition of part of the old High School on both sites 
has not been successful in leaving a suitable environment for 
learning for the Primary pupils.  The external areas are unsuitable, 
accessibility around and in both schools is not able to meet 
legislation and the external fabric of the buildings are beyond 
economic repair, leading to poor heating and ventilation issues. 

(f) The gradings awarded (refer to table below) for suitability and 
condition are compiled through the grading of individual elements 
such as indoor facilities, teaching and learning spaces.  While 
Eyemouth is graded ‘C’ in the majority of categories, in Earlston the 
classroom and toilet décor is acceptable and leads to indications of 
‘B’ gradings, however, it cannot be ignored that in critical areas 
such as security, accessibility and environment the ‘C’ gradings are 
of significant concern and recent Council on-site assessment would 
assess elements graded as a category ‘D’.  There are no other 
schools in the primary estate with grade ‘D’ assessments.

Roll Capacity Occupancy Condition Suitability

Earlston 
Primary

166 307 54% ‘C’/’B’

‘D’ in part

‘C’/’B’

‘D’ in part 

Eyemouth 
Primary

336 373 91%

Predicted to go 
over capacity ie 
not enough 
space 

‘C’

‘D’ in part 

‘C’

‘D’ in part 

(g) Another key consideration that can lead to a school being prioritised 
for investment can be a lack of capacity due to roll growth from 
new housing developments.  This is an area that has to be assessed 
in Peebles and it was raised as a concern by stakeholders during 
the consultation.

Page 113



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 12

(h) The next steps for the Primary School Estates Review is to progress 
with new solutions for Earlston and Eyemouth Primaries as the 
Council, like the Scottish Government, has the ambition to remove 
all elements of the estate graded as a ‘D’; also it does not seem 
appropriate to leave Primary School children to be educated in 
buildings that were deemed no longer suitable for Secondary pupils.  
However, as the Council works up solutions, the new principles of 
the estate, ie re intergenerational learning, must be considered as 
part of consultations with the communities.  It is recommended that 
informal consultations take place with stakeholders re a vision for 
future provision, which brings intergenerational learning benefits 
and that the Scottish Government are linked into the ongoing work.

(i) A detailed assessment of the medium and long term pupil roll for 
the Early Years ,Primary and Secondary sectors in the Peebles High 
School catchment area is to be conducted as soon as possible and 
reported back to the Executive in January.

4.16 Rural Schools Engagement 

It was identified that when a school roll drops to one class, there is a 
pattern of the roll dropping quickly, thereafter leading to closure or 
mothballing.  A commitment was made to engage with small rural schools 
with a roll of less than 50 to support them proactively in becoming more 
sustainable.  15 schools were involved in this piece of work and through 
engagement with Parent Council Chairs, Headteacher groups and 
individual Parent Councils, each school was asked to draw up a 
sustainability plan.  The work was led by the parents and began with a 
focus on the strengths and unique selling points of each school.  Through 
analysis, key areas such as childcare were identified as reasons for 
families choosing to attend schools or not.  Actions were taken in 
response to this information and some very positive outcomes were 
achieved.  In one school, for example, a survey with all parents led to a 
Breakfast Club being set up and run by the parents.  Other schools have 
had Early Years provision introduced or planned.  Most schools took a 
very pro-active approach to promoting their strengths and achievements 
through various media such as Facebook, Twitter and building better 
connections in and across communities.  There are, however, 6 schools 
with very low numbers: Walkerburn (22 pupils), Sprouston (18 pupils), 
Fountainhall (17 pupils), St. Margaret’s, Hawick (15 pupils), Yarrow (15 
pupils), Kirkhope (5 pupils).  It is recommended that further engagement 
takes place with all of these communities with regards to long term 
solutions which ensure educational benefits for all the children continue.  
These discussions, although challenging, need to ensure that the 
children’s learning experiences are a priority and all solutions must be 
considered.

4.17 Catchment Review in Selkirk

(a) Work has continued with the rural schools to sustain the rolls in the 
area, but this remains a challenge.  The parents of Kirkhope 
Primary Schools have worked hard and carried out a great deal of 
promotional work, but the roll has dropped significantly from 17 in 
2016 to 5 currently. 

Page 114



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 13

(b) A review of the catchments will be conducted as a priority, 
beginning in January 2018, as a measure aiming to increase the 
rolls of the rural schools.

4.18 Review of School Transport Policy

A review of the Transport Policy was highlighted in the original School 
Estate Report.  It is noted as a matter still to be actioned in 2018.

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

These will be contained within individual reports recommending 
consultation or action relating to specific schools.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

These will be contained within individual reports recommending 
consultation or action relating to specific schools.

5.3 Equalities

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out in relation to 
specific proposals relating to individual schools.

5.4 Acting Sustainably

Acting sustainably is embedded within all actions contained within the 
school estates review next steps.

5.5 Carbon Management

Carbon Management assessment will be contained within reports 
relating to specific schools.

5.6 Rural Proofing

Rural proofing is embedded by legislation within all actions taken 
within the school estates review.

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

There are no changes to either the Scheme of Administration or the 
Scheme of Delegation as a result of the proposals in this report

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Service Director HR and the Clerk to 
the Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

Page 115



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 14

Approved by

Donna Manson
Service Director, Children and Young People Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Donna Manson Service Director, Children and Young People

Background Papers:  
Previous Minute Reference:  Executive Committee, 6 September 2016

Appendices:  Appendix 1 – School Estate Pre-consultation and Review 

Appendix 2 – Mothballed Schools Roll Trends and Analysis

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Donna Manson can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA.

Page 116



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 1

ITEM  [insert Item No. ]

APPENDIX 1
SCHOOL ESTATE PRE-CONSULTATION AND REVIEW

Report by Service Director Children and Young People

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

6 September 2016

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides Elected Members with the feedback received 
from the stakeholders who participated in the school estates pre-
consultation and review.

1.2 Highlights key messages from the feedback from the 400 people who 
attended a school cluster engagement event, the 452 people who 
completed questionnaires and the 139 pupil questionnaires received.

1.3 Outlines next steps in the school estate consultation and review process.

1.4 Seeks approval to implement the recommendations made.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee:- 

(a) Note the positive engagement by stakeholders in the school 
estate pre-consultation.

(b) Agree that all stakeholders are informed of the outcome of 
the consultation.

(c) Agree the proposals to:

1. Implement Phase 1 of the School Estate Review during 
school session 2016/2017: 

i. Future of Mothballed Schools:
Commence statutory consultations on proposals 
to permanently close Eccles/Leitholm Primary 
School, Ettrick Primary School and Hobkirk 
Primary School in accordance with the Schools 
(Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.

ii.

iii.

Carry out a focused pre-consultation on Roman 
Catholic Schools provision.  

Commence focused pre-consultations on the 
future of Education provision in the towns of 
Jedburgh, Eyemouth, Hawick and Galashiels.

Page 117



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 2

iv. Engage with rural schools with roll populations of 
less than 50 pupils regarding roll sustainability 
measures.

v. Implement a Selkirk schools catchment review 
involving Yarrow, Kirkhope, Philiphaugh and 
Knowepark Primary Schools.

2. Note that Phase 2 of the School Estate Review will 
commence in school session 2017/2018 and include 
focused pre-consultations in the following school 
clusters: Berwickshire, Earlston, Kelso and Peebles.
 

3. Note that a commitment is given to carry out a review 
and consultation on the following within a two year 
period, ie before the end of school session 2017/2018:

i. School Transport Policy.

Page 118



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 3

3 PROPOSALS

Background

3.1 Curriculum for Excellence is being implemented and further developed in 
all Scottish Borders schools.  A review of the school estate must deliver 
maximum educational benefits for our children and young people within 
the school curriculum and the learning opportunities experienced within 
the education we provide.

3.2 Our school estate has buildings and locations, which have been in 
existence in some cases for over 100 years.  Scottish Borders Council 
Executive (Education) Committee on 20 January 2015 agreed principles 
which would guide us in reviewing the school estate.  These principles 
will ensure we take a strategic approach whilst delivering:

a) Increased educational opportunities

b) Improved outcomes for children and young people

c) Sustainability

d) A future-proofed school estate

e) Affordability.

3.3 At the Executive (Education) Committee in February 2016 it was agreed 
to implement a pre-consultation and engage with all stakeholders to 
gather information and their views regarding the quality and issues 
within the current school estate provision.  The consultation also sought 
views and ideas as to what our future school estates provision should 
aspire to look like.

3.4 This report provides an analysis of the feedback and information 
gathered from the pre-consultation, taking into consideration both the 
information from the public and our own data in analysing the existing 
school estate.  This analysis has been used to identify a way forward as 
to how we will seek to improve our school estate and maximise 
educational benefits through the proposals that we bring forward for 
further consultation and decision making.

3.5 In preparation for the consultation, information was shared with Elected 
Members, Headteachers, Senior Officers and Parent Council Chairs.  
Feedback from these groups was used to shape the final formats of the 
pre-consultation for all schools.  

3.6 The school estate pre-consultation began on 7 March.  Data sets of core 
information relating to catchments and placing requests, school rolls, 
capacities, suitability and condition, transport and running costs were 
shared online and a questionnaire was available to be completed.

3.7 The pre-consultation was promoted through letters issued to every 
family via school mail, letters sent to all school user groups, Elected 
Members and Community Councils.  A press release, frequent social 
media updates, posters and school newsletters were also used to 
advertise the pre-consultation events.

3.8 Nine consultation events were held, one in each High School over a three 
week period during March 2016.  At these events, background 

Page 119



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 4

information about the legislation and process being followed as well as 
the core data regarding all schools across the Scottish Borders was 
shared.  

3.9 Every school was represented and shared information about their 
achievements and plans for development as well as detail of the 
activities and opportunities offered in the school.  Headteachers were 
present at their cluster event and all events were attended by Donna 
Manson, Service Director for Children and Young People, Michelle Strong, 
Chief Officer for Schools, Councillor Aitchison, Education Portfolio Holder, 
the Lead Education Estates Officer and the Senior Lead Officer for the 
cluster. 

Level of Response

3.10 In total, just over 400 people attended the engagement event with 
numbers in attendance as follows:

Berwick
shire  
HS 
Cluster

Peebles
shire HS 
Cluster

Eyemou
th HS 
Cluster

Hawick 
HS 
Cluster

Gala 
Academ
y 
Cluster

Jedburg
h 
Gramm
ar 
Cluster

Earlston 
HS 
Cluster

Selkirk 
HS 
Cluster

Kelso 
HS 
Cluster

15 60 40 40 50 85 55 30 40

3.11 Attendees were invited to complete questionnaires in either electronic or 
paper format and were given the opportunity to do so at the 
engagement event or at a later date.  

3.12 In total, the survey responses representing 63 schools, broken down by 
secondary school cluster were as follows:

Berwick
shire  
HS 
Cluster

Peebles
shire HS 
Cluster

Eyemou
th HS 
Cluster

Hawick 
HS 
Cluster

Gala 
Academ
y 
Cluster

Jedburg
h 
Gramm
ar 
Cluster

Earlston 
HS 
Cluster

Selkirk 
HS 
Cluster

Kelso 
HS 
Cluster

20 86 31 63 50 79 27 72 24

3.13 Pupils were invited to respond via a young person’s questionnaire and all 
schools were asked to invite their representative pupil group to submit 
their views. The following pupil responses were received as separate 
submissions from schools:

Berwick
shire  
HS 
Cluster

Peebles
shire HS 
Cluster

Eyemou
th HS 
Cluster

Hawick 
HS 
Cluster

Gala 
Academ
y 
Cluster

Jedburg
h 
Gramm
ar 
Cluster

Earlston 
HS 
Cluster

Selkirk 
HS 
Cluster

Kelso 
HS 
Cluster

0 6 6 4 33 74 5 1 10

The complete set of responses are available for Members in the 
Members’ Library and can be made available for members of the public 
upon request at Council Headquarters.

3.14 There are 15,968 children and young people attending our schools and 
early learning and childcare provision in the Scottish Borders. The 
attendance of 415 people at engagement events and 452 responses on-
line and 139 pupil questionnaires could be viewed as non-representative 
of the overall stakeholder group.  However, in a pre-consultation event 
over 400 people did turn up to share their views and we had 591 written 
responses.  These contributions are important and, in conjunction with 
our core facts, provide us with a basis to move forward in our review of 

Page 120



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 5

the school estate.  As we do move forward into the next phase, we seek 
to increase participation and engagement as we plan the consultation 
process.

Consultation Feedback Across the Scottish Borders

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

In all secondary school clusters across the Borders, key messages were 
provided by respondents during the consultation process:

School Provision

As stakeholders considered the core facts across the school estate, they 
identified that we need to rationalise the school estate and reduce the 
number of schools we have in order to achieve best value with the 
resources we have.  Concerns were raised that some schools were 
costing so much more per pupil compared to others and this was viewed 
to be unfair, in particular if there were schools close to each other with 
spare capacity for pupils.  There was consensus that we can reduce the 
number of schools we have based upon school roll figures and 
projections.  There was a clear message both in the survey and at 
meetings that although it will be challenging to close some schools, the 
Council must take action to ensure that the resources we have in 
challenging fiscal times are used wisely and efficiently.

Rural School Provision

Stakeholders recognised (both those living in rural communities and 
those outwith) that there was a need for rural schools in parts of the 
Borders.  There was a consensus of support for rural schools.  Many 
comments were made at the public meetings about the importance of 
rural schools in the impact they have in sustaining our communities. 
However, there was a general consensus that there does come a point 
when schools may just be too small in being able to provide the range of 
learning experiences and the breadth and depth in the curriculum offer.  
It was also expressed that costs have to be reasonable too.  Many 
communities expressed that the Council engage with communities when 
the roll is dropping from 3 to 2 or 2 to 1 classes to see what 
sustainability actions can be taken, rather than schools closing 
themselves once they enter into a 1 class school and roll of less than 19 
pupils.

Early Learning and Childcare

The importance of Early Learning and Childcare provision being available 
to sustain rural communities was highlighted at many public meetings.

Roman Catholic School Provision

Stakeholders with children not in attendance at Roman Catholic Schools 
expressed whether Roman Catholic School Provision should be 
maintained and whether it should be rationalised considering the low 
numbers.  Stakeholders raised concern at the engagement meetings 
about inclusion of families who are Roman Catholic coming in from 
Eastern Europe who are attending the Roman Catholic School and not 

Page 121



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 6

3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

integrating into local community activities.

School Catchment Areas

The strongest representations for a catchment review came from Trinity 
Primary, Yarrow Primary, Kirkhope Primary and St Boswell Primary 
Schools’ parents.  In all of the cases being made, changes had been 
made to these school catchments a number of years ago and the 
communities wished for the old catchment boundaries to be reinstated. 
Families from the old catchment boundary addresses tended to still 
attend these schools, but entitlement to transport was an issue and this 
had resulted in falling rolls, although many parents stated that they 
would return to the schools above if the catchments were changed.  The 
communities felt aggrieved as they were not consulted when these 
catchment changes were made.  Consultation legislation has now 
changed and they feel that there is a strong argument for catchment 
consultations to be brought forward to rectify the complaint that 
communities were not consulted in changes which have had a significant 
impact upon the school roll in their schools.  They expressed concern 
that families who continue to choose according to the old catchment 
boundaries have the anxiety of waiting for notification of placement at 
the school through placing request procedures and have to bear the 
additional cost of school transport.

School Transport

A range of matters were commented upon with regards to school 
transport.  Most stakeholders expressed content with the quality of 
transport.  Jedburgh was the only place where concern was expressed 
about traffic congestion and pupil safety in the town at school drop 
off/pick up times.  Lack of transport beyond the school day impacts upon 
accessibility to after-school and evening activities for children and young 
people and was raised as a significant issue.  Aspects of transport policy 
such as the entitlement distance or the privilege lift system were raised 
as concerns.

School Buildings and Facilities

Stakeholders raised concern about the inequity that currently exists 
across schools regarding building condition and suitability.  Stakeholders 
from schools with ratings of C and D raised particular concern that their 
children were being educated in buildings in very poor condition 
compared to those children in the Borders who are in new build schools 
or schools who have had significant investment in their buildings.  There 
is a call for transparency in how capital priorities are set.  The 
communities of Eyemouth Primary School and Jedburgh town schools 
expressed most concern about their school facilities and felt that the 
Council should take urgent action and invest in their schools or consider 
new provision to address the category D and C status of their school 
buildings.

Page 122



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 7

3.23

Quality of Education and Learning Opportunities

The feedback about the quality of education across the Borders was very 
positive overall.  However, key issues were raised in particular how the 
learning environment has an impact upon the range of learning 
experiences for the young people, eg the Jedburgh Grammar pupil 
hockey team feel very aggrieved that their sports participation is 
severely hampered by their poor facilities and view this as a 
disadvantage, especially considering the facilities at many other 
secondary schools in the Scottish Borders.

Stakeholders in smaller secondary schools raised concerns about the 
range of curriculum subjects on offer to young people compared to the 
large secondary schools.

There was feedback on the importance of children receiving high quality 
experiences and the need for poor teaching performance to be viewed as 
being addressed by the Council.

The challenge of teacher recruitment was expressed and concerns raised 
that poor buildings and learning environments are impacting upon 
recruiting staff to key schools.

The range of outwith school experiences listed by stakeholders was 
excellent and highlighted a tremendous range of activities taking place 
across communities in the Borders.  Good evidence was provided to 
endorse that our children and young people have high levels of 
participation in sporting, cultural, arts and volunteering activities in their 
communities.  There is inequity of opportunity across school 
communities.

A brief analysis of feedback from each secondary school cluster area is in 
Appendix 1.

Analysis and Options

Pre-Consultation Process

The initial pre-consultation process enabled the Council to engage with 
parents, pupils, staff and members of the school community on the 
subject of our school estate and the quality of our education provision. 
We have shared core facts, presented key information about each 
school, engaged in conversations relating to the information shared and 
have a reasonable response to the on-line survey.  We have received a 
reasonable response across the Borders and a significantly high response 
from the communities of Jedburgh and the Selkirk valley school 
communities.  There is an acceptance and understanding of why we 
have to modernise our school estate.  Stakeholders can see that we 
have too much capacity overall and that reductions are required to fulfil 
our duty of securing best value with the resources we have.  We have 
had an opportunity to share possible next steps, ie that there may be 
school closures, or amalgamations of schools, alternatives suggested by 
stakeholders, or that our existing education provision may have to look 

Page 123



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 8

3.24

different, eg 3-18 models for education provision.  Stakeholders also 
understand the link between learning environments, learning 
opportunities and school structures for our children and young people. 
They have expressed concern that there are challenges in providing an 
equity of educational benefit within our existing provision, eg not all 
secondary pupils experience the same breadth of curriculum.  However, 
this pre-consultation process has also highlighted that parents choose 
schools for different reasons.  Some parents wish their child to attend a 
small school whilst others prefer a large school.  Most parents were 
supportive of parental choice and the Council’s approach to grant almost 
all placing requests.

In moving forward, it is important that our stakeholders see that any 
changes proposed will be based upon a strong rationale, which will bring 
educational benefits for children and young people whilst fulfilling our 
best value duty.  Proposals will also consider the likely impact of any 
proposed changes upon the local community.

Pre-Consultation into Statutory Consultation

The level of engagement was varied across the secondary school clusters 
and communities.  In our review of the school estate there are matters 
to be looked into in all of the clusters.  To make any changes to the 
status of education provision we must embark upon further pre-
consultation, which will enable us to gather more information within 
communities and consult on specific changes within communities in 
advance of statutory consultation, particularly with respect to legislation 
and rural schools.  It is important that we get a level of participation 
which really engages and empowers communities to understand and 
help shape the proposals that will affect them.  We would then expect to 
move to statutory consultation which could lead to a range of major 
changes to the school estate within the Scottish Borders.  The options 
that will be explored within the next 2 years will be:

School rationalisation, school closures, school amalgamations, different 
models of provision, eg 2 – 5 years, 5 – 12 years, 2 – 18 years, and 
alternatives to current provision, such as school closures.

It is proposed that there are 2 phases to the implementation of the 
School Estates Review to ensure that consultation processes are robust, 
open, fair and fulfil all the requirements as set out in the Schools 
(Consultation)(Scotland) Act 2010:

Phase 1 : September 2016 – October 2017

Phase 2 : August 2017 – October 2018

This will require a significant level of staff resource, member involvement 
and engagement with stakeholders.  There is a level of resource required 
from Education Scotland who play a significant role in any statutory 
consultation process and this has to be planned so that the level of staff 
resource is available at the key times it is required in the consultation 
procedures.  The Scottish Government also have responsibilities in the 

Page 124



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 9

3.25

3.26

3.27

final phases of a school closure proposal, should Scottish Borders Council 
make a decision to close a school.  It is expected that implementing the 
process over a 2 year period, with clear proposals set out within each 
phase, that a very thorough review will have been completed which has 
future proofed our school estate. 

Capital Plan and Scottish Government School Build Investment 
Programme

Investment in school buildings has to be planned into the Capital 
Planning process as it involves significant resource within the Council’s 
investment strategy.  School new builds in recent times have been 
completed in funding partnership models with the Scottish Government 
through the Scottish Futures Trust (SFT).  The SFT have meetings 
planned with the Council in August to consider the investment required 
in school and Council buildings to deliver the extension of Early Learning 
and Childcare provision from 600 to 1200 hours by 2020.  This could 
mean that for many of our nurseries who may currently provide morning 
and afternoon placements to 20 children, actually require space to have 
40 children throughout the whole day by 2020.  There is no doubt that 
significant extension to current school building provision will be required 
to deliver the expansion of entitlement in Early Learning and Childcare.

The Scottish Government over many years have announced school build 
investment programmes and we would wish to be clear about our 
priorities for investment with the expectation that we could be included 
in further rounds of investment.

Stakeholders made many comments about the difference in facilities 
between the new secondary school builds of Berwickshire, Earlston, 
Eyemouth and Kelso High Schools and the other secondary schools.  We 
must establish a priority timeline for investment for the remaining 5 
secondary schools and this must be considered in conjunction with the 
primary school estate priorities. 

The consultation, the work required and decision making would impact 
upon the Capital Planning process that the new Council would embark 
upon.

School Build/Learning Environment 

The review must address any school build or structural issues which are 
impacting upon the learners’ experience, or schools where we feel that a 
change in structure or build would bring significant educational benefits. 
All stakeholders were concerned about the range of condition and 
suitability ratings/gradings across the school estate.  It must be the 
ambition of the Council to have all school buildings at a 
condition/suitability rating of A or B and to have a plan to address any 
school environment ratings/gradings for condition/suitability currently 
assessed within our core fact data at level C or level D. 

Quality of Education Provision

Page 125



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 10

3.28

3.29

3.30

The review must also prioritise any schools where there are factors 
affecting the quality of education or the children’s learning experience.  
Enhancing educational benefits must be at the heart of every 
statutory/relevant proposal.

Level of Response from Stakeholders

In the initial pre-consultation, the levels of response were varied.  There 
are some communities who engaged at a much greater level than 
others; this is because they feel they have pressing issues.  It would be 
important to respond to these communities within Phase 1 if possible.  
There are some communities who did not really engage at all.    

Mothballed Schools

We currently have 3 schools that have been mothballed.  Ettrick was 
mothballed in 2012 and was to be reviewed within 3 years, Hobkirk was 
mothballed in November 2015 and to be reviewed within 1 year and 
Eccles/Leitholm was mothballed in May 2016 and to be reviewed within 1 
year. The future of all mothballed schools will have to be considered as 
part of Phase 1.

Proposals for Consultations-Phase 1

Mothballed Schools Review

Statutory relevant proposals regarding the future of Ettrick Primary 
School, Hobkirk Primary School and Eccles/Leitholm Primary Schools will 
be presented as separate papers to the Executive Committee in October 
2016.

Roman Catholic Schools Review

Engagement from the Roman Catholic School stakeholders was very 
limited in the pre-consultation process.  The viability and provision of the 
existing Roman Catholic school provision was raised by a number of 
respondents from other schools.  There has been considerable challenge 
for the Council over a number of years in recruiting staff to all four 
schools, in particular into leadership posts.  In 2012, following a review, 
a management structure was put in place with 1 Headteacher for the 4 
schools.  However, following Council quality improvement processes and 
supported by issues raised during school inspection procedures, 
enhanced leadership structures and support have been in place for over 
12 months now to address concerns from school staff and parents that 
existing structures are not working. St Joseph’s Primary School has been 
in inspection for 3 years and has not been signed off yet, as concerns 
remain from the inspectorate about a range of educational aspects of the 
school.

When the Roman Catholic Schools Review was conducted by the Council 
in 2012, it was to be evaluated within 2 years.  It is proposed that a 
focused pre-consultation is embarked upon, commencing in September 
2016, to consider school leadership structures, the continuation of 
provision in 4 localities, staff recruitment and the quality of education 

Page 126



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 11

3.31

3.32

provision.  This consultation will enable a more focused engagement with 
key stakeholders connected with the Roman Catholic Schools,  including 
the Church, and act as a preparation for any possible relevant formal 
proposals which may be brought forward to be consulted upon within the 
context of the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.  A 
background paper has been provided in Appendix 2.

Jedburgh Cluster Schools Review

The community of Jedburgh provided the highest level of engagement 
and responded most consistently in asking Scottish Borders Council to 
further engage on the future of education provision within their cluster of 
schools.  Clearly the school communities expressed concern about the 
condition of their school buildings, the quality of their facilities and the 
lack of investment in their school buildings, as well as the challenge of 
sustaining a broad curriculum for all children from 2-18 years.  The 
community have quite strongly requested a debate on future structures 
for Education in their town and expressed that there is a need for the 
Council to do this as quickly as possible.

The inconsistent catchment arrangements in place for secondary 
education are raised as an issue and asked to be reviewed, ie that pupils 
can choose between Jedburgh Grammar School and Hawick High School.  
The future of the Hobkirk catchment is also raised as a matter for 
review.

It is proposed that a focused pre-consultation is embarked upon from 
September 2016 to consider the specific areas of the structure of 
education in the town of Jedburgh, secondary catchment areas and 
investment in school buildings and facilities raised by the community and 
recognised in the core facts data presented by Scottish Borders Council.  
Feasibility work will be carried out considering a range of options in 
preparation for the focused engagement with key stakeholders 
connected with the Jedburgh Schools cluster and act as a step towards 
relevant formal proposals which may be brought forward to be consulted 
upon within the context of the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 
2010.

Eyemouth Cluster Schools Review

Concerns were raised in relation to the condition and capacity of 
Eyemouth Primary School, with the lack of space being highlighted in 
most responses.  Suggestions to resolve this included a new build on the 
existing site, moving the more senior classes from the Primary into the 
High School building and others suggested creating a 2-18 campus in the 
High School.  A feasibility exercise has been carried out: Eyemouth High 
School has the capacity to provide Education for both primary and 
secondary roll projected numbers.  Within the PPP contract, the current 
building is costed for provision of education for significantly more 
children than are currently using the building.

Parents of Eyemouth Primary raised concern about the increasing roll 
and ability of the current building to cope with possible roll increases. 

Page 127



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 12

3.33

3.34

There is interest in developing the site of the old Eyemouth High School 
which is in the ownership of the Council.

The catchment areas around Burnmouth, Lamberton and Chirnside were 
raised as being potentially worthy of review.

The dropping roll at Cockburnspath was also raised as a matter to be 
considered.

It is proposed that a focused pre-consultation is embarked upon, 
commencing in September 2016, to consider the specific areas of 
catchments within the cluster, the structure of education within the town 
of Eyemouth, addressing the future capacity and building challenges of 
the primary school and discussing the sustainability of all schools 
currently within the cluster.  This consultation will enable a more focused 
engagement with key stakeholders connected with the Eyemouth 
Schools cluster and act as a preparation for any relevant formal 
proposals which may be brought forward to be consulted upon within the 
context of the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.

Hawick Cluster Schools Review

The highest response in the Hawick High School Cluster area was from 
the stakeholders at Trinity Primary School, who requested that primary 
catchments in the town are reviewed.  There is support for a review of 
primary catchments from stakeholders in other town primaries, however 
some primaries have not engaged in the pre-consultation.  The Scottish 
Borders core facts data also suggests the need for a catchment review to 
balance out the rolls across the primary schools and respond to the 
regular and significant placing requests made from key parts of the town 
to associated primary schools.  There also has to be consideration that 
the core facts highlight a declining pupil roll in the town schools and 
significant spare capacity.  The Council has to consider how to address 
this spare capacity moving forward, as well as a number of building 
condition and suitability issues.  It is proposed that a focused pre-
consultation is embarked upon during school session 2016-2017 to 
consider the specific areas raised by the community and highlighted in 
the core facts data presented by Scottish Borders Council.  This 
consultation will enable a more focused engagement with key 
stakeholders connected with the Hawick Schools cluster and act as a 
preparation for any relevant formal proposals which may be brought 
forward to be consulted upon within the context of the Schools 
(Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.

Gala Academy Cluster Schools Review

Overall respondents were very positive about the quality of education 
across all the schools in the Galashiels cluster.  The most significant area 
of concern was about the quality of buildings and the impact they are 
having upon learning, especially at Galashiels Academy.  Stakeholders 
are looking for a future plan regarding the upgrade of secondary 
provision in the town and feel quite aggrieved re the quality of their 
secondary building compared to the new secondary school builds in the 

Page 128



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 13

3.35

3.36

3.37

Borders.  There was recognition that the future of education provision 
could look different in the town and that the catchments need to be 
reviewed.  The core facts highlight significant spare capacity across the 
primary schools in the town.  Many of the primary school buildings have 
issues in terms of condition and suitability.  It is proposed that a focused 
pre-consultation is embarked upon to consider more specific possibilities 
for the shape of future education provision in the town.  We must also 
engage with some of the rural schools in the cluster about their 
sustainability.  This consultation will enable a more focused engagement 
with key stakeholders connected with the Galashiels schools cluster and 
act as a preparation for any relevant formal proposals which may be 
brought forward to be consulted upon within the context of the Schools 
(Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.

Selkirk Cluster Schools Review

The community response from the Selkirk cluster was significantly high.  
A robust representation was made by the Kirkhope and Yarrow 
communities regarding the re-generation of the Selkirk Valleys and the 
importance of Education provision in sustaining rural communities.  
Scottish Borders Council fully accepts its responsibilities regarding rural 
proofing.  A request has been made to formally review the catchment 
areas for the Selkirk cluster of primary schools.  The Council is in 
agreement with this request and will form a relevant formal proposal to 
be consulted upon within the context of the Schools (Consultation) 
(Scotland) Act 2010 and to be brought forward during Phase 1.

Rural Schools Engagement

As set out in Section 3.16 of this report, there is a need to engage with 
rural schools with rolls of 50 pupils of less, to develop sustainability 
plans.  The rural schools list is set out in Appendix 3 and the schools 
identified with a roll of 50 will be engaged with through Officer 
attendance at Parent Council meetings starting in September 2016.  This 
preventative action is a requirement as set out in school estates 
guidance and legislation.

Proposals for Consultations – Phase 2

Berwickshire Cluster Schools Review

Owing to a low level of response, it is viewed that further engagement is 
required to ascertain the views of stakeholders.  We will attend 
Community Council and Parent Council meetings in the period 
September – December 2016 to discuss the core facts and gather 
responses to the questions before a decision is made on whether any 
form of focused or formal consultation is required.

It is important to note that the issues raised relating to the condition of 
Swinton Primary School will be addressed as a priority through our 
Estates Management Board where Education and Estate Senior Officers 
meet to address property maintenance and investment issues.

Page 129



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 14

3.38

3.39

3.40

Earlston Cluster Schools Review

Roll pressures and future capacities were raised as an issue by 
respondents, but these concerns do not match the core facts data, ie 
Scottish Borders Council has no concern re capacity issues at Melrose 
and Lauder Primary and Earlston High Schools as these can be managed 
through the management of placing requests by Headteachers and 
Scottish Borders Council.  We are confident that we have education 
provision in the right place in the cluster and that all existing school 
provision should be maintained.

The only area we will consult upon is in response to the presentation 
made by parents from the St Boswells area requesting a catchment 
review of Earlston Primary School and Newtown Primary School with a 
specific focus on the areas outlined by parents. Refer to Appendix 4.  

Kelso Cluster Schools Review

Owing to a low level of response, it is viewed that further engagement is 
required to ascertain the views of stakeholders.  We will attend 
Community Council and Parent Council meetings in the Kelso cluster 
area during period September– December 2016 to discuss the core facts 
and gather responses to the questionnaire before a decision is made on 
whether any form of focused or formal consultation is required.

Peebles Cluster Schools Review

Future-proofing the school estate in the town of Peebles was viewed as 
the key consideration.  The core facts inform us that this is not an 
imminent concern, ie that we do have sufficient school capacity to 
provide for future roll projections in the medium and long term.  Work 
has to be carried out to look at a detailed analysis of all possible housing 
developments in the long term, timescales and how these might impact 
upon the school estate.  The number of schools in the cluster has been 
raised and requires consideration.  It is proposed that a focused pre-
consultation is embarked upon to consider the specific areas raised by 
the community and recognised in the core facts data presented by 
Scottish Borders Council.  This consultation will enable a more focused 
engagement with key stakeholders connected with the Peebles Schools 
cluster and act as a preparation for any relevant formal proposals which 
may be brought forward to be consulted upon within the context of the 
Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.

School Transport Review

A review of the existing transport policy will take place within Phase 2.  
This review will examine existing policy, practice and procedures and 
consult with stakeholders.  The review will take cognisance of the 
budgetary pressures and consider national developments in policy and 
practice too.

Page 130



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 15

4 CONCLUSIONS

4.1 The School Estate Review pre-consultation resulted in positive 
engagement from a range of stakeholders.  The contributions made are 
invaluable and it is important that we listen to the public and are viewed 
to progress the School Estate Review, taking cognisance of this initial 
engagement from our stakeholders.  We have identified that we need to 
further engage with school communities in response to the matters they 
raised and the correlation with our set of core school estate facts as 
follows:

(a) Implement Phase 1 of the School Estate Review during school 
session 2016/2017:

i.

ii.

iii.

iv.

v.

Future of Mothballed Schools:

Commence statutory consultations on proposals to 
permanently close Eccles/Leitholm Primary School, Ettrick 
Primary School and Hobkirk Primary School in accordance with 
the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010.

Carry out a focused pre-consultation on Roman Catholic 
Schools provision.

Commence focused pre-consultations on the future of 
Education Provision in the towns of Jedburgh, Eyemouth, 
Hawick and Galashiels.

Engage with rural schools with roll populations of less than 50 
pupils regarding roll sustainability measures.

Implement a Selkirk schools catchment review involving 
Yarrow, Kirkhope, Philiphaugh and Knowepark Primary 
Schools.

(b) Note that Phase 2 of the School Estate Review will commence in 
school session 2017/2018 and include focused pre-consultations in 
the following school clusters: Berwickshire, Earlston, Kelso and 
Peebles.

(c) Note that a commitment is given to carry out a review and 
consultation on the following within a two year period, ie before the 
end of school session 2017/2018:

i. School Transport Policy.

4.2 It is important to note that all the comments made about small works 
building issues will be collated and discussed at the Estates Board in 
conjunction with our Building Inspectors and action taken through our 
maintenance activity and prioritisation of the block grant.

4.3 All the comments and feedback re school quality and suggested 
improvements will be shared with Headteachers and actions identified in 
response to the comments made.  Headteachers will be asked to 
communicate through newsletters and to their Parent Council how they 
intend to the respond to the feedback they have received through this 

Page 131



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 16

consultation process.

4.4 It is important that Scottish Borders Council is viewed to be listening to 
the stakeholders who contributed to this pre-consultation on the school 
estate.  It is genuinely welcomed by the Children and Young People’s 
Directorate and, if agreed by the Executive, a letter will be sent to all our 
families informing them of next steps and outcomes.  Most importantly, 
stakeholders will be thanked for their positive engagement, their honesty 
and be informed of how their views will be taken into account as we 
continue to move forward in improving the quality of the education and 
learning environments in all our schools in the Scottish Borders.

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial
The Review of the School Estate will influence the Council’s Capital 
Investment Plan and long term Revenue Financial Planning.  The size 
and condition of the school estate means investment will have to be 
prioritised over the 10 year capital programme.  Future restrictions 
placed upon public funding will inevitably lead the Council to prioritise 
investment that keeps buildings safe, wind and watertight and as energy 
efficient as possible.  Significant enhancement to the quality of existing 
education facilities will be dependent on the provision of future grant 
funding by the Scottish Government through the schools for the future 
programme.

5.2 Risk and Mitigations
A strategic approach to the School Estate is required to ensure there is 
scope for improving educational outcomes for all children and young 
people across the Scottish Borders.  We must ensure we have a 
sustainable estates plan which maximises educational benefits for all 
children and young people or the Council could face significant risks such 
as poor condition school buildings and unmanageable building 
maintenance issues.  We also have to ensure we follow due process as 
set out in the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 as it could 
bring serious reputational and legal risk to the Council.

5.3 Equalities
An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of each 
relevant statutory proposal as they are brought forward.

5.4 Acting Sustainably

There will be significant impacts on the economy, community or 
environment arising from the proposed engagement with families and 
communities as proposed within this report.  However, the School Estate 
Strategy will seek to ensure sustainability, which will be considered 
within each proposal as they come forward.

5.5 Carbon Management

There could be significant effects on carbon emissions arising from the 
proposals contained in this report.  However, the School Estate Strategy 
will seek to promote environmental responsibility and effective carbon 
management as part of any proposals as they come forward within this 
Review of the School Estate.

5.6 Rural Proofing 
The development of a School Estates Strategy will seek to ensure that 

Page 132



06.09.16 – Executive Committee 17

services are enhanced within the context of rurality.  This will be a key 
component of any discussions which alter the school estate.  We will 
ensure that we pay full attention and follow the guidance set out in the 
Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 (as amended by the Children 
and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014) and the Statutory Guidance 
issued pursuant to that Act.  

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation
There are no changes to be made to either the Scheme of Administration 
or the Scheme of Delegation as a result of the proposals contained in 
this report.

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Chief Officer HR and the Clerk to the 
Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

Approved by

Donna Manson     Signature ………………………..
Service Director Children and Young People

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Donna Manson Service Director Children and Young People

Background Papers:  The pre-consultation responses from stakeholders have been 
collated and are available to Members in the Members’ Library.  The public may access 
these papers upon request by contacting School Estate Pre-consultation, Council 
Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA
Previous Minute Reference:  

Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – School Estate Pre-consultation Response – Cluster Summary
Appendix 2 – Roman Catholic Schools Review 2016
Appendix 3 – Rural Schools List and School Rolls
Appendix 4 – St Boswells Primary Parent Submission regarding Catchment 
                       Issues for Families in the Mertoun Area

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Donna Manson can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA.

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Ettrick Catchment and Alternatives Appendix 2

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
2021

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Ettrick Catchment Numbers
Ettrick School Numbers
Ettrick Pupil forecast
Schools  Capacity

Ettrick School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
2021

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Kirkhope Catchment Numbers
Kirkhope
Kirkhope forecast
Schools  Capacity

Kirkhope School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
2021

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Yarrow Catchment Numbers
Yarrow
Yarrow forecast
Schools  Capacity

Yarrow School Area

Page 135



Analysis of the Ettrick catchment shows a declining number of primary school children within the 
overall catchment area.  All three schools have a capacity of around 50 children however both 
Yarrow and Kirkhope each have around 10 primary school pupils currently enrolled.

The forecast for each of the schools shows a declining number of pupils from 2017 to 2021.  In both 
Kirkhope and Yarrow these forecast are in line with the total number of children within the 
catchment areas and would indicate that unless there are significant changes within these areas 
which has not been predicted there will continue to be a decline in primary school pupils.

Further investigation into the future numbers of children currently within the catchment shows that 
in 2017/18 there are 8 children currently attending school nurseries  living within the catchment 
areas.

 N3 N4 N5
Ettrick  1 1
Kirkhope   3
Yarrow   3

Page 136



Hobkirk Catchment and Alternatives

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Hobkirk Pupils within Catchment
Hobkirk School Number
Hobkirk Pupil Forecast
Hobkirk School Capacity

Hobkirk School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Denholm Pupils within
Catchment
Denholm School Number
Denholm Pupil Forecast
Denholm School Capacity

Denholm School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Drumlanrig Pupils within
Catchment
Drumlanrig School Number
Drumlanrig Pupil Forecast
Drumlanrig School Capacity

Drumlanrig School Area

Page 137



2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Howdenburn Pupils within
Catchment
Howdenburn School Number
Howdenburn Pupil Forecast
Howdenburn School Capacity

Howdenburn School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Newcastleton Pupils within
Catchment
Newcastleton School Number
Newcastleton Pupil Forecast
Newcastleton School Capacity

Newcastleton School Area

At present children who would attend Hobkirk Primary school are primarily choosing to attend 
Denholm.  Alternatives such as Drumlanrig and Howdenburn may be the choice of a few parents but 
the numbers can not been seen as evidently as Denholm.  The number of pupils attending Denholm 
far exceed the number living within the catchment area.  The overall forecast for this school is lower 
than the actual which could be attributed to the movement of children from the Hobkirk catchment 
to Denholm.

Both Hobkirk and Denholm catchment areas are showing a declining number of primary school 
children however this is not particularly true of the other alternatives such as Drumlanrig and to a 
lesser extent Howdenburn.  

Forecasts for Drumlanrig and Howdenburn show a expected increase in children within the 
catchment area however Newcastleton and Denholm show a steady level state.  Hobkirk is the only 
school within this group showing a declining overall forecast.

Page 138



Eccles/Leitholm Catchment and Alternatives

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Eccles/Leitholm Pupils within
Catchment
Eccles/Leitholm School Number
Eccles/Leitholm Pupil Forecast
Eccles/Leitholm School Capacity

Eccles/Leitholm School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200
220

Coldstream Pupils within
Catchment
Coldstream School Number
Coldstream Pupil Forecast
Coldstream School Capacity

Coldstream School Area

Page 139



2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Ednam Pupils within Catchment
Ednam School Number
Ednam Pupil Forecast
Ednam School Capacity

Ednam School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Greenlaw Pupils within Catchment
Greenlaw School Number
Greenlaw Pupil Forecast
Greenlaw School Capacity

Greenlaw School Area

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

2018
2019

2020
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Swinton Pupils within Catchment
Swinton School Number
Swinton Pupil Forecast
Swinton School Capacity

Swinton School Area

Page 140



20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Duns Pupils within Catchment
Duns School Number
Duns Pupil Forecast
Duns School Capacity

Duns School Area

Five of the six schools within the area show a declining trend of children within the catchment area 
for each school.  The remaining two schools are showing a steady state with small fluctuations.

There is no evidence via the forecast that this steady / declining state will particularly increase for 
any specific school and shows general stagnation.

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 1 

JEDBURGH INTERGENERATIONAL LEARNING CAMPUS 
CONSULTATION OUTCOME REPORT

Report by Service Director, Children and Young People

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

7 November 2017

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 Following the completion of a public consultation process as set out 
in the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 (as amended), 
this report requests the Executive Committee to agree to 
recommend to Council the approval of the proposal to build an 
Intergenerational Learning Campus in Jedburgh, formally close the 
Nursery, Primary, Secondary and Specialist Provision in Jedburgh. 

1.2 At its meeting on 6 September 2016, the Executive Committee agreed to 
proceed with Phase 1 of the School Estate Review, including focused pre-
consultations on the Education provision in several Borders towns including 
Jedburgh.  

1.3 Initial Ward Member and Community Council engagement and feasibility 
design work has been undertaken in the town since September 2016 to 
provide sufficient detail to allow pre-consultation engagement with the 
wider community.  

1.4 Pre-consultation events were held in Jedburgh on 25 and 26 April 2017 
where a very positive response was received.  Over 500 people attended 
over the two days.  

1.5 A statutory consultation was undertaken in terms of the Schools 
(Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 from 8 May 2017 to 18 June 2017.  

1.6 The statutory consultation is complete.  A Consultation Report in respect of 
the proposals was prepared and published on 16 October 2017.  The 
Consultation Report is Appendix 1.  The Consultation Report was advertised 
in the press, with all interested parties given until 6 November 2017 to 
raise concerns or pose alternative solutions through written or electronic 
submissions.  Submissions may therefore be received after this Report has 
been published.  Accordingly all submissions made in response to the 
Consultation Report shall be summarised by the Service Director Children 
and Young People at the Executive Committee meeting in order that 
cognisance can be taken of them prior to any decision being made.

Page 143

Agenda Item 8



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 2 

1.7 The final decision on this matter requires to be taken by Council but the 
proposal is presented to the Executive Committee in order that all 
members of the Education Executive have the opportunity to be involved in 
the consideration of this significant proposal.  The report requests that the 
Executive Committee makes recommendation to Council in accordance with 
Section 2.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee agrees to recommend 
to Scottish Borders Council that:- 

(a) An Intergenerational Learning Campus is built in Jedburgh;

(b) Howdenburn Primary School is permanently closed;

(c) Howdenburn Nursery is permanently closed;

(d) Parkside Primary School is permanently closed;

(e) Parkside Nursery is permanently closed;

(f) Jedburgh Grammar School is permanently closed;

(g) Howdenburn Schoolhouse is permanently closed with the 
educational support for secondary aged pupils with 
Additional Support Needs being transferred to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus; 

(h) The policy regarding pupils from Ancrum Primary School 
transitioning to Parkside Primary School for Primary 6 and 
Primary 7 is amended to facilitate transition to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus; 

(i) The  primary school catchment zones is rezoned from 
Howdenburn Primary School and Parkside Primary School to 
the Intergenerational Learning Campus;  and

(j) The secondary school catchment zone is rezoned from 
Jedburgh Grammar School to the Intergenerational Learning 
Campus.

Page 144



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 3 

3 BACKGROUND 

3.1 The report to Executive Committee on 6 September 2016 identified a 
strategic way forward to the phased delivery of a School Estate Review 
across Education provision in the Scottish Borders.  This report followed a 
series of nine consultation events in the High School clusters in March 
2016.

3.2 The report specifically identified the high level of community engagement 
in Jedburgh where concern was raised about the challenge of sustaining a 
broad curriculum of education, the condition of the school estate in the 
town and the quality of the sports and recreational facilities.

3.3 On 25 and 26 April 2017 Scottish Borders Council held two successful 
events at Jedburgh Grammar School where over 500 people came along to 
see and discuss what work has been carried out regarding education in 
Jedburgh.  These events were highly engaging and informative, and very 
supportive of the proposals.    

3.4 On 21 April 2017, Scottish Borders Council took the decision under 
Emergency Powers to formally undertake a statutory consultation process 
in respect of proposals to build an Intergenerational Learning Campus in 
Jedburgh, replacing the Nursery, Primary and Secondary schools and 
Additional Support Needs educational support provision within the town.  
The Consultation process has been carried out in compliance with the 
Schools Consultation (Scotland) Act 2010 as amended (the 2010 Act).

3.5 Officers proceeded to arrange for a Proposal Paper to be published and the 
consultation period ran from 8 May 2017 until 18 June 2017.  The statutory 
consultation period has now been completed.  In accordance with the 
statutory requirements and process set out in the Proposal Paper, 
Education Scotland have been consulted on the proposals and have 
prepared a Report.  Officers have, as required by the 2010 Act, considered 
both the Education Scotland Report and all consultation responses received 
and have prepared a Consultation Report responding to the key issues 
raised.  The 2010 Act stated that the Education Authority may only proceed 
with a “relevant proposal” a minimum of three weeks after they have 
published the Consultation Report in both electronic and printed form, to 
provide interested parties with a further period to raise concerns or pose 
alternative solutions through written or electronic submissions.  The 
Consultation Report was prepared and published on 16 October 2017 and 
all interested parties were given until 6 November 2017 to respond.  The 
(Consultation) Report is Appendix 1 to this report.  The Proposal Paper is 
contained within the Consultation Report.

3.6 The Consultation Report responds in detail to the consultation responses 
received and sets out the reasons why, having taken cognisance of these 
responses, Officers recommend that the Executive Committee should now 
recommend that Council approve the establishment of an Intergenerational 
Learning Campus within the town of Jedburgh.  

3.7 The power to establish a new school, following appropriate Statutory 
Consultation, rests solely with the Education Authority in terms of the 2010 
Act.  If the Council approve this proposal, officers can commence 

Page 145



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 4 

implementation without further procedure.

4 JEDBURGH CONTEXT – WHY A NEW INTERGENERATIONAL LEARNING 
CAMPUS IN REQUIRED

4.1 The rationale for a new Intergenerational Learning Campus in Jedburgh is 
contained in the Proposal Paper which is in Appendix 1 of the Consultation 
Report, which is attached as Appendix 1 of this report.  

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial

The construction of the Intergenerational Learning Campus is being 
supported by the Scottish Government’s Schools for the Future Programme 
by providing revenue support for their 2/3rds funding share.  The Council’s 
support can be made in both revenue and capital.  Details of the financial 
implications of the closure of the education provision in Jedburgh are 
contained in Appendix 5 of the Proposal Paper, which is in Appendix 1 of 
the Consultation Report, which is attached as Appendix 1 of this report.  

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

(a) There is a risk that the Scottish Ministers may call the proposals to 
close the schools in Jedburgh in for review, referring the proposals to 
the Schools Closure Review Panel.  This may result in a delay with 
the project, or result in the Council being unable to proceed with 
closures without further consultation in a minimum of five years 
time.  The grounds for call in concern failure by the Council to 
comply with the requirements of the 2010 Act, or that it has failed to 
take proper account of a material consideration.  This significant risk 
has been mitigated by Council officers closely adhering to the terms 
of the legislation and commencing the pre-consultation and 
consultation with all stakeholders at the earliest opportunity, to 
ensure that all concerns and issues could be identified, assessed and 
managed.  Public engagement has been extremely strong and very 
positive.  The Consultation Report attached as Appendix 1 details the 
responses made to the main comments and questions received 
during the Statutory Consultation process.  Education Scotland has 
confirmed its strong support for the proposals and the Scottish 
Government has confirmed its support to jointly fund the proposals.

(b) There is a risk that Planning Permission may not be obtained for the 
proposed Intergenerational Campus in time to allow construction to 
take place within the timeframe specified by the Scottish 
Government funding proposal.  This has been mitigated through the 
assembly of a strong professional team, which has considerable 
expertise in delivering projects of this scale.  A collaborative 
approach has been adopted at all times and several public 
engagement events and private meetings have been held to provide 
the community with as much detail as possible regarding the 
planning proposals.

Page 146



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 5 

5.3 Equalities

An Equalities Impact Assessment was carried out on the overall proposals 
set out in the Proposal Paper and, given the proposals are unchanged in 
terms of the Consultation Report, it continues to be anticipated that there 
are no adverse equality implications.

5.4 Acting Sustainably

Economic, social and environmental issues are fully incorporated within the 
statutory consultation documentation.

5.5 Carbon Management

A carbon management plan will be fully developed and will be a key design 
of the new building.  

5.6 Rural Proofing

This report does not relate to new or amended policy or strategy and, as a 
result, rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.  However, it must 
be stated that Ancrum Primary School will remain as a small rural school 
within the Jedburgh cluster.

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

There are no changes to be made to either the Scheme of 
Administration or the Scheme of Delegation as a result of the proposals 
contained in this report.

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Service Director HR and the Clerk to 
the Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

Approved by

Donna Manson
Service Director, Children and Young People Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Donna Manson Service Director, Children and Young People

Background Papers:  
Previous Minute Reference:  
Appendices: Appendix 1 – Consultation Report

Page 147



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017 6 

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Donna Manson can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA.

Page 148



1/Page

 

SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SERVICES

JEDBURGH SCHOOLS CONSULTATION REPORT

CONSULTATION PERIOD FROM 8 MAY 2017 TO 18 JUNE 2017

Consultation has taken place, under the terms of the Schools (Consultation) 
(Scotland) Act 2010 as amended, on proposals that:-

(1) An Intergenerational Learning Campus is built in Jedburgh;
(2) Howdenburn Primary School is permanently closed;
(3) Howdenburn Nursery is permanently closed;
(4) Parkside Primary School is permanently closed;
(5) Parkside Nursery is permanently closed;
(6) Jedburgh Grammar School is permanently closed;
(7) Howdenburn Schoolhouse is permanently closed with the educational support 

for secondary aged pupils with Additional Support Needs being transferred to 
the Intergenerational Learning Campus; 

(8) The policy regarding pupils from Ancrum Primary School transitioning to 
Parkside Primary School for P6 and P7 is amended to facilitate transition to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus; 

(9) The  primary school catchment zones are rezoned from Howdenburn Primary 
School and Parkside Primary School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus;  
and

(10) The secondary school catchment zone is rezoned from Jedburgh Grammar 
School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus.

This Public Consultation Report has been issued by Scottish Borders Council Children and 
Young People Services in terms of the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 as 
amended 

Page 149



2/Page

Contents

1. Summary of the Process for this Consultation Report ...................................3

2. Background ....................................................................................................7

3. Public Meetings..............................................................................................8

4. Meetings with Pupils and Staff .......................................................................9

5. Representations ...........................................................................................18

6. Education Scotland Report ..........................................................................35

7. Inaccuracies in the Proposal Paper .............................................................39

8. Compliance with Statutory Process. ............................................................39

Appendices

Appendix 1 .......................................................Proposal Paper dated 8 May 2017

Appendix 2 ..........................................................HMIE Report dated August 2017

Appendix 3 .........................................Presentation from SBC dated 30 May 2017

Appendix 4...........................................Minutes from Public Meeting 30 May 2017

Appendix 5.................................................................Frequently Asked Questions

Page 150



3/Page

SUMMARY OF THE PROCESS FOR THIS CONSULTATION REPORT

Committee Decision

1.1 This Consultation Report has been issued as a result of the decision by
Scottish Borders Council on 21 April 2017 to formally undertake a statutory 
consultation process in respect of proposals to build an Intergenerational Learning 
Campus in Jedburgh replacing the nursery, primary and secondary schools and 
Additional Support Needs educational support provision within the town. The 
consultation process and this Consultation Report have been prepared in compliance 
with the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 as amended (the 2010 Act). 

Proposal Paper

1.2 In compliance with the 2010 Act, Scottish Borders Council prepared a Proposal Paper 
which was published on 8 May 2017. A copy of the Proposal Paper is attached as 
Appendix 1.  The Proposals contained in the Proposal Paper are that:

 An Intergenerational Learning Campus is  built in Jedburgh;
 Howdenburn Primary School is permanently closed;
 Howdenburn Nursery is permanently closed;
 Parkside Primary School is permanently closed;
 Parkside Nursery is permanently closed;
 Jedburgh Grammar School is permanently closed;
 Howdenburn Schoolhouse is permanently closed with the educational support for  

secondary aged pupils with Additional Support Needs being transferred to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus; 

 The policy regarding pupils from Ancrum Primary School transitioning to Parkside  
Primary School for P6 and P7 is amended to facilitate transition to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus; 

 The  primary school catchment zones is rezoned from Howdenburn Primary 
School and Parkside Primary School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus;  
and

 The secondary school catchment zone is rezoned from Jedburgh Grammar School 
to the Intergenerational Learning Campus 

1.3 A copy of the Proposal Paper was made available free of charge in these
locations –

 Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells,TD6 0SA
 Howdenburn Primary School and Nursery, Jedburgh,TD8 6LA
 Howdenburn Schoolhouse, Jedburgh, TD8 6LA
 Parkside Primary School and Nursery, Jedburgh, TD8 6HD
 Jedburgh Grammar School, Jedburgh TD8 6DQ
 Ancrum Primary School,  Jedburgh, TD8 6XA
 Denholm Primary School, Denholm, TD9 8LZ
 Laidlaw Memorial Hall, Bonchester Bridge, TD9 
 Jedburgh Library, 23 Castle Gate, Jedburgh TD8 6AS

Page 151



4/Page

And published on the Scottish Borders Council website: 

www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh

1.4 The publication of the Proposal Paper was advertised in various Borders newspapers, on 
the weeks commencing 1 and 8 May 2017, providing the dates for the consultation period 
and the public meeting. 

1.5 As stated in the Proposal Paper, the Proposals have implications for:

 Howdenburn Primary School;
 Howdenburn Nursery;
 Howdenburn Schoolhouse;
 Parkside Primary School;
 Parkside Nursery;
 Jedburgh Grammar School; 
 Ancrum Primary School;
 Denholm Primary School; and
 Hobkirk Primary School (currently mothballed). 

which are all deemed Affected Schools in terms of the 2010 Act.

1.6 Formal notice of the Proposals was sent by letter or email to:

 the parents/carers of children attending the Affected Schools;                       
 the Parent Councils of the Affected Schools;
 the parent/carers of any children likely to attend the Affected Schools or any 

Affected School within two years of the date of the publication of the Proposal 
Paper, as far as known to the Council;  

 the pupils attending the Affected Schools insofar as the Education Authority 
considers them to be of a suitable age and maturity; 

 any Trade Union which is representative of the staff;
 the Staff (teaching and non-teaching) at the Affected Schools;
 the Community Councils of Jedburgh; Ancrum; Denholm and  District; Hobkirk; Jed 

Valley; Lanton; Oxnam Water; Crailing, Eckford and Nisbet;
 the community planning partnership (as defined in section 4(5) of the Community 

Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015) for the area where any Affected School is 
situated or any other  community planning partnership that the Education Authority 
considers relevant;

 the constituency Member of the Scottish Parliament;
 the constituency Member of Parliament;
 the List Members of the Scottish Parliament.

Length of Consultation Period

1.7 The consultation for the Proposals ran from 8 May 2017 until 18 June 2017 (both dates 
inclusive). This period allowed for the statutory minimum of 30 school days. There were 
805 written and online representations in respect of this statutory consultation, these 

Page 152

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh


5/Page

representations are summarised and responded to in Section 5 below. 
 
Public Meetings

1.8 A public meeting was held on:

30 May 2017 at 19.00 at Jedburgh Grammar School.

Details of the meeting are included in Section 3 below.

Meetings with Pupils and Staff

1.9 Several meetings and assemblies were held with pupils and staff in the Affected 
Schools. A record of questions, views and responses is included in Section 4 below.

Involvement of Education Scotland

1.10 Education Scotland was notified in advance of this Statutory Consultation process being 
approved. On completion of the Statutory Consultation period, a copy of the Proposal 
Paper was sent by Scottish Borders Council to Education Scotland. Education Scotland 
also received a copy of all relevant additional materials including the minutes of public 
meeting, written representations and responses received and by the Council following 
the consultation period.

1.11 Education Scotland has prepared a report on the educational aspects of the Proposals, 
based on the representations and documents mentioned above as well as their interviews 
with pupils, parents and staff. In preparing their report, Education Scotland visited the 
Affected Schools and made reasonable enquiries of people there as they considered 
appropriate. This can be found at Appendix 2 and also on the Education Scotland 
Website at

 http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/

1.12 Issues raised in the Education Scotland Report with regards to the Proposals and the 
Authority’s responses are set out in Section 6 of this Consultation Report.

 
Preparation of Public Consultation Report

1.13 The Council has reviewed the Proposals having regard to the responses received during 
the consultation period and the Education Scotland Report. This Consultation 
Report will be published on 16 October 2017 and is available for further consideration 
for a period of three weeks from that date, until 6 November 2017. The intention is that 
interested parties should have time to consider the Consultation Report and if they so 
wish, to raise concerns and pose alternative solutions by making written or electronic 
submissions to:

Page 153

http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/


6/Page

Jedburgh Schools Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council Headquarters 
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA 
or

Email Address: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk; or

If you wish to respond by letter or electronically, you are invited to state your 
relationship with the school – for example, “pupil”, “parent”, “carer”, “relative”, “former 
pupil”, “teacher in school”, “member of the community” etc. Responses from Parent 
Councils, Staff and Pupil Councils are particularly welcome.

Those sending in a response, whether by letter or electronically should know that their 
response will be open to public scrutiny and may have to be supplied to anyone making 
a reasonable request to see it. If they do not wish their response to be made publicly 
available, they should clearly write on the document: “I wish my response to be 
considered as confidential with access restricted to Councillors and Council Officers of 
Scottish Borders Council”. Otherwise, it will be assumed that the person making the 
response agrees to it being made publicly available.

For any written or electronic response to be considered it must be received by the 
Council no later than 5.00pm on the last day of the consultation period, 6 November 
2017.

Distribution

1.14 A copy of the Consultation Report will be made available free of charge for public 
consultation from 16 October 2017 to 6 November 2017 in these locations –

 Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells,TD6 0SA
 Howdenburn Primary School and Nursery, Jedburgh,TD8 6LA
 Howdenburn Schoolhouse, Jedburgh, TD8 6LA
 Parkside Primary School and Nursery, Jedburgh, TD8 6HD
 Jedburgh Grammar School, Jedburgh TD8 6DQ
 Ancrum Primary School,  Jedburgh, TD8 6XA
 Denholm Primary School, Denholm, TD9 8LZ
 Laidlaw Memorial Hall, Bonchester Bridge, TD9 8JR
 Jedburgh Library,  23 Castle Gate, Jedburgh TD8 6AS

and published on the Scottish Borders Council website: 
www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh

Decision

1.15  This report together with any other relevant documentation will be considered by 
Scottish Borders Council who will be asked to make a decision at a full Council 
meeting.  

Page 154

mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/


7/Page

1.16 Where a decision is taken to approve a school closure proposal, the Council is 
required to notify Scottish Ministers within 6 days of the decision and place a notice on 
its website stating the decision and advising that there is a period of 3 weeks from the 
date of the decision for any party to make representations, either in support or against 
the Council’s closure decision, to Scottish Ministers. 

1.17 Representations should be made to:

schoolclosure@scotland.gsi.gov.uk

or
The Scottish Government
School Infrastructure Unit
2A (South)
Victoria Quay
EH6 6QQ

1.18 The Scottish Ministers have a period of 8 weeks following the Council’s decision to 
decide whether to call the closure decision in or not. If the Ministers do not make a 
decision within that period the proposal is automatically permitted to proceed. If the 
decision is taken to call the Council’s decision in the Scottish Ministers will advise the 
Council in writing as expeditiously as possible.

1.19 There are clear grounds within the 2010 Act for calling in a proposal. The Ministers 
can call in a proposal where it appears to the Scottish Ministers that the education 
authority may have failed:

(a) in a significant regard to comply with the requirements imposed on it by (or 
under) this Act so far as they are relevant to the closure proposal, or

(b) to take proper account of a material consideration relevant to its decision to 
implement the proposal.

1.20 Any closure decision called in by the Scottish Ministers will be referred to the School 
Closure Panel for determination. The School Closure Panel has a period of 8 weeks to 
notify the Education Authority of its decision.  In the event that the Panel refuses to 
consent to the closure, the Education Authority can appeal the decision on a point of 
law. In the event the Panel’s decision is upheld there will be a 5 year restriction on the 
Education Authority making a further school closure proposal in respect of these 
schools.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 In February 2016, Scottish Borders Council commenced a pre-consultation process in 
respect of the school estate across the Borders region and what the future school 
estate should look like. The community of Jedburgh provided the highest level of 
engagement across the Borders region during this process and significant concerns 
were expressed about:-

Page 155

mailto:schoolclosure@scotland.gsi.gov.uk


8/Page

2.1.1 the school buildings were generally considered to be in very poor condition 
and to have fallen behind other schools within the Borders;

2.1.2 the quality of the facilities; in particular the sports provision. It was 
considered that the facilities were not equal to those offered at other 
schools within the Borders;

2.1.3 the challenges to sustain a broad curriculum for all pupils from 2-18 years 
old;

2.1.4 the safety implications of the road that runs through the Jedburgh Grammar 
School site, and  traffic congestion around Parkside Primary School and 
Jedburgh Grammar School.

2.2 Following this engagement process, the Council’s Executive (Education) Committee 
agreed in September 2016 to proceed with the commencement of a focused pre-
consultation process regarding the future of education in Jedburgh. A scoping 
exercise was undertaken by the Education Authority with members of the Parent 
Council and local Councillors. It was decided to further develop a proposal for a single 
educational campus to provide education, learning and training opportunities for 2-18 
year olds within the catchment and for the wider community which would replace the 
current schools within the town. Feasibility works were undertaken which identified a 
preferred site within the town which is central and can accommodate all the proposed 
facilities within one site.

2.3 A decision was taken on 19 April 2017 by the Council to commence a statutory 
consultation process on 8 May 2017. The proposals for the consultation were that an 
Intergenerational Learning Campus would replace the current nursery, primary and 
secondary schools in the town with a state of the art campus that will provide 
education and learning opportunities for all in the community; including facilities for 
children with additional support needs. The campus will not only provide an innovative 
and flexible environment for learning but will also include excellent sports facilities and 
a community hub for recreation and public services. 

2.4 The Council’s detailed reasoning for this proposal is set out in the Proposal Paper.  
The Council considers that there will be strong Educational Benefits for current and 
future pupils within the Jedburgh catchment area, for the staff and for the Community.

2.5 The Proposals have been endorsed by Education Scotland in their Report dated 
August 2017 and attached as Appendix 2.

3 PUBLIC MEETINGS

3.1 A Public Consultation meeting was held at 7pm on Tuesday 30 May 2017 at Jedburgh 
Grammar School.

Page 156



9/Page

3.2 260 members of the public attended the public meeting.

3.3 A presentation was given at the meeting by the Council’s Service Director of Children and 
Young People. A copy of the presentation is attached as Appendix 3.

3.4 Minutes of the public meeting detailing the questions, comments and the Council’s 
responses are attached as Appendix 4.

3.5 Two FAQs have been prepared answering questions that had been asked by the 
community during the consultation process and are attached in Appendix 5. The first 
FAQ was distributed at the public meeting and the second FAQ at was prepared at the 
end of the consultation period.

4 MEETINGS WITH PUPILS AND STAFF

4.1 Meetings were held with pupils and staff in the Affected Schools. Pupils were 
encouraged to submit Response Forms as individuals and as teams/groups/classes. 
Support was given to primary pupils and pupils with Additional Support Needs to express 
their views. The Council notes and welcomes the high level of responses from pupils and 
will continue to engage with all pupils if the Proposals proceed. A record of questions, 
responses and views is summarised below.

Jedburgh Grammar School

4.2 Assemblies and class discussions were held with pupils from Jedburgh Grammar School. 
Pupils who will still be attending secondary school when the new Campus is opened 
submitted 197 response forms as individuals, groups and teams. Of these responses only 
1 disagreed with the proposals to build the new campus as the proposed site is too close 
to houses. The senior pupils, who will no longer be attending school when the new 
campus opens, also expressed their support for the campus with 94 (100%) confirming 
their support for the Proposals, as they considered the facilities at the new campus would 
be significantly better than at the current schools. 

The pupils’ comments in support of the Proposals are summarised below:

 The town requires an overhaul of its education provision as the 
current facilities are inadequate for the educational needs of the 
pupils

 The new campus will improve sports facilities in the town and will 
hopefully include 3G pitches, running track, hockey facilities

 There will be more space to learn, work and relax
 There could be more clubs to join: sports, film etc.
 The canteen will be much larger
 There will be more opportunities for interaction with younger and 

older people
 It will be much easier access to college courses – some people 

cannot afford to go at the moment

Page 157



10/Page

 The buildings will be better – some are currently temporary or 
poorly built

 The campus will can be used after you have left school – college 
courses

 It will bring new opportunities and income for Jedburgh
 There will be improved theatre and drama space
 There will be updated technology – access to Wi-Fi
 There will be better access to extra-curricular activities
 There will be easier transition between primary and secondary
 Jedburgh Grammar School is currently disadvantaged to other 

schools
 The campus will have improved facilities for arts subjects. There 

is no current provision for careers in dance/musical theatre
 The Campus will encourage the community to be active and 

healthy
 The bathrooms are currently unsanitary
 There will be improved facilities for support for mental health 

problems
 The new campus will allow Jedburgh to hold sporting events 

which can’t happen at the moment due to inadequate facilities. 
Jedburgh has been at a disadvantage

 The current buildings are unsound
 The new campus will improve safety as there will not be a road 

running through it and buildings are run down and not fit for 
purpose

 The old school sites will provide more opportunities; retail or 
housing for the community

 There are currently no meeting places at the school
 It will allow for more integration with additional support needs 

pupils

4.3 Five Grammar School pupils did not agree with the closure of Howdenburn 
Primary School and considered that pupils should retain a choice of primary 
school. 
Council’s Response:  Noted. The current condition of Howdenburn 
Primary School is rated as C – Showing major defects and/or not operating 
adequately.   The costs to upgrade and improve the school to a sufficiently high 
standard would be considerable.   It would not be possible for one of the schools to 
remain open as the finances and structure of the campus proposal requires all 3 
schools to be included. There is strong appetite to close the school during the 
consultation with over 94% of respondents agreeing with the proposal to close 
Howdenburn Primary School In the event the Proposals proceed, Ancrum and 
Denholm Primary Schools will remain as a rural and small school option for parental 
choice. 

Page 158



11/Page

Primary Schools

4.4 In order to provide more support to the pupils of the four Affected Primary 
Schools staff had discussions with each class and officers from the Council 
met with groups of pupils from each school representing their classmates to 
listen to and discuss their views on the Proposals. 

4.5 Details of the children’s comments and questions from the meetings with 
Council officers and from class room discussions are summarised below:

Denholm Primary School

The pupils were all in support of the Proposals although they had some 
concerns regarding they size of the new school and the potential impact 
that the campus may have on Denholm Primary School. These are the main 
points that they raised:

Positive Comments:
 It will be good to be at one school in one place
 There will be more support and help for pupils
 The facilities will be better and there will be more opportunities to 

be active and healthy
 It will be good to have one community place for clubs
 It will be good for the community to have access to all the 

facilities
 As the new school will be so big the sports teams will be strong 

and they will win everything. Big schools dominate
 Maybe shops could be built on the old sites
 The new school could attract more pupils to Jedburgh

Negative Comments, Concerns and Questions:
 Worried that there will not be separate playgrounds for different 

stages 
Council’s Response: Noted. There will be distinct areas for each 
stage of education.

 Will Denholm get to access the facilities?
Council’s Response: Noted. The intention is that Denholm pupils will 
access the campus to use the facilities particularly the specialist 
facilities, sport and social spaces.

 It would be good if there was only one catchment school for 
Denholm as then we would all stay together rather than friends 
going to Hawick High School.
Council’s Response: Noted. This will be considered. Any proposed 
changes to the catchment will be fully consulted upon.

 It might affect the popularity of Denholm and less pupils may 
come here

Page 159



12/Page

Council’s Response: Noted. Denholm is currently a popular school 
with good, modern facilities and is the school of choice for c90% of its 
catchment. The Council considers that this will continue to be the 
case.

 Denholm may close if no one comes here
Council’s Response: Noted. Denholm is currently a popular school 
and as stated above it is a modern school with good facilities and is 
the school of choice for c90% of its catchment.

 It might make it more difficult for Denholm to recruit and retain 
teachers
Council’s Response:  Noted. The school has a strong reputation and 
is located in a modern building with good facilities. It is considered 
that it will continue to be an attractive employment opportunity for 
staff.

Howdenburn Primary School

The majority thought that the new campus was a good idea however they 
did have some concerns about the proposed site and the potential impact 
on wildlife and the environment. It was clear that they were fond of their 
school but the older pupils were aware of the current condition of the 
Howdenburn buildings. The younger pupils were more apprehensive about 
moving to a new school. These are the main points that they raised:

Positive Comments:
 We need a new building as this one is falling apart
 It would be better to have one big new building than 3 separate 

buildings
 There shouldn’t be two separate primary schools in Jedburgh
 The schools buildings are all old. It will be good to have a new 

one
 A bigger school will have more space
 The facilities will be better
 It will be good to have vocational and college courses in 

Jedburgh
 It might bring people to Jedburgh
 There will be more sport teams
 We will be able to make bigger friendship groups
 The sports facilities and pitches will be much better
 It will be good to be all together and we can make more friends
 It will be good to have siblings in one place
 It will be good for the community and the town

Page 160



13/Page

Negative Comments, Concerns and Questions: 
 What will happen to Howdenburn and the other school buildings?

Council Reponse: The site will be masterplanned for redevelopment as part of 
the process to build the campus and may be redeveloped into housing or 
shops. There will be full consultation on any proposals for the sites.

 What will they do with the trees?
Council Response: Detailed surveys are being carried out and as many 
mature trees will be retianed as possible.

 There can be a lot of noise from the factories next to the site
Council Response: Noted. The Council is aware of the issue and is 
working with the design team to ensure that the levels of noise within 
the campus are within recommended levels.

 The new school could impact on the local businesses and shops 
as it’s further away
Council response: Noted. Council officers have walked from the 
campus site to the High Street and it will still be readily accessible at 
lunchtimes. The Council considers that the new campus could attract 
more people and businesses to the town which may further stimulate 
the local economy. The redevelopment of the existing school sites 
will also assist to stimulate growth.

 Hope the new classrooms won’t be open plan which would be too 
noisy
Council Response: Noted. A detailed design process is underway to 
ensure that the best learning environments are created. This will 
include a specialist acoustic design.

 Don’t want to build on the green space. We should protect the 
ecology of the area and the wildlife
Council Response: Noted. All steps are being taken to minimise the 
impact on trees and wildlife and to maximise the retention of the 
natural landscape.

 Worried about bullies as it will be a bigger school with more big 
kids
Council response: Noted. There is currently a strong ethos across 
the Jedburgh schools’ cluster and bullying is rare. It is expected that 
this ethos will be brought to the campus and that pupil and teacher 
relationships will remain strong.  Pupils will be supported by a 
buddying/mentor system and any bullying will be addressed promptly.

 What will the uniform look like?
Council Response: This is still to be decided. 

 Will there still be houses, what colours will they have?
Council Response: There will be houses but they may have new names.

 What will the new school be called?
Council Response: This will be consulted upon with a short list being 
presented to Councillors.

 Who will the headteacher be? How many teachers will there be? Will 
people lose their jobs?
Council Resonse: The full management structure and staffing levels isstill to 
be decided. There may be some changes but there will be new and some 
different jobs and opportunities  at the campus. Teacher numbers are calaculted 
in accordance with a Scottish Government set formula.

Page 161



14/Page

 When will school finish?
Council Response: Pupils will continue to spend the same amount of time at 
school. Any changes to school times will be consulted upon in advance.  

 Will pupils get a tour of the new school?
Council Response: Yes - pupils will get to visit during the build and before it 
opens.

 How will the classes merge together?
Council Response: It is most likley that there will be a 2 stream primary with a 
mixture of pupils from each school. There may be some composite classes 
depending on the pupil numbers as there are government regulations regarding 
class size.

Parkside Primary School

The pupils were almost all in favour of the new campus although some had 
reservations about the size. The pupils were obviously very proud of and 
attached to their school; with some of the younger pupils less keen on the 
proposed move as they were nervous about the size of the new school and 
some about the location. Their main comments and questions were:

Positive Comments:
 It is a good idea as the school has been here a long time (my 

granny came here!) 
 It would be better to have one big school 
 The new school will be safer than the old buildings
 There are lots of leaks and cracks at Parkside
 The new sports facilities will be great and we will all get to use 

them
 There will be more space and bigger rooms
 We will be able to learn more which will help us get jobs
 We will be able to have more friends across the school
 We won’t need to travel to do sports/activities
 The playground will be bigger and better, with more equipment
 There will be more clubs at one place
 Parkside should be turned into a park
 There will be better equipment and internet
 It will be better for the community – a hub for the town
 We could join together more for sports (different age groups)
 Primary schools will get access to facilities that only high 

schools usually have
 There will be jobs created in the campus
 The road through the Grammar is dangerous and it can flood
 It will save time and money as we won’t need to travel to college
 There will be a wider choice of subjects

Page 162



15/Page

Negative Comments, Concerns and Questions:
 Worried that it will be open plan as people with hearing 

impairment may not hear as well
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council is aware that open plan 
classrooms can present problems for some pupils. An acoustic 
specialist has been appointed as part of the design team and there 
will be an appropriate acoustic design solution.

 We might get lost
Council’s Response: Noted. All pupils will be assisted with their 
orientation of the building.

 It will be a shame to lose trees and a park area
Council’s Response: Noted. All steps are being taken to minimise 
the impact on the trees and to maximise the retention of the natural 
landscape.

 There will be a negative impact on wildlife
Council’s Response: Noted. Detailed surveys are being carried out 
and all steps are being taken to minimise the impact on the wildlife.

 Don’t want to move as it is further away from my house
Council’s Response: Noted. The campus site is directly behind 
Parkside so will not be too much further. Access to the site is being 
fully considered to ensure that the pupils, staff, parents and 
community can access the site at different points.

 It will be shame to lose the Jedburgh inter primary school 
competition
Council’s Response: Noted. There will lots of opportunities for 
competition – perhaps inter house competitions?

 Don’t want Parkside to close as I will lose all my memories of  
the school
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council recognises that many 
pupils are attached to their school and consideration is being given 
to ensuring that some elements are brought into the campus to 
maintain the links to the past – this may include incorporating the 
badges or specific items such as stained glass windows or dux 
boards into the new school.

 Moving to a new school could be disruptive to our studies
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council recognises that any move 
may be disruptive for some pupils so planning has already begun to 
minimise the impact and ensure that the transition to the new campus 
is as smooth as possible.

Ancrum Primary School

The pupils were broadly supportive of the new school and had some concerns 
about the move from a small school to a large campus school for P6 and P7. 
They were all clearly happy at Ancrum and also had a few concerns about the 
future of their school. Their main points were:

Page 163



16/Page

Positive Comments:
 Like the idea as there will be lots of space
 Will be good to go to school with friends we already have in 

Jedburgh
 Will there be animals that we can learn to take care of?
 Each stage should be separate with their own classrooms
 It will be great to have the best technology

Negative Comments, Concerns and Questions:
 Will Ancrum get access to the facilities at the campus?

Council’s Response: Noted. The campus will be open to the wider 
community and access will be available to Ancrum community. It is 
also the intention that Ancrum pupils will regularly access the facilities 
at the campus in particular the specialist facilities, sports and social 
spaces.

 Will there be ELC provision at Ancrum? Don’t want the school to 
close
Council’s Response: Noted. This will be considered as part of our 
review of the expansion of ELC in line with Scottish Government 
guidelines for 2020.

 Can we go to the campus in P4 rather than P6?
Council’s Response: Noted. The intention is that Ancrum will 
continue to offer primary education until P5. Any change to this would 
require a full statutory consultation.

 Can we get a tour of the school?
Council’s Response: Noted. Yes this will be arranged.

 It’s an okay idea but if it’s too big we might get lost
Council’s Response: Noted. Each stage of education will have its 
own areas. Staff will help with orientation and pupils will be given 
tours of the school.

 It would be better to keep things as they are with Ancrum going to 
Parkside for P6 and P7 before going to the new school. It will be 
too big a jump
Council’s Response: Noted. However if the Proposals proceed 
Parkside will be closed and Ancrum pupils will transfer to the campus 
for P6 and P7. There will be support provided to pupils transitioning to 
the campus before, during and after transition.

 Not sure if it’s a good idea to have everybody together through 
each stage of school
Council’s Response: Noted. There will be larger numbers in each 
stage of education and there will be many opportunities for different 
stages to work together and separately. 

 Is it fair that the primary kids in P1-P4 at the campus will have 
access to better facilities than the kids at Ancrum
Council’s Response: Noted. Parents will be able to decide where the 
want their children to be educated. Some children may prefer a 
smaller school option for primary. It is intended that Ancrum pupils will 
also have timetabled access to the campus.

 It will be a lot bigger so I don’t know if I will like it
Council’s Response: Noted. It is acknowledged that the campus may 
be however pupils will be supported before, during and after their 
transition to the campus.

Page 164



17/Page

Howdenburn Schoolhouse

Staff at Howdenburn Schoolhouse discussed the Proposals with the 
students. They were asked what they liked about their current setting and 
what they would like to change. These comments will assist the Council in 
shaping and designing the ASN provision within the campus. Their 
comments are summarised below:-

What they like about the Schoolhouse:
 We have our own space as it’s a smaller group compared to when 

at school
 That there is a kitchen and we can cook our own meals which 

helps  prepare for independent living
 It’s like your own house, with room to chill out
 We can have music on
 We can all get together to eat, play games or watch things
 We have our own garden
 We can develop life skills and we enjoy learning to look after 

ourselves and be more independent e.g. hoovering
 That there is not a school uniform making it a more comfortable, 

relaxing environment
 That there is a conservatory to relax in
 There is not a bell so there are no time pressures regarding 

finishing work. We can take our time and it makes it a more 
relaxing environment

 Visitors can come to help with learning, life skills, health and 
recreation e.g. Tesco for healthy food advice, and teachers for 
music, PE and pottery

 We can all cook together, eat together and relax together

What they would like to change:
 A separate building with

 A conservatory
 More bedrooms
 Work area
 Kitchen – big enough for more than person to use at a time
 Changing rooms
 Plenty of space – especially for wheel chairs
 A place to do laundry
 A display area for art and projects

 Keys 
 A garden with benches and flowers and an area where we can 

grow vegetables
 A greenhouse
 A hydro pool with big changing rooms and a steam room
 A PE area and the chance to do more sports and activities e.g. 

football, basketball and swimming
 New posters
 Be near a library

Page 165



18/Page

 More computers
 A smart board
 Access to shops to buy ingredients

Staff

4.6 Staff have been engaged with throughout the pre-consultation and 
consultation process with several members of staff attending the pre-
consultation engagement events at Jedburgh Grammar School on 25 
and 26 April. Responses were received from 45 members of staff with 
only one member of staff disagreeing with any part of the Proposals 
as they considered that the campus may be better positioned on the 
current site of Jedburgh Grammar School. The Council has noted this 
suggestion but does not consider that site large enough to include all 
the sports facilities that the campus will require.

4.7 Several members of staff have been very active with suggestions 
about what should be included in the new campus and what curriculum 
changes they would like to see. Several members of staff have 
advised that they wish to be involved with the design of the campus 
and in particular would like to have input into the facilities comprised 
in the campus and the use of space. 

4.8 The Council welcomes that staff are keen to be involved with the 
planning of the campus and, if the Proposal proceeds, workshops will 
be arranged to capture the ideas and opinions of staff during the 
transition planning process.

5 

5.1 There were 805 written representations made during the initial consultation 
period in respect of the Statutory Consultation Proposals, with 286 online 
responses and 519 written responses.  

5.2 We have analysed the responses based in the completed forms into (1) Statutory 
Consultees and (2) Community Consultees. 75% of all responses were received 
from Statutory Consultees in terms of the 2010 Act with a further 196 responses 
from the Community; reflecting the community nature of the Proposals and the 
strong interest in the Proposals from the Community. A breakdown of the interest 
in the Schools from all the Responses is listed below:-

Page 166



19/Page

O
N

LI
N

E

PA
PE

R

TE
A

M
S/

C
LA

SS

TO
TA

L

STATUTORY CONSULTEES
Parent/carer 129 43 172
Parent/carer, Parent council member 14 14
Parent/carer, Relative of pupil 2 2
Parent/carer, Staff 4 1 5
Parent/carer, Staff, Parent council member 1 1

Pupil 10 1 355 366
Relative of pupil & Community Planning Partner 1 1
Staff 31 7 38

Parent council member 4 2 6
Parent/Carer, Staff & Relative of pupil  1  1
Elected Member/MSP/MP 2   2
Community Planning Partner 1   1 
TOTAL 198 56 355 609
COMMUNITY CONSULTEES
Community member 29 58 87
Lives adjacent to Jedburgh Grammar School  1  1
Relative of pupil 37 29 66
Relative of pupil, Community member 7 1 8
Relative of pupil, Other 1 1 2

Other (Former Pupil)  1  1
Other (Member of Rotary Club)  1  1
Community member (live in area to be damaged)  1  1
Community member (former pupil)  1  1
Resident in Jedburgh 1 1
Other (child went to Jedburgh schools)  1  1
Other 14 14

Not Answered (N/A)  12  12
TOTAL 88 108 0 196
OVERALL TOTAL 286 164 355 805

Page 167



20/Page

5.3 The responses to the Proposals have been very positive. The table below indicates the 
overall responses to each Proposal 

Question Agree Disagree N/A Total

Do you agree with the proposal to build an 
intergenerational learning campus in Jedburgh? 791 14 0 805

Do you agree with the proposal to close 
Howdenburn Primary School? 759 15 31 805

Do you agree with the proposal to close 
Howdenburn Nursery? 762 12 31 805

Do you agree with the proposal to close Parkside 
Primary School? 779 12 14 805

Do you agree with the proposal to close Parkside 
Nursery? 774 15 16 805

Do you agree with the proposal to close Jedburgh 
Grammar School? 759 17 29 805

Do you agree with the proposal to close 
Howdenburn Schoolhouse with the educational 
support for secondary aged pupils with complex 
additional support needs being transferred to the 
intergenerational learning campus? 

765 21 19 805

Do you agree with the proposal to amend the 
arrangements for pupils from Ancrum Primary 
School transitioning to Parkside Primary School for 
P6 and P7 to facilitate the transition to the 
intergenerational learning campus? 

762 23 20 805

Do you agree with the proposal to rezone primary 
school catchment zones from Howdenburn Primary 
School and Parkside Primary School to the 
intergeneration learning campus? 

781 15 9 805

Do you agree with the proposal to rezone the 
secondary school catchment zone from Jedburgh 
Grammar School to the intergenerational learning 
campus?

778 18 9 805

5.4 The Council has reviewed all the responses made during the consultation period in 
respect of Proposals. The Council notes and welcomes all the responses. A summary is 
given below of the main points contained in the responses regarding each Proposal and 
the Council’s response to concerns or questions raised in the forms.

Page 168



21/Page

Agree (98.3%)
Disagree (1.7%)
Don’t Know (0%)

Do  you agree with the proposal to build a new
Learning Campus in Jedburgh?

The overall response to this Proposal was very positive with less than 2% of responders 
disagreeing with the Proposal to build a learning campus in the town. Only 3 of the 
Statutory Consultees disagreed with this Proposal.

Summary of Comments in favour of the Proposal
 The current school buildings are not fit for purpose
 The current school buildings are in a poor state of repair
 Safety concerns regarding the fabric of the current buildings 

(asbestos) and the road running through Jedburgh Grammar 
School site

 The schools in Jedburgh have not got the same facilities nor had 
the same investment as other Borders’ schools

 The proposed campus will offer more opportunities for both 
primary and secondary pupils to achieve their potential

 It will be beneficial to have all pupils from 2-18 in one place with 
state of the art facilities

 The new campus will lead to easier transitions through stages of 
education and will provide innovative and progressive learning 
environment

 The new campus will allow primary and secondary staff to work 
collaboratively 

 The new campus will reduce out of catchment placement 
requests 

 The new campus is in the best interests of the children
 The whole community will benefit from the campus
 The town needs a boost to stop it becoming a retirement town
 Jedburgh will be able to host sporting events 
 Better ICT facilities which in turn create opportunities and be 

more efficient
 An enhanced physical learning environment can increase 

attainment and health and well-being 
 The new campus will attract new families to the town and new 

businesses and employment opportunities  
 The campus will be more environmentally friendly

Page 169



22/Page

 The campus will provide vocational opportunities (Developing 
the Young Workforce) and should help create jobs

 Place for parents to meet and learn
 The campus should facilitate a broader curriculum
 The primaries will have access to much improved facilities 
 Provide opportunities for older pupils to mentor/buddy younger 

pupils
 Once in a lifetime opportunity for Jedburgh and the surrounding 

areas
 The campus will allow better engagement of families and 

stronger relationships between school and home, built over a 
longer period of time

 There will be improved social space for pupils
 There will be increased opportunities for cross-sector work and 

intergenerational projects
 There will be opportunity for pupils with complex ASN to have 

their whole education in the town which will improve integration. 
The campus will also give better opportunities for work 
experience and improve employment opportunities for school 
leavers with ASN 

 There will be opportunities to continue post-school education in 
the town, overcoming transport issues

 The campus will improve access to the arts and provide more 
opportunity for performing arts

Summary of Comments/Questions not in favour of the Proposal
 The construction will cause a great deal of disruption to the town 

and in particular to the houses neighbouring the site and near the 
accesses to the site
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council acknowledges that there will 
be increased traffic during and after the build. If planning permission is 
granted it will be a stipulation that the Council works with all 
contractors to develop a detailed construction management plan which 
will enable the planning of drop off times for delivery of materials to the 
site, particularly significant loads such as steel works.  The plan would 
take account of busy times for town and would understand the 
constraints, with deliveries planned to minimise disruption for the town.  
Deliveries would be planned on a day to day basis during the length of 
the construction phase, which we would estimate taking 20 months. 
The contractors will take all mitigating measures to minimise 
disruption, including cleaning of roads.  All major operations would be 
carried out within normal working hours recognising that people are 
living close to the site. The safety for young people accessing the 
school is paramount. 

 Concerns about the potential impact a large campus school and 
community hub will have on neighbouring houses and the 
surrounding roads and accesses
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council is currently undertaking a 
detailed design process. This will seek to find the optimum design for 
the campus, while minimising the impact on its neighbours e.g. the 
positioning of sports fields will be planned to minimise disruption The 
creation of accesses and egresses for the site will require a full 
transport assessment, which will look at all journeys and then devise a 

Page 170



23/Page

full plan. The Council’s roads planning team will be involved and will 
give an independent view. This may well lead to road improvements 
such as traffic calming and new speed limits. Safety of all campus 
users will be paramount. The Council will ensure all routes to school by 
bus, car and on foot are implemented within the requirements of the 
Safe Routes to School team.  

 Concerns regarding losing the green space in the town and the 
negative impact on the environment (trees, flora and fauna)
Council’s Response: The Council is currently carrying out detailed site 
based surveys and a full ecological survey report will be required to be 
submitted as part of the planning application. This report will identify the 
potential impact on the flora and fauna in the area and will propose 
mitigation or protection measures. This report will be available (as far 
as permissible by law) as part of the planning application.

 Concerns that larger schools do not necessarily mean better 
education
Council’s Response: The Council’s Education Team has considered 
many different options for the schools in Jedburgh. The Council 
believes that there will be strong educational benefits for all pupils in 
the new campus. The new campus will result in enhanced facilities and 
the improved experiences for all children, young people and local 
residents.  The scale of the campus will allow a more collaborative 
approach and clear progression for each pupil. The new campus will 
allow changes to the curriculum and increase the opportunities 
available particularly regarding STEM, the arts, sports and vocational 
studies. Education Scotland also considers that there will be clear 
educational benefits from the Proposals (see Appendix 2).

 There is already a large number of sports facilities in the town
Council’s Response: Through the consultation process there has 
been a clear demand for increased and improved sports facilities at the 
campus. Currently each of the schools has limited facilities and pupils 
require to travel to certain activities which restricts teaching time. By 
locating more facilities in one location all the pupils will be able to utilise 
the facilities on site which should increase participation. The Council 
intends to hold further consultations in the community regarding the 
location of a 3G pitch.

 Larger schools can lead to more bullying and earlier exposure to 
alcohol and drugs
Council’s Response: The Council is seeking to build on the strengths 
of the existing schools, where bullying incidents are rare and the 
relationships between staff and children are strong. The schools have 
a great ethos and benefit from great community involvement and 
support. There are strong values of inclusion, wellbeing and equalities 
across the schools. The campus will strive to maintain these strengths 
and positives through strong leadership and management. The 
management team will visit other campus schools across Scotland to 
view best practice and to learn how they operate.  At the campus, staff 
will be able to build early relationships with pupils and their families 
and maintain these throughout the learning journey. The pastoral team 
will be involved at the start of every learning journey and will develop 
greater knowledge and understanding of the young people within their 
care.

Page 171



24/Page

 Concerns regarding the safety of pupils on the campus
Council’s Response: Safety of the children/pupils is always a priority. 
The new campus will specifically designed to ensure safety of all 
children/pupils, with areas for each age group being distinct with 
secure entries/exits for all children/pupils and all areas will have 
lockdown facilities.  Staffing ratios will be maintained to ensure safety 
at all times and children/pupils will be supervised at all times.

 Concerns about the safety of pedestrian and road access and 
egress
Council’s Response: ensuring safety for young people accessing and 
exiting the school will be paramount. During the planning process we 
will ensure all routes to school by bus, car and on foot are 
implemented within the requirements of the Safe Routes to School 
team. There may be some requirement to make changes to roads and 
crossings. This will be fully evaluated and reported on as part of the 
planning application. 

Agree (94.3%)
Disagree (1.9%)
Don't Know (3.8%)

Do you agree with the proposal to close Howdenburn
Primary School?

Of the 805 responses 759 were in favour of this Proposal (94%) and 15 were against (2%). 31 
responders either didn’t respond or didn’t know. Only one of those who disagreed with the 
Proposal was a statutory consultee.

Summary of Comments in favour of the Proposal
 The school has fulfilled its purpose
 The school has good play areas but the fabric of the building is not 

good. A wall fell down in 2015 which could have been catastrophic 
 The children accept the school in its current state but they deserve 

better. They should not accept this is all they are worth. They deserve to 
be inspired to aspire

 Being on the campus would be good for continuity for pupils and limit 
transitions

 The building is reaching the end of its life, the roof is an ongoing battle 
to keep it watertight, small sections are renewed each year but there are 
often buckets out to catch drips

Page 172



25/Page

 This area could provide more affordable housing
 Howdenburn school is a super school with the luxury of an expansive 

play area, however, the building itself is dated, and as we saw in Dec 
2015, not robust. The new school will provide pupils with the 
opportunity to learn in a modern building, hopefully fit for dealing with 
the demands required to develop learning fit for the real world with all 
its technological demands and I feel there would never be money 
available to renovate Howdenburn and Parkside to these standards 
individually

 The campus gives the pupils more opportunities in terms of sports and 
also with a larger and more adequate school the children have more 
learning opportunities as well

Summary of comments not in favour with the Proposal
 The money available to build a new school would be better to modernise 

and upgrade the current schools
Council’s Response: Noted. The new campus is being jointly funded by the 
Scottish Future Trust and the Council. This funding is only available in respect 
of new build schools. The Council has reviewed the condition and suitability of 
each of the schools and has determined that given the issues and constraints 
with each of the schools that it would be preferable to build a single campus 
with state of the art facilities than patch up each of the schools which would 
continue to have issues regarding facilities, space, safety (JGS road) etc. The 
new campus will allow all pupils to have access to the new enhanced facilities 
throughout their education.

Agree (94.7%)
Disagree (1.5%)
Don’t Know (3.8%)

Do you agree with the proposal to close
Howdenburn Nursery?

There were 762 (95%) responses in favour of the Proposal to close Howdenburn Nursery. 12 
responders disagreed and 31 did not know or did not answer. Only one statutory consultee 
disagreed with the Proposal.

Page 173



26/Page

Comments in favour of the Proposal
 For the size of the town, having two separate primary schools doesn't 

appear needed, cost effective or sustainable - bringing the primary 
schools, nurseries and grammar together will allow for better facilities 
and opportunities for the children

 A more modern facility will be beneficial,  it will allow all Jedburgh 
children to mix at Nursery  

 At the campus ELC will be in a bigger better facility which will be for the 
whole of the Jedburgh area including the increased hours being 
introduced in 2020

 Transitions will be improved

Summary of comments not in favour of the Proposal
 Young children need to feel safe and secure and the best way to do this 

is to have the nursery separate from the campus 
Council’s Response: The children in the ELC setting (which will be secured 
separately from the campus) will benefit from a bespoke facility and will have 
access to other areas of the campus as required. The safety and security of all 
children and young people will be paramount and will in no way be 
compromised by each different setting forming part of a larger development.

 There should be one nursery in the town either at Howdenburn or 
Parkside for the under 5 year olds
Council’s Response: The Council has carried out a suitability and 
conditionality review of both nurseries and both require significant 
expenditure/replaced. In line with Scottish Government proposals ELC 
entitlement is due to increase from 600 hours per year to 1140; neither 
nursery will be in a position to accommodate this increased provision. The 
Council believes that there are strong educational benefits in providing all 
local authority provided ELC at the campus as there will be bespoke space 
with state of the art facilities. Transitions will be improved and it will allow for 
children to access the campus facilities in a controlled and safe environment.

Agree (96.7%)
Disagree (1.4%)
Don't Know (1.9%)

Do you agree with the proposal to close Parkside
Primary School?

779 (96.7%) of the responses agreed with the Proposal to close Parkside Primary School.  12 
(1.4%) disagreed and 14 (1.9%) didn’t know or left it blank. Only 4 statutory consultees did not 
agree with the Proposal.

Page 174



27/Page

Summary of Comments in favour of the Proposal
 Parkside has very few suitable areas for sport. There is no outdoor 

green space - sports day has to be held at Riverside Park which is a 
fair distance from the school. This limits the range of activities they 
can do

 Classes walking or travelling to and from sports pitches takes time 
away from learning opportunities

 It isn't safe sitting on such a busy road; with poor parking and drop off 
issues

 The school has damp and is a very poor facility to teach in. The 
building is old and past its sell by date

 Not fit for purpose. The kids deserve a more modern school with 
technology at the fore front

 For the size of the town, having two separate primary schools doesn't 
appear needed, cost effective or sustainable - bringing the primary 
schools, nurseries and grammar together will allow for better facilities 
and opportunities for the children

 Built in 1956. Patched up ever since. Must cost a fortune to heat in 
winter. Hard to cool in summer

 Need a bigger better school
 Jedburgh is small enough to enable the creation of an 

intergenerational learning campus.  The land would then be fine for 
other use

Summary of comments not in favour of the Proposal
 Concern regarding all age ranges being combined within one complex, 

There should be 'age specific' areas 
Council’s Response: Noted. The building will be designed to provide 
separate areas for each stage of education.

 It would be better to have two primary schools at either side. Traffic at 
one area would be an issue, class sizes, parents can easily travel to 
either Howdenburn/Parkside dependent on where they live 
Council’s Response: Noted. Both primary schools buildings are currently 
rated as Poor as they have major defects and are not operating adequately. 
Each school has issues including condition, facilities and access. The new 
campus will address these issues and allow every pupil access to the same 
state of the art facilities.

Page 175



28/Page

Agree (96.1%)

Disagree (1.9%)

Don't Know (2.0%)

Do you agree with the proposal to close Parkside
Nursery?

759 (96%) of all responses were in support of this Proposal; with 15 (1.9%) against and 16 (2%) 
didn’t know or left it blank. 

Summary of comments in favour of the Proposal
 Would be great to have all children together. It will bring a small 

community further together 
 At present, the children are housed in a portacabin due to the building 

being condemned, so the new nursery within the new school will 
provide much more up to date and state of the art facilities and 
opportunities for the children.

 Concerns that there is asbestos in the building
 The outdoor learning and play area at the nursery is very small. With a 

bigger school comes more outdoor facilities 
 My daughter loved the nursery but the building and facilities were very 

poor. Staff make the best of the environment but they are limited in what 
they can do

 As long as the nursery is not neglected when all is combined all age 
groups are each important as the other
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council will ensure that each stage of 
education is treated fairly and will be required to meet high standards. ELC is 
considered as equally important to all other stages of learning. 

Summary of comments not in favour of the Proposal
There were no comments specifically against the Proposal.

Page 176



29/Page

Agree (94.3%)
Disagree (2.1%)
Don't Know (3.6%)

Do you agree with the proposal to close Jedburgh
Grammar School?

759 (94.3%) of responses were in favour of the Proposal; with 17 (2.1%) against and 29 (3.6%) 
either didn’t know or left the response blank. 8 of the statutory consultees disagreed with the 
Proposal.

Summary of comments in favour of the Proposal
 The buildings are currently unfit for purpose i.e. many are old and pupils 

are required to move between buildings. The buildings vary in quality.  
The newer parts of the school are very good, but the older parts require 
major renovation work just to bring them up to standard.  The canteen is 
not big enough to house all pupils at lunchtime, pupils with packed 
lunches generally don't have anywhere to sit to have their lunch, and 
there is limited appropriate ICT facilities available

 A main road divides the school – children are required to cross the road 
in all weathers

 The sporting facilities at JGS are terrible; the Astro is full of sand and in 
the winter becomes unplayable. The track is falling to bits in at least one 
lane, and when there is heavy rain the whole track in the middle tends to 
flood. The surface and markings of the tennis court are awful. There is 
no area to play a field game, unless we walk ten minutes away to the 
Glebe. We are at a huge disadvantage to other schools

 A new campus will provide all the facilities on one site.  It is a no-brainer 
we must support the proposal for an intergenerational learning campus 
for Jedburgh

 I think all under one campus would be good for continuity for pupils
 It would be good to see all ages mixing
 The games hall was a useful addition but as the buildings won't be 

required they could be used for other options as some of the buildings 
aren't that old
Council’s Response: Noted. A masterplan will be developed for the former 
school sites if the Proposals proceed. This will involve public consultation.

 Grammar school kids deserve a facility like children in Duns and 
Eyemouth

 Like idea of campus for multi-use - other recreations as well, building 
classes etc.  

 Chance to upgrade IT system - incorporate other workshops - joinery, 
hair dressing, cooking etc.

 The 'ROSLA' building was built as a temporary measure, but remains 

Page 177



30/Page

decades after it was built. The social dining centre is in disrepair, single 
glazed windows, and outdated bathroom facilities

 Lack of parking facilities also makes it difficult for parents picking up 
pupils, the buses and students and staff leaving or arriving for school  

 The school needs a boost to encourage more pupils to stay
 A new campus with a 3G pitch, a 2G pitch, a 4 badminton court sized 

games hall and a 400m athletics track with a grass throwing area would 
enable the PE department to significantly improve the amount of and the 
quality of the teaching time we offer the pupils in Jedburgh

 IT provision is not adequate
 There is a lack of IT infrastructure within the school

Summary of Comments not in favour of the Proposal
 Do not want to lose the history of the School and the name ‘Jedburgh 

Grammar’
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council is very aware of the history and 
reputation of the schools in the town. Discussions have already commenced 
with staff, pupils and the historical society to establish what we can take from 
the old schools and incorporate into the campus, including stained glass 
windows, dux boards etc. A consultation exercise will be undertaken regarding 
the name of the new campus. 

 Jedburgh Grammar School has always maintained high standards; 
students go on to university/further studies from a reputable school. If 
something isn't broken why fix it?
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council has assessed attainment at the 
school over a long period and recognises the significant achievements and 
contribution from pupils over many years. However the Council considers that 
there are strong educational benefits to the Proposal to create a new campus, 
which significantly improve the learning and training opportunities for the 
children and young people and these have been verified by Education 
Scotland in their report (see Appendix 2). 

 I think separation between nursery, primary and secondary develops 
you as a person, teaches you inter personal skills and develops 
confidence
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council recognises that some pupils thrive 
on the challenge of transitioning to different stages of education. However the 
creation of a combined campus will allow learners to progress through stages 
of learning at a level appropriate for them. The new campus will afford more 
opportunities for individuals to develop skills and confidence as there will be 
more opportunities for vocational learning/training, volunteering and close 
links across all generations at the campus. Pupils will still transition through 
the separate stages but will always have access to the same high quality 
facilities at every stage.

 Why not just merge the two primary schools and keep the Grammar 
separate? 
Council’s Response: Noted. Given the size of the Jedburgh school 
population the Council considers that the best way to improve the curriculum 
and the standards of education at the Grammar would be to combine all three 
schools. The campus will allow all pupils at all stages to get access to state of 
the art facilities while allowing the teaching resourced to better applied in 
teaching a wider curriculum, thus increasing the opportunities available to the 
pupils.

Page 178



31/Page

 The Grammar school would be an ideal site for the new school. The road 
could be closed and the school layout restructured. The Grammar is in a 
good location for children to access shops and local amenities at lunch 
time on during free periods. They do not have to cross the busy main 
A68 route which passes through the town
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council has carried out a detailed options 
analysis of the sites available in the town. While the Grammar site had some 
positives, the Council considers that the site is too small to incorporate all the 
facilities required for the campus and there are other issues regarding the 
listed buildings and the road that make the site too challenging and put 
delivery of the site at risk. More details of the site analysis are given in 
Appendix 5.

 It’s a great school offers so much to the kids and community
Council’s Response: Noted and Agreed. The Council considers that new 
campus will build on the strengths of the current schools and will offer more 
opportunities to not only the pupils but also the wider community.

Agree (95.0%)
Disagree (2.6%)
Don't Know
(2.4%)

Do you agree with the proposal to close
Howdenburn Schoolhouse with the

educational support provided there being
transferred to the new campus?

9 (2.6%) of the responders disagreed with this Proposal with 4 statutory consultees not 
supporting the Proposal.

Comments in favour of the Proposal
 Being part of the new campus will help children with Additional 

Support Needs feel like they are part of the school and the 
community

 I think all under one campus would be good for continuity for pupils. 
Continuity would be especially good for the pupils who need learning 
support

 Children with special needs are better mixing with children their own 
age.  It brings them on

 Integration for complex needs pupils can only be of benefit for the 
education and future of all concerned

Page 179



32/Page

 I think the schoolhouse a valuable asset to additional needs but not 
the cramped conditions they work in

 Purpose built facilities for additional needs children based in 
Jedburgh would be brilliant

 Makes financial sense to have all the facilities in one place

Summary of Comments not in favour of the Proposal
 This may isolate the children who need additional support and make 

them targets for bullying
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council’s intention is that the pupils with 
Additional Support Needs will be an intrinsic part of campus life.  The Council 
recognises that children with Additional Support Needs thrive in a community 
but that they also need tailor made facilities. The pupils will share the 
resources. The Campus will also allow the opportunity for Additional Support 
Needs pupils to form wider relationships with peers and the Community. The 
new build will offer pupils an enhanced environment for learning with 
opportunities for outdoor education, new and improved additional resources 
and areas for life skills development. The pupils will benefit from the 
opportunities within the campus to develop through work experience and 
Community involvement. The Council intends that children with Additional 
Support Needs will be able to start and complete their education in the town 
and this will look beyond school age and look at life skills and lifetime 
opportunities. There will be links with Borders College so vulnerable people in 
the community can be supported with learning journey, life skills and 
opportunities. 

Agree (94.7%)
Disagree (2.9%)
Don't Know (2.5%)

Do you agree with the proposal to amend the
transition arrangement for P6 and P7 Ancrum

pupils from Parkside to the new campus?

781 (94.7%) responders agreed with this Proposal. 14 (2.9%) responders did not agree 
with the Proposal (14 of these were statutory consultees) and 9 either left the question 
blank or did not know.

Page 180



33/Page

Summary of comments in favour of the Proposal
 It is good that a rural school will still be open 
 Important to keep a primary school in Ancrum for the benefit of the 

village. The current arrangement works well that they transfer in P6
 Improved integration for pupils will assist in the transition to a bigger 

school especially as the difference between them will be so dramatic. 
Greater inclusion of Ancrum in Jedburgh schooling would be beneficial

 Makes financial sense to have all the facilities in one place
 The pupils will make friends and bond earlier
 I feel it is nice for Ancrum learners to join Parkside in P6/7 however for 

the purpose of the campus being built they could join the campus or join 
Denholm

Summary of comments not in favour the Proposal
 As the children attending primary school at the campus will have access 

to the new facilities, the children of Ancrum will miss out. Consideration 
should be given to integrating Ancrum Primary School into the campus 
to save on the running costs of the building, transporting the children 
for sports etc. and then the children of Ancrum would also get to benefit 
from the new facilities
Council’s Response: Noted. It is the Council’s intention that Ancrum remains 
open as the rural primary school option within the cluster. Parents and carers 
will have the option to choose the primary setting they wish. 

Agree (97%)
Disagree (1.9%)
Don’t Know (1.1%)

Do you agree with the proposal to rezone the primary
catchment areas in Jedburgh to the new campus?

781 (97%) of responders agreed with this Proposal with 15 (1.9%) disagreeing and 9 either 
leaving the questions blank or didn’t know. 4 statutory consultees disagreed with the Proposal.

Summary of comments in favour of the Proposal
 Many of the current facilities at these schools are not fit for purpose and 

the students deserve so much better

Page 181



34/Page

 All of the town’s children would be learning together and could be put 
into classes suited to their needs for instance those who need extra 
support in primary school due to things such as dyslexia could be 
helped together

 It will be much easier when children move to secondary school
 One town, one school = no more rivalry and no more favouritism
 All Jedburgh children should benefit as long as the school is big enough 

with no composite classes and enough teachers and assistants to cater 
for all children
Council’s Response: Noted. Class sizes and teacher numbers are 
calculated in line with Scottish Government regulations. 

 It will be safer; having all pupils within one campus also cuts down on 
traffic throughout the areas where Howdenburn & Parkside are located 
at present. School transport would be easier to organise too

 One place for all kids and better facilities make for better education, also 
easier for transport and parents with one drop off point, also brings 
more business and people into the torn and help it to prosper

 Pupils will be with their classmates all the way through all stages of 
education and it will create a single school team ethic

 My only concern would be Ancrum being forgotten about even though 
the decision to keep it open is a fantastic one; which we are all very 
happy about
Council’s Response: It is the Council’s intention that Ancrum continues as a 
rural school option for parents.

 Many of the pupils will already take part in extra-curricular activities that 
are not defined by which school they go to, the re-zoning of the 
catchment zones should take away the issue of which school you attend

Summary of comments not in favour of the Proposal
 The new campus may not be as accessible for parents with a disability

Council’s Response: Noted. It is the Council’s intention that the campus is 
accessible to the whole community. The building and car park will comply fully 
with all current disability and accessibility provisions, regulations and 
legislation.

Page 182



35/Page

Agree (96.7%)
Disagree (2.2%)
Don't Know (1.1%)

Do you agree with the proposal to rezone the
secondary catchment area in Jedburgh to the new

campus?

778 (96.7%) of responders agreed with this Proposal with 18 (2.2%) disagreeing and 9 either 
leaving the question blank or did not know. Only 1 responder who disagreed was a statutory 
consultee.

Summary of comments in support of the Proposal
The comments in support of the catchment change were all comments supporting the concept 
of the campus or that the catchment rezoning was a formality if the campus is to proceed.

Summary of comments not in favour of the Proposal
There were no comments made against this Proposal.

6 EDUCATION SCOTLAND REPORT

6.1 In line with the requirements of the 2010 Act, a report was provided by Education 
Scotland on the educational aspects of the Proposal. This report is attached as 
Appendix 2.

6.2 Issues raised in the Education Scotland Report with regards to the Proposals are set out 
below:

HM Inspectors considered:

“3.1 The proposal has clear educational benefit.  This will allow learning to 
take place for children and young people aged 2-18, bringing greater 
potential for continuity and progression in their learning.  The 
condition of a number of existing educational buildings in the town 
would require significant investment to bring them up to standards 
expected for 21st Century learning.  Improved provision for digital 
technology has the potential to support innovative use by staff and 
pupils.  Sport and recreation facilities will be much improved and on a 
par with those currently enjoyed by children and young people in other 

Page 183



36/Page

parts of the Region.  Importantly, teaching time will be increased 
through improved arrangements for accessing sports pitches.  The 
proposal improves the scope for enhanced joint professional learning 
for teachers and support staff currently working in different locations 
and in separate sectors.  This has the potential to result in more 
flexible approaches to children’s learning in a number of areas, for 
example, science, technology and drama.  The community is very 
positive about the scope to develop further intergenerational learning 
and the positive benefits this will bring, including to developing the 
young workforce.  Greater opportunities for learning linked to the 
world of work will be available to young people of all ages.  The new 
purpose-built accommodation will be an inclusive environment for all 
children and young people, including those with additional support 
needs.  This will allow all age groups to develop and learn important 
life skills in a suitable environment.  All children and young people, 
including those in the nursery provision, will have much better access 
to quality areas to develop their learning outdoors.  The new facilities 
will support the delivery of increased hours for children attending 
early learning and childcare centres.  The creation of a community hub 
within the new campus will benefit the wider community in terms of 
improved opportunities for social and recreational use.  There is also 
potential to support economic development.”
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed. 

HM Inspectors considered:

“3.2     Children, staff and parents from Howdenburn Primary School were very 
positive about the proposal.  Children particularly looked forward to 
improved opportunities for sport, more clubs and activities, showing 
off their art work in nice surroundings, quiet spaces to work.  They 
liked that all of the town’s children would be together in the one site 
where they were learning in the same place as their friends and older 
siblings.  The nursery currently has very limited outdoor space and the 
proposal would improve this significantly. Staff are keen to be 
involved further in making suggestions if the proposal goes ahead.”
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed. If the Proposals proceed, the 
Council intends to work with staff to capture their opinions and ideas 
regarding use of the new campus, the facilities, transition planning and 
proposed changes to the curriculum. 

HM Inspectors considered:

“3.3      All children, staff and parents from Parkside Primary School who spoke 
with HM Inspectors are delighted with the proposal and noted that the 
current school building, particularly the nursery class, were in a poor 
condition.  The school community is very positive about the proposal 
and having more modern up-to date facilities and resources.  Staff 
feel excited about the proposal and to be part of such an innovative 
project.  Currently, children do not have easy access to outdoors and 
the surface is slippery in inclement weather.  They like the community 
use which is being proposed. “

Council’s Response: Noted and agreed.

Page 184



37/Page

“Nursery staff would like more information on arrangements for 
two year old provision and their deployment in a larger provision. “
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed. The Council notes the comments 
from the nursery staff and would advise that a full review of Early Leaning and 
Childcare (ELC) provision in the Borders is currently being undertaken by the 
Council. The review ties in with the Scottish Government’s policy to increase 
ELC funded provision for all eligible 2 years olds and all 3 and 4 year olds 
from 600 to 1140 hours by 2020. The Council will consult fully with nursery 
staff as further guidance is issued by the Government and the plans for the 
increased service evolve.

“Primary stage teachers would like to continue to be involved in any 
future decision-making as plans progress.  They are particularly keen 
to be involved in practical decisions, for example, the campus design 
and how space is used. “
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed. The Council welcomes the 
willingness for teachers to be involved and would advise that, if the 
Proposals proceed, it is the intention to hold workshops to capture the ideas 
and comments from staff regarding the use of space, facilities, transition 
planning and the curriculum.

HM Inspectors considered:

“3.4    Children, staff and parents from Ancrum Primary School who spoke 
with HM Inspectors are all in favour of the proposal.  Their main 
concern was that there is equity in terms of accessing resources, 
particularly digital technology. “
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council will review the current provision 
of resources at Ancrum Primary School and will investigate the options 
available regarding access to the campus and the available technology 
solutions available.

“Parents would also like the Council to explore the possibility of 
having an early learning and childcare setting for children aged three 
to four to encourage local children to attend the school and remain as 
pupils in Ancrum.”
Council’s Response: Noted. The Council is currently undertaking a 
consultation and review of its ELC provision to tie in with the Scottish 
Government proposals to increase funded ELC provision from 600 to 1140 
hours for eligible 2 year olds and all 3 and 4 year olds by 2020. This will 
involve a detailed strategy being developed for each school cluster area. 
As part of this exercise the Council will be considering the demand for ELC 
provision at Ancrum and the viability of providing ELC at this setting. The 
local community will be kept informed as the plans evolve.

“All pupils who met with HM Inspectors considered that the proposal 
was worthwhile.  They were very well informed about the proposal, 
including resources and community use of the building.  They are keen 
to be involved in having a say in the proposed new school.  For 
example, the new school badge, uniform and the name of the campus.”
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed. The Council will consult with 
pupils across the Jedburgh school cluster regarding proposals for the new 
campus including name, badge, uniform and motto.

Page 185



38/Page

“3.5   Parents, staff and young people from Jedburgh Grammar are very 
positive about the proposal.  They saw benefits in greater flexibility 
with staffing and delivery of the curriculum.  The young people look 
forward to improved specialist rooms for science, information and 
communication technology, art and drama that would provide the best 
opportunities, including for school performances and shows.  Young 
people described current traffic arrangements around their school as 
hectic and dangerous.  However, they acknowledged that recently this 
had improved.  Stakeholders all recognised the need for improved 
social areas inside and within the grounds of the proposed new school 
building.  Parents and young people welcome aspects of the proposal 
which will provide opportunities to be more creative, working in 
partnership with the local college and businesses, and in so doing 
widen choices for young people.  Staff are pleased with the prospect of 
less teaching time being lost through easier access to college courses 
and sports facilities.”
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed.

 “ 3.6  If the proposal goes ahead, young people with additional needs, 
including those with autistic spectrum disorders who would be due to 
attend the Howdenburn Schoolhouse, will see the benefits of improved 
accessibility, more appropriate facilities for learning and personal care 
and increased opportunities to socialise with their peer group in the 
new campus.”
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed.

    
“4     HM Inspectors strongly agree that the proposal has the potential to 

bring significant educational benefits to the children, young people 
and community of Jedburgh.  Children, staff, parents and almost all of 
the community are excited and energised by the prospect of the 
enhanced facilities and the improved experiences this will bring for 
children, young people and local residents.  Stakeholders who spoke 
with HM Inspectors were extremely positive about all of the town’s 
children coming together to learn in the one establishment.  The 
proposal will help Scottish Borders Council meet its obligations to 
secure best value by making efficient and effective use of its school 
estate as well as increase the hours for nursery-aged children.  In 
taking the proposal forward, Scottish Borders Council should continue 
to work closely with stakeholders to maintain the strong community 
‘buy-in’ to the development.  In so doing, they should also provide re-
assurance to the few locals who raised concerns that these will be 
addressed appropriately as plans are more fully developed.”
Council’s Response: Noted and agreed. The Council is committed to 
maintaining the strong community ‘buy in’ and will continue to maintain 
communication with the community to keep them informed of progress. The 
Council is committed to working with parties who have concerns regarding 
the proposed new campus and have already undertaken a full pre-planning 
consultation period. More information regarding the proposed location and 
design of the campus was made available at pre planning application 
engagement events. There will be opportunities during the detailed planning 
process for parties to raise further concerns and meet with officers to 
discuss the Proposals.

Page 186



39/Page

 

7 INACURRACIES IN THE PROPOSAL PAPER

There were no material inaccuracies or omissions found or notified to the Council in 
respect of the Proposal Paper.

8 COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY PROCESS                

8.1 Throughout this consultation, the Scottish Borders Council Children and Young People 
Services team has given due regard to the provisions of the Schools (Consultation) 
(Scotland) Act 2010 and Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014.

8.2 The statutory consultation process was robust, with high levels of engagement from the 
local community, and provided an opportunity for all stakeholders to identify key issues. 
Any areas of concern are responded to within Sections 4, 5 and 6. This final 
consultation document seeks to present all information and ask for any further views or 
alternatives to the Proposals to close the current nursery, primary secondary and 
specialist education provision within Jedburgh following the creation of a new 
Intergenerational Learning Campus and the associated rezoning of catchment areas 
and variations to the transition arrangements from Ancrum Primary School. 

8.3 A recommendation will be made to the Council at a meeting to make a final decision on 
the Proposals. The recommendation will be based on the documents and information 
presented in this Consultation Report and will take due cognisance of any further views 
or alternatives to the Proposals expressed during the consultation period regarding this 
Consultation Report.

8.4 Parties are invited to raise any concerns and pose alternative solutions by making 
written or electronic submissions to:

Jedburgh Schools Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council Headquarters 
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA 
or

Email Address: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk; 

If you wish to respond by letter or electronically, you are invited to state your 
relationship with the school – for example, “pupil”, “parent”, “carer”, “relative”, “former 
pupil”, “teacher in school”, “member of the community” etc. Responses from Parent 
Councils, Staff and Pupil Councils are particularly welcome.

Page 187

mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk


40/Page

Those sending in a response, whether by letter or electronically should know that their 
response will be open to public scrutiny and may have to be supplied to anyone making 
a reasonable request to see it. If they do not wish their response to be made publicly 
available, they should clearly write on the document: “I wish my response to be 
considered as confidential with access restricted to Councillors and Council Officers of 
Scottish Borders Council”. Otherwise, it will be assumed that the person making the 
response agrees to it being made publicly available.

For any written or electronic response to be considered it must be received by the 
Council no later than 5.00pm on the last day of the consultation period 6 November 
2017.

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SERVICES
SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL

13 October 2017

Page 188



41/Page

Appendix 1 – Proposal Paper dated 8 May 2017

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES 
JEDBURGH CONSULTATION PROPOSAL PAPER 

CONSULTATION PERIOD FROM 8th MAY 2017 TO 18th JUNE 2017

It is proposed that, subject to the outcome of this statutory consultation process as set out in the 
Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 (as amended):

(1) An Intergenerational Learning Campus be built in Jedburgh;
(2) Howdenburn Primary School be permanently closed;
(3) Howdenburn Nursery be permanently closed;
(4) Parkside Primary School be permanently closed;
(5) Parkside Nursery be permanently closed;
(6) Jedburgh Grammar School be permanently closed;
(7) Howdenburn Schoolhouse be permanently closed with the educational support for 

secondary aged pupils with Additional Support Needs being transferred to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus;

(8) The policy regarding pupils from Ancrum Primary School transitioning to Parkside 
Primary School for P6 and P7 be amended to facilitate transition to the Intergenerational 
Learning Campus;

(9) The primary school catchment zones be rezoned from Howdenburn Primary School and 
Parkside Primary School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus; and

(10) The secondary school catchment zone be rezoned from Jedburgh Grammar School to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus.

Pupils attending Denholm Primary School and Hobkirk Primary School have the option to elect to 
attend either Jedburgh Grammar School or Hawick High School for secondary education and 
accordingly the following schools are affected by the Proposals:

(1) Howdenburn Primary School and Nursery
(2) Howdenburn Schoolhouse
(3) Parkside Primary School and Nursery
(4) Jedburgh Grammar School
(5) Ancrum Primary School
(6) Denholm Primary School
(7) Hobkirk Primary School

This Proposal Paper has been issued by Scottish Borders Council Children and Young 
People’s Services in terms of the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010. as amended

Page 189



42/Page

8th May 2017

1. THE PROPOSALS

1.1 Statutory Context

This Proposal Paper has been prepared by Scottish Borders Council’s Children and Young 
People’s Services in accordance with the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010, as 
amended (the 2010 Act).

The 2010 Act sets out a consultation procedure that a Local Authority must follow for certain 
proposals affecting schools in their area. The current proposals to:-

1. Build an Intergenerational Learning Campus in Jedburgh;
2. Close Howdenburn Primary School;
3. Close Howdenburn Nursery;
4. Close Parkside Primary School;
5. Close Parkside Nursery;
6. Close Jedburgh Grammar School;
7. Close Howdenburn Schoolhouse with the educational support for secondary aged pupils 

with Additional Support Needs being transferred to the Intergenerational Learning 
Campus;

8. Amend the arrangements for pupils from Ancrum Primary School transitioning to Parkside 
Primary School for P6 and P7 to facilitate transition to the Intergenerational Learning 
Campus;

9. Rezone primary school catchment zones from Howdenburn Primary School and Parkside 
Primary School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus; and

10. Rezone the secondary school catchment zone from Jedburgh Grammar School to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus.

are deemed relevant proposals in terms of the 2010 Act (the Proposals) and are therefore 
subject to the statutory consultation procedure specified in the 2010 Act.

None of the schools proposed for closure in the Proposals is a rural school in terms of the 
Scottish Government’s Rural Schools List 2015.

1.2 Proposals and Affected Schools

It is proposed that, subject to the outcome of this statutory consultation process, a new 
Intergenerational Learning Campus is built in Jedburgh to provide a single campus site for 
learning and education for all within Jedburgh. The Campus will not only provide an innovative 
and flexible environment for learning for the whole community but will also comprise sports 
facilities and a community hub for recreational space and public services. The Campus will 
provide a secondary age setting specifically designed for young people across the Borders with 
Additional Support Needs. The existing schools, school nurseries and Howdenburn Schoolhouse 
within Jedburgh will then be closed with the catchments consolidated to the Intergenerational 
Learning Campus.

Pupils attending Denholm Primary School and Hobkirk Primary School (currently mothballed) have 
the option to attend either Jedburgh Grammar School or Hawick High School for secondary 
education and accordingly these Proposals have implications on:-

2

Page 190



43/Page

8th May 2017

1. Howdenburn Primary School;
2. Howdenburn Nursery;
3. Howdenburn Schoolhouse;
4. Parkside Primary School;
5. Parkside Nursery;
6. Jedburgh Grammar School;
7. Ancrum Primary School;
8. Denholm Primary School; and
9. Hobkirk Primary School (currently mothballed).

which are all deemed Affected Schools in terms of the 2010 Act.

The proposed date for the opening of the new Intergenerational Learning Campus is 31st March 
2020. However there may need to be flexibility for transition for staff and pupils from the existing 
schools. Therefore it is proposed that the closure of Howdenburn Primary School and Nursery, 
Parkside Primary School and Nursery, Howdenburn Schoolhouse and Jedburgh Grammar School 
will be implemented following the opening of the new Campus.

3

Page 191



44/Page

8th May 2017

2. SUMMARY OF THE PROCESS FOR THIS PROPOSAL PAPER

PUBLICATION INFORMATION 

2.1 Proposal Paper Published

2.1.1 The proposal paper will be available for inspection, free of charge, at:
 Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells,TD6 0SA
 Howdenburn Primary School and Nursery, Jedburgh,TD8 6LA
 Howdenburn Schoolhouse, Jedburgh, TD8 6LA
 Parkside Primary School and Nursery, Jedburgh, TD8 6HD
 Jedburgh Grammar School, Jedburgh TD8 6DQ
 Ancrum Primary School, Jedburgh, TD8 6XA
 Denholm Primary School, Denholm, TD9 8LZ
 Laidlaw Memorial Hall, Bonchester Bridge, TD9
 Jedburgh Library, 23 Castle Gate, Jedburgh, TD8 6AS

and published on the Scottish Borders Council website:
www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh 

2.1.2 Copies of this Proposal Paper are also available on request from:

Jedburgh School Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA
Telephone: 01835 825080
E-mail: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk

2.1.3 This Proposal Paper is available in alternative formats or in translated form for readers whose 
first language is not English. Please apply to:

Jedburgh School Consultation
Children & Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA
Telephone: 01835 825080
E-mail: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk

2.1.4 Formal notice of the Proposals and relevant information will be given and be made available, 
free of charge, to the consultees listed as follows:
 the parents/carers of the children who attend Howdenburn Primary School, 

Howdenburn Nursery, Howdenburn Schoolhouse, Parkside Primary School, Parkside 
Nursery, Jedburgh Grammar School, Ancrum Primary School, Denholm Primary School 
and Hobkirk Primary School (the Affected Schools);

 the Parent Councils of the Affected Schools;

4

Page 192

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk


45/Page

8th May 2017

 the parent/carers of any children likely to attend the Affected Schools or any Affected 
School within two years of the date of the publication of the Proposals Paper;

 the pupils attending the Affected Schools insofar as the Education Authority considers 
them to be of a suitable age and maturity;

 any Trade Union which is representative of the staff;
 the Staff (teaching and non-teaching) at the Affected Schools;
 the Community Councils of Jedburgh; Ancrum; Denholm and District; Hobkirk; Jed 

Valley; Lanton; Oxnam Water; Crailing, Eckford and Nisbet.
 the community planning partnership (as defined in section 4(5) of the Community 

Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015) for the area where any Affected School is 
situated or any other community planning partnership that the Education Authority 
considers relevant;

 the constituency Member of the Scottish Parliament;
 the constituency Member of Parliament;
 the List Members of the Scottish Parliament.

2.2 Advertisement in Local Media

Advertisements were placed in the relevant local media the weeks beginning 1st and 8th May, 
giving the dates for the consultation period and for public meetings.

2.3 Consultation Period

The consultation for this Proposal will run from 8th May 2017 and will end on 18th June
2017. This period allows for the statutory minimum of six weeks, including at least thirty school 
days.

2.4 Public Meetings

A public meeting will be held, the details of which are set out below:

30th May 2017 at 7pm
at
Jedburgh Grammar School
High Street
Jedburgh
TD8 6DQ

2.5 Format of Public Meeting

Anyone wishing to attend the public meeting is invited to do so. The meeting, which will be 
convened by Scottish Borders Council, will be addressed by the Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and other relevant parties.

The meetings will provide an opportunity to:

 Hear more about the Proposals

5

Page 193



46/Page

8th May 2017

 Ask questions about the Proposals
 Have your views recorded so that they can be taken into account as part of the Proposals 

process.

A note will be taken at the meeting of comments, questions and officer responses. These notes 
will be published on the Council website and a copy will be made available on request. These 
notes will be forwarded to Education Scotland, along with other submissions and comments 
received by the Council during the consultation process.

2.6 Meetings with Pupils and Staff

Meetings will be held with pupils and staff in the Affected Schools. A record of questions, 
responses and views will be taken and this will be published in the Consultation Report.

3. RESPONSES TO THE PROPOSAL

3.1 A consultation regarding a proposed change to your child’s or your community’s school
is your chance to share your views. Your responses can really shape and influence future 
decisions; you can play your part by:

 Submitting a written or electronic response to Scottish Borders Council as outlined below;
 Attending the public meeting on 30th May at Jedburgh Grammar School and asking 

questions;
 Speaking to your local Councillors;
 Engaging with your school’s Parent Council. The Parent Council can play a key role in 

engaging with the Council throughout the process;
 Make representations as part of your Community;
 Informing Scottish Borders Council if you think that this Proposal Paper has significant 

inaccuracies or omissions.

3.2 All interested parties are invited to respond to the Proposal by making written or electronic 
submissions on the Proposal to:

Jedburgh School Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA
Or

Web Address: www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh

3.3 A response form is available from Children & Young People’s Services, Scottish Borders
Council, Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA or online at
www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh.  A copy of the response form is provided in 
Appendix 4

6

Page 194

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh


47/Page

8th May 2017

3.4 Use of the response form is not compulsory If you wish to respond by letter or electronically, you 
are invited to state your relationship with the school – for example, “pupil”, “parent”, “carer”, 
“relative”, “former pupil”, “teacher in school”, “member of the community” etc. Responses from 
Parent Councils, staff and Pupil Councils are particularly welcome.

3.5 Those sending in a response, whether by letter or electronically, should note that their
response will be open to public scrutiny and may be supplied to anyone making a reasonable 
request to see it. If they do not wish their response to be made publicly available, they should 
clearly write on the document: “I wish my response to be considered as confidential with access 
restricted to Councillors and Council Officers of Scottish Borders Council”. Otherwise, it will be 
assumed that the person making the response agrees to it being made publicly available.

3.6 All written responses must be received by the last day of the consultation period, 18th

June 2017 at 5.00pm.

3.7 Education Scotland has prepared guidance regarding School Consultations. This can be
accessed at Education Scotland's Guidance on School Consultations.

4. INVOLVEMENT OF EDUCATION SCOTLAND

A copy of this Proposal document will be sent to Education Scotland by Scottish Borders Council. 
Education Scotland will also receive a copy of any relevant written representations that are received 
by the Council from any person during the consultation period or, if Education Scotland agree, a 
summary of them. Education Scotland will further receive a summary of any oral representations made 
to the Council at the public meeting that will be held and, as available (and so far as otherwise 
practicable), a copy of any other relevant documentation. Education Scotland will then prepare a 
report on the educational aspects of the proposal not later than 3 weeks after the Council has sent 
them all representations and documents mentioned above. In some cases, it is possible for them to 
extend the 3 weeks with the agreement of the Authority. However, for the avoidance of doubt, the 3 
week period will not start until after the consultation period has ended. In preparing their report, 
Education Scotland may enter the affected school(s) and make such reasonable enquiries of such 
people there as they consider appropriate and may make such reasonable enquiries of such other 
people as they consider appropriate.

5. PREPARATION OF CONSULTATION REPORT

5.1 The Council will review the Proposals having regard to the Education Scotland report, the written 
representations that it has received and oral representations made to it by any person at the 
public meeting. It will then prepare a Consultation Report.

5.2 This Report will be published in electronic and printed formats and will be advertised in
local newspapers. It will be available on the Council web-site and from Council Headquarters, 
public libraries in the vicinity of the Affected Schools, as well as the Affected Schools, free of 
charge. Anyone who made written representations during the consultation period will also be 
informed about the report. The report will include a record of the total number of written 
representations made during the consultation period, a summary of the written representations, a 
summary of the oral representations made at the public meeting, the Authority’s response to the 
Education Scotland Report

7

Page 195



48/Page

8th May 2017

as well as any written or oral representations it has received, together with a copy of the 
Education Scotland Report and any other relevant information, including details of any alleged 
inaccuracies and how these have been handled.

5.3 The Consultation Report will also contain a statement explaining how it complied with the
requirement to review the Proposal in light of the report by Education Scotland and 
representations (both written and oral) that it received.

5.4 The Consultation Report will be published and available for further consideration for a period of 
three weeks, before it is presented to Full Council at the next scheduled Council meeting.

6. NOTE ON CORRECTIONS

If any inaccuracy or omission is discovered in this Proposal Paper, either by Scottish Borders Council or 
any person, Scottish Borders Council will determine if relevant information has been omitted or there 
has been an inaccuracy. It will then take appropriate action which may include the issue of a correction 
or the re-issuing of the Proposal Paper, or the revision of the timescale for the consultation period, if 
appropriate. In that event, relevant consultees and Education Scotland will be advised

7 SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL DECISION AND SCOTTISH MINISTERS CALL-IN

7.1 No decision will be taken in regard to the Proposals or any changes put into effect by either 
Scottish Borders Council or the Scottish Borders Council’s Executive (Education) Committee 
until the statutory consultation process has been properly completed.

7.2 If the Scottish Borders Council makes a final decision to implement the Proposals, it will 
require to notify the Scottish Ministers of that decision, and provide them with a copy of the 
Proposal document and Consultation Report. This must be done within 6 working days of 
that decision. The Education Authority must also publish on its website the fact that it has 
notified Scottish Ministers of its decision and of the period during which consultees have 
the opportunity to make representations to Ministers.

7.3 The Scottish Ministers have an 8 week period from the date of that final decision to decide if 
they will call-in the Proposals regarding a closure. During the first three weeks of this period, 
anyone is able to make representations to Ministers on whether the decision should be 
called-in. Within the first 3 weeks of that 8 week period, the Scottish Ministers will take 
account of any relevant representations made to them by any person. Until the outcome of 
the 8 week call-in process is known, the Authority cannot proceed to implement the 
Proposals. Ministers may come to a decision sooner than eight weeks (but not before the 
three weeks for representations to be made to them has elapsed).

7.4 The Scottish Ministers may issue a call-in notice only if it appears to the Scottish Ministers 
that the Education Authority has:-

7.4.1 failed, in significant regard, to comply with the requirements of the 2010 Act in terms of 
the closure Proposals; or

8

Page 196



49/Page

8th May 2017

7.4.2 failed to take proper account of a material consideration relevant to the
decision to implement the Proposals.

7.5 If Scottish Ministers decide to call in a closure Proposal, they must refer it to the
Convener of the School Closure Review Panels for determination by a School Closure 
Review Panel. The Scottish Borders Council as the Education Authority may not implement 
the closure Proposals (wholly or partly) unless the Panel has granted consent to it (with or 
without conditions) and either the period for making an appeal to the Sheriff has expired or, if 
an appeal has been made, it has either been abandoned or the Sheriff has confirmed the 
Panel’s decision.

7.6 The School Closure Review Panel may refuse to consent to the closure Proposals,
refuse consent and remit the Proposals back to the Scottish Borders Council as the 
Education Authority or grant their consent to the Proposals subject to conditions or 
unconditionally.

7.7 The 2010 Act, as amended, gives Ministers and School Closure Review Panels the
right to call on advice from Education Scotland in relation to a closure Proposal at the call-in 
or determination stage.

Note

This consultation is being conducted having regard to the terms of the Schools (Consultation) 
(Scotland) Act 2010 as amended.

The 2010 Act’s principal purpose is to provide strong, accountable statutory consultation 
practices and procedures that local authorities must apply to their handling of all proposals for 
school closures and other major changes to schools. These consultation processes are 
expected to be robust, open, transparent and fair, and seen to be so. They are also expected to 
be consistent across Scotland.

9

Page 197



50/Page

8th May 2017

SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES 

THIS IS A PROPOSAL DOCUMENT

PROPOSALS

It is proposed that, subject to the outcome of this Statutory Consultation exercise:-

 A new Intergenerational Learning Campus be built in Jedburgh;

 Howdenburn Primary School be permanently closed;

 Howdenburn Nursery be permanently closed;

 Parkside Primary School be permanently closed;

 Parkside Nursery be permanently closed;

 Howdenburn Schoolhouse be permanently closed with the educational support for secondary pupils 
with Additional Support Needs being transferred to the Intergenerational Learning Campus;

 Jedburgh Grammar School be permanently closed;

 The policy regarding pupils from Ancrum Primary School transitioning to Parkside Primary School for 
P6 and P7 be amended to facilitate transition to the Intergenerational Learning Campus;

 The primary school catchment zones in Jedburgh be rezoned from Howdenburn Primary School and 
Parkside Primary School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus; and

 The secondary school catchment zone be rezoned from Jedburgh Grammar to the Intergenerational 
Learning Campus.

BACKGROUND

1 JEDBURGH AND THE LOCAL AREA

1.1 Jedburgh sits within the Cheviot area of the Scottish Borders which is the
smallest of the five Borders localities. This area covers a geographical area of 
approximately 728 km2. The population in this area is the second smallest within the 
region. There are only 3 towns in the area with over 1,000 people; Kelso (6,821), 
Jedburgh (3,961) and St Boswells (1,466) and only one village in the locality with a 
population over 500, Yetholm (618). These towns are home to 65% of the area’s 
population.

10

Page 198



51/Page

8th May 2017

1.2 The Cheviot area has 3,008 children aged 0-15 within it, making up 15% of the
population, with about one third living in smaller rural settlements of under 500 people. 
The number of children in the area has been slowly declining, with an 8% drop since 
2001.

1.3 The working population within Cheviot is 2% lower than the average across the
Scottish Borders. The Council has identified that there is a missing section of young and 
working age people in the Cheviot population. In particular the Jedburgh and District ward, 
which based on current trends, could lose almost a fifth of its working age population by 
2037.

1.4 More detail about the Cheviot area can be found in the Cheviot Extract of the
Scottish Borders Community Planning Partnership 2016 Strategic Assessment:

https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/file/2448/strategicassessment-
cheviotarea

1.5 The Jedburgh area map can be viewed at:

https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap 

2  S C H O O L S

2.1 In the town of Jedburgh there are:-

2.1.1 Two Primary Schools (which also provide Early Learning and Childcare):-Howdenburn 
Primary School and Nursery and Parkside Primary School and Nursery;

2.1.2 One secondary School: - Jedburgh Grammar School;

2.1.3 Additional Support Needs educational support for secondary aged pupils at Howdenburn 
Schoolhouse.

2.2 Ancrum Primary School located in the nearby village of Ancrum also falls within the catchment of 
Jedburgh Grammar School. Pupils attending Ancrum Primary School currently transition to 
Parkside Primary School in Jedburgh for P6 and P7. There is a shared head teacher between 
Ancrum Primary School and Parkside Primary School.

2.3 Pupils attending Denholm Primary School in Denholm, Hawick have the option to elect to attend 
either Jedburgh Grammar School or Hawick High School for their secondary education. 
Transportation is provided for both.

2.4 The catchment areas for Jedburgh are indicated on the map attached in Appendix 1. 

2.5 The current school roll and projected school rolls for the existing schools are summarised below.

11

Page 199

https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/file/2448/strategicassessment
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/download/544/cheviotareamap


52/Page

8th May 2017

Jedburgh Cluster: School Rolls and Projections

Capacity 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Ancrum 66 36 55% 32 48% 32 48% 28 42% 31 47% 31 47%

Howdenburn 274 128 47% 146 53% 146 54% 147 54% 158 58% 167 61%

Parkside 289 196 68% 205 71% 210 73% 197 68% 191 66% 186 64%

Jedburgh Grammar 631 344 55% 345 55% 345 55% 315 50% 319 51% 323 51%

2.6 The Schools have all been consistently operating well below capacity and currently operate at 
an average of 58% of capacity. This has been consistent over the last 5 years and is not 
projected to change significantly based on the current school structure in the town, with a 
significant number of children within catchment submitting placement requests.

2.7 In line with the Council’s asset management strategy condition surveys are undertaken on a rolling 
programme by team led by a chartered building surveyor. The suitability assessment is 
undertaken by the Head Teacher and validated by Senior Managers within Education and Children’s 
Services. These assessments are undertaken approximately every four years unless significant 
building or operational change has occurred within the school requiring additional assessment.

2.8 The definition and assessment categorisations are set by the Scottish Government as follows:

Condition - an assessment of the physical condition of the school and its grounds.

A:Good Performing well and operating efficiently
B:Satisfactory Performing adequately but showing minor deterioration
C: Poor Showing major defect and/or not operating adequately
D: Bad Life expired and/or serious risk of imminent failure

Suitability - an assessment of the school as a whole, its buildings and its grounds and of the 
impact these have on learning and teaching, leisure and social activities and the health and 
well-being of all users:

A:Good Performing well and operating efficiently
B:Satisfactory Performing well but with minor problems
C: Poor Showing major problems and/or not operating optimally
D: Poor Does not support the delivery of services to children and

communities

12

Page 200



53/Page

8th May 2017

2.9 The Jedburgh School Cluster is rated

Jedburgh School Cluster Ratings

Year Built Surve
y Date

Condition Suitability

Ancrum Primary 1866 2011 B B
Howdenburn 
Nursery 1974 2015 C B

Howdenburn 
Primary 1974 2015 C B

Parkside Nursery 1956 2015 D* C
Parkside Primary 1956 2015 C C
Jedburgh Grammar 1890 to 2000 2016 C C

* Building life expired. Requires to be replaced

2.10 Further details of each School proposed for closure are contained in Appendix 2

REASONS FOR FORMULATING THE PROPOSAL

3 VISION

3.1 Scottish Borders Council works to enhance quality of life, make best use of public
resources and ensure continuously improving services. The Scottish Borders Corporate 
Plan 2013-18 aims to ensure that individuals, families and communities experience the 
best possible outcomes from a range of services.

3.2 Scottish Borders Council has a strong identity and clear priorities which everyone
works together to achieve, creating areas which are vibrant and successful; safe, secure, 
healthy and sustainable environments; educated, responsible and informed citizens; 
confident and active communities; and places where people are nurtured and supported. 
This approach reflects the Single Outcome Agreement 2013, National Outcome 16 that 
“Our public services are high quality, continually improving, efficient and responsive to 
local people’s needs”, and the Local Outcome that “Our services will be responsive, of 
high quality and continually improving”.

3.3 Scottish Borders Council is committed to promoting exemplary education
environments to support dynamic learner progression from early years through to entry 
into employment, vocational study or further and higher education. The Council considers 
that schools estate investment benefits the wider community. An improved education 
offering within a community can be a critical to the local economy’s prospects.

3.4 The Council believes that the provision of 2-18 years education when supported
by an innovative, flexible, safe, sustainable and accessible environment can both benefit 
individuals in terms of opportunity to develop and optimise potential within the wider 
community.

4 PRE-CONSULTATION AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

4.1 In February 2016 the Council’s Executive (Education) Committee agreed to
commence a pre-consultation process regarding the current school estate provision and 
what the future school estate school should aspire to look like

13

Page 201



54/Page

8th May 2017

across the Borders region. The Council undertook to engage with all stakeholders to obtain 
information and opinions regarding the current school estate and to seek views and ideas 
in respect of the vision of the future school estate.

4.2 The five strategic principles that were adopted when reviewing the school estate
were:-

4.2.1 Increased educational opportunities;

4.2.2 Improved outcomes for children and young people;

4.2.3 Sustainability;

4.2.4 Future proofing the school estate;

4.2.5 Affordability.

4.3 The pre-consultation was promoted through letters, school mail, press releases,
social media, posters and newsletters with nine consultation events held in each High 
School in the region.

4.4 The Community of Jedburgh provided the highest level of engagement in the
Region during this pre-consultation process with consistent requests for engagement with 
the Council regarding the future education provision within the
Jedburgh school cluster. There were concerns expressed regarding:-

4.4.1 the condition of the school buildings which were generally considered to be poor;

4.4.2 the condition of Parkside Primary School, in particular the nursery was considered 
to be in very poor condition with restricted outdoor space;

4.4.3 the quality of the facilities; in particular the sports provision at Jedburgh Grammar 
School, with no astro-turf pitches and poor hockey facilities. It was considered that 
the facilities were not equal to those offered at other schools within the Borders;

4.4.4 the requirement for investment in the buildings, which was considered to have fallen 
behind other schools within the Borders;

4.4.5 the inconsistent catchment arrangements;

4.4.6 the challenges to sustain a broad curriculum for all pupils from 2-18 years old;

4.4.7 the safety implications of the road that runs through the Jedburgh Grammar
School site, and the school transportation to the school; and

4.4.8 the traffic congestion around Parkside Primary School and Jedburgh Grammar 
School.

4.5 Following this engagement process, the Council’s Executive (Education)
Committee in September 2016 agreed to delegate authority to the Service Director 
(Children & Young People’s Services) to proceed with the commencement of a focused 
pre-consultation process regarding the future of education in the town of Jedburgh to 
consider:-

4.5.1 The education structures within Jedburgh;

4.5.1 The secondary catchment areas;

14

Page 202



55/Page

8th May 2017

4.5.2 The requirement for investment in the school buildings and facilities;

4.5.3 The curriculum and structure of learning.

4.6 An initial scoping exercise was undertaken on 20th September 2016 with
members of the Jedburgh Ward of the Council, the Council’s Education Portfolio 
spokesperson was in attendance. Several meetings were also held with the chairs of the 
Parents Councils.

4.7 From this scoping exercise a range of educational delivery and property options
were identified for further consideration, with external architectural and cost advisors 
being appointed to prepare a range of possible options.

4.8 A range of options were identified, with particular focus on the delivery of an
integrated campus style educational offer in Jedburgh to provide education and learning 
opportunities to the catchment from 2-18 years and for the wider Community. Using the 
Scottish Government metrics to determine an approximate area for a new school to meet 
the needs of 1,084 pupils with the requirement for the following;-

Proposed Intergenerational Learning Campus Capacity

Proposed Capacity
(Pupils)

Gross Internal Floor
Area

Early Learning and Childcare 100 750 m2
Primary 434 3,255m2
Secondary 500 4,800m2
Additional Support Needs 50* 700m2

Further Education & Adult Learning 600 m2
Community 1,050 m2

Total 1,084 11,155 m2
*Assumed requirement

OPTIONS ANALYSIS

5.1 Feasibility work has been undertaken to consider the options for the development
of the proposed Intergenerational Learning Campus in conjunction with key stakeholders 
connected with the Jedburgh School cluster.

5.2 The Council has held discussions with the Scottish Government, regarding the
proposal to build an Intergenerational Learning Campus in Jedburgh. The Government 
has confirmed that it will support the proposal through the Scottish Schools for the Future 
programme subject to a positive statutory consultation.

5.3 Development land in Jedburgh is restricted by the topography and the road
infrastructure and much of the historic core of the town is a conservation area. Four 
different site locations were identified that had the capacity to accommodate a 
consolidated campus that would combine all the current schools and nurseries on one 
site.

5.4 The sites identified are all reasonably central to the town and, given the walkable
scale of Jedburgh the co-location of the schools, would not disadvantage pupils and 
parents compared to what is currently experienced. Critically all the sites are

15

Page 203



56/Page

8th May 2017

on land owned by Scottish Borders Council, therefore removing the biggest capital risk to 
the project.

5.5 The Council has considered the critical factors of location, site capacity,
environment, access and egress, Safe Routes to School, ground conditions, adjacent land 
use infrastructure capacity, costs and timings/phasings when appraising the options.

5.6 The sites identified were:-

5.6.1 The Jedburgh Grammar School Site - This option would retain the public road 
running through the site and the new Campus would comprise a series of 
separate buildings located on the land to either side of the road. Any 
development would be phased as it would require redevelopment of existing 
school buildings, some of which are listed, and accordingly there would be a 
requirement to decant pupils during the construction phase. As the site is 
restricted in size, the site of the current sports facilities would require to be 
utilised to accommodate the Campus buildings. Therefore all the sports facilities 
would need to be located off site and locations to the east side of the river have 
been identified.

5.6.2 Howdenburn Primary School Campus Site – This option would locate a new 
2-18 campus on a similar location to the existing primary school. Decanting of 
pupils would be required during the construction phase. The new Campus 
building would take up a large part of the site leaving sufficient external space 
for 1 synthetic pitch to the southern part of the land with an additional off site 
being required for further sports facilities. Access to the school would be by way 
of the existing public roads, all of which are residential streets.

5.6.3 Hartrigge Park Site - The Council own a large area of land to the south east of 
the town known as Hartrigge Park. Options have been developed that would 
allow a single campus and all its facilities on one site. The land is slightly further 
from town centre than the others and rises approximately 30m in height. The 
architect has acknowledged this level difference and developed sub-options with 
a single campus building and external playing fields/synthetic pitches. The 
layouts also envisage options for additional access points to this land that will 
require alteration to the surrounding road network.

5.6.4 Canongate Site – A central site including open green space to the east of the 
Abbey and a car park. Given its location and historical context this site would 
require sensitive development and there is potential of site contamination. A 
campus style building would be possible on the existing Council car park and it 
is envisaged that a replacement car park would be required, probably on the site 
of the existing Grammar School. The land available in this tighter town centre 
environment is not sufficient to allow external sports pitches sports pitches and 
land has been identified to the south but is it noted that this area of land is 
adjacent to the Jed Water and could be at risk of periodic flooding.

5.7 From initial analysis the preferred option is Hartrigge Park and site exploration has 
commenced on this site. A map indicating the proposed site is attached in Appendix 3. 
This has been identified as the preferred option as:-

16

Page 204



57/Page

8th May 2017

5.7.1 The site is large enough to incorporate all the facilities required for the proposed 
innovative Intergenerational Learning Campus, recreational facilities and 
Community hub;

5.7.2 The construction of the new Campus at this site would not require disruption to 
existing schools;

5.7.3 The site can be designed to optimise Safe Routes to School to include safe and 
separate pedestrian and vehicular access, with distinct drop off spaces for cars 
and buses;

5.7.4 The site is large enough to also incorporate additional public services to be 
relocated to reduce the public sector footprint;

5.7.5 The site is deliverable within the proposed timeframe as it is a vacant site entirely 
within Council ownership.

6 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT EVENTS 25TH AND 26TH APRIL 2017

6. Public Engagement events were held at Jedburgh Grammar School on 25th and
26th April 2017. These were advertised through letters to parents/carers and community 
groups, where the Council shared information regarding

6.1.1 The Schools Estate Review process;

6.1.2 The vision for the Intergenerational Learning Campus;

6.1.3 The Educational and wider community benefits of the proposed Campus;

6.1.4 The design and build process of the proposed new Campus; and

6.1.5 The Statutory Consultation process.

6.2 The Public Engagement events were extremely well attended, reflecting a high
level of interest within the town and the surrounding community. A large number of 
attendees expressed their support of the vision being proposed by the Council of the 
intergenerational campus, learning opportunities for all and to the Council’s proposed site. 
There were questions and concerns raised regarding:-

6.2.1 the location of the proposed site; particularly:-

6.2.1.1 vehicular access;

6.2.1.2 location of the proposed buildings;

6.2.1.3 potential disruption to residents and local businesses during the build 
programme;

6.2.1.4 nature and content of the sports facilities

6.2.1.5 potential disruption to residents as a consequence of evening use of 
the sports facilities.

6.2.2 the community facilities – in particular the vocational and adult
education offer;

6.2.3 proposals that will be put in place to retain the benefits, character and
ethos of a small school;

6.2.4. the proposed name of the Campus;

17

Page 205



58/Page

8th May 2017

6.2.5 safety proposals for the site and pupils.

6.3 All written response and questions raised at the Q&A sessions have been recorded by the 
Council and will be fully considered during the Statutory Consultation Process.

6.4 This Proposal Paper is being submitted for formal statutory consultation following 
completion of an extensive pre- consultation exercise.

7  P R O P O S A L S

Why is the Education Campus required?

7.1.1.1 During the pre-consultation process it was evident that there was strong demand 
within the Community for changes to the education provision in Jedburgh. In 
particular there were concerns regarding the fabric and facilities of each of the 
school buildings and the breadth of the curriculum on offer. The pupils at 
Jedburgh Grammar School were markedly very vocal about the poor sporting 
and social facilities at their school. It was clear that investment into the school 
estate is required to address the issues and concerns raised to ensure that the 
estate was brought to a standard to optimise the learning potential within 
Jedburgh.

7.1.1.2 The Council regularly carries out full surveys of the school buildings within the 
town and has identified that all of the buildings are rated as Category C - Poor 
showing major defect and/or not operating adequately, with Parkside Nursery 
currently rated D – Life expired.

7.1.1.3 The Council has identified several significant issues regarding the fabric of the 
current school buildings within the town, including heating and ventilation and 
asbestos being located in parts of the buildings. The dining facilities are 
inadequate at Jedburgh Grammar School and Howdenburn Primary School does 
not have a secure reception. Parkside Nursery is of particular concern and 
should be replaced. It is estimated that to remedy all the immediate defects in 
each of the schools would cost in excess of £1.64m however this would not 
result in a significantly higher rating of each school in terms of Suitability or 
Condition.

7.1.1.4 The capacity of the current schools buildings does not reflect the size of the 
Jedburgh catchment. The three schools proposed for closure currently operate 
at an average of 58% of capacity. This has been fairly consistent over the last 5 
years. This is not an efficient or effective use of facilities or resources.

7.1.1.5 Catchment across the area is also inconsistent. In 2016/17 there were 88 pupils 
(26%) from the Jedburgh Grammar School catchment attending other schools 
within the region. This includes 59 out of the 98 secondary pupils who live within 
in the catchment zones for Denholm and Hobkirk Primary Schools who had the 
option to choose between Jedburgh Grammar School and Hawick High School 
for secondary education and elected to attend Hawick High School. While the 
decision to attend a school outwith catchment can be attributed to a number of 
factors, including logistics, many parents have highlighted reasons including 
wider subject choices and better facilities, particularly for music and sport being 
available at other schools. Similarly there is a degree of fluidity between the 
catchments of both primary schools in the town.

18

Page 206



59/Page

8th May 2017

7.1.1.6 The current size and structure of the Jedburgh Grammar School restricts
the ability to offer the breadth of curriculum that is available at other schools across 
the region. Given the relatively small size of the school, over 80% of classes at 
Jedburgh Grammar School are bi or tri-level classes, which is challenging for pupils 
and staff. The size of the school also impacts on the allocation of funding across a 
range of areas e.g. Pupil Equity Fund, which can be limited due to the smaller pupil 
roll and the limited economies of scale in creating posts.

7.1.1.7 Staff at Jedburgh Grammar School have expressed frustration that the
scale of the school limits their ability to provide the range of learning experiences 
for the young people that are available at larger schools in the
region. It is challenging for staff to have the same opportunity to 
collaborate regarding production of curriculum materials or development of course 
work to improve the curriculum. Staff also highlighted the challenges of managing 
the level of differentiation required in teaching bi and tri-level classes, which does 
not happen in the larger schools. Recruitment and retention of staff is considered 
challenging.

7.1.1.8 Attainment at Jedburgh Grammar School is inconsistent and analysis by
the Council indicates that the size and structure of the school is a restrictive factor 
in delivering the design principles of the Curriculum for Excellence as it does not 
always facilitate the level of teaching time required to maximise the children’s 
learning potential

7.1.1.9 The Council has carried out wider analysis of the quality of life indicators in
Jedburgh and general statistical data which indicates that there is a “missing 
section” of young working-age people in the Cheviot population. The Jedburgh & 
District Ward in particular could lose almost a fifth of its working-age population by 
2037 based on current trends. The Council has therefore identified a need to 
provide vocational education and training to the plug the skills gap and meet the 
training needs for a young workforce.

7.1.1.10 Parents in the Jedburgh catchment are concerned about the barriers to
children achieving their potential, with the opportunities for further education being 
located some distance away which is both expensive and involves longer travel 
times. As a result there is an increased risk of young learners failing to sustain their 
learning journey.

7.1.2 What is proposed?

7.1.2.1 Scottish Borders Council aims to strengthen Jedburgh as a learning town
where children and people of all ages can grow and learn together; where 
education is embedded within the character and quality of the town. It is clear to the 
Council that there are some tremendous strengths in the education provision across 
the town as bullying incidents are rare and relationships between staff and children 
are strong. The ethos of the schools is very good and the schools benefit from great 
Community involvement and support. Inclusion, well-being and equalities are 
considered to be strong across the schools. The Council are aware of the quality of 
life in the town. There is a fantastic community spirit and sense of identity. There is 
great pride in the cultural history and traditions within the town, with extraordinary 
historic buildings and strong sporting identity and opportunities. This is considerable 
participation in sport and activity and opportunities within the town with growing 
numbers of employers, strong

19

Page 207



60/Page

8th May 2017

hospitality and tourism and small local businesses. However it is considered that 
the education provision for the young people of the town and surrounding rural 
communities would benefit from investment to improve the outcomes and 
experiences for learners.

7.1.2.2 Accordingly the Council is proposing a new vision for learning and
community within Jedburgh, building on the current strengths within the schools. 
To bolster Jedburgh’s ability to support and sustain community life it is proposed 
that a new and appropriately scaled single learning campus is developed for all the 
generations within Jedburgh and the surrounding rural communities.

7.1.2.3 The proposed Intergenerational Learning Campus will be of a scale that will serve the 
Jedburgh community and the wider catchment beyond the town. The Council has 
calculated that the new Campus should have capacity for 1,084 pupils (this 
incorporates an estimated 50 Additional Support Needs young people of secondary 
age across the Borders Region). The figure factors in the potential for projected 
growth within the local population informed by local housebuilding capacity and 
demographic shift. Using the Scottish Government metrics to determine an 
approximate area for a new school to meet the needs for learners and the Community 
it has been determined a building with a gross floor area of circa 11,155m2 is 
required.

7.1.2.4 It is proposed that Ancrum Primary School will continue to offer a rural education 
choice within the Jedburgh school cluster for children from Primary 1 to Primary 5. 
The Primary 6 and Primary 7 pupils at Ancrum will continue to transition at that stage 
of their education into Jedburgh, but in future this will be to the Campus rather than 
to Parkside Primary School.

7.1.2.5 It is proposed that the Campus will:-
 Provide a single learning space for everyone within the Community to learn, 

develop and be healthy;
 Provide a space where everyone in the Community can attain, achieve, 

participate and be included;
 Provide a space where the most vulnerable children and citizens are 

supported and included;
 Provide a space where the talents, abilities and skills of everyone in the 

Community are brought together for the benefit of all;
 Provide a secondary based learning space for young people with Additional 

Support Needs;
 Embed learning and employment;
 Embed healthy living – diet, lifestyle and activity;
 Embed learning as a lifelong journey with access to resources and facilities 

regardless of age or ability;
 Maximise use of all Community and Council resources;
 Create a one stop approach to service delivery
 Create a new shared identity and ethos for the town with a new learning 

environment sitting in the heart of the Community for the Community.

20

Page 208



61/Page

8th May 2017

7.1.3 The Design Process

7.1.3.1 The design process will ensure that the new Campus will provide
transformational learning environments which are adaptable so that pupils can 
‘Learn To Learn’. The Campus design will seek to support teachers in their delivery 
of a dynamic curriculum and will prioritise not only pupils core skills in literacy and 
numeracy but also to assist in the development of a young person’s essential 
interpersonal social skills, self-confidence and knowledge.

7.1.3.2 The Curriculum for Excellence introduced new ways of learning seeking to
allow the curriculum to adapt to the particular needs of individual pupils. The 
Campus will be designed to create classroom clusters along with flexible learning 
spaces, internally and externally, which will relate to learning levels which will allow 
pupils to experience a range of subjects and environments more easily. 
Consideration could be given to moving from a departmental model to cluster 
models relating to learning levels.

7.1.3.3 The design process will optimise the internal and external learning
experience, optimising natural daylight and ventilation. Social and nurturing spaces 
will be included. The process will include the development of strategies for 
temperature control, lighting levels, ventilation and acoustics all essential to optimise 
the learning experience.

7.1.3.4 The design will take into consideration the surrounding landscape, taking full 
advantage of the topography and views to the south west, west and north west. This 
will offer great views over the town centre and the surrounding landscape. The 
layout will be designed to integrate with the landscape and will look to frame the 
views.

7.1.3.5 The building design will look to project and enhance the surrounding landscape with 
new planting and soft landscaping. Strong visual links will be developed to the 
sports pitches using the topography to create integrated amphitheatres overlooking 
the pitches.

7.1.3.6 The environmental impact of constructing a new Campus will also be considered 
seeking to optimise the sustainability of the building and maximise the use of 
renewables. There will be an emphasis on promoting healthy learning and lifestyle 
and the teaching environments will benefit from fresh air and natural light. New 
technologies will be incorporated maximising opportunities for sustainability and 
wider opportunities for learners regarding their environment and sustainability.

7.1.3.7 Socially and culturally the Schools currently support an array of clubs, gatherings 
and events throughout the year despite the existing accommodation limitations. The 
Council wishes to bolster Jedburgh’s ability to support and sustain community life by 
providing a new and appropriately scaled education and community Campus, with 
the facilities to achieve this.

7.1.3.8 The safety of children and young learners will be paramount and will be a key driver 
in delivering the design solution. There will be secure and distinct areas for each 
user group and pupil movement and circulation pathways will

21

Page 209



62/Page

8th May 2017

be designed to minimise congestion and disruption. Consideration will also be given 
to the acoustics and the optimised utilisation of the building.

7.1.3.9 The design process will incorporate skills and adult education hubs. Links will
be made with Economic Development to consider how industry and enterprise could 
be brought into the Campus from existing local opportunities and new partners. The 
new South of Scotland Partnership and the Borders Skills Partnership could work to 
bring investment and employment into the Campus, whilst developing the necessary 
skills in the young workforce and adult learners to support the jobs that are available. 
Some new community builds in Scotland have included skills HUBs – the campus in 
Jedburgh could provide learning spaces for skills development in shortage areas. The 
healthy living concept could be fully explored with allotments set up within the 
Campus to further enhance the ‘food to fork’ concept and encourage enterprise. 
There would be a ready made workforce available for investors.

7.1.3.10 The Campus will create lifelong learning opportunities for everyone in the 
Community and a family support zone where agencies (Police, health, Social Work, 
Community Learning and Development and the voluntary sector) could come 
together to support families. Families would be able to access a single space for all 
service provision and also receive support to enhance their own learning, health and 
development.

7.1.3.11 Given the potential implications of closing three schools within the town of Jedburgh, 
in tandem with the design process for the new Campus, Scottish Borders Council is 
preparing legacy proposals in respect of the existing school buildings to consider 
options for redevelopment and utilisation of each site which will assist in 
regenerating and driving economic benefits to the town. . The master planning 
exercise will involve discussions with the Community and the Cheviot Area Forum of 
the Community Planning Partnership in terms of the Community Empowerment 
(Scotland) Act 2015.

8 EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS STATEMENT

Scottish Borders Council has statutory duties relating to the provision of Education which we fulfil in 
our school provision. These duties are set out in legislation and include:

 Education (Scotland) Act 1980, Section 1, requires the Council to secure adequate and 
efficient provision of school education, which has to be flexible to fit individual needs, be 
tailored to age, ability and aptitude.

 Standards in Scotland’s Schools Etc. Act 2000, Section 3, require the Council to 
endeavour to raise standards and secure improvement in the quality of school education 
provided in our schools. The education we provide must be directed to the development of 
the personality, talents and the mental and physical abilities of the children or young people 
to their fullest potential.

 Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Acts 2004 and 2009, requires 
the Council to identify and provide support for any children with additional support needs and 
prepare co-ordinated support plans for those with the most extensive needs.

 Scottish Schools (Parental Involvement) Act 2009 requires the Council to give
advice and information to a parent of a school pupil when reasonably requested, on any 
matter relating to the education provided to that pupil.

22

Page 210



63/Page

8th May 2017

 Equality Act 2010 requires the Council not to discriminate against any pupil with protected 
characteristics including disabilities, sexual orientation and ethnicity. This includes admission 
to the school, the way education is provided, access to benefit, facility or service and 
exclusion. Pupils with disabilities must not be treated less favourably and reasonable steps 
must be taken to avoid putting these pupils at a substantial disadvantage.

 Requirements for Community Learning and Development (Scotland) Regulations 2013 
require the Council to secure and co-ordinate the provision of community learning and 
development in their area.

 Children and Young People’s Act 2014 requires the Council to implement key policies 
relating to Early Learning and Childcare, provide additional support for children and young 
people who are looked after and accommodated including kinship care, extend free school 
meals and strengthen the rights and participation of children and young people.

 Education Scotland Act 2016 requires the Council to consider socio-economic barriers to 
learning and includes provisions which extend the rights of children aged 12 and over with 
capacity under Additional Support for Learning Act 2009. Children who are able can use 
rights on their own behalf to affect decision making about them.

Scottish Borders Council sets out, within the context of national and local policies, what it is aiming to 
achieve in terms of raising levels of achievement and attainment and improving educational outcomes 
for all children and young people in the key priorities set out in our Business Plan and our Children and 
Young People’s Services Plan.

Our key priority is “to improve attainment and achievement levels for all our children and young people, 
both within and outwith the formal curriculum.” As part of a multi-agency partnership, we have 
identified the following priorities within our Children and Young People’s Services Plan:

 Raising attainment and achievement for all and closing the gap between the lowest and 
highest achievers;

 Promoting the health and well-being of all children and young people and reducing health 
inequalities;

 Keeping children and young people safe;
 Improving the well-being and life chances for our most vulnerable children and young people;
 Increasing participation and engagement.

The purpose of the curriculum is encapsulated in the four capacities to enable each child or young 
person to be:

1. a successful learner;
2. a confident individual;
3. a responsible citizen; and
4. an effective contributor.

The curriculum aims to ensure that all children and young people in Scotland develop the knowledge, 
skills and attributes they will need if they are to flourish in life, learning and work now and in the 
future. The attributes and capabilities of the four capacities are outlined below:

23

Page 211



64/Page

8th May 2017

For each of the eight curriculum areas Education Scotland has a set of statements entitled 
“Experiences and Outcomes” which describe the expectations for learning and progression for areas of 
the curriculum, these can be found here:

Education Scotland - Experiences and Outcomes

These statements recognise the importance of the quality and nature of the learning experience in 
developing attributes and capabilities and in achieving active engagement, motivation and depth of 
learning. An outcome represents what is to be achieved.

The experiences and outcomes for each curriculum area encapsulate all the attributes and capabilities 
and so develop the four capacities. All our schools in the Scottish Borders are expected to deliver 
Curriculum for Excellence as set out within the four capacities and the experiences and outcomes. 
Therefore our school estate must be fit for purpose and support the delivery of Curriculum for 
Excellence whilst maximising educational opportunities and benefits for all our children and young 
people.

Scottish Borders Council’s Children and Young People Services has a further duty to deliver a service 
which meets the criteria for best value, in terms of efficiency, effectiveness, economy and equal 
opportunities, and which meets the agreed priorities in the Single Outcome Agreement and Scottish 
Borders Council’s Corporate Plan.

The Scottish Borders Council’s Children and Young People Services is able to demonstrate that it 
delivers a good quality school education service overall, evidenced through good attainment and 
achievement results; participation information and self-evaluation evidence.

The Educational Benefits of the Proposals have been assessed taking account of all the above stated 
factors and having regard to the Guidance and Explanatory Notes published by the Scottish 
Government in association with the 2010 Act and which are available for reference at the following 
websites, respectively:

Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010

Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 - Explanatory Notes

24

Page 212



65/Page

8th May 2017

“An education authority shall endeavour to secure improvement in the quality of school education 
which is provided in the schools managed by them; and they shall exercise their functions in relation to 
such provision with a view to raising Standards of education.”

In accordance with the 2010 Act, Educational Benefits are set out below in respect of the Proposals.

9 EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS OF THE PROPOSED NEW CAMPUS – THE LEARNING
JOURNEY

9.1 The Intergenerational Learning Campus in Jedburgh will provide a coherent and
progressive 2-18 learner journey, which will be a seamless transition through the stages of 
education and learning, improving stability, security and confidence for every learner in line 
with the Curriculum for Excellence.

9.2 The Campus will facilitate a joint 2-18 approach promoting enthusiasm and
engagement amongst staff, children and young people and parents. This continuity of 
learning will allow a more effective and efficient deployment of resources and a more 
consistent approach to delivery of high quality learning and teaching, with assessment, 
tracking and target setting throughout each pupil’s learning, leading to improved attainment. 
Combining the schools will facilitate improved planning with a more coherent and 
comprehensive learning journey, embedding pathways for learning beyond the physical 
boundaries of separate stages of education.

9.3 The Campus will lead to improved and continued pastoral care throughout the
children and young people’s learning journey commencing at birth. It is proposed that all 
resources related to family engagement will be brought together at the Campus as the 
Council develops a local approach to family support.

9.4 The new Campus will inspire motivate and encourage a wide range of learning and
teaching approaches and learning spaces in line with the Curriculum for Excellence. It will 
support innovation, creativity and the development of children and young people’s skills for 
life-long learning and work by having a creative environment and access to vocational 
learning. It will also allow more collaborative teaching between primary and secondary staff 
e.g. Expressive Arts, Technology, Home Economics, Science and Modern Languages.

9.5 The new Campus will allow an innovative broader curriculum to be introduced with
pupils sharing wider more varied learning experiences than are currently possible.
This will include opportunities for vocational learning and training in skills.

25

Page 213



66/Page

8th May 2017

9.6 The shared facilities at the Campus will be far superior to the existing schools, which
will create an enhanced environment for learning, personal development and opportunities 
for healthy living. It will allow pupils to move confidently through the stages of learning giving 
better opportunities for social development and enhance relationships between younger and 
older children.

9.7 A partnership will be developed with Borders College to deliver a lifelong learning
commitment, with a satellite college being created in Jedburgh which will offer adult learning 
opportunities. The Campus will look at supporting adult learners, identifying the skills and 
qualifications that are required in the workplace to meet the demands of employers.

9.8 The Council also recognises that the Additional Support Needs learning journey
should continue into work or to further skills and learning opportunities The Council will work 
in collaboration with local employers and Borders College to help meet this requirement.

10 EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS OF PROPOSED NEW CAMPUS - CURRICULUM

10.1 Currently the learning environments, in aging buildings, inhibit rather than facilitate
and support delivery of the Curriculum of Excellence. The creation of the new Campus will 
allow an innovative approach regarding curriculum as the Council strives to raise attainment 
and achievement through literacy, numeracy, health and wellbeing and improve the learning 
journey for all learners. The Campus will allow the staff to more effectively plan learning and, 
more importantly, stages of learning. This will provide increased opportunity to offer effective 
stages of learning which will be supported by the flexible learning accommodation comprised 
in the Campus.

10.2 The Campus will be designed to allow a more flexible approach across the learning
journey to enable each leaner to progress. The following key areas have been identified as 
core areas:

10.2.1 Literacy, English and Expressive Arts

10.2.1.1 Children will have the opportunity to be taught literacy from specialist teachers 
who will re-design a curriculum to fulfil the design principles within Curriculum for 
Excellence i.e. depth, breadth, choice, progression, coherence and genuinely 
delivers in personalisation e.g. a very able and literate primary child will have the 
opportunity to participate in ‘broad general education' literacy themed events 
where the child will be working alongside older pupils with talents in literacy. 
Equally those children who find acquisition of literacy skills more challenging will 
benefit from a support for learning model that is continuous from early learning 
through into adulthood.

10.2.1.2 Staff expertise in literacy teaching will be enhanced as all staff will understand the 
learners’ experience of literacy as a life long journey concept rather than a class 
stage experience.

10.2.1.3 Families will have the opportunity to engage in literacy activities for all ages from 
intergenerational storytelling in purpose built ‘reading snugs’ to online reading 
programmes which support the basics of reading skills Literacy will be encouraged 
and fostered as an intergenerational community

26

Page 214



67/Page

8th May 2017

concept: local writing groups, dramatic arts groups, cinema groups will be 
developed including talented pupils from all year groups. The Campus will become 
a centre of excellence for literacy rich experiences. It is expected that the Campus 
will work with a range of partners such as Live Borders to fulfil the cultural capital 
within the town and become a place where book signings, readings etc. are 
commonplace and children and young people are stimulated by core teaching and 
community literacy learning activities. Excellence in literacy for all, including literacy 
attainment, will be a key aim of the Campus.

10.2.2 Science, Technologies, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM)

10.2.2.1 Teachers will take a 2-18 approach to the achievement of key milestones in 
Numeracy, Mathematics, Science and Technologies. The environment will be set 
up so that children can be stimulated by the right kind of learning environment e.g. 
science labs for primary aged children. Teachers will benefit from the expertise of 
their colleagues with extensive knowledge and understanding in key subject areas 
and local businesses will be included as part of the taskforce team to develop the 
learning experiences within the technologies learning zones in the Campus.

10.2.2.2 A STEM taskforce will be set up with a range of local business partners, where their 
business comprises STEM specialisms, to assist with the development of a lifelong 
approach to the acquisition of key life skills in numeracy, mathematics, science and 
technologies.

10.2.3 Health and Wellbeing

10.2.3.1 The Campus will enable the children to access the high quality indoor and outdoor 
learning environment where learning spaces would encourage healthy choices 
throughout and beyond the school day.

10.2.3.2The Campus will create the opportunity for learning indoors and outdoors to be a 
seamless transition unrestricted through the day and evening. All day long ‘healthy 
social bite’ type cafes would bring Campus and locally grown produce to ‘feed’ the 
Campus. Children would be involved in all elements of the production from ‘field to 
fork’ and in the service of food. School meals could evolve as a modern healthy 
lifestyle approach.

10.2.3.3All pupils will have access to outdoor learning spaces where science, nature and 
sport would be available at all times. Spaces for physical activity would be varied and 
diverse: 3G pitches, mountain bike and cycle tracks, gym facilities, spaces for 
relaxation would be available to all learners and provide first class opportunities for 
learners at every stage of their learning journeys.

10.2.3.4Health and wellbeing would be embedded within the Campus. The people of the 
town and surrounding rural communities will be invited to embrace the concept of 
healthy lifestyles through the development of an emotional wellbeing approach to 
learning pathways where the concepts of communication, relationships, confidence, 
resilience and learning are all developed simultaneously with modernised 
approaches to engaging communities through information, communication, 
technologies and media.

27

Page 215



68/Page

8th May 2017

10.2.4 ‘Closing the Gap’

10.2.4.1Recent research highlights that within Jedburgh there are a number of ‘gaps’ to be 
addressed to ensure all the children and young people of Jedburgh and the 
surrounding rural areas achieve their full potential. The 2016 Scottish Index of 
Multiple Deprivation highlighted that 10% of the catchment population are now living 
in decile 3. Jedburgh Intermediate Zone has the fourth highest percentage of children 
living in poverty in the Scottish Borders. Successful models emerging in the most 
deprived areas of the Borders highlight strong home /school links; high quality literacy 
teaching and multiagency support around the family as key drivers in closing the 
attainment gap. The new Campus would create a family support zone where 
agencies (health, social work, police, Community Learning and Development and the 
voluntary sector) could come together to support families. Families would be able to 
access a single space for all service provision and also receive support to enhance 
their own learning, health and development.

102.4.2Staff would be able to take a whole family consistent approach to support and 
interventions. There would be shared expectations for attendance at school, 
support on site for family based learning including homework and study. The 
‘growing confidence and resilience’ programme for mental health and wellbeing 
would be implemented as a ‘whole family whole school’ community approach, 
enabling services to jointly invest in universal programmes. Vulnerable children and 
families would be supported to access health and wellbeing activities so that all 
children and young people are participating equally well and benefiting from healthy 
living opportunities, including diet.

10.2.4.3The staff as a team would be trained in the delivery of high quality learning and 
teaching in literacy, numeracy and health and wellbeing. There would be
reduced transitions in learning for the most vulnerable children one of the 
key success measures in ‘closing the gap’ is high quality staff with inclusive mind-
sets. The Campus concept is so innovative and exciting it is expected to attract the 
very best staff who would become a high quality learning community with the 
expectation that they would become a leading workforce delivering the highest 
quality of education and community learning experiences.

10.2.4.4Best practice in ‘closing the gap’ would be embedded within the architectural 
designs e.g. the Finnish School System – highest performing in the world –creating 
exciting environments and designs which address concepts such as how children 
learn best – embedding architecture and educational goals – from the very 
beginning of the design.

10.2.5 Developing the Young Workforce

10.2.5.1The development of an Intergenerational Learning Campus will provide opportunities 
for young people to develop skills for life, learning and work. The Campus will 
provide work based placements within and across the proposed Campus. There are 
endless mutually beneficial partnership possibilities across age ranges: Higher and 
Advanced Higher senior pupils could support primary language lessons, sports 
leadership, music development and drama learning experiences. Routes into 
Hospitality and Childcare could be supported with campus placements. The older 
generation could benefit from media and IT classes, gentle exercises classes led by 
senior pupils.

28

Page 216



69/Page

8th May 2017

10.2.5.2 Links could be made with Economic Development to consider how industry and 
enterprise could be brought into the Campus from existing local opportunities and 
new partners. The new South of Scotland Partnership and the Borders Skills 
partnership could work to bring investment and employment into the Campus whilst 
developing the necessary skills to support the jobs that are available in the young 
workforce. Some new community builds in Scotland have included skills Hubs – the 
campus in Jedburgh could provide learning spaces for skills development in areas 
where there is demand locally.

10.2.5.3The healthy living concept could be fully explored with allotments set up within the 
Campus to further enhance the ‘food to fork’ concept and encourage enterprise. 
There would be a ready- made workforce available for investors.

10.2.5.4 It is expected that there will be ‘units’ or ‘learning spaces’ within the Campus for 
local crafts, cottage industry and large employer partners to provide training and 
learning spaces. These spaces will also include opportunities for retail as well as 
provide skills opportunities. The strategy for these learning spaces will be fully 
explored within the Council’s economic development strategy.

10.2.6 Additional Support Needs

10.2.6.1The opening of the new Leader Valley School in Earlston has demonstrated the 
importance of purpose built spaces for our most vulnerable children and young 
people. The Campus in Jedburgh would provide an excellent learning environment 
for secondary aged children with autistic spectrum needs. The smaller secondary 
environment would be purpose built to provide children on the autistic spectrum with 
healthy living opportunities and work based learning experiences so that they could 
go and take their place in the world of learning and employment.

10.2.6.2 The young people with additional support needs will be supported within the 
nurturing spaces of the new Campus. In partnership with relevant agencies, staff 
will be better placed to more effectively address barriers to learning, identify 
interventions and take prompt and appropriate action to meet needs. The pupils will 
further develop their skills for learning, life and work in local real life contexts in 
collaboration with the local Community.

10.2.6.3 The Campus will provide specialist and dedicated spaces to provide the most 
vulnerable children to achieve, attain, participate and be included.

10.2.7 Community Education

The Council also proposes that there will be units or learning spaces for local crafts, cottage 
industry and large employer partner to provide training and learning spaces for members of 
the Community. These will provide opportunities for retail as well as provide Hub skills 
opportunities. The strategies for these spaces will be fully explored within the Council’s 
economic development strategy.

29

Page 217



70/Page

8th May 2017

11. IMPACT ON PUPILS AND FUTURE PUPILS

11.1 The new Campus will provide an improved, innovative, learning environment, with facilities and 
resources designed to deliver the Curriculum for Excellence to support the learning and 
development needs for current and future learners. State of the art learning resources across the 
Campus will be shared by all learners to optimise each learner’s journey.

11.2 Transition between the stages of the education will be simpler and managed to lead to better 
outcomes for each pupil at the point of transition. The transition process will be carefully 
managed and attempts will be made to retain a small school ethos within the Campus. There 
will also be enhanced provision for children and young people’s personal, social and emotional 
health and wellbeing through improved social areas, sporting facilities and opportunities to 
learn and develop in a variety of settings.

11.3 A bigger pool of staff expertise, interests and skills in one location will pave the way for an 
improved range of learning experiences, including extracurricular activity and improved 
collaboration between teachers.

11.4 There will be enhanced opportunities for collaborative working with support services such as 
educational psychology, learning support, health and social services. An integrated approach to 
learning to help ensure early intervention, continuity of support and better and more focussed 
planning and improved transitions for children with Additional Support Needs

11.5 The new Campus will create a learning environment where the design of the classrooms and 
spaces will adapt to allow pupils to experience a range of subject and activities. The Campus 
model will allow a broader curriculum to be offered across the learning stages, sharing more 
varied learning experiences than are currently possible.

12 IMPACT ON EARLY LEARNING PUPILS

12.1 The creation of the new Campus will result in an enhanced early learning provision in a purpose 
built, innovative environment that will fully support the guidelines in the Curriculum for 
Excellence.

12.2 The new Campus will assist the Council provide 1140 hours of Early Learning and Childcare as 
proposed in Blueprint for 2020 - The Expansion of Early Learning and Childcare in 
Scotland to all eligible children within the Jedburgh cluster. It is also proposed that wrap round 
childcare will be provided at the Campus to support parents and carers with working and learning 
commitments.

12.3 The children will be taught by a larger complement of early years practitioners which will 
provide greater exposure to a wider range of staff with different

3 0

Page 218



71/Page

8th May 2017

strengths, skills and interests. This will also provide staff greater opportunities for staff to 
share practice, knowledge and develop more training opportunities.

12.4 The purpose built provision will also allow families to come together to access
support and learning opportunities. This model will support the children’s transition 
through their learning journey with enhanced information and knowledge sharing between 
staff to help ensure continued progression

13 IMPACT ON PRIMARY PUPILS

13.1 The new Campus will allow the opportunity to build on the current strengths of the
two primary schools. The creation of a modern learning environment will fully support the 
Curriculum for Excellence including access to specialised equipment and resources for 
the STEM subjects, such as access to the science classes and opportunities to perform 
experiments.

13.2 A larger complement of teaching staff will allow exposure to a wider range of staff
skills and interests. This will facilitate greater collaboration and training opportunities for 
staff which will enhance the breadth of the learning experience for every child.

13.3 The new Campus will offer Increased and improved outdoor areas for all weather
participation to meet the needs set out in the Curriculum for Excellence Through 
Outdoor Learning. 

13.4 Transitions between stages of learning will be simpler and carefully managed and
attempts will be made to retain a small school ethos within the Campus.

13.5 The new Campus will offer an enhanced sporting and recreational opportunities
and experience for the young people and the wider community to meet the aspirations of 
both the Council and the Scottish Government to enhance the
uptake and enjoyment of physical activity across the Community.

14 IMPACT ON SECONDARY PUPILS

14.1 The new Campus will allow greater opportunity for collaborative working between
departments. There will be more opportunities for interdisciplinary learning within and 
across learning clusters due to the layout of the building to better address barriers to 
progression on the learner journey

14.2 The development of skills for life, learning and work will be increased with a focus
on vocational and technological pathways without reducing emphasis on academic 
achievement. The curriculum will seek to be a more relevant, challenging and enjoyable 
learning experience which is more clearly focused on a positive destination for all young 
people.

14.3 The new Campus will offer an enhanced sporting and recreational opportunities
and experience for the young people and the wider community to meet the aspirations of 
both the Council and the Scottish Government to enhance the
uptake and enjoyment of physical activity across the Community.

14.4 Dining and social areas will improve significantly from the current arrangements.
This along with new external areas will create flexible space to encourage young

31

Page 219



72/Page

8th May 2017

people to socialise and engage which should improve health and well-being, while 
enhancing the existing strong sense of community already within the current schools.

14.5 The Campus will also assist in learners developing skills for life, with an increased emphasis on 
personal development, vocational skills, training opportunities and placements within the 
Campus and the Community for Childcare and hospitality. Partnerships will be facilitated with 
external Skills Partnerships to develop a young workforce with the skills to support the jobs that 
are available within the area and beyond ensuring all young people maximise their learner 
destination potential.

14.6 The community hub within the Campus will also provide opportunities for senior pupils to provide 
classes to the older generation covering IT, social media and exercise.

15 IMPACT ON ADDITIONAL SUPPORT NEEDS PUPILS

15.1 The new Campus will be fully accessible to people with mobility difficulties and those with 
Additional Support Needs. The Council is seeking to develop a fully purpose built facility with 
state of art equipment and sensory equipment. The pupils will share the resources and have their 
own specially designed areas for learning. The Campus will also allow the opportunity for 
Additional Support Needs pupils to form wider relationships with peers and the Community.

15.2 The new build will offer pupils an enhanced environment for learning with opportunities for 
outdoor education, new and improved additional resources and areas for life skills development. 
The pupils will benefit from the opportunities within the Campus to develop through work 
experience and Community involvement.

16 IMPACT ON PUPILS AT OTHER SCHOOLS IN THE COUNCIL AREA

16.1 It is proposed that Ancrum Primary School will remain a small rural school within the Jedburgh 
School cluster, with pupils transitioning to the Campus for Primary 6 and 7. This will offer a 
smaller school option for parents, while providing a smooth transition for pupils into secondary 
and 3rd and 4th level education.

16.2 Pupils at Denholm Primary School will continue to have the choice between the Campus and 
Hawick High School for secondary education. The new Campus may influence the decision of 
pupils within the catchment, who might have otherwise submitted placement requests, to attend 
their catchment school.

16.3 The creation of the Campus at Jedburgh will have a positive impact on pupils and education across 
Borders as it will provide a facility with state of the art facilities which are available to all. This 
will assist in driving participation and standards across the region and may provide a strong 
operational model for other schools to observe.

17 IMPACT ON STAFF

17.1 A new detailed management structure will be designed for the Learning Campus to optimise its 
performance and delivery of objectives. A detailed structure will be devised

32

Page 220



73/Page

8th May 2017

ensuring that consideration is given to the smooth and successful running of all the
elements of the Campus, including the Learning, Recreation and Community

17.2 While there will be duplication in some roles when the three schools are combined,
new roles will emerge within the Campus in relation to the enhanced facilities and community 
and recreational facilities e.g. business support, technical and supervisory, facilities 
management

17.3 Staff will have increased opportunities for collaborative work within a larger staff pool of
colleagues with different strengths, skills and experience. The curriculum will be structured to 
allow cross collaboration between subjects and skillsets. The increased number of staff at the 
Campus will also allow more support and flexibility to staff with more cover available.

17.4 The new Campus will allow staff to build early relationships with pupils and their
families and maintain these throughout the learning journey. In particular the pastoral team will 
be able to become involved at the start of the learning journey and develop
greater knowledge and understanding of the young people within their care.

17.5 The opportunities offered at the new Campus with the introduction of an innovative
curriculum and learning journey should approve attractive to staff and assist with staff attraction 
and retention. The Campus concept is so innovative and exciting it is expected to attract the 
very best staff who would become a high quality learning community with the expectation that 
they would become a leading workforce delivering the highest quality of education and 
community learning experiences.

17.6 The working environment will be enhanced and staff will also have access to onsite
facilities including access to childcare, fitness facilities and public services which may improve 
work life balance.

18 IMPACT ON TRANSPORT – SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOL

18.1 The changes to the current transport arrangements will be minimal given the
geography of the town. Great care will be taken during the design process that Safe Routes to 
School are identified for pedestrian and vehicular access, with designated drop off and pick up 
areas for school buses and cars.

18.2 There may be some savings regarding the provision of transport where school times
can be aligned.

19 LIKELY EFFECT ON THE LOCAL COMMUNITY

19.1 The Council is seeking to empower and give ownership to parents and the Community
through engagement in the creation of the Campus. As the Council recognises the role of 
parents and the Community in the education and wellbeing of children and young people, it is 
proposed that the Campus will be a single point of entry into both a child’s learning pathway 
and public services. The focus will be on supporting children as a family group with space for 
parental and Community activities from early morning until evening where the whole family can 
enjoy learning and well-being activities.

33

Page 221



74/Page

8th May 2017

19.2 The Campus will provide a focal point for Community engagement and collaboration to
harness the potential within the town and surrounding communities to deliver equitable and 
outstanding education provision. It is considered that the children, young people, staff and local 
Community will benefit from consistent approaches to raise expectations, increase aspiration 
and ambition, achievement and attainment while providing equity of opportunities through a 
curriculum for all in the new environment of the Learning Campus.

19.3 The new Campus will enable parents to build strong community based relationships
and receive excellent support, which will shift from single to multi agency with the inclusion of the 
Community. The aim will be to intervene earlier and view the community as the greatest support 
for a family.

19.4 By creating a Community Hub of services within the Campus, the Council is seeking to
reduce the public sector foot print, by rationalising the number of offices. This will not only 
improve efficiencies but will also improve communication between the services and facilitate a 
more collaborative approach.

19.5 The Council have identified that there is a missing section of working age population
within the area and the Campus with its community and vocational education programmes will 
seek to bridge this gap and provide the skills, training and experience required within the locality.

19.6 The Community Hub will also include facilities for the whole community – both
recreation and social. Options are being considered but could include meeting venues, soft play, 
gym as well as a ski slope and climbing wall. The space will be available to individuals and 
groups within the community for events and meetings. The creation of the Campus may assist 
the Community to realise some of its aspirations regarding bike tracks, skate parks etc.

19.7 Given the potential implications of closing three schools within the town of Jedburgh, in
tandem with the design process for the new Campus, Scottish Borders Council is preparing 
legacy proposals in respect of the existing school buildings to consider options for 
redevelopment and utilisation of each site which will assist in regenerating and driving economic 
benefits to the town. The master planning exercise will involve discussions with the Community 
and the Cheviot Area Forum of the Community Planning Partnership in terms of the Community 
Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015.

20 EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY

The new Campus will provide a single learning environment in Jedburgh which will allow all learners 
parity of access to learning and facilities. All children will have access to the same early years 
experience and ease of transition throughout their learning journey in one location. This proposal has 
been impact assessed by Scottish Borders Council.

21. FINANCIAL IMPACT

21.1 The 2010 Act, requires the Council to provide information regarding the financial implications of 
each school closure proposal. A template has been provided by the

3 4

Page 222



75/Page

8th May 2017

Scottish Government, following consultation with the Commission on the Delivery of Rural 
Education. The template has been completed in respect of each school proposed for closure 
utilising the projected figures in the Devolved School Management Budgets for 2017/18. Given 
that the Proposals for closure arise as a direct consequence of the Proposal to create an 
Intergenerational Learning Campus with a community hub, none of the closure Proposals is 
predicated on making cost savings. None of the schools proposed for closure comprise a Rural 
School in terms of the Scottish Government’s Rural School List 2015. It is projected that costs will 
increase as there will be increased and enhanced facilities available at the new Campus, 
notwithstanding that the new Campus will be more energy efficient and there will be savings in 
certain areas where services can be streamlined and duplication of costs avoided.

21.2 In tandem with the design and planning process for the new Campus it is proposed that the 
Council will consider legacy proposals regarding the schools proposed for closure. The master 
planning exercise will involve discussions with the Community and the Cheviot Area Forum of 
the Community Planning Partnership in terms of the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 
2015.

22. OTHER ISSUES

Management of Proposals

22.1 In the event that the decision is made to proceed with the Proposals it will be essential to establish 
and manage the transitional arrangement for each of the schools involved. The Council will be 
committed to ensure that the full range of pupils’ needs are addressed and steps are taken to 
minimise the disruption to the education and wellbeing of all the children and young people.

22. 2 The Council recognises that the proposed consolidation of the schools into one learning Campus 
will require careful planning and collaboration to guarantee the continuity of education and 
support. A number of measures will be put in place to support this which will include joint 
planning between teachers regarding curriculum, assessment and reporting; joint working 
between the Parent Councils and joint events with pupils, parents and staff.

22.3 The Leadership teams will be involved in visits to similar campus schools to see how they operate 
in practice and to observe good practice.

22.4 It is proposed that the new Campus will open by 31st March 2020 and appropriate transition 
plans will be made to ensure that pupils move from school to the Campus as smoothly as 
possible. Detailed plans will be shared nearer the time with all stakeholders.

23. RESPONDING TO THE PROPOSAL

23.1 Interested parties are invited to respond to the Proposals, no later than 1700 on 18th

June 2017, by making written or electronic submissions on the proposals to:

Jedburgh School Consultation
Service Director Children & Young People
Scottish Borders Council
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA

35

Page 223



76/Page

8th May 2017

O r

Web Address: www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh

23.2 For the convenience of those wishing to respond, a form is provided at Appendix 4, and is also 
available on the Council’s website at:

www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh 

Its use is not compulsory. However, those wishing to respond are invited to state their 
relationship with the school – for example, “Parent/Carer of a child at Jedburgh Grammar 
School”, “Relative of a child at Jedburgh Grammar School”, “Teacher at Jedburgh Grammar 
School”.

23.3 Those sending in a response, whether by letter or electronically, should know that their response 
will be open to public scrutiny and may have to be supplied to anyone making a reasonable 
request to see it.

23.4 If they do not wish their response to be publicly available, they should clearly write on the 
document: “I wish my response to be considered as confidential with access restricted to 
elected members and council officers of Scottish Borders Council”. Otherwise, it will be 
assumed that the person making the response agrees to it being made publicly available.

DONNA MANSON
SERVICE DIRECTOR (CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES)

8th May 2017

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Jedburgh Catchment Plan
Appendix 2 Schools Proposed for Closure
Appendix 3 Proposed Site Plan of Intergenerational Learning Campus
Appendix 4 Consultation Response Form
Appendix 5 Financial Templates Showing Current Revenue Costs for School Proposed for each Closure

3 6

Page 224

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh


77/Page

8th May 2017
APPENDIX 1

3 7

JEDBURGH CATCHMENT PLAN

Page 225



78/Page

8th May 2017

APPENDIX 2

SCHOOLS PROPOSED FOR CLOSURE

1 HOWDENBURN PRIMARY SCHOOL, NURSERY AND SCHOOLHOUSE

1.1 Howdenburn Primary School provides non-denominational primary education to pupils in 
Jedburgh. Appendix 1 shows the present school catchment area for Howdenburn Primary 
School. It covers the Doom Hill and Howden areas of Jedburgh and the rural areas of Oxnam 
and Camptown. The Howdenburn Primary School catchment falls within the catchment of 
Jedburgh Grammar School for secondary education.

Howdenburn Primary School Site Plan 

1.2 Howdenburn Primary School also provides Early Learning and Childcare within its nursery. 
The number of children projected to be in catchment for 2017/18 is 37.

3 8

Page 226



79/Page

8th May 2017

Howdenburn Nursery Site Plan

1.3 Educational support is also provided for young people from across the Scottish Borders with 
complex Additional Support Needs to develop skills and attributes for learning, life and work, 
usually though a joint placement with their local secondary school. It operates in partnership with 
schools, colleges and adult services to help students transition from school education to further 
education or adult services.

Schoolhouse Site

39

Page 227



80/Page

8th May 2017

1.4 The capacity of the Howdenburn Primary school is 274 pupils.

Historical Pupil Roll Data - Howdenburn

274 121 111 111199 193 186 188 179 173 155 135 137 128 146 167

1.5 The most recent inspection report carried out by HM Inspectorate of Education (HMIE)
is dated 9TH June 2007 and can be accessed through this link

Howdenburn Inspection Report

4 0

20
16

20
07

20
02

20
09

20
04

20
05

20
12

20
15

20
14

20
11

20
03

Ca
pa

cit
y

20
06

20
13

20
10

20
08

Page 228



81/Page

8th May 2017

2 PARKSIDE PRIMARY SCHOOL

2.1 Parkside Primary School provides non-denominational primary education to pupils in
Jedburgh. Appendix 1 shows the present school catchment area for Parkside Primary School, 
which comprises the Abbey, East Central and West Central areas of the town. The Parkside 
Primary School catchment falls within the catchment of Jedburgh Grammar School for 
secondary education. The capacity of the school is 289 pupils.

Parkside Primary School Site Plan

2.2 Parkside Primary School also provides Early Learning and Childcare within its nursery. The 
number of children projected to be in catchment in 2017/18 is 48.

Parkside Nursery Site Plan

2.3 Pupils attending Ancrum Primary School currently transition to Parkside Primary School in 
Jedburgh for P6 and P7. There is a shared head teacher between Ancrum Primary School and 
Parkside Primary School.

2.4 The capacity at the School is for 289 pupils.

4 1

Page 229



82/Page

8th May 2017

Historical Pupil Roll Data - Parkside

289 238 226 257 251 246 227 240 224 213 200 207 202 196 205 203

2.6 The most recent inspection report carried out by HM Inspectorate of Education (HMIE) is dated 
30th June 2015 and can be accessed through this link

Parkside Inspection Report

20
16

20
07

20
02

20
09

20
04

20
05

20
12

20
15

20
14

20
11

20
03

Ca
pa

cit
y

20
06

20
13

20
10

20
08

4 2

Page 230



83/Page

8th May 2017

JEDBURGH GRAMMAR SCHOOL

3.1 Jedburgh Grammar School provides non-denominational secondary education to pupils in Jedburgh 
and its surrounding area. Appendix 1 shows the present school catchment area for Jedburgh 
Grammar School. The capacity of the school is 631 pupils.

3.2 Jedburgh Grammar’s catchment area comprises pupils attending Howdenburn Primary School and 
Parkside Primary School in Jedburgh and Ancrum Primary School, which is located in the nearby 
village of Ancrum.

3.3 Pupils at both Denholm Primary School in Denholm, Hawick and Hobkirk Primary School, 
Bonchester Bridge, Hawick (currently mothballed) have the right to choose between attending 
Jedburgh Grammar School or Hawick High School for their secondary education, with transport 
provided for both.

Jedburgh Grammar School Site Plan

3.4 At the start of the 2016/2017 academic year, Jedburgh Grammar School had a roll of 343 pupils 
attending the school, including 13 attending through placement requests. There are a large 
number of pupils from the Jedburgh Grammar School area currently electing to attend a school 
outwith catchment, 88 in 2016/17 (26%), which includes 59 pupils electing to attend Hawick High 
School from the joint catchment arrangement This is attributed to a number of factors including 
logistics but many parents have highlighted the reasons including wider subject choices, better 
facilities, particularly for music and sport, being available at larger schools.

4 3

Page 231



84/Page

8th May 2017

Earlston High School 14

Hawick High School 61*

Kelso High School 10

Selkirk High School 2

Peebles High School 1

Total 88
* Includes 59 pupils from the joint catchment with Hawick High School

Historical Pupil Roll Data – Jedburgh Grammar School

3.5 Part of the school building has Grade B listing. Category B buildings are of regional or more than 
local importance and are major examples of a particular period, style or building type. (Category B 
accounts for around 50% of the total number of listed buildings in Scotland).

3.6 The most recent inspection report carried out by HM Inspectorate of Education (HMIE) is dated 16th 
December 2008 and can be accessed through this link

Jedburgh Grammar School

631 432 438 445 457 426 426 410 420 400 387 348 350 344 345 343

4 4

20
16

20
07

20
02

20
09

20
04

20
05

20
12

20
15

20
14

20
11

20
03

Ca
pa

cit
y

20
06

20
13

20
10

20
08

Page 232



85/Page

8th May 2017

APPENDIX 3
PROPOSED SITE FOR JEDBURGH EDUCATION CAMPUS

4 5

Page 233



86/Page

8th May 2017

APPENDIX 4

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES CONSULTATION 
RESPONSE FORM

SCHOOL ESTATE CONSULTATION IN RELATION TO PROPOSAL TO CREATE 
AN INTERGENERATIONAL LEARNING CAMPUS IN JEDBURGH, REPLACING 
THE EXISTING SCHOOLS

Detail of the Proposal

It is proposed that, subject to the outcome of this statutory consultation process as set out in the 
Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 as amended:

 An Intergenerational Learning Campus be built in Jedburgh;
 Howdenburn Primary School be permanently closed;
 Howdenburn Nursery be permanently closed;
 Parkside Primary School be permanently closed;
 Parkside Nursery be permanently closed;
 Jedburgh Grammar School be permanently closed;
 Howdenburn Schoolhouse be permanently closed with the educational support for secondary 

aged pupils with complex Additional Support Needs being transferred to the Intergenerational 
Learning Campus;

 The arrangements for pupils from Ancrum Primary School transitioning to Parkside Primary 
School for P6 and P7 be amended to facilitate transition to the Intergenerational Learning 
Campus;

 The primary school catchment zones from Howdenburn Primary School and Parkside Primary 
School be rezoned to the Intergenerational Learning Campus; and

 The secondary school catchment zone from Jedburgh Grammar School be rezoned to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus.

The Consultation Period is from 8 May 2017 until 18 June 2017.

4 6

Page 234



87/Page

8th May 2017

SCHOOL - please tick the most relevant box below to indicate which school(s) you are connected with

Howdenburn Primary School ☐

Howdenburn Nursery ☐

Howdenburn Schoolhouse ☐

Parkside Primary School ☐

Parkside Nursery ☐

Jedburgh Grammar School ☐

Ancrum Primary School ☐

Denholm Primary School ☐

Other

YOUR INTEREST – please tick the most relevant box below to indicate your interest in the in the School(s)

Parent/carer ☐

Staff ☐

Pupil ☐

Relative of Pupil ☐

Parent Council Member ☐

Elected Member/MSP/MP ☐

Community Planning Partner ☐

Community Member ☐

Other

4 7

Page 235



88/Page

8th May 2017

1. Do you agree with the proposal to build an Intergenerational Learning Campus in Jedburgh?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

2. Do you agree with the proposal to close Howdenburn Primary School?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the 
above proposal.

4 8

Page 236



89/Page

8th May 2017

3. Do you agree with the proposal to close Howdenburn Nursery?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

4. Do you agree with the proposal to close Parkside Primary School?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the 
above proposal.

4 9

Page 237



90/Page

8th May 2017

5. Do you agree with the proposal to close Parkside Nursery?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

6. Do you agree with the proposal to close Jedburgh Grammar?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the 
above proposal.

Page 238



91/Page

8th May 2017

7. Do you agree with the proposal to close Howdenburn Schoolhouse, with the educational 
support for secondary aged pupils with complex Additional Support Needs being transferred to 
the Intergenerational Learning Campus?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

8. Do you agree with the proposal to amend the arrangements for pupils from Ancrum Primary 
School transitioning to Parkside Primary for P6 and P7 to facilitate transition to the 
Intergenerational Learning Campus?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

51

Page 239



92/Page

8th May 2017

9. Do you agree with the proposal to rezone primary catchment zones from Howdenburn Primary 
School and Parkside Primary School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

10. Do you agree with the proposal to rezone the secondary school catchment zone from 
Jedburgh Grammar School to the Intergenerational Learning Campus?

Agree ☐ Disagree ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree to the above 
proposal.

52

Page 240



93/Page

8th May 2017

DETAILS

Please complete your details below to assist our analysis of the responses

Name

Postcode

E-mail Address

CONFIDENTIALITY OF RESPONSE

I wish my response to be considered as confidential with access restricted to elected 
members and officers of Scottish Borders Council

THANK YOU FOR TAKING THE TIME TO GIVE US YOUR VIEWS

Your completed form can be handed into your local school or posted to: Jedburgh 
School Consultation, Children and Young People’s Services, Scottish Borders Council, 
Newtown St Boswells TD6 0SA.

You can also give us your views online at: 

www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh  BY 18 JUNE 2017

If you have any queries, please email: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk

53

Page 241

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk


94/Page

8th May 2017

APPENDIX 5

FINANCIAL TEMPLATES SHOWING CURRENT REVENUE COSTS FOR 
SCHOOLS PROPOSED FOR CLOSURE

5 4

Page 242



95/Page

8th May 2017

Financial Template
Table 1 Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 Column 6 Column 7

Current revenue costs for school proposed for closure

Name of School

[enter name of school (Howdenburn)
Costs for full financial 
year (projected annual 
costs)

Additional financial impact 
on receiving school [enter 
name of school]

Annual recurring 
savings (column 2 
minus column 3)

School costs

Employee costs - note 1

teaching staff £378,755 N/A N/A

support staff £61,659 N/A N/A

teaching staff training (CPD etc)

support staff training

Supply costs - note 2 £2,984 N/A N/A

Building costs:

property insurance £2,185

non domestic rates £44,839

water & sewerage charges £1,478

utilities costs £17,592

cleaning (contract or inhouse) £16,473

building repair & maintenance

grounds maintenance £2,204

facilities management costs - note 6 £1,819

revenue costs arising from capital

other

School operational costs:

learning materials £7,778

catering (contract or inhouse)

SQA costs

other school operational costs (e.g. licences)

Transport costs: note 3

home to school N/A note 4

other pupil transport costs

staff travel

SCHOOL COSTS SUB-TOTAL £537,766

Income:

Sale of meals

Lets

External care provider

Other

SCHOOL INCOME SUB-TOTAL

TOTAL COSTS MINUS INCOME FOR SCHOOL

UNIT COST PER PUPIL PER  YEAR (based on 145 pupils)
£3,624

Table 2

Capital costs School proposed for 
closure Receiving school

Capital Life Cycle cost - note 7

Third party contributions to capital costs

Row 1

R o w  2  

R o w  3  

R o w  4  

R o w  5  

R o w  6  

R o w  7  

R o w  8

Row 9 
Row 10

Row 11 

Row 12 

Row 13 

Row 14 

Row 15 

Row 16 

Row 17 

Row 18 

Row 19 

Row 20 

Row 21 

Row 22 

Row 23 

Row 24 

Row 25 

Row 26

Row 27 
Row 28

Row 29 

Row 30 

Row 31 

Row 32

Row 33 
Row 34

Row 35 

Row 36 

Row 37 

Row 38 

Row 39

Row 40 
Row 41

Row 42 

Row 43 

Row 44

Table 3

Annual Property costs incurred (moth-balling) until disposal

property insurance

non domestic rates

water & sewerage charges

energy costs

cleaning (contract or inhouse)

security costs

building repair & maintenance

grounds maintenance

facilities management costs

other

TOTAL ANNUAL COST UNTIL DISPOSAL

Table 4

Non-recurring revenue costs

TOTAL NON-RECURRING REVENUE COSTS

Table 5

Impact on GAE - note 5

GAE IMPACT

5 5

P
age 243



96/Page

8th May 2017

Financial Template
Table 1 Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 Column 6 Column 7

Current revenue costs for school proposed for closure

Name of School

[enter name of school (Jedburgh Grammar)
Costs for full financial 
year (projected annual 
costs)

Additional financial impact 
on receiving school [enter 
name of school]

Annual recurring 
savings (column 2 
minus column 3)

School costs

Employee costs - note 1

teaching staff £1,551,538 N/A N/A

support staff £198,416 N/A N/A

teaching staff training (CPD etc)

support staff training

Supply costs - note 2 £20,241 N/A N/A

Building costs:

property insurance £2,185

non domestic rates £133,698

water & sewerage charges £11,437

utilities costs £71,565

cleaning (contract or inhouse) £59,596

building repair & maintenance

grounds maintenance

facilities management costs - note 6 £3,875

revenue costs arising from capital

other

School operational costs:

learning materials £62,090

catering (contract or inhouse)

SQA costs

other school operational costs (e.g. licences)

Transport costs: note 3

home to school n/a note 4

other pupil transport costs

staff travel

SCHOOL COSTS SUB-TOTAL £2,114,641

Income:

Sale of meals

Lets

External care provider

Other

SCHOOL INCOME SUB-TOTAL

TOTAL COSTS MINUS INCOME FOR SCHOOL

UNIT COST PER PUPIL PER YEAR (based on 345 pupils) £6,129

Table 5

Impact on GAE - note 5

GAE IMPACT

Table 2

Capital costs School proposed for 
closure Receiving school

Capital Life Cycle cost - note 7

Third party contributions to capital costs

Row 1

R o w  2  

R o w  3  

R o w  4  

R o w  5  

R o w  6  

R o w  7  

R o w  8

Row 9 
Row 10

Row 11 

Row 12 

Row 13 

Row 14 

Row 15 

Row 16 

Row 17 

Row 18 

Row 19 

Row 20 

Row 21 

Row 22 

Row 23 

Row 24 

Row 25 

Row 26

Row 27 
Row 28

Row 29 

Row 30 

Row 31 

Row 32

Row 33 
Row 34

Row 35 

Row 36 

Row 37 

Row 38 

Row 39

Row 40 
Row 41

Row 42 

Row 43 

Row 44

Table 3

Annual Property costs incurred (moth-balling) until disposal

property insurance

non domestic rates

water & sewerage charges

energy costs

cleaning (contract or inhouse)

security costs

building repair & maintenance

grounds maintenance

facilities management costs

other

TOTAL ANNUAL COST UNTIL DISPOSAL

Table 4

Non-recurring revenue costs

TOTAL NON-RECURRING REVENUE COSTS

5 7

P
age 244



97/Page

P
age 245



98/Page

Table 5

Impact on GAE - note 5

GAE IMPACT

Table 2

Capital costs School proposed for 
closure Receiving school

Capital Life Cycle cost - note 7

Third party contributions to capital costs

Row 1

R o w  2  

R o w  3  

R o w  4  

R o w  5  

R o w  6  

R o w  7  

R o w  8

Row 9 
Row 10

Row 11 

Row 12 

Row 13 

Row 14 

Row 15 

Row 16 

Row 17 

Row 18 

Row 19 

Row 20 

Row 21 

Row 22 

Row 23 

Row 24 

Row 25 

Row 26

Row 27 
Row 28

Row 29 

Row 30 

Row 31 

Row 32

Row 33 
Row 34

Row 35 

Row 36 

Row 37 

Row 38 

Row 39

Row 40 
Row 41

Row 42 

Row 43 

Row 44

Table 3

Annual Property costs incurred (moth-balling) until disposal

property insurance

non domestic rates

water & sewerage charges

energy costs

cleaning (contract or inhouse)

security costs

building repair & maintenance

grounds maintenance

facilities management costs

other

TOTAL ANNUAL COST UNTIL DISPOSAL

Table 4

Non-recurring revenue costs

TOTAL NON-RECURRING REVENUE COSTS

58

Financial Template
Table 1 Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 Column 6 Column 7

Current revenue costs for school proposed for closure

Name of School

[enter name of school (Parkside)
Costs for full financial 
year (projected annual 
costs)

Additional financial impact 
on receiving school [enter 
name of school]

Annual recurring 
savings (column 2 
minus column 3)

School costs

Employee costs - note 1

teaching staff £526,174 N/A N/A

support staff £ N/A N/A

teaching staff training (CPD etc)

support staff training

Supply costs - note 2 £4,186 N/A N/A

Building costs:

property insurance £2,185

non domestic rates £31,945

water & sewerage charges £3,469

utilities costs £15,919

cleaning (contract or inhouse) £16,935

building repair & maintenance

grounds maintenance £238

facilities management costs - note 6 £2,669

revenue costs arising from capital

other

School operational costs:

learning materials £10,946

catering (contract or inhouse)

SQA costs

other school operational costs (e.g. licences)

Transport costs: note 3

home to school note 4

other pupil transport costs

staff travel

SCHOOL COSTS SUB-TOTAL £614,666

Income:

Sale of meals

Lets

External care provider

Other

SCHOOL INCOME SUB-TOTAL

TOTAL COSTS MINUS INCOME FOR SCHOOL £614,666

UNIT COST PER PUPIL PER YEAR (based on 237 pupils) £2,593

P
age 246



99 | P a g e

Appendix 2 – HMIE Report dated August 2017

Page 247



100 | P a g e

Page 248



101 | P a g e

Page 249



102 | P a g e

Page 250



103 | P a g e

Appendix 3 – Copy of Scottish Borders Council Presentation for the Public 
Meeting at Jedburgh Grammar School dated 30 May 2017

Page 251



104 | P a g e

Page 252



105 | P a g e

Page 253



106 | P a g e

Page 254



107 | P a g e

Page 255



108 | P a g e

Page 256



109 | P a g e

Page 257



110 | P a g e

Appendix 4 – Minutes of Public Meeting 30 May 2017

Jedburgh School Consultation
Public Meeting at Jedburgh Grammar School on 30 May 2017 at 7pm

The Panel from Scottish Borders Council (SBC):
Donna Manson (Service Director, Children and Young People Services) 
Michelle Strong (Chief Officer Education) 
Martin Joyce (Service Director Assets and Infrastructure) 
James Darrie (Project Manager) 
Susan Oliver (Headteacher Jedburgh Grammar School) 
Morag McCreadie (Headteacher Howdenburn School) 
Claire Turnbull (Headteacher Parkside Primary School and Ancrum Primary School) 

Invited Speakers
Diana Hickson (Chair of Howdenburn Parent Council)
Julie Forsyth (Treasurer of Parkside Parent Council)
Hannah Hawthorn (Treasurer of Ancrum Parent Council) 
Ann Mitchell (Chair of Jedburgh Grammar Parent Council) 
Richard Gordon (Chair of Jedburgh Community Council) 
Bill Johnstone (Community Speaker) 

Elected Members present: 5 

Members of the Public Present: 260

Meeting
Donna Manson (DM) welcomed everyone to the meeting and introduced the panel, the 
invited speakers and the Executive Members for Children and Young People from the Council.  
DM then gave an overview of the background to the proposals and the consultation process. 
DM outlined SBC’s 30 day engagement plan with the community and asked that any group 
wishing to engage with the Council during the consultation period make contact to arrange 
this.

Martin Joyce (MJ) explained the planning process, advising that it was an entirely separate 
process to this Schools Consultation. MJ advised that due to the scale of the proposed 
development it was classed as a Major Development for planning. Accordingly a pre- 
application notice had been submitted to planning on 19th May 2017. A major application 
process runs for a minimum of 12 weeks pre- consultation period, with a consultation meeting 
being held in June. The detailed planning application is programmed for November/December 
and will take approximately 4 months to determine.

DM outlined the school consultation and decision making process. The Consultation period 
ends on 18th June and that SBC will continue its engagement with staff, children and the 
community beyond this date. DM advised that Education Scotland will be engaging with staff, 

Page 258



111 | P a g e

parents and pupils in August and will be preparing an independent report on the proposals. 
The Council will then prepare a report on the consultation process which will consider all 
comments and questions raised by all parties during the consultation period, including 
Education Scotland. This Report will be published prior to being presented to SBC in October; 
the Scottish Government then has a period to consider whether to call in the proposal, with a 
final decision expected by Christmas 2017. 

DM provided an update of the level of responses received to date:-
 300 community responses; 98% agree and 2% disagree with the proposal to create a 

new Campus;
 166 pupil responses from Jedburgh Grammar School; 99% agree and 1% disagree;
 Primary school pupils are to be supported to respond soon.

DM highlighted some of the feedback regarding the proposals received to date:
Positives
 Enhanced technology
 Modernised facilities
 Broader curriculum and learning opportunities
 Lifelong learning opportunities
 Seamless learning transitions
Issues raised
 Class size
 Safety of children
 Disruption to those living closest to the new site
 Impact on the environment

DM advised where the proposal paper, response forms and the FAQ (prepared following 
submission of questions prior to this meeting) could be obtained. Everyone was encouraged to 
get involved and have their say and ask questions. People were encouraged to ask all 
questions that they may have either tonight at the meeting, in writing or in the mailbox. A 
further FAQ will be issued on the website and locally distributed.

INVITED SPEAKERS

DM then asked the Invited Speakers to address the meeting

Diana Hickson (DH), Howdenburn Parent Council 
DH spoke on behalf of the Parent Council and the parents of Howdenburn Primary School. DH 
expressed her concerns about rumours that had circulated before about Jedburgh Grammar 
closing because of the falling roll and that 26% of secondary pupils from catchment that had 
chosen to attend another Borders school. DH highlighted the issues with the condition of the 
current school estate in the town and the challenges this brings for teachers and pupils. Losing 
the secondary high school would damage the identity of the town as children would create 
friendship groups and participate in activities outwith the town. DH stressed the importance of 
retaining secondary education in the town and that education is for all. Retaining children will 
ensure a broad subject choice.  This new school will enhance our town, helping to attract 
families into Jedburgh and keep those that take their children elsewhere for education By 
giving children a fantastic education in Jedburgh it will encourage them to stay in the town or 
return to the town to have their families. This will ensure we have the right people in the town 

Page 259



112 | P a g e

in the future to provide all the services we need. On a primary level, it will give our children 
access to fantastic resources and help them become part of the community. They will see 
great role models amongst the secondary pupils on a daily basis. They will no longer be split 
between two schools; this will give more choice of friends. It will increase after school activity 
choice as children are reluctant/can't attend a club that is held at the other primary school, 
this often means clubs in the town can't survive due to lack of numbers. A secondary school in 
the town will provide good role models for younger children, better facilities for all and strong 
community for all to grow and prosper. In short this will benefit our whole town

Julie Forsyth (JF), Parkside Parent Council
JF advised that the parent council have spoken to parents and carers in the playground, at 
clubs and have asked for opinions on the Facebook page. The overwhelming response has 
been very positive. This is being seen as an exciting opportunity for the children and the wider 
community; the chance to have a state of the art school is an opportunity that shouldn’t slip 
away. JF highlighted that a big issue for parents and pupils at the school is the lack of grass so 
pupils are excited about the prospect of new playgrounds and sports fields that will bring more 
choice of sports and the chance of outdoor learning. Parents need to be confident that the 
children are learning in a safe environment and when the wall fell down at Howdenburn it 
became shockingly apparent that the buildings, where children spend so much of their time, 
are past their sell by date and no longer safe or fit for purpose. Attracting teachers and 
retaining them is a problem. The new campus should assist retaining the current teachers and 
attracting new talents. The integration of primary schools would facilitate the creation of 
wider friendship groups. The school should be inclusive and it is important that it includes all 
children with Additional Support Needs. It is important that the new school brings the best 
from all schools such as the “Going for Gold” motto and buddy system from Parkside. The new 
school will be the chance for everyone to discover their talents and strengths.

Hannah Hawthorn (HH), Ancrum Parent Council
HH advised that the rural community of Ancrum were very excited about the opportunity of 
the new campus, which would build on the strong links between Ancrum and Jedburgh. The 
parent council have spoken to parents and used social media to measure support for the 
proposal. The following issues have been raised

 Wi-Fi is poor in Ancrum – will investment be available to upgrade it?
 The parents would like the joint headship to continues as it assists with 

communication and transitions;
 Will early learning and childcare provision be at Ancrum or the campus?
 How will class sizes be managed?
 Will timetabling allow Ancrum pupils to access to the PE and sport facilities at the new 

school?
HH confirmed that Ancrum parents see this as a wonderful opportunity for all.

Anne Mitchell (AM) Jedburgh Grammar Parent Council
AM confirmed that the Parent Council has discussed the proposal and considers that the 
potential benefits are immense:-

 The new campus should improve mental attitude. Pupils will feel valued and equal to 
those in the other border schools;

 The sports facilities will be significantly better and on site which will allow more 
opportunities and participation time while removing traveling time;

Page 260



113 | P a g e

 The increased vocational education will assist with better pathways for the young 
people;

 Local businesses can be involved with education and training and can attract 
apprenticeships and employees;

 The provision of education and learning for secondary children with additional support 
needs is a real bonus;

 The campus will enhance the links between generations, allowing history, skills and 
knowledge to be shared;

 Senior models can be role models and will have opportunities for mentoring younger 
children; and

 The new campus will encourage pupils, families and staff to achieve.

Richard Gordon (RG), Chairman of Jedburgh Community Council
RG confirmed his excitement about the proposal. Times change and education has changed 
with young people and future generations learning in different ways. The campus proposed 
will be state of the art providing learning and facilities for nursery, primary, secondary and 
beyond; there will be courses for all. Jedburgh has not been at the top of the queue for 
spending with Berwickshire getting 3 new schools, Kelso getting 2 and Peebles a new primary 
in recent years. It is now Jedburgh’s turn. It is acknowledged there are concerns about access 
and implications in areas of the town but overall there will be a positive impact on Jedburgh as 
too many young people have left to seek wider opportunities. This will bring opportunities for 
vocational courses. Through the planning process and consultations, the community, the 
parents and staff can help shape the campus. This is an opportunity, it is a one off and the 
town deserves it.

Bill Johnstone (BJ), Community 
BJ considers that the proposal is very important for Jedburgh’s future. This could be the 
biggest thing to happen in Jedburgh since the factories were built. It would be very unwise to 
reject the proposal as it’s a major opportunity for everyone. There will be learning 
opportunities for all and will bring a momentum to the town; of confidence, parity, and a feel 
good factor. BJ hopes that the campus will bring opportunities for local businesses to be 
involved in the construction, with training and apprenticeships arising. The town needs to 
grow, the campus should bring teachers to Jedburgh; it will be an exciting draw for teaching 
professionals. The school has always been high achieving – let’s set the bar higher.  BJ recalled 
that historically the education in the town was under one headship, it’s happened before. BJ 
advised that all objections need to be respected and heard. BJ has a particular concern 
regarding the safety and transport to and from the campus during construction and after. 
Oxnam Road already has heavy traffic including large lorries, Steps must be taken to introduce 
traffic calming and ensure safety. BJ hope that the building will fit with the topography on the 
site and be aspirational and inspirational not just rectangular boxes. This is a once in a lifetime 
opportunity.

RECEIVED QUESTIONS

DM then invited the panel to answer questions that had been submitted prior to the meeting

1. Is this project really about cutting teaching and support staff posts?
Michelle Strong (MS) advised that this was not a cost cutting exercise. Teachers are 
allocated on the basis of a school roll. What the campus will allow is for the classes to 

Page 261



114 | P a g e

be organised in a way to make best use of that resource. Support staff are allocated 
based on the needs of the school and the pupils – this is regularly reviewed. There 
may be some duplication in roles for facility management staff however the campus 
will be larger and operate for longer hours so SBC will only know staffing levels once 
the design campus is finalised. The main driver for the campus is educational benefits 
for pupils, staff and the community.

DM advised that class sizes are regulated by legislation. More information about class 
size will form part of the FAQ that will be issued once we have received all of your 
questions and comments.

2 Where, when and how will Parkside School be accommodated during the building 
works? How will you ensure safe routes to school?
James Darrie (JD) advised that the options of how the building will fit onto the site are 
still being worked through. JD reiterated that planning has its own separate process 
which will involve its own consultation periods. JD confirmed that over the 12 week 
consultation there will be engagement seeking comments and questions regarding 
access and layout. The team are confident that the campus can happen on the 
preferred site. JD confirmed that safe routes to school would involve a full transport 
assessment, which will look at all journeys and then devise a full plan. The roads 
planning team will be involved and will give an independent view. This may well lead 
to road improvements such as traffic calming and new speed limits as has happened at 
the new school in Kelso.

JD advised that the impact on Parkside will be considered during planning process and 
a plan will be devised at the detailed planning stage to minimise and mitigate against 
impact on Parkside. Safety will be paramount and protections will be imposed by 
legislation.

3 How will the documenting, archiving and closing of the three schools be handled, 
keeping in mind the emotional attachment of the children attending the school and 
staff, past and present?
Susan Oliver (SO) confirmed that everyone is aware of the 500 years of history at the 
Grammar and that there is an extensive history and alumni to celebrate. A working 
group will be established to work out how to incorporate this rich history into the new 
campus. This will comprise young people, the community, and the Jedforest Historical 
Society. The architects have confirmed that items of historical significance can be 
incorporated into the campus e.g. dux boards, stain glass windows and items from the 
memorial garden. Discussions have been held regarding the stain glass window and 
one pupil has suggested that a new pane is added incorporating the badges of the 3 
schools proposed for closure depicting that we have come together.

4 How will a new uniform be decided?
Claire Turnbull (CT) advised that there will be consultation regarding the uniform given 
all three schools has different colours. The consultation will involve pupils, staff and 
parents where it can be discussed and decided what the uniform should be and 
whether there should be different colours for age groups etc. Discussions will also 
have to take place regarding the school badge – should it be an amalgamation of the 
existing badges or be a new design?

5 How will the school support outside learning?

Page 262



115 | P a g e

Morag McCreadie (MM) advised that as the space is so large it will naturally allow 
outdoor learning for all pupils. The design will be sympathetic to the local 
environment which means that even before the children go outside they can learn 
from the outdoors considering the changing seasons and landscape, including in a 
creative and artistic way.   There will also be opportunities to study eco systems and 
changes. The build process itself will provide opportunities from the start for pupils to 
learn and engage, as pupils will see the changes in the landscape during the build and 
arrangements will be made for that process to become a learning opportunity, as a 
skills for work resource with possible opportunities for apprenticeships and training.  
The plan is also to link the campus to other outdoor spaces in the town such as town 
walks, cycle paths etc. to enhance the community learning opportunities.

6 How will the Council work with the community to decide what happens to the 
existing school sites?
MJ indicated the drawings at the rear of the hall. There will be 2/3 sites to consider 
(depending on what happens on the Parkside site).  Proposals will be worked on 
during the build process and it is the intention that there will be immediate 
redevelopment of the legacy sites as SBC does not want to see these vacant. Any use 
will be sympathetic to the town and the area – a variety of uses will be considered 
including commercial, affordable homes, residential and care homes/supported living. 
MJ advised that there will be statutory consultation on the legacy sites and 
consideration will be given to memorials to reflect the previous use. 

MJ advised that the campus will be constructed through the South East Hub company 
which is a Private Public Partnership company which has obligations to the community 
which include training opportunities and apprenticeships but also it must seek to 
maximise the local supply chain. Events will be held for local contractors to bid for 
work. There will be learning opportunities at every stage and visits will be possible 
throughout for staff, parent councils and pupils to see the build. 

DM advised that the development will bring income to the town, as people will stay 
eat and shop in the town. Some may even move here. The campus will have capacity 
for increased numbers.  There will be job interviews for senior pupils – which may lead 
to support through degrees and apprenticeships. This will bring employment, careers 
and life changing opportunities. We want this to help the people of Jedburgh be all 
that they can be. Borders College will provide adult learning opportunities for all and 
all existing groups in the town will get access to the building. 

OPEN FLOOR QUESTIONS

DM then invited questions from the audience:-

1 I am concerned about the potential implications for the health for the children. 
There are silos at Marinetti’s beside the new planned site for the school which leads 
to fine plastic dust in the air.
MJ answered that SBC is aware of that issue. As part of the consultation process will 
be working with partners to ensure there is no health risk. We will not do anything 
that will increased risks and will do everything to ensure compliance in reducing risks. 
There will be a detailed design solution for the site. This will include statutory 
consultation with partners including Environmental Health.

Page 263



116 | P a g e

2 What is the educational philosophy around this project?  Duns, Earlston, Eyemouth 
and Kelso have separate secondary and primary schools, so why will Jedburgh be the 
only town to have one campus?
DM replied that in terms of numbers at JGS - 345 pupils – is one of the 2 smallest 
secondary schools in the Scottish Borders; all the other schools mentioned are much 
larger.  Over the last two years, the education team has looked at progress, attainment 
and development at the school. We have looked at results and listened to concerns 
about limited opportunities for staff to work collaboratively and to make 
improvements.  The Education team considered different models across the country; 
to see what we can do with resources we have. We have looked at the approach taken 
by Dumfries & Galloway, which has 3-18 Learning campuses of a similar in size to what 
is being proposed here. This approach has been adopted elsewhere in Scotland for 
learning clusters of a similar size to Jedburgh. At the meeting here two years ago 
where we asked the young people to come along, they were very clear that they 
wanted to have opportunities to gain the skills that they consider important. They also 
raised the issue that going to Borders College for vocational learning involves 
considerable travelling time. There was a desire for more opportunities within the 
town and we are looking to develop that. Education policy within Scotland is changing; 
there should be a range of pathways for young people and schools should be 
delivering the opportunities.  That is why we are working with Borders College to 
expand their offer into Jedburgh. We shall give examples of similar sized campuses in 
the FAQ that will be issued once we have received everyone’s questions and 
comments during the consultation.

3 I am wary that the Council will not deliver the Campus.  I am concerned with traffic 
and safety on the Oxnam Road. As a taxpayer, can I be assured that SBC will do all it 
can to ensure safety during the construction of this school?
DM answered the questioner was absolutely right to raise these concerns. If we all 
look back to the last time that we were in this hall addressing the collapsed wall 
situation at Howdenburn Primary School, many parents expressed their concerns 
about traffic on Oxnam Road, along with other concerns. As a Council we went to 
every community in the Scottish Borders through the School Estates consultation 
process.  The response from the Jedburgh community during this consultation was 
significant.  The people of Jedburgh raised a range of issues and in the report we 
presented to Council in the Council Chamber, Councillors agreed that the people of 
Jedburgh have to come first in terms of the areas to be addressed.  As you have heard 
tonight, there is a huge commitment from the Council on this project.  There is quite a 
bit of work to do in terms of safety and we will address the concerns, MJ will respond 
on this.

MJ - would like to address health and safety in terms of 2 stages, the first being the 
construction stage.  Obviously during the build we would expect a lot of traffic to site.  
We would work with the contractor to develop a detailed construction management 
plan which would enable the planning of drop off times for delivery of materials to the 
site, particularly significant loads such as steel works.  The plan would take account of 
busy times for town and would understand the constraints, with deliveries planned to 
minimise disruption for the town.  Deliveries would be planned on a day to day basis 
during the length of the construction phase, which we would estimate taking 20 
months.  We recognise this is a long period of time but the increased level of traffic 
required during construction will be temporary.  The contractors would take all 
mitigating measures to minimise disruption including cleaning of roads.  All major 

Page 264



117 | P a g e

operations would be carried out within normal working hours recognising that people 
are living close to the site.

The second stage is ensuring safety for young people accessing the school.  During the 
planning process we will ensure all routes to school by bus, car and on foot are 
implemented within the requirements of the Safe Routes to School team.  To ensure 
safety within the campus in the longer term we will be looking at both of these in 
detail within the 2 phases.  We will set up communication channels to update the 
community on significant activity during the construction phase and will make use of 
use social media to update on the process of the building and provide regular updates 
on significant activity which will be temporary.  We will publicise times and dates as 
widely as possible.

There will be opportunities for children and young people involved in the 
developments and there will be learning experiences through planning the health and 
safety of the site.  There has been a regular period of school building in Scottish 
Borders and across Scotland and we have delivered success in this area.  We will be 
establishing working groups to look at these areas and we will work with parents and 
the door is open to anyone who would like to be involved in planning safety and 
communicating wider messages

4 The Idea is super –I wonder what the management structure will be like? 
DM answered that currently we have to go through the consultation process. SBC will 
produce a Consultation Report and when it is finalised this will go to Scottish 
Government with a decision expected before Christmas. If Scottish Government does 
call in the proposal, it will be based on whether the Council have followed the process. 
All the information will go to Government and once this is completed we have a 2 
month period for final stamping. We will then commence consultation to decide what 
the campus will look like, what it will deliver and what management structure is 
required.  We will consult with the head teachers and establish what our ambitions 
are for children’s attainment and achievement. The management structure might 
resemble what we have at the moment or it might be quite different (currently we 
have Broad Education from the age of 3 until the end of S3 and then Senior Phase 
from S4 onwards) There will be educational opportunities. We will consult with social 
work staff, families and our partners in Health. The structure of the best leadership 
team will be fully consulted upon and considered. The Parent Council at Ancrum have 
said they want to retain a joint head teacher arrangement, this option will be fully 
considered as part of the process. Information will be shared with parents, 
fundamentally by law they are involved, community will be consulted, children will be 
consulted, we will look at areas that the children would like answers to e.g. playtimes, 
lunchtimes and there will be focus on the children’s questions.

5 It is fantastic to hear about the proposal for intergenerational learning, vocational 
learning and sports facilities.  We in Jedburgh know that excellent academic learning 
provision accompanies this but, as this may not be discerned by outsiders, please 
could a word such as “academic” be included in the proposed statement, with a view 
to enhancing the school roll, thus increasing number of teaching staff and pupil 
choice.

 Can research be carried out into the 26% who live in Jedburgh and go to 
other schools and why they do that at present?

Page 265



118 | P a g e

 Will the campus have and advertise state of the art science labs (and other 
academic provision)

 Will there be study bases in departments/facilities for senior students – can 
this be adapted/ideas for other depts. E.g.  social subjects for other senior 
students

 Will the campus offer a wider range of subjects to help increase the roll?
 How will we attract families to town? More housing? Perhaps using the area 

at Howdenburn PS?
 Will there be a 3G pitch?
 What will the school be named?

DM said that one of the areas she is really excited about is looking at some of the 
opportunities and different models; one where children work in science before 
secondary school is an important one.  We saw this when Howdenburn closed after 
the wall incident and primary pupils got access to the labs then. In one area of the 
Borders primary children attend a secondary every week for science and modern 
language lessons. DM invited SO to expand.
SO added that pop-up labs have been a great success.  We will be building on this to 
give the children opportunities in science and maths.  Staff have been coming up with 
great suggestions for the curriculum. We will be looking at outdoor learning at the site 
with the Geography class and other ideas for Social subjects.  One of the benefits of 
working in a small community is the help you get.  Volunteering is a big part of things, 
e.g. gardening, fitness.  This has helped people get employment.  Some local 
employers work with the school and let them know what they are looking for.  A lady 
within Jedburgh is delivering staff development training
SO added that figures for children going outwith catchment area are mainly made for 
personal reasons. The 26% figure also included all the children from Denholm Primary, 
where there is a joint catchment with Jedburgh Grammar and Hawick High School, 
who chose Hawick. 
DM answered that name of new school will be taken under consultation.  There will be 
a vote on this.  We will ask the community and the children to suggest names to be 
presented to the Councillors.   A short leet will be prepared and there will be a vote.
MJ addressed the planning questions. SBC has a 3G pitch programme which has been 
developing over a number of years.  There has been consultation to have a 3G pitch in 
Jedburgh on ground owned by Lothian Estates.  There is now an opportunity to 
relocate the pitch next to the school.  There will need to be a consultation taken place 
with the community and the local sports clubs to see what they want.  It is up to the 
community as to where the 3G pitch would be located.
MJ addressed the housing question. If you ask any private housing developer what the 
key is to attracting people to a development, they would say education.  The legacy 
sites provide an opportunity for this to happen –both private and social.  Legislation 
states that for every private development built, there needs to be affordable housing 
included within this.

6 Why is this the only site?  Is this because the Council own the land?  This is going to 
cause a lot of flooding through Jedburgh through taking down a lot of trees.   There 
were flood warnings in Jedburgh on Saturday and flooding is on the increase.  The 
road has been flooded; this has affected house prices in Jedburgh.    Businesses have 
shut down because of this.   It is fine saying education will attract people to the town 
but they also need jobs and a High Street and the location will impact on this.  The 
proposed field is a marsh, chopping down trees is a shortcut to more flooding.  25 
mature trees will need to be removed.   1 tree accounts for 25 million gallons of 

Page 266



119 | P a g e

water per year.  A lot of insects will be affected; these are used by the fishing 
industry in the area. Jobs will be provided through the construction but these will be 
temporary.  Development of housing will not meet needs of local people.  Large 
parts of town are on the minimum wage. In terms of Hartrigge Road, I have heard 
that this will be used as an access road for the construction.  Mature trees will need 
to come down which will need more damage.  Why is there no other site, there is 
the Howdenburn School site which is large enough?

DM said that site analysis has been undertaken and established that, for an 
intergenerational campus, the Howdenburn site is too small, both in terms of 
accommodating the pupil numbers and the facilities they need including sporting 
facilities. Pupils are keen that they can access sporting facilities during the school day 
easily and quickly, so there is no detrimental effect on timetables (e.g. wasted travel 
time). All other sites have been looked at. The sites near the Abbey have historical 
restrictions as does the current Grammar school site. There are also too many other 
restrictions on the Grammar site, not least the road running through the site. The 
Scottish Government is clear that they only currently have funding for large scale 
projects within communities that can be delivered within tight timescales. Protracted 
site or project discussions will jeopardise our chances of funding. We arrived at the 
Hartrigge site because we can deliver an appropriate, high quality project within the 
required, timescales. Detailed site analysis has now to be done to address all other 
environmental concerns that have been raised. More details of the options analysis 
will be provided in the FAQs that will be produced once we have received everyone’s 
questions and comments. 

JD recapped on the environmental concerns raised- access, ecology, trees, flooding 
etc. and said that all these things sit within the planning process. The project team 
needs to satisfy the Planners, within SBC, that any concerns raised can be addressed, 
mitigated etc. Bat, bird, tree, insect, drainage surveys and environmental impact 
assessments are all currently being carried out by a range of specialist companies. The 
SBC Planners must be absolutely satisfied after considering all information provided. 
All information relating to surveys etc. will be made available as part of planning 
process and be on show for all to see, and consider what constraints are put on the 
project.

MJ quoted SBC’s affordable housing policy, where 25% of any development has to be 
affordable, and that this can take many forms. SBC has already had interest from 
partners about the sites, and whilst Jedburgh doesn’t yet form part of SBC’s 6 extra 
care housing schemes across the region, partners are already saying they are would be 
interested in exploring options in Jedburgh, so the demand is there.

7 Will the design include a 400m synthetic running track? This will be an asset for 
campus and would benefit all, from the very young to the senior.
I see this facility will help provide the added bonus of interschool athletics.  
Wider scale this can only help in this community, club athletes and other 
organisations. This will only advance careers.  We can go forward knowing that there 
is a swell of support behind the idea for a new school.

DM Serious consideration will be given to young people and performance in sport. We 
do recognise the importance of competition and elite sport. We will consider provision 
of sporting facilities during the design stage and the children have been very clear 

Page 267



120 | P a g e

about what they would like to see too e.g. hockey facilities. We share your view about 
the facilities.  

8 After children with Additional Support Needs move on from primary there is no 
provision for them.  Hawick does have provision, but there are no community ties 
for the children there.  Will provision be made for them at the new school?
DM – There is an absolute commitment to provide for those Additional Support Needs 
in the town at the campus. There will be partnerships with Borders College and 
employers in the town – regardless of young people’s ability. They will be able to start 
and then complete their education in the town and this will look beyond school age 
and look at life skills and lifetime opportunities. There will be links with Borders 
College so vulnerable people society can be supported. You have our absolute 
commitment that the driver is our children. SBC recognises that children with 
additional support needs thrive in a community but that they also need tailor made 
facilities. Thank you for raising that point.

Closing the Meeting

DM advised that we would advise everyone of the next steps once the consultation period 
ends on 18th June. DM thanked the Jed Eye for their special pull out in the local paper, helping 
to publicise the consultation and the event tonight. DM then thanked the local community for 
their engagement in the process. People were asked to raise their issues so that we can work 
together to resolve things and make things happen in the town. DM finished by stating what a 
privilege it was for her to serve education in the Scottish Borders. The young people are 
amazing in the schools in the town and a credit to you all. They are well rounded, confident 
and amazing people which makes our job even more enjoyable and rewarding. Thank you for 
coming. Thank you.

END OF MEETING

Page 268



121 | P a g e

Appendix 5 - Frequently Asked Questions 

STATUTORY CONSULTATION FOR JEDBURGH SCHOOLS
PUBLIC MEETING 30TH MAY 2017
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 

1 Why are we only hearing about the Proposals now? 
In February 2016, the Council launched a pre-consultation process regarding the 
schools in Jedburgh. There was a fantastic response from Jedburgh and we listened 
to your issues and concerns. Following this we considered the options for                                                                                                                                  
education within the town; engaging with the Community Council, Parents’ Councils 
and local Councillors. An options analysis was undertaken and it was considered 
that an intergenerational learning campus would not only address the issues and 
concerns that were raised in the pre-consultation by the pupils and parents but 
would also provide a state of the art learning and community facility for the town 
and the surrounding communities.  Discussions were then commenced with the 
Scottish Government regarding the joint funding of a new campus and it was only 
then that we could come to the community to discuss our proposals and seek your 
views.

2 Why was this site chosen?
The Hartrigge Park site was chosen after a detailed analysis by the Council of the 
sites available within the town that would be suitable for the development of a 
campus style facility. The Council carried out a detailed analysis of the sites within 
its ownership across the town (removing the largest capital risk to the project) and 
then assessed each site in terms of location, capacity, environment, access and 
egress, Safe Routes to School, ground conditions, adjacent land use, infrastructure 
capacity, costs, timings and phasing. From this detailed analysis Hartrigge Park 
emerged as the preferred site. 
Please note that a formal planning process must be completed. A pre-application 
notice was submitted on 19th May 2017.

3 What is the likelihood of further investment if this proposal does not 
proceed?
Funding has been discussed with the Scottish Futures Trust through the Schools for 
the Future programme. They have confirmed their support for this proposal, 
subject to the outcome of this consultation, with an ambitious timeline for delivery.  
If we do not proceed with the proposal it is unlikely that we will be in a position to 
maintain Government support at this time. Funding is typically secured on a single 

Page 269



122 | P a g e

school basis so it would be unlikely that we would be able to secure further funding 
to improve/replace all three schools in the short term.  

4 What about those of us that live next to the site or on the roads 
leading to the site?
The Council recognises that people in the town may be anxious about the prospect 
of a large construction project taking place and the potential implications of the 
campus in their immediate area. Many of the answers to questions including the 
detailed design, layout and the proposed access routes will emerge during the 
planning process that was commenced last week.  The planning process is distinct 
to this school consultation process and will comprise its own consultation process. 
The timings of the planning process will be publicised shortly.

5 How will you ensure the safety of the children in the Campus? 
Safety of the children is always a priority. The new campus will specifically designed 
to ensure safety of all children, with areas for each age group being distinct with 
secure entries/exits for all children and all areas will have lockdown facilities.  
Staffing ratios will be maintained to ensure safety at all times and children will be 
supervised at all times.  

6  How will issues such as bullying, drugs and violence be managed on 
such a large scale?
The Council is seeking to build on the strengths of the existing schools, where 
bullying incidents are rare and the relationships between staff and children are 
strong. The schools have a great ethos and benefit from great community 
involvement and support. There are strong values of inclusion, wellbeing and 
equalities across the schools. The campus will strive to maintain these strengths 
and positives through strong leadership and management. The management team 
will visit other campus schools across Scotland to view best practice and to learn 
how they operate.  At the campus, staff will be able to build early relationships with 
pupils and their families and maintain these throughout the learning journey. The 
pastoral team will be involved at the start of every learning journey and will 
develop greater knowledge and understanding of the young people within their 
care.

7 How will building a new Campus improve education and learning for 
the children? 
The Educational Benefits of the new campus are described in detail in the Proposal 
Paper.  The principal benefits are:- 

 Each learner will be able to proceed at an appropriate pace through the 
stages of learning, benefitting from limited transitions and a consistent, 
coherent and progressive approach to learning;

Page 270



123 | P a g e

 In addition to providing state of the art facilities and surroundings, the new 
campus will allow a wider range of learning, teaching approaches and 
opportunities in line with the Curriculum for Excellence;

 The campus will allow a more effective and efficient deployment of 
resources and a more consistent approach across the learning stages 
regarding teaching, assessment, tracking and target setting; 

 The campus will allow greater opportunities for staff to work collaboratively 
and to develop in a larger staff pool with different experience, strengths and 
skills;

 Curriculum changes will be possible to improve the learning journey with a 
particular emphasis on literacy, numeracy, science and technology, health 
and wellbeing, closing the attainment gap and developing a young 
workforce.

8  How do I have my say?
It is important that the Council hears as many voices in the community as possible. 
Your responses can really help shape and influence decisions. You can play your 
part by:
 Submitting a written or electronic response to Scottish Borders Council - forms 

are available at the meeting, from the Council (details are given below) or 
electronically at : www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh

 Submitting or asking questions at the public meeting, all questions will be 
recorded and will be considered in the Consultation Report that the Council is 
required to publish prior to any decision being made;

 Speaking to your local Councillors; and
 Engaging with your school’s Parent Council. The Parent Council can play a key 

role in engaging with the Council throughout the process.

If you require a paper copy of the Proposal Paper or the Response Form or have any 
comments or questions, please contact us at

Jedburgh School Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA
Telephone: 01835 825080
E-mail: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk

Page 271

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/jedburgh
mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk


124 | P a g e

JEDBURGH SCHOOLS CONSULTATION 
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS DURING THE CONSULTATION PERIOD  

Planning and Construction
1. Why was this site chosen over the other sites?

The Hartrigge Park site was chosen after the Council carried out a detailed analysis of 
the sites available within the town that would be suitable for the development of a 
campus style facility. The Council considered four sites within its ownership across the 
town (removing the largest capital risk to the project) and then assessed each site in 
terms of 

 Location
 Capacity
 Environment
 Access and egress
 Safe Routes to School
 Ground conditions
 Adjacent land use
 Infrastructure capacity
 Costs
 Timings and phasing 

From this detailed analysis Hartrigge Park emerged as the preferred site. 
Please note that a formal planning process is still to be completed. A pre-application 
notice was submitted on 19th May 2017. Two public engagement events are proposed 
at Jedburgh Grammar School regarding this on Monday 26 June at 12-7pm and 
Tuesday 22 August at 12-7pm.

2. Are the Council aware of the drainage issues at the site?
SBC are aware of drainage issues at the site and will carry out full ground investigations 
of the site and a drainage assessment prior to submitting a formal planning application. 
A detailed strategy regarding drainage will be formulated during the planning 
application process.

3. How will the volume of children making their way (by foot, car or bus) to one 
destination be managed? Will there be several new safe road crossings for children?  
Will the design incorporate non-road cycle lanes? Will the roads be altered?
The safety of all children, staff and members of public using the campus is the major 
priority of SBC. The planning process will include a full transport assessment and will 
require appropriate plans to be designed regarding all access and egress.  This will 
include the agreement of a Safe Routes to School strategy which will cover all modes of 
transport that may be utilised to get to school. SBC’s roads planning team will be 

Page 272



125 | P a g e

involved and will give an independent view. This may well lead to road improvements 
and changes; including new crossings, speed limits and traffic calming.

4. How will noise from the factories be dealt with?
The acoustic design of campus will consider the surrounding noise level so that the 
building will be able to comply with current design standards for noise levels in schools.

5. When will the building start?
Construction is programmed to start in spring 2018 and to be completed by spring 2020.

6. What will be done to preserve the trees and existing landscape? How will the 
environment and ecology of the area be protected?
It will be a requirement of the planning process that SBC submits an ecological report 
that identifies the existing site based conditions and proposes remedial work to mitigate 
the impacts on trees and other ecological features on the site.  Careful design and 
location of the building, external playgrounds and accesses will ensure that damage to 
existing mature trees in the site is kept to a minimum.

7. The site is well used for local walks – will these routes be maintained?
SBC is aware of the semi-rural walking path running to the south of the site between the 
proposed campus and the rear gardens of Oxnam Road.  This will not be affected by the 
campus construction and will remain open at all times.  The Council will work with the 
community to ensure that other walking routes are, wherever possible, preserved.

8. What facilities will the campus have? Will there be a skate park and a multi-use 
auditorium with a cinema screen that can be used by the school and the public?
The campus is still in its design stage. SBC have noted the numerous suggestions that 
have been made by pupils, staff and community members and will work with the design 
team to establish what the campus can comprise to optimise its use for learning, health 
and wellbeing and recreation for the community. More details will be available during 
the planning application phase.  

9. How will you keep the site safe? How will noise and disruption be minimised during 
the construction phase?
Safety is SBC’s main priority. The site will be secure and safe at all times during the 
build.  As there will be significant traffic to site over the course of the build, we will work 
with the contractor to develop a detailed construction management plan which will 
enable the planning of drop off times for delivery of materials to the site, particularly 
significant loads such as steel works.  The plan would take account of busy times for 
town and would understand the constraints, with deliveries planned to minimise 
disruption for the town.  Deliveries will be planned on a daily basis during the 
construction phase, which we would estimate taking 20 months.  We recognise this is a 
long period of time but the increased level of traffic required during construction will be 
temporary.  The contractors will take all mitigating measures to minimise disruption, 
including the cleaning of roads.  All major operations will be carried out within normal 
working hours recognising that people are living close to the site. We will set up 
communication channels to update the community on significant activity during the 
construction phase and will make use of use social media to update on the process of 
the building and provide regular updates on significant activity which will be temporary.  
We will publicise times and dates as widely as possible.

Page 273



126 | P a g e

10. How will you ensure the structural integrity of the school after all the issues with the 
schools in Edinburgh?
The school will be designed and constructed in a way so that the likelihood of defects is 
eliminated wherever possible.  SBC is working with all other local authorities and the 
Scottish Government, and will ensure that findings from the Edinburgh schools project 
are addressed when designing the new campus.

11. What’s going to happen to the old school buildings? Will the public get a say?
Proposals will be worked on during the campus’ build programme and it is the intention 
that there will be almost immediate redevelopment of the legacy sites as SBC does not 
want to see these vacant. Any use will be sympathetic to the town and the area – a 
variety of uses will be considered including commercial, affordable homes, residential 
and care homes/supported living. There will be statutory consultation on these sites 
before any development is agreed and undertaken.

Delivery of the new Campus
12. Will any change of government affect the delivery of the school?

Education was devolved to the Scottish Government under the Scotland Act 1998. The 
Scottish Government has established the Scottish Futures Trust (SFT) as an independent 
body, to deliver value for money across public sector infrastructure investment. SFT 
operates at arm's length from the Scottish Government and works with every local 
authority across Scotland to drive forward the Scottish Government’s £1.8bn Scotland's 
Schools for the Future programme.  SFT’s role is to efficiently and effectively manage 
the programme to help local authorities achieve the very best value-for-money for their 
investment in new schools. SBC has received confirmation from SFT that they will 
jointly fund the creation of the new campus in Jedburgh providing that the campus is 
deliverable by 31st March 2020.

Education
13. How will class sizes be managed?

Classes sizes are governed by Scottish Government regulations; in primary school single 
stage classes cannot exceed 25 (P1), 30 (P2-3) and 33 (P4-7); composite classes (two 
year groups in one class) cannot exceed 25; and multi-composite classes are at the 
discretion of the Head of Service.    In secondary school non-practical classes cannot 
exceed 33 (s1-3) and 30 (S4-6); and practical classes, such as Home Economics, Technical 
or Science cannot exceed 20 pupils. There are separate guidelines governing Additional 
Support Needs class sizes.

14. Will all pupils start at the same time?
The timings of the operation of each stage of learning will be reviewed at the same time 
as SBC considers the Safe Routes to School. Any proposed changes to current school 
timings will require prior consultation with staff, pupils and parents/carers.

15. What about security of the new campus both during the day when the children are 
there and at night?
Safety is the main priority of SBC. The campus will be specifically designed to ensure the 
safety of all those who use the campus. In particular the children’s areas will be secure 
at all times. The design process will also address the security of the campus during 
periods when it is not in use.

Page 274



127 | P a g e

16. What other 3-18 campuses are there in Scotland?
There are several 3-18 campuses already in operation in Scotland or due to be opening 
soon, this includes:-
Argyll &Bute
Lochgilphead Joint Campus – 686 pupils in 2016 (Primary - 221, Secondary- 465) 
Rothesay Joint Campus – 561 pupils in 2016 (Primary -275, Secondary -288)
Comharlie nan Eilean Siar
Sir Edward Scott School, Harris - 131 pupils in 2016 (Primary - 77, Secondary – 54)
Castlebay Community School, Barra – 189 pupils in 2016 (Primary - 81, Secondary – 
108)
Dumfries & Galloway
Dalbeattie Learning Campus (opening October 2017 for c800 pupils)
North West Campus, Dumfries (opening summer 2018 with capacity for 922 pupils 
including 60 nursery places)
East Ayrshire
William McIlvanney Campus, Kilmarnock (opening 31 March 2018 for c2,000 pupils)
Knockroon Learning and Enterprise Campus, Cumnock, Auchinleck (opening in 2019 
school year c2,500 pupils cost c£63.5m)
Highland and Islands
Tain Campus – concept approved regarding c£45m campus for >1,000 pupils in 2014; 
site still not agreed
Wick Joint Campus opened April 2017 after several delays (reported to cost £48.5m for 
c900 pupils)

17. What will the campus be called?
SBC is intending to carry out an informal consultation regarding the name of the new 
campus. We will be seeking suggestions from the pupils, staff and community prior to 
the preparation of a short leet. We are also proposing to consult with the pupils 
regarding the uniform(s) and the motto for the campus.

18. How many teaching and support staff will lose their jobs?
Teachers are allocated on the basis of a school roll. The campus will allow classes to be 
organised in a way to make the best use of the staff.  Support staff are allocated based 
on the needs of the school and the pupils – this is regularly reviewed. There may be 
some duplication in roles for facility management staff however the campus will be 
larger and operate for longer hours so SBC will only know staffing levels once the design 
of the campus is finalised. 

19. What are the learning opportunities of an intergenerational learning campus? How 
will the campus help our young people get into employment?
There will be opportunities for all ages to learn and develop at the campus.  The campus 
will allow a more coherent and progressive learner journey through all stages of 
education and learning.  The curriculum will be redesigned to allow a more flexible 
approach to allow each learner to progress at an appropriate pace. There will be 
increased opportunities to be taught by specialists of literacy, mathematics and science; 
with primary pupils getting access to science labs etc. There will also be increased 
opportunities for vocational learning and training, with an emphasis of developing skills 
for life, learning and work. Placements and work experience will be available within the 
campus at (e.g. childcare and catering) but also with local business partners.  Borders 
College will work with SBC to operate a satellite college from the campus providing 

Page 275



128 | P a g e

opportunities for further and higher education within the town. South of Scotland 
Partnership and Borders Skills Partnership will all work with SBC within the campus to 
provide vocational development opportunities. There will also be significant learning 
opportunities for the wider community to meet the demand within the town. These will 
include opportunities to obtain qualifications and training, learning and recreational 
opportunities. 

What happens next in the Consultation Process?
The next stage in the process is for Inspectors from Education Scotland to come to 
Jedburgh, when the schools return in August. The Inspector(s) have 3 weeks to consider 
the educational aspects of SBC’s proposal and submit a report to SBC. During this period 
the Inspector(s) will visit the schools and meet with children, young people, staff and 
parents who may be affected by the proposals. Following this the Inspectors will prepare 
their report regarding the educational benefits contained in the Proposal Paper, the 
responses that were received during the consultation period and what they have learnt 
during their visits to the schools. 
Following receipt of this report SBC will then prepare a Consultation Report which will 
contain:-

 An explanation of how SBC has reviewed the proposals following receipt of the 
responses during the consultation period;

 The report in full from Education Scotland and its responses to the points it raises;
 A summary of the points raised during the consultation – both written and oral 

and the SBC’s response to these points;
 The substance to any alleged inaccuracies and details of the SBC’s response  and 

any action taken; and
 Any omitted information.

The Consultation Report will be published on SBC’s website and copies will be available 
locally. The publication of the Report will be publicised along with details of how to access 
a copy.
There will be a 3 week period following publication of the Consultation Report before SBC 
can make a decision whether to procced with the proposals, in whole or in part. SBC must 
notify the Scottish Ministers of its decision regarding any closure proposals within 6 
working days of this decision.  From that date there will be a 3 week period for any party 
to make representations to the Scottish Ministers regarding the closure proposals. The 
Scottish Ministers then have a further 5 week period to consider whether to call in the 
closure proposals. 
The Scottish Ministers may only call in a closure proposal if it appears to them that SBC 
has failed to comply:-

 in a significant regard, with the terms of the Schools (Consultation) Act 2010 as 
amended; or

 to take proper account of a material consideration relevant to its decision to 
implement the proposal.

In the event that the Scottish Ministers call the proposal in they must refer it to the 
School Closure Review Panel, who has 8 weeks to review the proposal. If the Panel 
refuses to consent to the closure proposal, SBC has a right of appeal to a sheriff. This 
decision is final. In the event consent is refused SBC will be unable to make a further 
closure proposal regarding the same school(s) for a period of 5 years. 

Page 276



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017                              1

PROPOSAL FOR STATUTORY CONSULTATION TO CLOSE ST 
MARGARET’S ROMAN CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL, HAWICK

Report by Service Director, Children and Young People

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

7 NOVEMBER 2017

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY
1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

This report recommends that a Statutory Consultation is 
undertaken in relation to a proposal to close St Margaret’s Roman 
Catholic Primary School in Hawick.

As part of the School Estates Review, the Council has reviewed the 
denominational schools within the Scottish Borders considering: - 
increasing educational opportunities; improving outcomes for children and 
young people; sustainability; future proofing the school estate and 
affordability.
 
The Review has highlighted a significant fall in roll at St Margaret’s Roman 
Catholic Primary School, Hawick since 1997. The school is currently 
operating at 14% of capacity; with a current roll of 14 pupils. Given a 
sustained reduction in demand for denominational education within Hawick 
it is proposed that a Statutory Consultation is commenced in relation to a 
proposal to close St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Hawick.

The Children and Young People’s Services team consider the proposal 
contains strong educational benefits for the children, which will provide 
greater opportunities for integration into their community and much wider 
learning experiences and greater opportunities in terms of the Curriculum 
for Excellence.

2 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 I recommend that the Executive Committee:- 

(a) Notes and agrees the position regarding the school roll at St 
Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Hawick and the 
educational benefits associated with the proposal

(b) Agree that a Statutory Consultation should be undertaken in 

Page 277

Agenda Item 9



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017                              2

relation to the proposal to close St Margaret’s Roman 
Catholic Primary School, Hawick

Page 278



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017                              3

3 BACKGROUND
3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Hawick (St Margaret’s) is a 
denominational primary school within Hawick High School’s catchment 
zone. St Margaret’s has capacity for 100 pupils. There are currently 14 
pupils attending the school, 10 of which are currently registered as being 
baptised Roman Catholic. There were no admissions into Primary 1 for the 
current school year 2017/18. Only 3 pupils have been admitted into P1 
over the last 3 years.

The school roll has fallen significantly over the last 20 years from 56 in 
1997 to 14 in this current school year. The school has operated at an 
average capacity of 22% over the last 10 years, with the roll falling below 
20 since 2012. Current projections indicate no increase in demand for 
admissions at St Margaret’s in the next 2 years.  As admissions to St 
Margaret’s have continued to decline over the last 2 decades it can be 
extrapolated that demand for denominational education within the town 
has reduced in that period. 

When Council Officers met with parents as part of School Estates Review 
process, the parents indicated that they were content with the learning 
provision at St Margaret’s, but that they had concerns about the challenges 
that their children sometimes faced regarding integration into the 
community.  The parents were very positive about the support that the 
school receives from the local Priest.  They also commended the Saturday 
Polish School, which is in receipt of some funding from the Council.  The 
Service Director, Children and Young People shared concerns with parents 
regarding the children’s inclusion in the community as the school roll 
comprised a majority of pupils who spoke English as an additional language 
and that there was only a single composite class P1-P7.  The Service 
Director also expressed concerns that the requirements within the 
Curriculum for Excellence, for team skills and group work with children of a 
similar age, were limited at St Margaret’s.  While this is similar to the 
position in small rural schools, the context is different as inclusion issues 
for the children within their local rural community is not a factor.  The 
parents did state that they would like to see their children have broader 
experiences, but they also stated apprehension about the children being 
outwith this small group at primary school age. 

Since the commencement of the School Estates Review process the roll at 
St Margaret’s Hawick has fallen by a further 17%. Council Officers continue 
to have concerns that St Margaret’s, set within the context of the town of 
Hawick, may not support an inclusive approach for the children’s education 
and may not always prepare the children socially for the transition to 
Hawick High School. The small, diminishing roll also limits the ability to 
offer a full range of curricular and learning opportunities for the children 
and some children at key stages may have limited opportunities to form an 
age related peer group. In addition the school does not comprise a hall so 
the children are required to travel to Drumlanrig St Cuthbert’s Primary 
School for certain PE lessons. Officers’ concerns and the educational 
benefits that are associated with the proposal are covered in more detail in 
sections 4 and 8 of the draft Proposal Paper which is annexed in Appendix 
1.

Page 279



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017                              4

3.5

3.6

3.7

Council Officers also have concerns regarding a small number of children 
being in such a large building, when there are many schools in their own 
catchment area with space and capacity. This is arguably not the best use 
of such a large building within the town, or the best environment for the 
children and does not represent a best value approach.  

It is proposed, following a Statutory Consultation, that if St Margaret’s is 
closed that the children are offered a place at their local catchment school.  
Arrangements for the provision of Roman Catholic instruction for existing 
pupils will be discussed as part of the consultation process and 
arrangements made in partnership with the parents and the Church. 
Detailed transitional arrangements will be made to fully support the 
children before, during and after the transition. Council Officers will work 
collaboratively with the Catholic Church regarding this proposal throughout 
and following the consultation process.

Approval is therefore sought to conduct a statutory consultation regarding 
the closure of St Margaret’s, with the key driver being to bring educational 
benefits for the children.  

4 PROCEDURE

4.1

4.2

If Members approve the Proposal, the Statutory Consultation will be carried 
out in accordance with the provisions of Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) 
Act 2010. A copy of the draft Proposal Paper is attached as Appendix 1 
which details the processes and timelines required under statute in sections 
12- 17 of the Proposal Paper.

As St Margaret’s is a denominational school, the closure will also require 
the approval of the Secretary of State in accordance with the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980.  The Secretary of State’s consent may only be 
granted if they are satisfied that adequate arrangements have been made 
for the religious instruction of the pupils that attended the denominational 
school.  The Secretary of State can impose any conditions that they think 
fit regarding the religious instruction of the pupils. Council Officers 
therefore propose to work with the Roman Catholic Church regarding this 
proposal.

5 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial
A financial template has been completed by Finance as part of the 
Statutory Consultation process and is attached in the proposal paper in 
Appendix 1 

5.2 Risk and Mitigations

The main risk to this Proposal is that the Statutory Consultation is not 
carried out in full compliance of Statute and associated guidance:-

(a) This risk is being mitigated by the processes being scrutinised by 
CMT and Legal, ensuring adherence to the legislated processes.

Page 280



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017                              5

5.3 Equalities

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been prepared in respect of the 
Proposal. If St Margaret’s does close this will result in there no longer 
being a denominational school in the Hawick area .This is mitigated by the 
diminishing need for denominational education as evidenced in the 
significantly declining roll and the educational benefits and inclusion 
benefits gained by the children attending their local catchment school in 
Hawick.  This is further mitigated by the requirement of the Local Authority 
to continue to provide adequate religious instruction for existing pupils and 
their siblings.

5.4 Acting Sustainably

This proposal concerns consulting on the sustainability of St Margaret’s and 
sits within the broader context of the School Estates Review which has 
sustainability embedded within the process as a key consideration. 

5.5 Carbon Management

This proposal is carbon neutral. 

5.6 Rural Proofing

This report does not relate to new or amended policy or strategy and as a 
result rural proofing is not an applicable consideration.

5.7 Changes to Scheme of Administration or Scheme of Delegation

There are no changes to either the Scheme of Administration or the 
Scheme of Delegation as a result of the proposals in this report

6 CONSULTATION

6.1 The Chief Financial Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Legal Officer, 
the Chief Officer Audit and Risk, the Service Director HR and the Clerk to 
the Council have been consulted and any comments received have been 
incorporated into the final report.

Approved by

Donna Manson
Service Director, Children and Young People Signature …………………………………..

Author(s)
Name Designation and Contact Number
Donna Manson Service Director, Children and Young People

Background Papers:  

Page 281



Executive Committee – 7 November 2017                              6

Appendices:
Appendix 1 : Draft Proposal Paper for Statutory Consultation in relation to the 
proposal to close St Margaret’s Roman Catholic Primary School, Hawick

Previous Minute Reference:  

Note – You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print and various 
computer formats by contacting the address below.  Donna Manson can also give 
information on other language translations as well as providing additional copies.

Contact us at Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA

Page 282



November 2017

1

  

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES

 DRAFT PUBLIC CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

STATUTORY CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED CLOSURE 
OF ST MARGARET’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL IN HAWICK

CONSULTATION PERIOD FROM 20th NOVEMBER 2017 TO 22nd 
JANUARY 2018

 

This Consultation Proposal Document has been prepared by Scottish Borders Council 
Children and Young People’s Services in terms of the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 
2010 as amended

Page 283



November 2017

2

1. THE PROPOSAL

It is proposed, that, subject to the outcome of this statutory consultation process, St 
Margaret’s RC Primary School in Hawick (St Margaret’s) is closed and the children that 
currently attend the school are offered places within a catchment area primary school, 
based on their home address.  

2. BACKGROUND TO THE PROPOSAL

2.1 St Margaret’s is a Catholic denominational primary school in Hawick and is within 
Hawick High School’s catchment zone.  There is no Early Learning and Childcare 
setting at the school. 

2.2 St Margaret’s location is shown below:-

2.3 The school has capacity for 100 pupils. There are currently 14 children attending the 
school. 10 of the children are currently registered as being baptised Catholic. There 
were no admissions into Primary 1 for the current school year. Over the last 3 years 
only 3 pupils have been admitted into Primary 1.  The current roll comprises the 
following:

Page 284



November 2017

3

                                                     

0

2

1

3 3

4

1

P 1 P 2 P 3 P 4 P 5 P 6 P 7
0

1

2

3

4

5

Current Roll 2017/18 - Number of Pupils in each year group

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

2.4 St Margaret’s currently operates with one P2-P7 class and has 1 full time teacher. 
There is a Manager of Learning who is Headteacher of St Margaret’s jointly with the 
RC Primary Schools in Galashiels and Selkirk. Other teachers visit St Margaret’s 
during the week to provide lessons in music, PE etc. and support with English as an 
additional language. There is also a number of staff supporting the school. In total there 
are 5.22 Full Time Equivalent employees supporting the school.

2.5 The roll has been falling significantly over recent years and St Margaret’s has 
consistently operated below capacity. Over the last 10 years the school has operated 
at an average capacity of 22%; and is currently operating at 14% of capacity. This is 
not projected to change as current projections indicate that the school roll will not 
exceed the current numbers in the next 2 years. 

1996
1997

1998
1999

2000
2001

2002
2003

2004
2005

2006
2007

2008
2009

2010
2011

2012
2013

2014
2015

2016
2017

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

School Roll

Historic School Roll - Number of Pupils

Page 285



November 2017

4

REASONS FOR FORMULATING THE PROPOSAL 

3 PRE-CONSULTATION AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

3.1 In February 2016 Scottish Border Council’s Executive (Education) Committee agreed 
to commence a pre-consultation process regarding the current school estate provision 
and what it should aspire to look like across the region. The Council undertook to 
engage with all stakeholders to obtain information and opinions regarding the current 
school estate and to seek views and ideas in respect of the vision of the future school 
estate.  

3.2 The five strategic principles that were adopted when reviewing the school estate were:-

4.2.1 Increased educational opportunities;

4.2.2 Improved outcomes for children and young people;

4.2.3 Sustainability;

4.2.4 Future proofing the school estate;

4.2.5 Affordability.

3.3 The pre-consultation was promoted through letters, school mail, press releases, social 
media, posters and newsletters with consultation events held across the region.

3.4 As part of the School Estate Review engagement, Council officers met with parents of 
St Margaret’s pupils, who indicated that they were happy with the learning provision at 
the school but did highlight some concerns regarding challenges their children can face 
integrating into the community.  Given that a large proportion of the pupils speak 
English as an additional language; Council officers expressed concerns regarding 
inclusion in the community and the limitations that a smaller roll presents in respect of 
the ability to fully provide the Curriculum of Excellence and the breadth of experiences 
for the children in terms of friendships and socialisation, teaching and learning.  

3.5 As the school roll further declined in the 2017/18 school year by a further 17%, the 
Council’s Children and Young People’s Services team wish to engage again with 
parents, staff and pupils of St Margaret’s and meet with the Catholic Church to discuss 
the future of St Margaret’s and Catholic denominational education in Hawick. 

4 PROPOSAL AND REASONS FOR THE PROPOSAL

4.1.  The Council wishes to consult with parents, pupils, staff and the community on the 
proposal to close St Margaret’s as a primary school within the town of Hawick. Pupils 
will be offered places within a catchment area primary school, based on their home 
address, with RC pupils being provided with religious instruction in a form agreed 
during the Consultation process with parents and the Church.

4.2 There are a number of reasons why the Council wishes to consult on this proposal:-

4.2.1 The school roll has diminished significantly over a number of years and is not 
projected to increase. The fall in roll over the last 20 years may indicate that 
there may be insufficient demand for a denominational school in the town;

4.2.2 A diminishing roll can limit the ability to offer a full range of curricular and 
learning opportunities to all the children. The size of the school roll limits the 
children’s access to a wider range of peer’s views and ideas for collaborative 
working and skills development which allows children to support each other’s 

Page 286



November 2017

5

learning and learn how to challenge thinking. This also limits the children’s 
exposure to different teaching styles and methods. A small school roll can also 
result in children at key stages having a limited age related peer group.

4.2.3 The Council has concerns that there may be issues regarding inclusion and 
integration into the community for the St Margaret’s pupils. Parents have also 
expressed concerns regarding the challenges their children can face integrating 
into the community. 

4.2.4 St Margaret’s does not have facilities for PE requiring specialist equipment. The 
children therefore have to travel to attend Drumlanrig St Cuthbert’s Primary 
School for some PE lessons. 

4.2.5 A small school roll restricts opportunities for team sports and other active 
recreational activities. This also applies to individual sports, where the 
successful learning of skills can also be supported by talking about and sharing 
experiences. This further applies to the health and wellbeing element of the 
curriculum which involves discussion and debate between pupils about healthy 
lifestyle choices.

4.2.6 The school is large enough for 100 pupils but has only 14 pupils, with such a 
diminished roll this is not efficient or effective use of space and may present 
issues for the children and staff as they cannot make full use of the building. 
There is capacity in all the primary schools within Hawick which would allow the 
St Margaret’s pupils to attend their catchment school and also at St Margaret’s 
RC Primary School in Galashiels. More information about the catchment 
schools is given in Section 5 and regarding St Margaret’s RC Primary in 
Galashiels in Section 6 below.

4.2.7 The Council’s Education Team is working in collaboration with the Catholic 
Church’s representative as part of this statutory consultation process.

5 SCHOOLS IN HAWICK

5.1 The proposal is that pupils will be able to attend their local catchment school. There are 
currently 6 primary schools (5 of which are non-denominational) and 1 secondary 
school in Hawick. These are indicated in the catchment map attached in Appendix 1.

2016/17 Capacity Pupil Roll Occupancy

St Margaret’s RC Primary School 100 14 14%

Burnfoot Community School 373 236 63%

Drumlanrig St Cuthbert’s Primary School 340 279 82%

Stirches Primary School 150 110 73%

Trinity Primary School 307 215 70%

Wilton Primary School 307 190 62%

Hawick High School 1339 887 66%

5.2 In line with the Council’s asset management strategy condition surveys are undertaken 
on a rolling programme by a team led by a chartered building surveyor. The suitability 
assessment is undertaken by the Head Teacher and validated by Senior Managers 
within Children and Young People’s Services. These assessments are undertaken 

Page 287



November 2017

6

approximately every five years unless significant building or operational change has 
occurred within the school requiring additional assessment. 

The definition and assessment categorisations are set by the Scottish Government as 
follows: 

Condition - an assessment of the physical condition of the school and its grounds. 

A: Good Performing well and operating efficiently
B: Satisfactory Performing adequately but showing minor deterioration
C: Poor Showing major defect and/or not operating adequately
D: Bad Life expired and/or serious risk of imminent failure

Suitability  - an assessment of the school as a whole, its buildings and its grounds 
and of the impact these have on learning and teaching, leisure and social activities 
and the health and well-being of all users: 

A: Good Performing well and operating efficiently
B: Satisfactory Performing well but with minor problems
C: Poor Showing major problems and/or not operating optimally
D: Bad Does not support the delivery of services to children and 

communities

5.3 The schools in Hawick are rated

Hawick School Ratings

Survey D
ate

C
ondition

Suitability

St Margaret’s RC Primary School 2014 B B

Burnfoot Community School 2014 B B

Drumlanrig St Cuthbert’s Primary School 2014 C C

Stirches Primary School 2014 C C

Trinity Primary School 2014 C B

Wilton Primary School 2014 B B

Hawick High School 2014 B B

5.4 The most recent inspection reports for each of the non-denominational schools in 
Hawick can be accessed on the Education Scotland website at 
https://education.gov.scot/

Or accessed here:

Burnfoot Community School Inspection Report 2010

Drumlanrig St Cuthbert's Primary School Inspection Report August 2016

Stirches Inspection Report 2009

Trinity School Inspection Report 2011

Page 288

https://education.gov.scot/
https://education.gov.scot/inspection-reports/scottish-borders/5630525
https://education.gov.scot/inspection-reports/scottish-borders/5630622
https://education.gov.scot/inspection-reports/scottish-borders/5633125
https://education.gov.scot/inspection-reports/scottish-borders/5630924


November 2017

7

Wilton Primary School Inspection Report 2014

6 ST MARGARET’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL, GALASHIELS

6.1 St Margaret’s RC Primary School in Galashiels is a Catholic denominational primary 
school in Galashiels and is within Galashiels Academy’s catchment zone.  

6.2 St Margaret’s RC Primary School in Galashiels is shown on the map below:-

6.3 The school has capacity for 125 pupils and currently has a roll of 69 (55% of 
capacity). The school has a Condition Rating of C and a Suitability Rating of B.

6.4 The most recent inspection report for St Margaret’s RC Primary School in Galashiels 
can be accessed on the Education Scotland website at https://education.gov.scot/

Or accessed here:

St Margaret's Galashiels Inspection Report 2012

6.5 This information is provided as a potential placing request option for future 
denominational religious education.

7 PRE CONSULTATION WITH THE CATHOLIC CHURCH

[

Page 289

https://education.gov.scot/inspection-reports/scottish-borders/5631025
https://education.gov.scot/
https://education.gov.scot/inspection-reports/scottish-borders/5618622


November 2017

8

8 EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS STATEMENT

OVERVIEW

8.1 The Council has statutory duties relating to the provision of Education in the 
Scottish Borders. The Council’s key priorities, within the context of national and 
local policies, regarding (1) raising levels of achievement and attainment and (2) 
improving educational outcomes for all children and young people are set out in the 
Council’s Business Plan and our Children and Young People’s Services Plan. The 
key priority is to improve attainment and achievement levels for all our children and 
young people, both within and outwith the formal curriculum. As part of a multi-
agency partnership, the following priorities have been identified within the Children 
and Young People’s Services Plan:

8.1.1 Raising attainment and achievement for all and closing the gap between the 
lowest and highest achievers;

8.1.2 Promoting the health and well-being of all children and young people and 
reducing health inequalities;

8.1.3 Keeping children and young people safe;
8.1.4 Improving the well-being and life chances for our most vulnerable children 

and young people;
8.1.5 Increasing participation and engagement.

8.2 The Curriculum for Excellence is the national curriculum for Scottish schools. It aims 
to ensure that all children and young people in Scotland develop the knowledge, 
skills and attributes they will need if they are to flourish in life, learning and work 
now and in the future. The Council has a further duty to deliver a service which 
meets the criteria for best value, in terms of efficiency, effectiveness, economy and 
equal opportunities, and which meets the agreed priorities in the Single Outcome 
Agreement and Scottish Borders Council’s Corporate Plan. 

8.3 The purpose of the Curriculum for Excellence is encapsulated in the four capacities 
to enable each child or young person to be: 

8.3.1 a successful learner; 
8.3.2 a confident individual; 
8.3.3 a responsible citizen; and 
8.3.4 an effective contributor.

8.4 The Educational Benefits of the Proposal have been assessed taking account of the 
requirements under legislation and the priorities and aims of both the Council’s 
Corporate Plan and Children and Young People’s Services Plan and having regard 
to the terms and guidance of the Schools (Consultation ) (Scotland) Act 2010. 

Page 290



November 2017

9

EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS FOR THE PUPILS

8.5 The Council considers that there are strong educational benefits associated with the 
proposal which will positively impact upon the pupils currently and likely to attend St 
Margaret’s:-

8.5.1 Being part of a larger school community will provide pupils with the 
opportunity to develop a wider more diverse peer group within the 
community. The forging of close friendships and the development of self-
esteem will be enhanced by each pupil being enabled to be part of an age 
appropriate peer group of a sufficient size to allow a range of interactions 
and relationships to form and reform. This should also assist with both the 
children’s integration into the community that they live and with the children’s 
transition through the stages of education from nursery to secondary; as 
children will have the support of the peer group to support each other with 
the social and emotional aspect of transitions. 

8.5.2 Being part of a larger school community will provide opportunity for 
interaction with a larger number of their peers, which will allow children to 
access a wider range of views and ideas for collaborative working and allow 
the children to support each other’s learning and learn how to challenge 
thinking. 

8.5.3 Being part of a larger school community will provide the pupils with the 
opportunity to experience a wider range of teachers and learning 
experiences. Some of the educational benefits arise not just from larger pupil 
numbers but also because a larger staff and parent body increases the 
likelihood of greater community involvement in a range of activities that will 
support the provision of a richer and higher quality curriculum.

8.5.4 The Curriculum for Excellence places significant emphases on collaborative 
working and skills development in wider settings as it is recognised that 
pupil’s social and emotional development is essential to delivery of the 
curriculum.  Being part of the larger school community will enhance their 
learning and will provide all pupils with opportunities to experience more 
aspects of the Curriculum for Excellence as the size of   the current roll limits 
the extent of the Curriculum on offer.

8.5.5 Each of the non-denominational primary schools within the town of Hawick 
has an Early Learning and Childcare setting which will allow attending 
children the opportunity to learn from an early age with their peers, 
smoothing their transition into Primary stage education. 

8.5.6 Attending a larger catchment school will provide more opportunities for team 
sports and other active recreational activities. This applies even to individual 
sports, where successful learning of skills is helped by talking and sharing 
experiences. It further applies to the health and wellbeing element of the 
curriculum which involves discussion and debate between pupils regarding 
healthy lifestyle choices. Whilst these problems can currently be partially 

Page 291



November 2017

10

overcome by taking the pupils to participate in activities in a neighbouring 
school, that in itself involves time out of school travelling there and back.

8.5.7 As with sports, a larger roll would also provide a greater likelihood of pupils 
benefitting from a wider range of solo and group musical and artistic 
opportunities.

8.5.8 As part of the Curriculum pf Excellence, one of the aims of Developing 
Scotland’s Young Workforce is to develop increased awareness of the world 
of work, social skills and employability skills. Such knowledge and 
understanding and skills acquisition very much benefit from discussions and 
dialogue with peers of the same age/stage and through increased 
opportunities for interaction with the community.

8.6  IMPACT ON STAFF

8.6.1 The staff will be supported by the HR Support Processes in the Council to 
ensure a smooth transition in their roles. 

8.6.2 In a larger school staff will be able to receive support in providing an inclusive 
curriculum and work together to provide support to children who may have 
additional support needs. Being part of a larger team will enable staff to share 
planning and curricular resources and work more collaboratively and can also 
learn from each other to provide improved approaches to learning and 
teaching.

8.7 IMPACT ON PUPILS AT OTHER SCHOOLS IN THE COUNCIL AREA

8.7.1 The pupils at the other schools within the Hawick School cluster will benefit from 
the increased diversity in their schools and from the opportunity to expand both 
their social and educational peer group. This will allow children to access a 
wider range of views and ideas for collaborative working and allow the children 
to support each other’s learning and learn how to challenge thinking.

8.7.2 St Margaret’s is one of 4 denominational schools in the Scottish Borders and 
shares a Headteacher with St Joseph’s RC Primary School, Selkirk and St 
Margaret’s RC Primary School, Galashiels. If the proposal proceeds the 
children and staff at St Joseph’s and St Margaret’s in Galashiels will benefit 
from the Headteacher having more time to concentrate and work with them to 
continue to raise standards and improve the learning experience.

9 TRANSITION PLANNING

If the outcome of this statutory consultation process is that St Margaret’s is to close it is 
proposed that this will come into effect from August 2018.                                                                    
The Council recognises that in the event the proposal proceeds that the transition process 
for the children, parents and staff will require to be carefully planned and managed. Each 
pupil will require an individualised transition programme to assist and support them with 
their transition. 

Page 292



November 2017

11

10 EQUALITY OF OPPORTUNITY

This proposal will assist in ensuring that children across Hawick will have parity of access to 
learning, opportunities and facilities.in their communities.  All children will have access to 
the same early years’ experience, primary and secondary schools as those in their 
community which should assist with transition throughout their learning journey. 

11. FINANCIAL IMPACT

11.1 The 2010 Act, requires the Council to provide information regarding the financial 
implications of a school closure proposal. A template has been provided by the Scottish 
Government, following consultation with the Commission on the Delivery of Rural 
Education. The template has been completed in respect of St Margaret’s [utilising the 
projected figures in the Devolved School Management Budgets for 2017/18.]  

11.2 The completed template highlights that the current cost of educating pupils at St 
Margaret’s Hawick at £10,300 per annum is significantly above the Scottish Borders 
average cost per pupil of c£4,000 per annum.

12. SUMMARY OF THE PROCESS FOR THIS PROPOSAL PAPER

12.1 This Proposal Paper has been prepared by the Council’s Children and Young People’s 
Services in accordance with the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010, as 
amended (2010 Act). The 2010 Act sets out a consultation procedure that a Local 
Authority must follow for certain proposals affecting schools in their area. The 2010 Act 
and its explanatory notes are available for reference at the following websites, 
respectively: 

Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010

Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 - Explanatory Notes

 
12..2 The proposal to close St Margaret’s is deemed a relevant proposal in terms of the 2010 

Act (the Proposal) and is therefore subject to the statutory consultation procedure 
specified in the 2010 Act.

12.3 The proposal paper will be available for inspection, free of charge, at: 
 Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells,TD6 0SA
 St Margaret’s RC Primary School,  Buccleuch Street, Hawick, TD9 0HU 
 Hawick Library, North Bridge Street, Hawick TD9 9QT

and published in both English and Polish on the Scottish Borders Council website: 
www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets

12.4 Copies of this Proposal Paper are available in both English and Polish (and other 
languages upon request) from:

St Margaret’s RC Hawick School Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose

Page 293

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2010/2/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2010/2/notes/contents
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets


November 2017

12

TD6 0SA
Telephone: 01835 825080
E-mail: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk

12.5 Formal notice of the Proposal and relevant information will be given and be made 
available, free of charge, to the consultees listed as follows:

 the parents/carers of the children who attend an affected school;                       
 the Parent Council of an affected school;                       
 the parent/carers of any children likely to attend an affected school within two 

years of the date of the publication of the Proposal Paper;  
 the pupils attending an affected school; 
 the Staff (teaching and non-teaching) at an affected school ; 
 any Trade Union which is representative of the staff;
 Hawick Community Council;
 the community planning partnership (as defined in section 4(5) of the 

Community Empowerment (Scotland) Act 2015) for the area where an 
affected school is situated or any other  community planning partnership that 
the Education Authority considers relevant;

 the constituency Member of the Scottish Parliament;
 the constituency Member of Parliament;
 the List Members of the Scottish Parliament.

12.6 Advertisement in Local Media

Advertisements were placed in the relevant local media the weeks beginning 13th 
November 2017, giving the dates for the consultation period and for the public meeting.

12.7 Consultation Period

The consultation for this Proposal will run from 20th November 2017 and will end on 
22nd January 2018.  This period allows for the statutory minimum of six weeks, 
including at least thirty school days.

12.8 Public Meetings

A public meeting will be held, the details of which are set out below:

Wednesday 6th December 2017 at 7pm at 
St Margaret’s RC Primary School
Buccleuch Street
Hawick
TD9 0HU

And 

Thursday 7th December 2017 at 7pm at 
St Margaret’s RC Primary School 
Xx
Galashiels 
xx

Page 294

mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk


November 2017

13

12.9 Format of Public Meeting

Anyone wishing to attend the public meeting is invited to do so. The meeting, which will 
be convened by Scottish Borders Council, will be addressed by the Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services and other relevant parties.

The meetings will provide an opportunity to:

 Hear more about the Proposal
 Ask questions about the Proposal
 Have your views recorded so that they can be taken into account as part of the 

Proposal process.

A note will be taken at the meeting of comments, questions and officer responses.  
These notes will be published on the Council website and a copy will be made available 
on request.  These notes will be forwarded to Education Scotland, along with other 
submissions and comments received by the Council during the consultation process.

12.10 Meetings with Pupils and Staff

Meetings will be held with pupils and staff in St Margaret’s.  A record of questions, 
responses and views will be taken and this will be published in the Consultation Report.

13 HAVE YOUR SAY – HOW YOU CAN RESPOND TO THE PROPOSAL

13.1 A consultation regarding a proposed change to your child’s or your community’s 
school is your chance to share your views. Your responses can really shape and 
influence future decisions; you can play your part by:
 Submitting a written or electronic response to the Council as outlined below;
 Attending the public meeting on 6TH December at St Margaret’s RC Hawick and 

7th December at St Margaret’s RC Galashiels both at 7pm to  - ask questions; 
raise concerns/issues; make suggestions; 

 Speaking to your local Councillors;
 Engaging with your school’s Parent Council. The Parent Council can play a key 

role in engaging with the Council throughout the process;
 Make representations as part of your Community;
 Informing Scottish Borders Council if you think that this Proposal Paper has 

significant inaccuracies or omissions.

13.2 All interested parties are invited to respond to the Proposal by making written or 
electronic submissions on the Proposal to:

St Margaret’s RC Hawick School Consultation
Children and Young People’s Services
Scottish Borders Council
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
Melrose
TD6 0SA
Or

Page 295



November 2017

14

Web Address: www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets

13.3 A response form is available from Children & Young People’s Services, Scottish 
Borders Council, Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA or 
online at www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets.    A copy of the response form is 
provided in Appendix 2

13.4 Use of the response form is not compulsory If you wish to respond by letter or 
electronically, you are invited to state your relationship with the school – for 
example, “pupil”, “parent”, “carer”, “relative”, “former pupil”, “teacher in school”, 
“member of the community” etc.  Responses from Parent Councils, staff and Pupil 
Councils are particularly welcome.

13.5 Those sending in a response, whether by letter or electronically, should note that 
their response will be open to public scrutiny and may be supplied to anyone making 
a reasonable request to see it.  If they do not wish their response to be made 
publicly available, they should clearly write on the document: “I wish my response to 
be considered as confidential with access restricted to Councillors and Council 
Officers of Scottish Borders Council”.  Otherwise, it will be assumed that the person 
making the response agrees to it being made publicly available. 

13.6 All written responses must be received by the last day of the consultation period, 
22ND January 2018.

13.7 Education Scotland has prepared guidance regarding School Consultations. This 
can be accessed at Education Scotland's Guidance on School Consultations.

14. INVOLVEMENT OF EDUCATION SCOTLAND

A copy of this Proposal document will be sent to Education Scotland by the Council.  
Education Scotland will also receive a copy of any relevant written representations that are 
received by the Council from any person during the consultation period or, if Education 
Scotland agree, a summary of them.  Education Scotland will further receive a summary of 
any oral representations made to the Council at the public meeting that will be held and, as 
available (and so far as otherwise practicable), a copy of any other relevant documentation.  
Education Scotland will then prepare a report on the educational aspects of the proposal not 
later than 3 weeks after the Council has sent them all representations and documents 
mentioned above.  In some cases, it is possible for them to extend the 3 weeks with the 
agreement of the Authority.  However, for the avoidance of doubt, the 3 week period will not 
start until after the consultation period has ended.  In preparing their report, Education 
Scotland may enter the affected school(s) and make such reasonable enquiries of such 
people there as they consider appropriate and may make such reasonable enquiries of such 
other people as they consider appropriate.

15. PREPARATION OF CONSULTATION REPORT

15.1 The Council will review the Proposal having regard to the Education Scotland report, the 
written representations that it has received and oral representations made to it by any 
person at the public meeting.  It will then prepare a Consultation Report.  

15.2 This Report will be published in electronic and printed formats and will be advertised in 
local newspapers.  It will be available on the Council web-site and from Council 

Page 296

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets
http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets
https://education.gov.scot/what-we-do/inspection-and-review/Schools%20consultations


November 2017

15

Headquarters, the public library in Hawick, as well as St Margaret’s, free of charge.  
Anyone who made written representations during the consultation period will also be 
informed about the report.  The report will include a record of the total number of written 
representations made during the consultation period, a summary of the written 
representations, a summary of the oral representations made at the public meeting, the 
Authority’s response to the Education Scotland Report as well as any written or oral 
representations it has received, together with a copy of the Education Scotland Report 
and any other relevant information, including details of any alleged inaccuracies and how 
these have been handled.  

15.3 The Consultation Report will be published and available for further consideration for a 
period of three weeks, before it is presented to Full Council at the next scheduled 
Council meeting.

16. NOTE ON CORRECTIONS

If any inaccuracy or omission is discovered in this Proposal Paper, either by Scottish Borders 
Council or any person, Scottish Borders Council will determine if relevant information has been 
omitted or there has been an inaccuracy.  It will then take appropriate action which may 
include the issue of a correction or the re-issuing of the Proposal Paper, or the revision of the 
timescale for the consultation period, if appropriate.  In that event, relevant consultees and 
Education Scotland will be advised

17 SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL DECISION AND SCOTTISH MINISTERS CALL-IN

17.1 No decision will be taken in regard to the Proposal or any changes put into effect by 
either the Council or the Council’s Executive (Education) Committee until the 
statutory consultation process has been properly completed.

17.2 If the Council makes a final decision to implement the Proposal, it will require to 
notify the Scottish Ministers of that decision, and provide them with a copy of the 
Proposal document and Consultation Report. This must be done within 6 working 
days of that decision. The Council must also publish on its website the fact that it 
has notified Scottish Ministers of its decision and of the period during which 
consultees have the opportunity to make representations to Ministers. 

17.3 The Scottish Ministers have an 8 week period from the date of that final decision to 
decide if they will call-in the Proposals regarding a closure. During the first three 
weeks of this period, anyone is able to make representations to Ministers on 
whether the decision should be called-in.  Within the first 3 weeks of that 8 week 
period, the Scottish Ministers will take account of any relevant representations made 
to them by any person. Until the outcome of the 8 week call-in process is known, the 
Council cannot proceed to implement the Proposals. Ministers may come to a 
decision sooner than eight weeks (but not before the three weeks for 
representations to be made to them has elapsed). 

17.4 The Scottish Ministers may issue a call-in notice only if it appears to the Scottish 
Ministers that the Council has:-

17.4.1 failed, in significant regard, to comply with the requirements of the 2010 Act 
in terms of the closure Proposals; or

Page 297



November 2017

16

17.4.2 failed to take proper account of a material consideration relevant to the 
decision to implement the Proposals.

17.5 If Scottish Ministers decide to call in a closure Proposal, they must refer it to the 
Convener of the School Closure Review Panels for determination by a School 
Closure Review Panel. The Council, as the Education Authority, may not implement 
the closure Proposals (wholly or partly) unless the Panel has granted consent to it 
(with or without conditions) and either the period for making an appeal to the Sheriff 
has expired or, if an appeal has been made, it has either been abandoned or the 
Sheriff has confirmed the Panel’s decision. 

17.6 The School Closure Review Panel may refuse to consent to the  closure Proposal, 
refuse consent and remit the Proposal back to the Council as the Education 
Authority or grant their consent to the Proposals subject to conditions or 
unconditionally. 

17.7 The 2010 Act, as amended, gives Ministers and School Closure Review Panels the 
right to call on advice from Education Scotland in relation to a closure Proposal at 
the call-in or determination stage. 

DONNA MANSON
SERVICE DIRECTOR (CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES)

November 2017

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 Hawick Catchment Plan 
Appendix 2 Consultation Response Form
Appendix 3 Financial Templates Showing Current Revenue Costs for School Proposed for 

Closure 

Note 

This consultation is being conducted having regard to the terms of the Schools (Consultation) 
(Scotland) Act 2010 as amended.   

The 2010 Act’s principal purpose is to provide strong, accountable statutory consultation 
practices and procedures that local authorities must apply to their handling of all proposals for 
school closures and other major changes to schools. These consultation processes are 

Page 298



November 2017

17

expected to be robust, open, transparent and fair, and seen to be so. They are also expected to 
be consistent across Scotland. 

Page 299



November 2017

18

APPENDIX 1

HAWICK CATCHMENT PLAN

Page 300



November 2017

19

APPENDIX 2

STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM

SCHOOL ESTATE CONSULTATION IN RELATION TO PROPOSAL TO CLOSE 
ST MARGARET’S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL IN HAWICK

Detail of the Proposal

It is proposed that, subject to the outcome of this statutory consultation process as 
set out in the Schools (Consultation) (Scotland) Act 2010 as amended:

 St Margaret’s  RC Primary School in Hawick is closed; and
 Children currently attending St Margaret’s  RC Primary School in Hawick are 

offered places with a catchment primary school based on their home address

The Consultation Period is from 20 November 2017 until 22 January 
2018.

Page 301



November 2017

20

SCHOOL - please tick the most relevant box below to indicate which school(s) you are connected 
with

St Margaret’s RC Primary School ☐

Other

YOUR INTEREST – please tick the most relevant box below to indicate your interest in the in the 
School(s)

Parent/carer ☐

Staff ☐

Pupil ☐

Relative of Pupil ☐

Parent Council Member ☐

Elected Member/MSP/MP ☐

Community Planning Partner ☐

Community Member ☐

Other

Page 302



November 2017

21

1. Do you agree with the proposal to close St Margaret’s RC Primary School in Hawick

Agree    ☐ Disagree    ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree with the above 
proposal.

2. Do you agree with the proposal to offer the children currently attending St Margaret’s RC 
Primary School in Hawick a place in a catchment school in their area, based on their home 
address?

Agree    ☐ Disagree    ☐

Please tell us the main reasons for your views and why you agree/disagree with the above 
proposal.

3. Please tell us if you any further comments or alternative suggestions regarding the proposals 

DETAILS

Please complete your details below to assist our analysis of the responses

Name

Postcode

Email Address

CONFIDENTIALITY OF RESPONSE

Page 303



November 2017

22

I wish my response to be considered as confidential with access 
restricted to elected members and officers of Scottish Borders Council 

THANK YOU FOR TAKING THE TIME TO GIVE US YOUR VIEWS

Your completed form can be handed into your local school or posted to: St Margaret’s Hawick 
School Consultation, Children and Young People’s Services, Scottish Borders Council, 
Newtown St Boswells TD6 0SA.   

 You can also give us your views online at: www.scotborders.gov.uk/stmargarets  

BY 22 JANUARY 2018
If you have any queries, please email: schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk

Page 304

mailto:schoolestates@scotborders.gov.uk


November 2017

23

APPENDIX 3

FINANCIAL TEMPLATES SHOWING CURRENT REVENUE COSTS FOR 
SCHOOL PROPOSED FOR CLOSURE

Page 305



November 2017

24

Financial Template
Table 1 Column 1 Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 Column 6 Column 7

Row 1 Current revenue costs for school proposed for closure  Table 2

Row 2

Name of School

St Margaret’s RC Primary School Hawick
Costs for full financial 
year (projected annual 
costs)

Additional financial impact 
on receiving school [enter 
name of school]

Annual recurring 
savings (column 2 
minus column 3)

Capital costs School proposed for 
closure Receiving school

Row 3 School costs    Capital Life Cycle cost - note 7   
Row 4 Employee costs - note 1    Third party contributions to capital costs      
Row 5 teaching staff £85,945 £17,058 N/A

Row 6 support staff £32,809 0 N/A 

Row 7 teaching staff training (CPD etc)    

Row 8 support staff training    

Row 9 Supply costs - note 2 £580 0 N/A 
Row 10     

Row 11 Building costs:    

Row 12 property insurance £742  0 Table 3

Row 13 non domestic rates £7,841  0  Annual Property costs incurred (moth-balling) until disposal

Row 14 water & sewerage charges £1,774  0  property insurance    
Row 15 utilities costs £7,906  0 non domestic rates    
Row 16 cleaning (contract or in-house) £3,664  0 water & sewerage charges   
Row 17 building repair & maintenance    energy costs    
Row 18 grounds maintenance £157  0  cleaning (contract or inhouse)   
Row 19 facilities management costs - note 6 £321  0 security costs    
Row 20 revenue costs arising from capital    building repair & maintenance   
Row 21 Other  grounds maintenance   
Row 22     facilities management costs  
Row 23 School operational costs:    Other  
Row 24 learning materials £2,722  £355  TOTAL ANNUAL COST UNTIL DISPOSAL  
Row 25 catering (contract or in-house)    

Row 26 SQA costs    

Row 27 other school operational costs (e.g. licences)    
Row 28     

Row 29 Transport costs: note 3    Table 4

Row 30 home to school   Non-recurring revenue costs

Row 31 other pupil transport costs      

Row 32 staff travel   TOTAL NON-RECURRING REVENUE COSTS  
Row 33 SCHOOL COSTS SUB-TOTAL £144,461 £17,413 
Row 34     

Row 35 Income:    

Row 36 Sale of meals    Table 5

Row 37 Lets    Impact on GAE - note 5  
Row 38 External care provider     

Row 39 Other     GAE IMPACT  
Row 40 SCHOOL INCOME SUB-TOTAL  £144,461  £17,413  
Row 41     

Row 42 TOTAL COSTS MINUS INCOME FOR SCHOOL    

Row 43

Row 44 UNIT COST PER PUPIL PER YEAR  (based on 14 pupils) £10,318   

P
age 306



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

MINUTES of Meeting of the EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE held in Council Chamber, 
Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, 
TD6 0SA on Tuesday, 17th October, 2017 at 
10.00 am

Present:- Councillors S. Haslam (Chairman), S. Aitchison, G. Edgar,  W. McAteer , S. 
Mountford, M. Rowley, G. Turnbull, T. Weatherston.

Also present:- Councillors S Bell, K Chapman, S Marshall, H Scott. 
Absent:- Councillor T Miers.
Apologies:- Councillors E Jardine and C Hamilton 
In Attendance:- Executive Directors (R Dickson and P Barr), Service Director Regulatory 

Services, Service Director Assets & Infrastructure, Group Manager (Housing 
& Strategy), Housing Strategy Manager, Financial Services Manager,  
Passenger Transport Manager, Clerk to the Council, Democratic Services 
Officer (J Turnbull). 

1. MINUTE 
The Minute of meeting of the Executive Committee of 19 September 2017 had been 
circulated.   

DECISION
APPROVED for signature by the Chairman. 

2. TAXI FARES REVIEW 2017/18 
2.1 There had been circulated copies of a report by the Service Director Regulatory Services 

advising Members of the recent consultations undertaken in connection with the statutory 
review of the current scale of charges for taxi fares.  The Council as licensing authority 
was required, in terms of Section 17 of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (“the 
Act”), to review the scales for fares and other charges in connection with the hire of a taxi, 
at intervals not exceeding 18 months of the last review.  For 2017/18 the formula which 
the Council had used to review taxi rates delivered a variation percentage of –0.45% on 
the usual indicators over the previous 12 months, with paragraph 3.3 of the report 
explaining the Council’s current formula.  Whilst officers recommended that taxi fares 
remained unaltered in 2018, Members noted that during the statutory consultation with 
representatives of the trade within the area, a submission proposing an increase of 5% 
had been made and paragraph 4.6 of the report detailed this proposal.  In an effort to 
provide Members with further consideration, a comparison with the Retail Prices Index 
(RPI) a national indicator often used for annual or monthly comparisons had been 
included in paragraph 4.7 of the report.

2.2 The Service Director Regulatory Services gave further information about the consultation 
process and current formula and answered Members’ questions; with regard to the 
formula he confirmed that this was unique to the Scottish Borders.  Members noted that 
there would be a further review of taxi fare settings within 18 months and requested that 
this review included the taxi fare rates of similar local authorities for comparison purposes.

DECISION
AGREED:

(a) That taxi fare rates should remain unaltered in line with the outcome of the 
Council’s established formula; 

Page 307

Agenda Item 12



(b) A further review of the taxi fare setting would be undertaken and 
implemented within 18 months of this review; and

(c) To request that the next review of taxi fare settings included a comparison of 
taxi fare rates of other local authorities. 

3. STRATEGIC HOUSING INVESTMENT PLAN 2018-2023 SUBMISSION 
3.1 There had been circulated copies of a report by the Service Director Regulatory Services 

seeking Council approval of the Strategic Housing Investment Plan (SHIP) 2018-2023 due 
to be submitted to the Scottish Government by 30 October 2017.  Local Authorities were 
required to produce an annual SHIP submission to the Scottish Government.  Scottish 
Borders Council - with the involvement of its key partners via the SHIP Working Group -
had prepared this SHIP submission.  The SHIP articulated how the Council and its RSL 
partners would seek to deliver the Border’s affordable housing investment needs and 
priorities identified in the Council’s Local Housing Strategy (LHS) 2017-2022 over a rolling 
five year planning horizon.  Homes delivered would be counted towards the Scottish 
Parliament’s national target of 50,000 Affordable Homes.

3.2 Based on a Resource Planning Assumption (RPA) from Scottish Government Officials of 
£43.957m for the period 2018-2021, £4.6m from charitable bonds, RSL partner private 
sector borrowing and a commitment from the Council’s Affordable Housing Budget, 
approximately 674 new homes could be delivered over the three year period.  However, in 
response to the Scottish Government’s request to over-programme in order to manage 
any potential project slippage, this SHIP set out an ambitious plan that could potentially 
deliver up to as many as 1,177 affordable homes over the five-year period of the SHIP.  
This latter figure assumed that all identified challenges and infrastructure issues were 
resolved in a timely manner, funding was available, and that agreement was reached 
between all interested parties and the construction sector had capacity to deliver projects. 
The SHIP also included a number of new build extra care housing developments in key 
Borders towns.

3.3 Members discussed the report and received answers to their questions from the Group 
Manager (Housing Strategy and Services).  It was explained that part of the remit of the 
work currently being undertaken to produce an Integrated Strategic Plan for Older 
People’s Housing, Care and Support Needs was to reflect the housing needs and 
aspirations of older people at a local level.  With regard to areas of high demand for 
housing within the Scottish Borders, it was advised that there was high demand in the 
central borders, particular Galashiels, Peebles and areas of Berwickshire.  Members then 
discussed deliverability of the project and were advised that availability of land was less of 
an issue than the challenges around infrastructure investment and resources, many 
construction workers being attracted to higher wages offered by large national companies 
in urban areas.  SBHA and Eildon Housing were ‘packaging’ developments into one larger 
project to make these more attractive to building companies.  The Project Priority 
Weighting matrix, detailed in the report, had been developed as a mechanism to assess 
priority; deliverability had the highest weighting and was underpinned by Registered 
Social Landlords’ (RSLs) financial capacity to deliver projects.  Reference was made to 
demographic change and the role of private house builders.  It was explained that the 
SHIP was framed in guidance to set out the investment for affordable housing, although 
officers anticipated being able to provide the evidence to encourage the private sector to 
develop a mix of social and private housing to address the needs of older people.    

3.4 The Housing Strategy Manager was also in attendance and in response to a question 
regarding revitalising redundant commercial and industrial sites, advised that officers 
continually worked with RSLs to identify opportunities. He referred to the acquisition of the 
former Castle Warehouse site by Eildon Housing Association to construct extra care 
housing. There had also recently been a development of flats in Innerleithen on a former 
garage site.  Consideration would be given to other sites in the future, although 

Page 308



cognisance had to be made to supply and demand and the displacement of existing 
tenants.  However, many land owners were reluctant to sell their land having expectations 
of a greater value for their land or that there could be an increase in land valuations in the 
future.   Members congratulated officers on the ambitious target to maximise delivery of 
affordable homes in the Scottish Borders and unanimously commended the SHIP.
  
DECISION
AGREED to approve the Strategic Housing Investment Plan 2018-2023 attached as 
Appendix 1, to the report, for submission to the Scottish Government More Homes 
Division by 30 October 2017. 

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor Mountford, as Chair of Scottish Borders Housing Association, declared an 
interest in the above report but remained during the discussion.  

4. PROPOSED DISPOSAL OF ALLOCATED HOUSING SITE AT STIRCHES, HAWICK 
TO EILDON HOUSING ASSOCIATION FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF EXTRA CARE 
HOUSING 
There had been circulated copies of a report by the Service  Director Regulatory Services 
seeking Council agreement in principle to dispose of the Council-owned allocated 
Housing Site at Stirches, Hawick to Eildon Housing Association in order that it might be 
re-developed to provide extra care housing.  The report also proposed that the Council 
disposed of the site on the basis of a nominal £1.00 as being best value in accordance 
with current Scottish Government Guidance regarding disposal of former Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) assets.  The site had been identified as a potential site in the 
Extra Care Housing Delivery Framework, approved by Members on 20 September 2016, 
and was consistent with the approach taken previously by the Council in disposal of 11 
former Housing Revenue Account sites since 2003 for the development of affordable 
housing. It had also been prioritised as an affordable housing site for anticipated 
development by Eildon Housing Association in the Council’s Strategic Housing Investment 
Plan (SHIP) 2017-22 and SHIP 2018-23.  Members discussed the report and welcomed 
the provision of extra care housing in Hawick.

DECISION
AGREED:
(a) In principle to the proposed disposal of the allocated housing site at 

Stirches Hawick to Eildon Housing Association in order that it may be 
developed to provide extra care housing, and additional affordable housing 
if space permitted; and

(b)  To delegate authority to the Council’s Service Director, Assets and 
Infrastructure to lead on representing the Council’s interest in concluding 
the disposal of the allocated Housing Site at Stirches, Hawick to Eildon 
Housing Association on the basis of a nominal price of £1.00, and upon 
terms and conditions to be agreed.

5. PRIVATE BUSINESS 
AGREED under Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 to 
exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the business detailed 
in the Appendix to this minute on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of  part 1 of schedule 
7A to the Act.

SUMMARY OF PRIVATE BUSINESS

6. MINUTE OF SOCIAL WORK COMPLAINTS REVIEW COMMITTEE 
The Minute of the meeting held on 23 August 2017 was approved.  

Page 309



The meeting concluded at 10.45 am.  

Page 310



Document is Restricted

Page 311

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Early Years and Primary School Pupil Performance Measures - School Session 2016-2017
	Item No. 4 - 07.11.17 - Early Years and Primary School Pupil Performance Measures - School Session 2016-2017 Report - App 1
	Item No. 4 - 07.11.17 - Early Years and Primary School Pupil Performance Measures - School Session 2016-2017 Report - App 2
	Item No. 4  - 07.11.17 - Early Years and Primary School Pupil Performance Measures - School Session 2016-2017 Report - App 3

	5 Insight Local Benchmarking Measures to 2017
	Item No. 5 - 25.10.17 - Insight Local Benchmarking Measures to 2017 Report - Appendix 1

	6 Early Years and Childcare: Expansion to 1140 Hours
	Item No. 6 - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 1
	Item No. 6 - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 2
	Item No. 6  - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 3(a)
	Item No. 6 - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 3(b)
	Item No. 6 - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 3(c)
	Item No. 6 - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 4(a)
	Item No. 6 - 07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 4(b)
	Item No. 6 -07.11.17 - Early Learning & Childcare - Expansion of 1140 Hours Report - Appendix 5(a)
	Item No. 6 - ELC Expansion Programme - PfG commitment to multi-year funding - Letter 5b
	Item No. 6 - SB CPI 2017 Rank by Primary School appendix 6

	7 School Estate Review - Next Steps 2017/18
	Item No. 7 - 07.11.17 - School Estate Review Next Steps 2017-2018 Report - Appendix 1
	Item No. 7 - 07.11.17 - School Estate Review Next Steps 2017-2018 Report - Appendix 2

	8 Jedburgh Intergenerational Learning Campus Consultation Outcome Report
	Item No. 8 - 07.11.17 - Jedburgh Intergenerational Learning Campus Consultation Outcome Report - Appendix 1

	9 Proposal for Statutory Consultation to Close St Margaret's RC Primary School, Hawick
	Item No. 9 - Appendix 1

	12 Minute
	17 Minute

